
 

 

 

 
 

 Summons to and 
Agenda for a  
Meeting on 

 Thursday, 7th 
November, 2024 

 at 10.00 am 
 



 

 

 



 

 

 

 
 

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
SESSIONS HOUSE 

MAIDSTONE 
 

Wednesday, 30 October 2024 
 

To: All Members of the County Council 
 
A meeting of the County Council will be held in the Council Chamber, County Hall, 
Maidstone, Kent, ME14 1XQ on Thursday, 7th November, 2024 at 10.00 am to deal with 
the following business.  The meeting is scheduled to end by 4.30 pm. 

 
A G E N D A  

  
1. Apologies for Absence 
 

 
 
2. Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other 

Significant Interests in items on the agenda 
 

 

 
3. Minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2024 and, if in order, 

to be approved as a correct record 
 

(Pages 1 - 14) 

 
4. Chairman's Announcements 
 

 
 
5. Questions 
 

 
 
6. Report by Leader of the Council 
 

 
 
7. Entry and Exit System (EES) Update 
 

(Pages 15 - 24) 
 
8. Spending the Council's Money 
 

(Pages 25 - 132) 
 
9. Member Remuneration Panel Appointment 
 

(Pages 133 - 134) 
 
10. Petition Debate - Seashells Commissioned Family Hub 
 

(Pages 135 - 140) 
 
11. Motions for Time Limited Debate 
 

(Pages 141 - 146) 

 



 

 

 
Benjamin Watts 

General Counsel 
03000 416814 

 



 
 

 
 

     KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

  
MINUTES of a meeting of the County Council held in the Council Chamber, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 12 September 2024. 
 
PRESENT: Mr B J Sweetland (Chairman), Mr A M Ridgers (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr M Baldock, Mr P V Barrington-King, Mr P Bartlett, Mr D Beaney, Mrs C Bell, 
Mrs R Binks, Mr T Bond, Mr A Booth, Mr A Brady, Mr D L Brazier, 
Mr S R Campkin, Mr T Cannon, Miss S J Carey, Sir Paul Carter, CBE, 
Mrs S Chandler, Mr N J D Chard, Mr I S Chittenden, Mrs P T Cole, Mr P Cole, 
Mr G Cooke, Mr D Crow-Brown, Mr M C Dance, Ms M Dawkins, 
Mrs T Dean, MBE, Mr M Dendor, Mr R W Gough, Ms K Grehan, Ms S Hamilton, 
Ms J Hawkins, Mr P M Hill, OBE, Mr A R Hills, Mr S Holden, Mr M A J Hood, 
Mr A J Hook, Mrs S Hudson, Mr D Jeffrey, Mr J A Kite, MBE, Mr B H Lewis, 
Mr R C Love, OBE, Mr R A Marsh, Mrs M McArthur, Mr J P McInroy, 
Ms J Meade, Mr J Meade, Mr D Murphy, Mr P J Oakford, Mr J M Ozog, 
Ms L Parfitt, Mr C Passmore, Mrs S Prendergast, Mr H Rayner, 
Mr O Richardson, Mr D Robey, Mr T L Shonk, Mr P Stepto, 
Mr R G Streatfeild, MBE, Dr L Sullivan, Mr R J Thomas, Mr D Watkins, 
Mr S Webb, Mr J Wright and Ms L Wright 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr J Cook (Democratic Services Manager) and Mr B Watts 
(General Counsel) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
  

245.   Apologies for Absence  
(Item 1) 
 
The Democratic Services Manager reported apologies from Mr Baker, Mr 
Broadley, Ms Constantine, Mrs Game, Mrs Hohler, Mr Kennedy, Mr Lehmann, Mr 
Manion, Mr Ross, Mr Sandhu, Mr Simkins, Mr Sole, and Mr Whiting.  
 
Mr Jeffrey reported apologies from Mr Collor. 
  

246.   Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other Significant 
Interests in items on the agenda  
(Item 2) 
 
Ms Meade declared that she was a carer.  
 
Mr Jeffrey declared, in relation to Item 14 – Motion for Time Limited Debate 1 
Protecting Kent from hostile election interference – that he was a retired member 
of the Association of Electoral Administrators. 
  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

 
 

 

247.   Minutes of the meeting held on 18 July 2024 and, if in order, to be 
approved as a correct record  
(Item 3) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Council meeting held on 18 July 2024 be 
approved as a correct record. 
  

248.   Corporate Parenting Panel - Minutes for noting  
(Item 4) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel 
held on 4 June 2024 be noted. 
  

249.   Chairman's Announcements - Tributes  
(Item 5) 
 
1) The Chairman announced the sad news of the death of Mr Peter Harman, 

the Council’s elected Member for the division of Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe, who died unexpectedly on Thursday 22 August. Mr Harman 
represented Swanscombe and Greenhithe for 11 years, and was also a 
long-standing Town Councillor, Parish Councillor and Dartford Borough 
Councillor.  During his time at KCC, Mr Harman served on Corporate 
Parenting Panel, Planning Applications Committee, and Health Reform and 
Public Health Cabinet Committee. The Chairman said he was a respected 
and popular Member who would be sorely missed. 

 
2) The Chairman invited Members to speak and tributes were made by Mr 

Hood, Mr Chittenden on behalf of Mr Sole, Ms Grehan, Mr Gough, Mr Kite, 
and Mr Chard.  

 
3) The Chairman advised Members of the sad passing of Mr Peter Morgan 

who served on the Council approximately twenty years ago and was 
Chairman of the Council in 1996.  

 
4) The Chairman invited Members to speak and tributes were made by Mrs 

Dean, Mr Wright, Mr Brady, Mr Baldock, and Sir Paul Carter.  
 
5) Mr Sweetland proposed, and Mr Ridgers seconded, that the Council 

formally record the sense of loss it feels on the sad passing of Mr Peter 
Harman and Mr Peter Morgan and extends to their families and friends its 
heartfelt sympathy to them in their sad bereavements.  

 
Agreed unanimously. 

 
6) The Chairman held a one-minute silence in memory of Mr Harman and Mr 

Morgan. 
  

Page 2



 
 

 

 
 

 

250.   Questions  
(Item 6) 
 
In accordance with Sections 14.15 to 14.22 of the Constitution, 15 questions 
were submitted by the deadline and 14 questions were put to the Executive as a 
questioner had given apologies. 11 questions were asked and replies given. A 
record of all questions put and answers given at the meeting is available online 
with the papers for this meeting.  
 
  

251.   Report by Leader of the Council  
(Item 7) 
 
1) The Leader contrasted the recent success of Team GB in the Olympics and 

Paralympics with the recent riots that had taken place across the country. 
He explained that the Council worked closely with colleagues in Kent Police, 
and other partners, to ensure that it was prepared for any threats to Kent’s 
facilities and communities.  

 
2) Mr Gough expressed concern about the government’s emerging housing 

policy and its impact on Kent, commenting that the infrastructure to ensure 
support for any further and accelerated housing development had yet to be 
clarified.  

 
3) The Leader explained that the introduction of VAT in relation to independent 

schools was being monitored carefully. He noted the potential impact on 
children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) and 
commented that although there was spare capacity in the county’s primary 
schools this was not necessarily the case for secondary schools. 

 
4) The Leader turned to the cancelling of Winter Fuel payments, the increase 

in the fuel price gap, and the future of the Council Tax single person 
discount. He said the Council would be working with district colleagues in 
relation to pension credit take up as part of the Financial Hardship Program 
and would see how the Household Support Grant could provide further 
support as winter approached. 

 
5) In relation to the Council’s financial position and the Autumn Statement, Mr 

Gough said that clarity in terms of support for local government on major 
areas of financial pressure was unlikely. In terms of adult social care Mr 
Gough acknowledged the government’s cancelation of social care reforms 
including a cap on care costs, and accepted that, while disappointing, this 
removed an unfunded pressure facing local authorities. He said the wider 
social care reform agenda remained in an unsustainable position.  

 
6) The Leader welcomed the lifting of the Council’s SEND Improvement Notice 

and highlighted Janet Daby MP’s references to strengthened capacity and 

Page 3

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/b25058/Questions%20put%20and%20answers%20given%2012th-Sep-2024%2010.00%20County%20Council.pdf?T=9


 
 

 

 
 

 

stronger governance arrangements, alongside renewed commitment from 
senior leaders and improved partnership work.  

 
7) Turning to bus transport and new powers for local authorities, Mr Gough 

said funding was unclear and there would be transferred risks under any 
new arrangements. He confirmed that the Bus Service Improvement Plan 
(BSIP) remained vital.    

 
8) Regarding the Entry Exit System (EES) Kent Leaders had collectively 

written to government. Operation Brock had operated throughout the 
summer and was finally lifted on 1 September. Mr Gough highlighted 
progress in data sharing and measures to reduce pressures on the eastern 
docks.  

 
9) Mr Gough confirmed that severe pressure remained in relation to 

unaccompanied minors. The Council would welcome the Minister for Border 
Security and Asylum and the Minister for Children and Families to see the 
excellent work being undertaken. He referred to the number of referrals 
against transfers under the National Transfer Scheme and said the gap was 
more than the level that was supposed to be the Council’s responsibility. He 
said if this continued, even with the opening of reception centres, pressures 
would increase. 

 
10) Regarding devolution, Mr Gough said there was a deadline at the end of 

September for expressions of interest and the Council was seeking to 
engage with district leaders and other key stakeholders.  

 
11) Finally, the Leader returned to Team GB’s success at the Olympics and 

Paralympics and said there was a record of 11 Kent participants in the 
Olympic team and 8 on the Paralympic team. He congratulated all those 
from Kent who had participated in the games. 

 
12) The Leader of the Labour Group, Mr Brady, also congratulated all Kent 

Olympians and Paralympians on their success.  
 
13) In relation to the recent riots Mr Brady thanked those who had worked to 

keep communities and Kent residents safe. He said protests and 
demonstration were central to a functioning democracy but violence and 
damage to property was not and this behaviour was not welcome in a 
civilized society. 

 
14) Mr Brady spoke about the Winter Fuel Payments and said the Warm Homes 

Discount Scheme would come into effect from October, and he welcomed 
the extension of the Household Support Fund. He said his group would work 
with the Administration to ensure support for pensioners who needed it.  

 
15) Turning to the new Buses Bill Mr Brady noted with concern the reduction in 

bus routes across the county and he hoped the Leader would engage in the 
consultation. He said Kent residents deserved a better service than the one 
they were already receiving.  

Page 4



 
 

 

 
 

 

 
16) Mr Brady referred to the EES and said this was an aftereffect of the last 

government and was a problem that needed fixing.  
 
17) Mr Brady praised Council staff members who had been working tirelessly to 

improve SEND provision under difficult circumstances and acknowledged 
that more needed to be done to support families and children. He 
highlighted that there were families who had not been given a permanent 
education setting and thanked Members who were supporting these 
families. Mr Brady said he understood that the lifting of the Improvement 
Notice came with requirements and asked for these to be shared by the 
Leader. He hoped that with the new government's leadership the local 
position would start to improve.  

 
18) On devolution Mr Brady hoped that the expression of interest submission 

would be shared and discussed with Members and said engagement with 
stakeholders was key.  

 
19) Finally, Mr Brady referred to the new government’s proposals and said he 

hoped the Administration was open to change, and would positively engage 
for the sake of Kent residents. 

 
20) Mr Hood, on behalf of the Green and Independents Group, spoke about the 

lifting of the SEND Improvement Notice and financial repercussions relating 
to the Safety Valve Agreement. He noted there was still a long way to go 
and said it was right that stakeholders were being invited to feedback on 
how the Specialist Teaching and Learning Service could best serve young 
people. 

 
21) Mr Hood spoke about the recent riots. He said everyone had a part to play 

in bringing communities together and he condemned those who had 
deliberately misdirected and divided communities via social media. 

 
22) Mr Hood referred to the potential expansion of London City Airport and its 

effect on pollution noting that a majority of flights could be made by train. He 
said he hoped the Council would engage with the consultation regarding 
buses to ensure continued financial support and greater control for Kent’s 
network.  

 
23) Mr Hood turned to the sustainability challenges faced by Kent’s councils as 

a result of high housing targets. He referred to the reduction in housing 
targets for the county’s metropolitan neighbours and said this was difficult to 
justify when considering the number of empty homes. He said districts 
(which had the constraints of the Green Belt and National Landscapes 
designations) were expected to sacrifice productive agricultural land to 
facilitate unsustainable levels of housing. He commented on the cost of rent 
and mortgages for first time buyers and said the announcement that no fault 
evictions would be addressed would be reassuring for many Kent residents.  

 
 

Page 5



 
 

 

 
 

 

24) Mr Hook, Leader of the Liberal Democrat Group, also congratulated Kent’s 
Olympians and Paralympians. He condemned the riots which took place 
over the summer and thanked Police Officers for their involvement and said 
anyone who had spread false information needed to be held to account. In 
contrast, Mr Hook referred to members of the Faversham community who 
had offered their support to the UASC Reception Centre. 

 
25) Turning to the Winter Fuel Payments, Mr Hook said his party believed the 

government’s decision was wrong. He said many pensioners needed the 
allowance to stay warm over the winter and would be in serious trouble as a 
result. Mr Hook pointed out that many families struggled with energy bills 
and suggested that the income tax threshold be raised to help working 
families, and dividends to shareholders of energy companies be reviewed.  

 
26) Regarding VAT on private schools, Mr Hook said pressure should be put on 

government to see that extra money comes to schools in Kent as soon as 
possible, and plans as a consequence were needed to accommodate 
children in primary and secondary schools in Kent. Mr Hook said the 
Council had a commitment to build two new special schools and that work 
should be accelerated. He also emphasised the importance of listening to 
the views of headteachers.  

 
27) In relation to buses, Mr Hook spoke positively about local authorities running 

their own bus network and said it may be an opportunity to save money on 
school transport costs. Mr Hook referred to the success of a community bus 
service in Faversham and Swale East and said he hoped the Council could 
do more to promote community buses throughout the county. 

 
28) The Leader responded to some of the points raised by the Group Leaders, 

in which there was agreement in relation to the success of the Olympics and 
Paralympics. He agreed with Mr Hood’s comments about housing and the 
imbalance between a county like Kent and the metropolitan areas. 

 
29) Turning to winter fuel Mr Gough said it was an area of concern and agreed 

with some of the comments made. He said he was not completely against 
means testing but believed that the government had set the level too low. 
He said there would be a focus during the months ahead on winter 
preparations, considering also the increase in the fuel price cap. 

 
30) Mr Gough referred to constructive engagement with government and by way 

of example to the Economic Strategy (ES) and the Buses Bill. He said the 
Council was committed to a strong, effective, and sustainable bus network. 
Mr Gough highlighted the uncertainty of future funding and emphasised that 
the Council would stand up to government, regardless of party, for the 
interests of Kent residents. 

 
31) In response to Mr Hook’s comments on community buses, Mr Gough 

reminded Members that, as part of the bus subsidy changes, support had 
helpfully been given to community and transport initiatives.  

 

Page 6



 
 

 

 
 

 

32) Regarding the Entry Exit System (EES) Mr Gough said there had been 
progress but there were also risks. He highlighted that there was a better 
shared understanding with government which was needed to work with 
district colleagues and other partners to tackle potential problems as quickly 
and effectively as possible.  

 
33) Mr Gough said there was transparency regarding the SEND position and 

reminded Members that a year ago fewer than two and a half percent of 
Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP) were issued within the statutory 
deadline, compared to today, where the Council was outperforming the 
national average. However, the Leader agreed with Group Leaders that 
there was a lot more to do in terms of the Council’s responsibilities within 
Kent, and also through national systemic change on which the Council was 
willing to engage.  

 
34) Finally, on devolution, Mr Gough said an expression of interest would be 

submitted by the end of September and emphasised this was just the 
beginning of the process. He highlighted that devolution and local 
government reorganisation were not synonymous and engagement with 
Members would take place on a range of issues. 

 
35) RESOLVED that the Leader’s Report be noted. 
  

252.   Chairman's Announcements - General  
(Item 8) 
 
Festival of Remembrance 
 
1) The Chairman advised members that the Festival of Remembrance was 

being held at Rochester Cathedral on Saturday 2 November. He explained 
that all proceeds from the concert were going to the Royal British Legion 
and military charities, and tickets could be purchased through 
Eventbrite.com.  

 
Honorary Alderman – Mr Graham Gibbens 
 
2) The Chairman offered a warm welcome to Mr Graham Gibbens who was 

unable to attend the County Council Honorary Aldermen meeting on 28 
March 2024 at which he was formally appointed as an Honorary Alderman. 

 
3) The Chairman presented Mr Gibbens with his Honorary Alderman badge 

and certificate and thanked him for his work and commitment to the Council 
and to the people of Kent.  

 
4) Mr Gibbens responded in his capacity as appointed Honorary Alderman and 

expressed his thanks for the honour bestowed upon him by the Council.  
 
Kent Launch of Poppy Appeal  
 

Page 7



 
 

 

 
 

 

5) The Chairman advised Members that the Kent Poppy Appeal would be 
launched on Friday 25 October in conjunction with the British Legion. 

  
253.   Urgent Decisions - Annual Report  

(Item 9) 
 
1) Mr Gough proposed, and Mr Oakford seconded the motion that  
 

“County Council is asked to note the report.” 
 
2) The Democratic Services Manager provided technical clarification regarding 

the semi-urgent and urgent decision-making process.  
 
3) Following the debate, the Chairman put the motion set out in paragraph 1 to 

the vote.  
 
4) RESOLVED that the County Council notes the report. 
  

254.   Treasury Management Annual Report - 2023/24  
(Item 10) 
 
1) Mr Oakford proposed, and Mrs Binks seconded the motion that  
 

“County Council is asked to note the report.”  
 
2) Following the debate, the Chairman put the motion set out in paragraph 1 to 

the vote.  
 
3) RESOLVED that the County Council notes the report. 
  

255.   Governance & Audit Committee Chairman's report  
(Item 11) 
 
1) Mrs Binks proposed, and Mr Passmore seconded the motion that  
 

“County Council is asked to note the report.”  
 
2) Following the debate, the Chairman put the motion set out in paragraph 1 to 

the vote.  
 
3) RESOLVED that the County Council notes the report. 
  

256.   External Audit Annual Report  
(Item 12) 
 
1)        Mrs Binks proposed, and Mr Passmore seconded the motion that  
  

Page 8



 
 

 

 
 

 

“County Council is asked to note the External Audit Annual Report 2022/23.”  
  
2)      Mr Paul Dossett, external auditor from Grant Thornton, provided an overall 

perspective of the Council’s current position in relation to financial 
sustainability, governance and value for money and responded to technical 
questions of clarification.  

  
3)      Following the debate, the Chairman put the motion set out in paragraph 1 to 

the vote.  
  
4)      RESOLVED that the County Council notes the External Audit Annual 

Report 2022/23. 
  

257.   Request for Extended Leave of Absence  
(Item 13) 
 
1) The Chairman proposed, and the Vice-Chairman seconded the motion that  
 

“County Council is asked to consider Ms Bruneau’s request for extended 
leave to 2 May 2025 on the grounds of ill health.”  

 
2) The Chairman put the motion set out in paragraph 1 to the vote.  
 
3) RESOLVED that the County Council agrees Ms Bruneau’s request for 

extended leave to 2 May 2025 on the grounds of ill health. 
  

258.   Motions for Time Limited Debate  
(Item 14) 
 
Motion for Time Limited Debate 1 – Protecting Kent from hostile election 
interference 
 
1) Mr Hook proposed, and Mr Passmore seconded the motion that  
 
 “Council notes:  
 

1.  It is well documented that states hostile to the UK and other 
democratic countries have in recent years sought to interfere with 
democratic processes in the UK and many other western countries.  

2.  These efforts have often been sponsored by or organised by 
autocratic regimes such as Russia and China and frequently involve 
the promotion of false information and abuse of candidates and 
campaigners, often using false social media accounts (sometimes 
to dox, bully or harass candidates and campaigners) or attempts to 
hack into the computer systems of elected officials and institutions.  

3.  There is also some domestically produced false information and 
deliberately unreliable sources.  

Page 9



 
 

 

 
 

 

4. The aim of these hostile actors is not simply to influence election 
outcomes in favour of candidates or parties who will be sympathetic 
to autocratic regimes but to spread general mistrust of elections and 
elected institutions with a view to undermining those institutions and 
our democratic society in the long-term. 

5. This problem has become more acute since the barbaric Russian 
invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 which Kent County Council 
has wholeheartedly condemned and shown solidarity with the 
people of Ukraine. 

6. Members of Kent County Council have noticed the organised use of 
fake social media accounts in the recent general election, which 
may have foreign or domestic origins.  

7. Recent work within Kent County Council to improve members’ and 
staff’s awareness of hacking and other IT threats and ability to avoid 
falling victim to such threats.  

8. In May 2025, there are significant local elections in England 
including the Kent County Council election, twenty other county 
council elections, nine unitary authority elections, one new 
combined county authority election and two new mayoral elections, 
the Scilly Isles Council election and the City of London Corporation 
elections.  

 
 Council believes:  
 

1. Democracy requires elections based on healthy competition of 
ideas and candidates using communications based on true 
information.  

2. All of us who care about democracy have a responsibility to do what 
we can to resist efforts to spread false information and undermine 
public faith in the basic concept of democracy and elected 
institutions. 

3. We should not complacently assume that hostile actors will only be 
active in this regard during national elections.  

4. As part of their agenda to undermine democracy by sowing mistrust 
it is possible that hostile actors will try to spread false information, 
use hacking, false accounts and other nefarious acts in relation to 
any public elections including local and large area elections.  

 
 The Council requests that: 
 

1. KCC continues work to improve the council’s resilience against 
hacking and other cyber threats through appropriate training for 
members and staff and any other steps that can reasonably be 
taken. 

2. KCC communicates with other local councils in the UK, organs of 
local government outside the UK who we have good relationships 
with, and the national government to share best practice and ideas 
about how to deal with this issue. 

3. The County Returning Officer present a report to the Electoral & 
Boundary Review Committee (as the appropriate Committee within 

Page 10



 
 

 

 
 

 

the Council’s governance) updating on the above issues and 
outlining how they intend to reflect the relevant Electoral 
Commission guidance regarding the management of misleading 
information within preparations for County elections.” 

  
2) The Chairman advised Members that the motion had been amended since 

the agenda was published. 
 
3) The Chairman put the motion set out in paragraph 1 to the vote and the 

motion was agreed unanimously.  
 
4) RESOLVED that: 
 

Council notes:  
 

1.  It is well documented that states hostile to the UK and other 
democratic countries have in recent years sought to interfere with 
democratic processes in the UK and many other western countries.  

2.  These efforts have often been sponsored by or organised by 
autocratic regimes such as Russia and China and frequently involve 
the promotion of false information and abuse of candidates and 
campaigners, often using false social media accounts (sometimes 
to dox, bully or harass candidates and campaigners) or attempts to 
hack into the computer systems of elected officials and institutions.  

3.  There is also some domestically produced false information and 
deliberately unreliable sources.  

4. The aim of these hostile actors is not simply to influence election 
outcomes in favour of candidates or parties who will be sympathetic 
to autocratic regimes but to spread general mistrust of elections and 
elected institutions with a view to undermining those institutions and 
our democratic society in the long-term. 

5. This problem has become more acute since the barbaric Russian 
invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 which Kent County Council 
has wholeheartedly condemned and shown solidarity with the 
people of Ukraine. 

6. Members of Kent County Council have noticed the organised use of 
fake social media accounts in the recent general election, which 
may have foreign or domestic origins.  

7. Recent work within Kent County Council to improve members’ and 
staff’s awareness of hacking and other IT threats and ability to avoid 
falling victim to such threats.  

8. In May 2025, there are significant local elections in England 
including the Kent County Council election, twenty other county 
council elections, nine unitary authority elections, one new 
combined county authority election and two new mayoral elections, 
the Scilly Isles Council election and the City of London Corporation 
elections.  

 
 Council believes:  
 

Page 11



 
 

 

 
 

 

1. Democracy requires elections based on healthy competition of 
ideas and candidates using communications based on true 
information.  

2. All of us who care about democracy have a responsibility to do what 
we can to resist efforts to spread false information and undermine 
public faith in the basic concept of democracy and elected 
institutions. 

3. We should not complacently assume that hostile actors will only be 
active in this regard during national elections.  

4. As part of their agenda to undermine democracy by sowing mistrust 
it is possible that hostile actors will try to spread false information, 
use hacking, false accounts and other nefarious acts in relation to 
any public elections including local and large area elections.  

 
 The Council requests that: 
 

1. KCC continues work to improve the council’s resilience against 
hacking and other cyber threats through appropriate training for 
members and staff and any other steps that can reasonably be 
taken. 

2. KCC communicates with other local councils in the UK, organs of 
local government outside the UK who we have good relationships 
with, and the national government to share best practice and ideas 
about how to deal with this issue. 

3. The County Returning Officer present a report to the Electoral & 
Boundary Review Committee (as the appropriate Committee within 
the Council’s governance) updating on the above issues and 
outlining how they intend to reflect the relevant Electoral 
Commission guidance regarding the management of misleading 
information within preparations for County elections. 

  
 
Motion for Time Limited Debate 2 – Adult Social Care Charging Policy 
 
1) Ms Meade clarified that she was an unpaid carer, did not receive a carer’s 

allowance, her family did not receive a Kent care package, and she had no 
conflict of interest.  

 
2) Ms Meade proposed, and Mr Streatfeild seconded the motion that  
 

“County Council resolves to:  
 

•  Express concern about the impact on vulnerable people of increased 
charges resulting from the Adult Social Care Charging.  

 
•  Recommend that the Executive explores whether the potential multi-

year spending settlement anticipated for later this year would remove 
the need to make savings in this area, which may allow for 
reconsideration of the Policy.” 

 

Page 12



 
 

 

 
 

 

3) The General Counsel explained that the original decision linked to the 
motion had been subject to legal advice.  

 
4) The Chairman put the motion set out in paragraph 2 to the vote and the 

voting was as follows.  
 
For (13)  
 
Mr Brady, Mr Chittenden, Ms Dawkins, Mrs Dean, Ms Grehan, Ms Hawkins, Mr 
Hood, Mr Hook, Mr Lewis, Ms Meade, Mr Passmore, Mr Stepto, Mr Streatfeild 
 
Against (37)  
 
Mr Bartlett, Mr Beaney, Mr Bond, Mr Booth, Mr Brazier, Miss Carey, Mrs 
Chandler, Mr Chard, Mr Cole, Mrs Cole, Mr Cooke, Mr Crow-Brown, Mr Dance, 
Mr Dendor, Mr Gough, Ms Hamilton, Mr Hill, Mr Hills, Mrs Hudson, Mr Jeffrey, Mr 
Kite, Mr Love, Mr Marsh, Mr McInroy, Mr Meade, Mr Murphy, Mr Oakford, Mr 
Rayner, Mr Richardson, Mr Ridgers, Mr Robey, Mr Shonk, Mr Thomas, Mr 
Watkins, Mr Webb, Mr Wright, Ms Wright 
 
Abstain (1)  
 
Mrs Binks 

Motion lost. 
  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Leader 
Clair Bell, Cabinet Member for Community and Regulatory Services 
Neil Baker, Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport 
Simon Jones, Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and 
Transport 
Rebecca Spore, Director of Infrastructure 
Haroona Chughtai, Director of Highways & Transportation  

 
To: County Council, 07 November 2024  
 
Subject: Entry / Exit System border checks - Kent County Council 

preparedness update 
 
Classification: UNRESTRICTED 
 
 
Summary: This report updates Members on the work Kent County Council (KCC) is 
undertaking internally, with the Kent & Medway Resilience Forum, and with central 
government to prepare for the introduction of new Entry / Exit System (EES) border 
checks. 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
The County Council to consider the following proposal to: 
 

1. note the national and local preparations for the introduction of EES border checks; 
and 

2. endorse Kent County Council’s priorities for urgent Government action to resolve 
the outstanding issues as highlighted in this report. 

 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 County Council Members have been engaged in planning for the introduction of 

Entry / Exit System border checks (from now on referred to as “EES checks”) 
through the KCC EES Steering Group, which first met on 9 April 2024. Members 
have also been engaged on a one-to-one basis as requested, and all members 
received a briefing on EES on 13 September 2024.    
 

1.2 EES checks were due to be implemented on 10 November 2024 by all member 
states of the European Union (EU) that are part of the Schengen Area i.e. the 
common travel area where all internal borders have been abolished. This will affect 
any country outside of this area (i.e. third countries), whose citizens will be required 
to undertake additional checks when entering a Schengen Area state.  

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



1.3 It is anticipated that the extra checks will lead to delays at the border. For the 
majority of travellers from the UK, this will take place in the country of arrival. 
However, under the Treaty of Canterbury (1986), the Sangatte Protocol (1991), the 
Channel Tunnel (Miscellaneous Provisions) Order (1994), the Treaty of Le Touquet 
(2003), and the Nationality, Immigration and Asylum Act 2002 (Juxtaposed 
Controls) Order (2003), border controls for Eurostar (St Pancras), Eurotunnel 
(Cheriton), and Port of Dover are juxtaposed and take place in the UK. Therefore, 
delays are also anticipated at these locations. 
 

1.4 Kent’s position as the gateway to Europe means that the UK’s readiness for EES 
checks relies visibly on Kent’s readiness. KCC, as the lead agency for EES 
planning and response in Kent, is working with both national and local partners to 
prepare for all eventualities. Our preparations are driven by the objective to 
minimise disruption to local communities and to keep the county open for business. 
Our plans are being shaped by national planning assumptions and local modelling 
and are as robust as they can be against a continually evolving background. We are 
also working across directorates to ensure that the County Council can meet its 
statutory obligations and continue to deliver public services to our customers. 
 

1.5  KCC has worked closely with colleagues from the Department for Transport (DfT), 
the Home Office, Border Force, and the Ministry for Housing, Communities, and 
Local Government (MHCLG), to address the potential issues that could arise as a 
result of congestion caused by delays across the ‘Short Straits’.   
 

1.6  Whilst KCC and local partners continue to review and refine preparations, there are 
still various strands of work to be delivered which are part of our ongoing dialogue 
with Government. These are detailed in Section 7.  Following concerns raised by 
France, Germany and Netherlands in relation to the readiness of the IT systems, 
which are required to support the EES checks, on the 10 October 2024, the EU 
Commission made a statement confirming that the 10 November 2024 will no longer 
be the go live date for the new EES checks. At the time of writing a new go live date 
is unknown. However, it is essential, that central government, the KMRF, and KCC 
continue with preparations for when the checks are introduced. 

  
 
2. Local Resilience and Preparedness  
 
2.1 The Kent & Medway Resilience Forum (KMRF) and government departments 

continue to work together to ensure contingency plans and capabilities are in place 
to protect life, mitigate the risk of harm and minimise the impact upon communities, 
essential services, the environment, and the economy of Kent and Medway.  
 

2.2 KCC is the lead agency for the KMRF in the planning phase of EES preparations. 
KCC staff chair the following planning groups: 

 
• Strategic Planning Group (currently meeting fortnightly)  

Page 16



• Tactical Planning Group (currently meeting fortnightly)  
• Media & Communications Group (currently meeting as required)  
• Kent Traffic Management Group (currently meeting as required)  
• Driver Welfare Group (currently meeting as required)  
 

2.3 KCC staff also attend the Vulnerable People & Communities Cell (chaired by Dover 
District Council / Folkestone & Hythe District Council) and the Data and Analytics 
Cell (chaired by Kent Fire & Rescue Service staff on behalf of KCC). 
 

2.4 A flexible command structure is being finalised by KMRF partners for any incidents 
arising from EES checks. Kent County Council will continue to act as Lead Agency, 
unless a situation arises where there is an immediate threat to life or a counter-
terrorism risk, in which case the lead passes to Kent Police. In addition to this, 
preparations continue for the management of any potential winter related 
emergencies, such as heavy snow, or winter flooding.     

 
2.5 A multi-agency exercise (including participation by Government departments), 

Exercise Bute, was held on 4 September 2024 at Detling Showground. This 
exercise incorporated learning from previous exercises and experience and 
identified priority areas to be addressed going forward. These included data 
availability, driver welfare, how EES works in practice, and sharing information 
about vulnerable people and communities. 

 
2.6 All partners have been encouraged to ensure that their response staff are trained, 

and several strategic, tactical, and operational command training courses have 
been run by the KMRF as part of the annual KMRF Training and Exercising 
Programme. KCC staff have attended these courses where applicable to ensure 
that we have the capability to respond as needed. 

 
2.7 KCC and KMRF partners have worked to define redlines for service provision i.e. 

services that must continue to be delivered. Partners have collectively agreed a 
number of activities (including some provided by KCC) where multi-agency support 
may be required to enable them to continue, including: 

• To ensure emergency services can access congested areas to protect life 
and minimise harm; 

• To ensure health services and social care support can be provided in acute, 
community, residential, and domestic settings to protect life and minimise 
harm; 

• To ensure any other provision of welfare support by agencies to communities 
is maintained; 

• To ensure access for staff to maintain critical infrastructure (e.g. flood 
defences, tunnels) and critical services (e.g. NHS 111); 

• To minimise disruption to the death management pathway; 
• To minimise disruption to environmental services (e.g. waste collection) that 

could impact on public health. 

Page 17



 
3. Infrastructure to Support New Border Controls 
 

3.1 At the channel ports:   
• Eurotunnel – GetLink have redesigned the layout of the terminal at Cheriton 

with new structures built to house the kiosks where passengers will complete 
the EES process.  

• Port of Dover – due to space constraints, the port have agreed with the 
French Ministry of Interior (MOI) and Police aux Frontières (PaF) that 
coaches will be processed at the Western Docks, sealed, and driven round 
to the Eastern Docks to complete check-in and boarding. At present, the only 
place to process car traffic remains in the buffer zone at Eastern Docks, so a 
canopy has been erected to allow for staff with tablets to process passengers 
in their vehicles. The port is in discussion with MOI and PaF about alternative 
long-term solutions in the port where these checks could be carried out, in 
order to prevent delays in the buffer zone (which will quickly extend back 
onto the road network).   

 
3.2 In Kent: 

• Options for contingency sites for tourist traffic are being developed by the 
DfT, supported by the KCC Highways Strategic Resilience Team. These 
sites would be used to manage flows of tourist traffic at peak times to reduce 
the risk of queuing on the road network, creating disruption for communities 
and businesses in Kent. Passengers would have access to welfare facilities 
at these sites. These sites were planned to be available for the first peak of 
traffic post-EES implementation, at Christmas. It is understood that although 
the date of when EES checks go live has been delayed, DfT are working to 
ensure that these sites will be available for the peak times associated with 
EES.  

  
3.3 Outside of Kent: 

• There are no plans for any infrastructure relating to the channel ports outside 
of Kent. 

 
4. County Infrastructure and Traffic Management  
 

4.1 Operation Fennel   
 Operation Fennel is the Kent & Medway Resilience Forum’s (KMRF) suite of plans 

for managing traffic disruption arising from issues at the border. It includes the 
following plans: 

• Dover Traffic Access Protocol (TAP) - freight traffic management. 
• Op Brock – freight traffic management (forecast incidents). 
• Op Brock Zero – freight traffic management (no-notice incidents). 
• Brenley Corner compliance processes – freight traffic management. 
• Op Kantion – tourist traffic management. 

Page 18



 
4.2 Strategic leadership for Operation Fennel is provided by Kent County Council in the 

planning and response phases. KCC Highways Strategic Resilience team lead the 
Operational Traffic Management group with KMRF partners to manage traffic 
management plans relating to border issues, along with supporting Strategic & 
Tactical traffic management groups.  
 

4.3 Op Fennel is complemented by the KMRF Driver Welfare Plan. This identifies the 
forms of welfare that can be provided, and how / when they may be delivered to 
drivers. It works on two main principles – that drivers must come prepared for 
delays (promoted via the communications plan) and that welfare will only be 
delivered to locations where drivers would be unable to otherwise help themselves 
(i.e. the motorway).  

 
4.4 Traffic Compliance and Enforcement  

All previous traffic enforcement and compliance powers to manage freight traffic 
remain in place. This involves the use of Statutory Instruments to compel port-
bound freight traffic to use the M20 corridor when Op Brock is in operation.  

 
4.5 There is no legislation to direct non-freight traffic. This increases the risk of non-

freight traffic using smaller roads to access the channel ports during periods of 
congestion. The government have indicated that they have no immediate plans to 
introduce such legislation.   

  
4.6 Haulier Permits  

Whilst there are Statutory Instruments in place to compel EU bound freight to only 
use the M20 and A20 to the portals, non-compliance has been a concern. During 
Summer 2024, the KMRF trialled a permit system. All freight heading to the Port of 
Dover had to collect a permit at the front of the Op Brock queue. Checks were 
carried out on approach to Dover and if no permit was presented, the vehicle was 
sent back to the Op Brock queue. The trial showed an increase in compliance and 
the system will be used going forward.   
 

4.7 In addition to the EU Permit system, there is the Local Haulier Permit. To prevent 
locally based hauliers seeking to cross the channel from having to go to the back of 
the Brock queue, KCC Highways have supplied East Kent hauliers who have a 
European O-Licence with permits unique to their fleet.  

 
 

Page 19



5. KCC Readiness - Business Continuity Planning 
 

5.1 Cross-Directorate Resilience Forum 
KCC has a Cross-Directorate Resilience Forum in place, with over 20 senior 
representatives from across all four directorates. The Forum meets monthly, and 
principally feeds in and out of four Directorate Resilience Groups, whilst coming 
together to agree a common KCC oversight, preparation, planning and response. 
The work of the Cross-Directorate Resilience Forum is informed by, and in turn 
informs the KCC Resilience and Emergency Planning Service.  
 

5.2 Resilience and Emergency Planning  
KCC’s business continuity planning for EES checks is being coordinated by the 
Resilience and Emergency Planning Service (REPS) and through the Directorate 
Resilience Group structures. Service-level Business Continuity Plans (BCPs) are 
maintained to ensure our services can meet their statutory responsibilities and 
identify dependencies across corporate services. REPS oversees these plans, 
ensuring plans are continually updated, and the latest BCP position will be reviewed 
at each of the four Directorate Resilience Groups, which are meeting regularly 
ahead of EES implementation. A bespoke KCC EES threat & risk assessment has 
been developed to assist risk monitoring and mitigation.   
 

5.3 REPS and KCC Comms have worked to ensure timely and accurate 
communications have been shared with wider stakeholders, including schools and 
contracted providers. This is to provide reassurance of KCC’s preparedness 
activities. It has also encouraged partners outside of the organisation to review their 
own Business Continuity arrangements, and undertake communication with their 
own service users, staff and parents, where appropriate. 

 
5.4 REPS have developed a bespoke EES ‘Exercise in a box’, ‘Exercise Barra’ which 

allows services to test the Business Continuity arrangements against a worst-case 
scenario. This has been made available to all staff through KNet, with REPS 
Officers supporting staff to deliver this exercise within their teams to highlight the 
potential impacts of EES and identify mitigations to be put in place. 

 
5.5 During July 2024, REPS ran three cross-directorate, in person table-top exercises, 

’Exercise Jura’, with staff from across the organisation. This gave opportunity for 
services to understand the wider impacts of ESS on the organisations and think 
about interdependencies that would need to be addressed through their business 
continuity planning. 

 
5.6 The KCC Corporate BCP will ensure effective oversight of interdependencies 

across the organisation. Lessons learned and organisational change informed by 
local adaptation to the COVID-19 pandemic, have strengthened organisational 
resilience ahead of EES.  

 

Page 20



5.7 REPS, KCC Directorates and partners are currently liaising on winter preparedness 
planning. Rotas have been developed to enable staff to cover the County 
Emergency Centre (CEC) and to reinforce the 24/7 Duty Emergency Planning 
Officer (DEPO) function. KCC is co-ordinating with National Highways on 
contingencies for any impacts from severe weather on the highway network during 
the winter period. Contingencies addressing offsite emergency planning duties for 
key infrastructure sites, including pipelines, industrial facilities and reservoirs, have 
all been reviewed and updated ahead of winter, with any specific actions identified 
and acted upon. 

 
6. Communications 

 
6.1 The KMRF Media & Communications Group, led by KCC, aims to support 

communities, businesses, and the travelling public, through timely sharing of 
information, both in the lead up to EES implementation and thereafter. This includes 
linking into national government campaigns. Working closely with communication 
teams in both Dover and Folkestone & Hythe District Councils, there is a strong 
emphasis on warning, informing and reassuring communities and businesses in 
those areas.  

 
6.2 The two key areas of KMRF and KCC communications to support the 

implementation of EES checks are: 
• Community  messaging: The primary promotion of awareness of EU EES 

Checks will be the responsibility of central government comms, and we await 
the toolkit which they have developed for their campaign. KMRF and KCC 
comms will then share that awareness campaign, using the national assets. 
In addition, KCC will supplement the awareness creatives with our own 
Check Before You Travel and Every Single Journey travel advice campaigns, 
which can be dialled up in the event of delays and disruption on the roads in 
Kent. KCC has created a webpage specifically to keep residents and 
businesses in Kent informed about EES Checks. This links to both the 
Government advice (EU Entry/Exit System - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk), and the 
EU’s web pages  (EES - European Union (europa.eu)). In the event of 
disruption in Kent as a result of EES checks, this page will be used to advise 
residents and businesses on the latest situation on the roads and any impact 
on KCC services. Regular communications, through district websites and 
contact lists, KALC, and a range of social media channels, will aim to give 
people living in the affected areas as much notice as possible of anticipated 
busy periods when disruption may occur, to allow residents to plan ahead.  
 

• Business messaging:  The KMRF Media & Communications Group has 
promoted  business and trader readiness, particularly in the Dover and 
Folkestone areas. A centralised bank of messages directs businesses to 
national guidance and locally produced content via lead agency social media 
channels, which is shared and localised by KMRF partners and other 
appropriate business channels, including Kent Chamber of Commerce, 
Produced in Kent, and Visit Kent. The KMRF Media & Communications 

Page 21

https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/travelling-around-kent/eu-entryexit-system#:~:text=From%20November%202024,%20the%20EU%20plans%20to
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/eu-entryexit-system
https://travel-europe.europa.eu/ees_en


Group will also support the Government’s national campaign to promote and 
encourage hauliers to be border-ready before they enter Kent, and ensure 
that local hauliers are aware of the Local Haulier Scheme. 

 
6.3 KCC’s communications will largely mirror and complement those of the KMRF and 

anticipates increased demand in three key areas: media, resident and business 
communications; website and social media updates; and an increase in Contact 
Centre call demands to both day and out of hours operations. An external 
communications management plan is in place and will run alongside existing EES 
communications and compliment the KMRF EES Communications Strategy.  A 
dedicated MRX EES Teams channel will enable KCC directorates to advise the 
communications team of any service changes, so that these can be quickly added 
to the EES page on Kent.gov and, where appropriate, shared via other channels, 
including social media platforms. This will be supported with media releases and 
social media posts to reach residents across the county. There is potential for 
increased customer contact and, where possible, plans will be in place to increase 
resilience. 

 
6.4 For internal KCC staff communication, a full and comprehensive communications 

plan has been developed and is regularly updated, encompassing scheduled and 
additional messages as required for all colleagues, with supplementary information 
for managers. The engagement team are ready to provide flexible ad hoc 
messaging and will consult closely with Human Resources / Organisational 
Development as required, in case further guidance is required for managers. 

  
 
7. Outstanding issues and future risks 

 
7.1 Understandably there are some outstanding issues remaining in preparing for the 

new EES checks in Kent, and it is accepted and understood by all partners that 
KMRF plans will be updated and revised as we respond to them and learn lessons 
(for the KMRF and for KCC) from those responses. Nevertheless, we are keen to 
ensure that under our leadership for this event, KCC and the wider KMRF are as 
prepared as possible for the introduction of the new checks.  
 

7.2 The majority of these issues rely on other agencies, businesses, bodies, and 
governments to resolve them. Where this is the case, we continue to push for their 
resolution and escalate as needed. The situation is very fluid, and things change 
rapidly, but at the time of writing this report the key issues are:  

 
7.2.1 Decisions on the tourist traffic contingency sites – this includes confirming the sites 

themselves, their operation, and their viability based on the engagement with Port 
of Dover and the ferry operators (P&O, DFDC, Irish Ferries).  

 

Page 22



7.2.2 Agreement from Government on funding for KMRF partners for costs associated 
with EES planning and response, including staff resources, new capabilities, 
additional equipment, and mutual aid. Without this funding, there is a financial risk 
to the agency(ies) making the bid, or a risk that planning and response required 
may not be delivered. 

 
7.2.3 Liaison with the European Union and Police aux Frontières (PaF) to understand 

how the precautionary measures mechanism operates, and how the KMRF can 
influence the decision to activate it. This is the process where local border officials 
can reduce the checks, should excessive queues form.  

 
7.2.4 Concerns about the technological solution for the Port of Dover, and EES as a 

whole.  
• Due to the lack of space within the Port of Dover, the only solution is to use 

tablets rather than kiosks, and these have so far proven to be extremely 
unreliable. At the time of writing this report, the initial solution has been 
scrapped and we are unclear on its replacement. If the tablets do not work, 
then there is no alternative plan as drivers cannot exit their vehicle in the 
buffer zone to use an alternative input device. 

• There has yet to be a simultaneous EU-wide test of the EES system, which 
raises concerns as to whether it will be resilient (particularly at peak periods). 

 
7.2.5 There are concerns as to whether KMRF partner agencies will be able to access 

the data they need from other agencies / organisations / government bodies to 
effectively plan, forecast, and then mitigate disruption arising from EES checks. 
Without data and information, intelligence cannot be developed, which will hinder 
the ability of partners to respond to incidents. 

 
8. Next steps  
 
8.1 KCC has been working across its services and with partners in the KMRF to 

support planning and preparedness for the EES implementation as set out in this 
paper.  However, KCC and KMRF plans are designed to respond to traffic 
disruption at the border, ensuring that critical services are able to be delivered and 
prevent immediate harm to those that may be affected by the disruption.  Partners 
in central government continue to hold the levers to ensure that mitigation 
measures are in place ahead of any new implementation date and in the long term 
in relation to border disruption.  

 
8.2 The delay to the implementation date is welcome and allows further time in which 

the risks set out above must be addressed by central government.  In the 
meantime,  KCC and the KMRF will continue with its preparations and working with 
central government whilst a new date is determined.   

 
 
 

Page 23



 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
The County Council to consider the following proposal to: 
 

1. note the national and local preparations for the introduction of EES border checks; 
and 

2. endorse Kent County Council’s priorities for urgent Government action to resolve the 
outstanding issues as highlighted in this report. 

 
 
 
6. Contact details 
 

Report Author:  
Andy Jeffery 
Head of Resilience and Emergency 
Planning 
Telephone number: 03000 42 18 71 
Email address:  
andy.jeffery@kent.gov.uk 
 

Director:  
Rebecca Spore 
Director of Infrastructure 
Telephone number: 03000 41 67 16 
Email address: 
rebecca.spore@kent.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 24

mailto:andy.jeffery@kent.gov.uk
mailto:rebecca.spore@kent.gov.uk


 

 

From: Roger Gough, Leader of the Council 
 
  Peter Oakford, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, 
  Corporate and Traded Services 
   
  John Betts, Interim Corporate Director for Finance 
 
To:  County Council 
 
Date: 7 November 2024 
 
Subject: Update to Spending the Council’s Money for the Procurement Act 2023 
 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
This paper sets out the substantive changes that are required to Spending the 
Council’s Money as a result of the upcoming Procurement Act 2023 (the ‘Act’).  From 
24 February 2025, the Act will become the primary governing legislation for public 
procurement, applying to all contracting authorities in England, Wales and Northern 
Ireland. It will introduce the biggest change to public procurement in over 15 years. 
 
The paper outlines the main ambitions of the new legislation, before detailing its key 
provisions and the changes proposed to Spending the Council’s Money (SCM), the 
mandatory rules that anyone spending money on behalf of KCC must comply with. 
These changes would come into force on the ‘go-live’ date for the new legislation. 
 
The proposed changes will help ensure the Council is compliant with the Act, 
addressing new requirements which relate to pre-procurement activity, tendering, 
social value and tackling barriers facing SMEs and VCSEs, excluding suppliers, and 
transparency throughout the Council’s procurement and contract management. 
 
With some discrete policy positions on how KCC will implement the legislation, the 
proposed changes to SCM also seek to position the Council to take advantage of the 
opportunities that the Act presents while mitigating the biggest challenges and risks. 
 
The proposed changes, which have been subject to a comprehensive legal review, 
as well as internal scrutiny, demonstrate KCC’s commitment to ensuring its key 
spending rules remain fit for purpose in a changing operating environment. 
 
Preparation for the Act has been an important programme for KCC, which has been 
led by the Commercial and Procurement Division but with cross-Council support. 
Such collaboration has been evidenced on the review of Spending the Council’s 
Money, and will continue to be crucial as wider preparations are progressed. 
 
Recommendations:   
 
Approve the substantive changes proposed to Spending the Council’s Money, 
detailed in Sections 2 to 8 and available in full in the appended documents and as 
recommended by the Governance and Audit Committee on 9 October 2024. 
 
 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The Procurement Act 2023 (the ‘Act’) introduces a new set of regulations for 
public procurement that will apply to all contracting authorities in England, 
Wales, and Northern Ireland from the ‘go-live’ date of 24 February 2025. 
 

1.2 The new regulations represent a significant change to the way public bodies 
buy goods, services and works. They will replace current public procurement 
rules, including those set out in the Public Contracts Regulations (PCR) 2015.  

 
1.3 The intention of the reforms is to create a simpler, more flexible procurement 

regime, encourage consideration of social value, and reduce the barriers facing 
SMEs and VCSEs wishing to access contracting opportunities. The regulations 
also intend to allow authorities to take action on suppliers posing unacceptable 
risks, while also embedding transparency throughout the commercial life cycle. 

 
1.4 KCC’s preparation for the Act commenced in April 2024 and a key activity has 

been the review of the Council’s mandatory spending rules contained within 
Spending the Council’s Money (SCM). This paper outlines the substantive 
changes required to SCM as a result of the legislation and to position KCC to 
take full advantage of the new regulations, while mitigating the associated risks. 

 
1.5 Members should note that the new regulations were originally due to come into 

force on 28 October 2024. However, on 12 September 2024, it was confirmed 
that the ‘go-live’ date for the regulations would be slipped to 24 February 2025. 

 
1.6 While no changes are expected to be made to the regulations themselves, 

Government will be using this extra time to prepare a new National 
Procurement Policy Statement (NPPS), which sets out the Government’s 
priorities for procurement and that the new regulations will require authorities to 
take into account. This may require further minor changes to SCM. 

 
1.7 On 9 October 2024, Governance and Audit Committee reviewed and supported 

the substantive changes that are proposed to SCM as a result of the new Act. 
The Committee recommended that County Council agree the changes as 
detailed in Sections 2 to 8 of this report and the appended documents.  

 
Substantive Changes to Spending the Council’s Money 
 

2. Scope, Objectives, and Principles 
 

2.1 As with the existing regulations, the Act will largely apply to the procurements of 
contracts with an estimated value above the UK public procurement thresholds. 
However, there are some key exceptions to the regulations. For example, 
contracts valued below those thresholds, Light Touch Contracts, and 
Concession Contracts, are only subject to a limited number of the provisions. 
Notably, the procurement of health care services is out-of-scope of the new Act 
and are instead subject to the separate Provider Selection Regime (PSR). 
 

2.2 SCM has been updated to differentiate between where the new regulations 
apply and where there are exceptions or, in the event that healthcare 
services are being procured, alternative rules need to be followed. 

Page 26



 

 

Sections 10, 12, 15, and 16 of SCM, in particular, have been updated to 
highlight the exceptions, but the delineation is made throughout the document. 
 

2.3 Similar to the existing regulations, when awarding a contract under the Act, 
authorities will need to have regard to the principles of delivering value for 
money, acting with integrity, and transparency. However, there is a greater 
emphasis on realising wider public benefit through procurement, including 
delivering social value and opening up opportunities to SMEs and VCSEs. 

 
2.4 The importance of securing wider public benefit through public procurement is 

expected to be emphasised in the new National Procurement Policy Statement, 
which Government will publish ahead of the new regulations coming into force. 

 
2.5 SCM has been updated to ensure the objectives of the regulations are 

reflected in the principles of SCM and the roles and responsibilities of 
anyone spending money behalf of KCC, Senior Officers, and the 
Commercial and Procurement Division (CPD). Notably, Sections 3, 6, and 7 
have been amended to align with the new regulatory objectives, and there are 
now appropriate references made to these objectives throughout the document. 

 
2.6 As with existing public procurement regulations, the Procurement Act 2023 

takes a VAT-inclusive approach to calculating and expressing contract values. 
SCM has been updated to express all contract values as being inclusive of 
VAT, to better align with the regulatory position. 

 
3. Pre-procurement 

 
3.1 The new legislation emphasises the importance of pre-procurement 

preparation, which involves activities such as preliminary market engagement, 
and developing requirements, award criteria and evaluation methodology. 
These activities are crucial for KCC to effectively understand and engage the 
market, develop procurement strategies, and plan procurement processes. 
 

3.2 Section 16 of the Act sets out the requirements for preliminary market 
engagement, which is encouraged but not mandatory. Authorities must specify 
the purposes of such engagement (e.g., testing the feasibility of requirements, 
informing the market of procurement plans, or seeking market feedback). 
Authorities must ensure that no suppliers are advantaged by such engagement. 

 
3.3 Section 26 of SCM has been added to reflect the legal requirements 

around preliminary market engagement. It also clarifies that Officers in 
Services will lead on such engagement, but the CPD will advise and support. 

 
3.4 Section 21 of the Act covers the development of requirements, which must be 

sufficiently clear and specific and not break the rules on technical specifications 
as set out in Section 56 of the Act. These rules include not referring to particular 
designs, trademarks, or suppliers, unless it is appropriate to do so. 

 
3.5 Section 25 of SCM has been added to reflect obligations on specification 

design. It also clarifies that Officers in Services are responsible for developing 
specifications, but the CPD will provide challenge and a commercial review. 

 

Page 27



 

 

3.6 Section 23 of the Act covers setting award criteria and evaluation methodology, 
which must be relevant, proportionate, clear, measurable, and specific. The Act 
also introduces a shift from identifying the 'Most Economically Advantageous 
Tender' to identifying the 'Most Advantageous Tender', which implies a more 
balanced consideration of both price and quality, including social value. 

 
3.7 Section 31 of SCM has been added to reflect the change in emphasis 

during tender evaluation, underlining that contracts should be awarded 
based on a balanced consideration of price and quality. It also sets out that 
the award criteria and evaluation methodology should be developed in close 
consultation between Officers in Services and the CPD. 

 
3.8 The changes proposed to SCM will support compliance with the provisions. 

However, the changes will also help to ensure the Council properly engages 
markets and KCC’s approach to procurement is effectively planned from the 
outset. This will increase the prospect of achieving best value, while considering 
wider public benefit and the need to treat all suppliers fairly and equally. 

 
4. Tendering 

 
4.1 The new legislation simplifies the number of competitive tendering procedures 

available, removing much of the prescriptiveness in the current regulations, and 
providing authorities with greater flexibility to design their own procedures. 
 

4.2 Section 20 of the Act outlines that authorities may use either a single-stage 
open tendering procedure or a multi-stage 'competitive flexible' procedure. The 
'competitive flexible' procedure allows authorities to design their own procedure 
based on their objectives, local needs, and the nature of the market, as long as 
they comply with the principles and procedural requirements of the legislation. 

 
4.3 Section 29 of SCM has been added to set out the two competitive 

tendering procedures available to Officers. Given the risks associated with 
designing a 'competitive flexible' procedure, Officers will be permitted to use two 
forms of this procedure that are similar to two already used. Alternative designs 
will require approval of the Commercial and Procurement Oversight Board. 

 
4.4 Section 22 of the Act allows authorities to set out 'conditions of participation' to 

test the legal and financial capacity or technical ability of suppliers to deliver the 
contract. These conditions must be proportionate to the nature, complexity, and 
cost of the contract, and there are limitations on the type of accounts and 
insurance arrangements that authorities can request from suppliers. 

 
4.5 Section 30 of SCM has been updated to reference 'conditions of 

participation' instead of 'selection criteria' and to highlight the importance 
of proportionality when setting these conditions. The requirement to use 
the Council's standardised Selection Questionnaire is retained, alongside the 
new requirement for Officers to refer to the Government Supplier Information 
System. Where it is leading the procurement, the CPD will lead on setting and 
assessing against the conditions of participation, working closely with Services. 

 
4.6 Sections 34 to 37 of SCM have also been updated to provide clarity on the 

rules and expectations for conducting tendering exercises, such as using 

Page 28



 

 

the Council's standard Invitation to Tender documentation, responding to 
clarification questions, and managing the tenders received. 

 
4.7 Section 50 of the Act requires authorities to communicate award decisions to 

suppliers (both successful and unsuccessful) and to issue assessment 
summaries, providing more detailed feedback to suppliers than currently. 

 
4.8 Section 40 of SCM has been updated to set out the requirement for 

Officers to communicate the outcome of the procurement to suppliers 
who tendered with feedback provided as required by the Act. It is also set 
out that the CPD will lead this activity, working closely with Officers in Services. 

 
4.9 Section 49 of the Act introduces the concept of an 'Open Framework', a scheme 

of Frameworks that can run for a longer period of time than a typical Framework 
and allows authorities to appoint new suppliers during the life of the scheme. 

 
4.10 Sections 34 to 40 of the Act introduce Dynamic Markets, in some ways similar 

to Dynamic Purchasing Systems available under current regulations, but that 
offer flexibility as they are usable for a wider range of goods, services, or works. 

 
4.11 Section 15 of SCM has been updated to reference the availability of Open 

Frameworks and Dynamic Markets. It also clarifies that the CPD will establish 
such arrangements on behalf of the Council, while Officers in Services will be 
responsible for calling off contracts from these arrangements. 

 
4.12 These changes to SCM will ensure KCC complies with the new legal 

requirements, while mitigating the risks associated with the provisions and 
taking advantage of the new flexibilities to secure best value and innovation 
through procedures that utilise commercial skills. 

 
5. Contract Management 
 
5.1 The new legislation recognises that the important work does not stop once a 

contract is awarded, introducing several requirements for contract management. 
 

5.2 Section 52 of the Act requires authorities to publish at least three KPIs for 
contracts valued at £5m or more and to report at least annually on the supplier’s 
performance against those KPIs. Additionally, section 71 of the Act requires 
authorities to publish the details of supplier underperformance or breach of 
contract where it meets the criteria in the legislation. 

 
5.3 Section 43 of SCM has been added to incorporate the new requirements 

for managing supplier performance. It clarifies that Officers in Services are 
responsible for monitoring supplier performance, with the CPD and Legal 
advising on the appropriate course of action in the event of poor performance 
and needing to be engaged ahead of publishing any details related to this. 

 
5.4 Sections 67 to 70 of the Act require authorities to ensure that suppliers are 

promptly paid within 30 days of a valid, undisputed invoice (an obligation also 
placed on suppliers in relation to paying sub-contractors). KCC’s compliance 
with these requirements and payments against contracts must be published. 

 

Page 29



 

 

5.5 Section 44 of SCM has been added to reflect these payment obligations. It 
also outlines that Officers may agree to earlier, discounted payments to 
suppliers as part of KCC’s supplier incentive programme. The role of the CPD 
and Finance have been clarified in relation to the publication requirements. 

 
5.6 Sections 74 and 75 of the Act allow authorities to make changes to contracts in 

certain circumstances, but require publication of the details of certain changes 
where they alter the value or the term of the contract to a prescribed degree. 

 
5.7 Section 45 of SCM has been updated to reflect the legal requirements for 

contract changes. The CPD will also need to be engaged before changes to 
contracts valued above the UK public procurement thresholds. Section 10 
provides clarity on who should be consulted on and authorise contract changes. 

 
5.8 Sections 78 to 80 of the Act provide authorities with rights to terminate contracts 

in certain circumstances and required contract expiry details to be published. 
 

5.9 Section 46 of SCM has been added to incorporate the provisions relating 
to contract expiry and termination. It also includes key considerations to be 
made ahead of contract exit, such as providing reasonable notice to the supplier 
and resolving outstanding issues. Officers are directed to engage the CPD, and 
Legal, ahead of contract exit, especially if early termination is considered. 

 
5.10 The SCM changes proposed will support compliance with the above 

requirements. Further clarity on where the CPD are to be engaged will ensure 
the whole Council is supported to hold suppliers to account for poor 
performance, get the best value from contract changes, and mitigate the risks 
linked to the early termination of contracts, while helping KCC to meets its 
prompt payment obligations and new transparency requirements. 

 
6. Wider Public Benefit 

 
6.1 The new legislation requires authorities to consider the wider public benefit that 

can be delivered through procurement, including the delivery of social value and 
reducing barriers facing SMEs and VCSEs. It introduces a number of provisions 
to ensure authorities consider these legislative priorities when contracting. 
 

6.2 The importance of securing wider public benefit through public procurement is 
expected to be emphasised in the new National Procurement Policy Statement, 
which Government will publish ahead of the new regulations coming into force. 
 

6.3 Section 18 of the Act introduces a new duty for authorities to consider lotting 
(i.e., splitting up) contracts prior to undertaking a procurement in order to make 
opportunities more accessible for smaller organisations. Where authorities 
choose not to lot contracts, they must record the rationale for this decision. 

 
6.4 Section 27 has been added into SCM to cover the duty to consider lotting. 

Working with the CPD, Officers in Services will be required to consider lotting 
contracts prior to undertaking a procurement, considering whether this will make 
opportunities more accessible for smaller organisations and secure best value. 

 

Page 30



 

 

6.5 Beyond considering lotting, there are several references made within the new 
Act to the importance of taking a proportional approach to activity throughout 
the commercial life cycle and specific provisions that will be of benefit to smaller 
organisations and help ensure contracting opportunities are more accessible. 

 
6.6 References have been incorporated throughout SCM to address the need to 

consider proportionality at the different stages of the commercial life cycle. 
Sections 29 and 36 of SCM have been amended to make clear to Officers 
that they should consider the implications for SMEs and VCSEs when 
designing their tendering procedures and setting appropriate timeframes. 

 
6.7 Concerning securing social value through procurement, the new Act seeks to 

encourage this through a number of different provisions. For example, the shift 
in the new regulations to considering the ‘Most Advantageous Tender’ rather 
than ‘Most Economically Advantageous Tender’ intends to move authorities 
away from simply considering lowest price and factoring in a more balanced 
assessment of price and quality, including the social value to be delivered. 

 
6.8 Sections 31 and 37 of SCM have been updated to underline the 

importance of taking into account social value and sustainability when 
setting award criteria and evaluating tenders. Sections 25 and 32 also direct 
Officers to reflect on these areas when developing specifications and KPIs. 

 
6.9 As outlined elsewhere within this paper, SCM also now incorporates the legal 

obligations on KCC to publish details of upcoming contracting opportunities, to 
provide suppliers with assessment summaries, and to pay suppliers promptly. 
Adherence to these key requirements will support smaller organisations by 
providing early visibility of tenders, offering constructive feedback where they 
are unsuccessful to help improve future tenders, and supporting cash flow.  

 
6.10 The changes proposed to SCM will help ensure KCC is compliant with the 

obligations outlined in this section, but they also go beyond the legal 
requirements in different respects to secure wider public benefit for Kent. 

 
7. Exclusions 

 
7.1 The new legislation will make it easier for authorities to exclude from 

procurements those suppliers who pose unacceptable risks to the Council. 
 

7.2 Section 57 of the Procurement Act allows authorities to exclude suppliers from 
procurement processes where certain grounds known as mandatory and 
discretionary grounds apply. The application of exclusion grounds has been 
extended to a supplier’s ‘connected persons’, ‘associated persons’ and sub-
contractors. Alongside this, Government will be creating and managing a 
‘debarment list’ of suppliers who must be excluded from public procurement.  

 
7.3 Schedule 6 of the Act sees the strengthening of mandatory exclusion grounds 

to include corporate manslaughter, fraud, modern slavery, and tax offences. 
Schedule 7 of the Act also includes discretionary grounds for exclusion linked to 
labour market misconduct, environmental misconduct, and breach of contract 
and poor performance. Where a discretionary ground applies, the supplier must 
be given the opportunity to evidence ‘self-cleaning’. 

Page 31



 

 

 
7.4 Section 39 has been added into SCM to incorporate the exclusions 

provisions of the Act. It also clarifies that the CPD will lead on the review, 
checks, and processes related to exclusions, where it leads the procurement 
(otherwise Officers in Services can lead on this). Regardless, the CPD and 
Legal must be consulted with prior to any exclusion being made. 

 
7.5 The changes proposed to SCM with regards to exclusions will help ensure KCC 

is compliant with its associated obligations under the new Act. Additionally, the 
outlined role of the CPD and Legal in this process will mitigate the legal risks. 
 

8. Acting with Integrity and Transparency 
 

8.1 Running through the new regulations is the common thread of transparency, 
which is an expectation throughout the commercial life cycle. Under the Act, the 
Council will be required to publish notices of certain upcoming commercial 
activity to a newly established Government Central Digital Platform. 
 

8.2 For individual procurement projects, the notice requirements will include 
planned procurement notices (where we wish to provide early notice of a 
contracting opportunity); pre-market engagement notices (where such 
engagement is carried out); tender notices (ahead of undertaking a 
procurement), contract award notices (prior to entering a contract); and contract 
details notices (after entering into a contract with a supplier). 

 
8.3 During contract management, as has been indicated elsewhere in this paper, 

there will be a legal obligation on the Council to publish notices detailing certain 
contract changes, the performance of suppliers on contracts valued above £5m, 
underperformance on contracts, and payment compliance information. 

 
8.4 Separate notice requirements will apply when establishing Framework 

Agreements and Dynamic Markets. Limited notice requirements will also apply 
when calling off from these arrangements and on below threshold contracts. 

 
8.5 SCM has been updated throughout to include reference to the new 

transparency requirements that apply through the commercial life cycle. It 
clarifies that the CPD will lead on the publication of the notices, although 
Officers in Services must provide information in a complete and timely manner. 

 
8.6 Section 93 of the Act requires authorities to publish details of their procurement 

pipeline, covering contract opportunities at a value of £2m or more and 
expected to be awarded in the next 18 months. This requirement will create 
better visibility of procurement plans and allow suppliers to better plan for bids. 

 
8.7 Section 8 of SCM has been updated to reflect the new requirement to 

publish procurement pipelines. It also goes beyond the legal requirements, 
by committing to publish opportunities above the UK public procurement 
threshold for goods and services, which is below the £2m requirement 
stipulated in the new legislation, and will support smaller organisations. 

 
8.8 Part 5 of the Act provides clearer guidance on how and when to undertake 

conflicts of interest assessments, ensuring greater focus and consistency when 

Page 32



 

 

dealing with and recording conflicts of interest. Authorities must prepare a 
conflicts assessment for each procurement and publicly confirm that this has 
been carried out, revised as necessary throughout the commercial lifecycle. 

 
8.9 Section 22 of SCM has been updated to reflect the new requirements for 

carrying out conflicts assessments. It details that Officers must take all 
reasonable steps to identify and mitigate actual or perceived conflicts of interest 
that may arise in relation to a procurement from the outset of the process. 
Officers in Services will create and manage conflicts assessments and must 
keep these under review, consulting with and seeking sign off from the CPD. 

 
8.10 These transparency provisions will have a resource implication, particularly for 

the CPD and potentially open up greater opportunity for legal challenge. 
However, they may also reduce supplier enquiries, encourage competition, help 
ensure contracting opportunities more accessible to SMEs and VCSEs, and 
build even greater public trust in KCC’s procurement and contracting activity. 

 
9. Conclusion 

 
9.1 The Procurement Act 2023 represents the biggest change in over 15 years to 

how public bodies buy goods, services, and works. 
 

9.2 These reforms, and the amendments proposed to SCM, have the potential to 
deliver several benefits to KCC, its supply base, and residents. These 
opportunities include greater flexibility to design competitive procedures suited 
to our local needs and to enable us to secure best value, wider public benefit, 
as well as tailoring processes to reduce barriers facing SMEs and VCSEs. 

 
9.3 With a strengthening of the provisions around contract management and the 

exclusions regime, the changes may also motivate improved supplier 
performance, while providing the Council with additional protection against 
those suppliers posing an unacceptable risk to KCC. Furthermore, the 
emphasis on transparency throughout the commercial life cycle may also build 
further trust with residents and suppliers around use of the Kent pound.  

 
9.4 While updating SCM is a key component of preparing KCC for the reforms, and 

ensuring we are compliant from the ‘go-live’ date, wider preparatory work is 
being progressed and will continue. This includes developing detailed guidance 
for Officers, extending training opportunities, and engaging on the changes 
across KCC and with our key provider sectors ahead of 24 February 2025. 

 
10.    Recommendations 

 
Approve the substantive changes proposed to Spending the Council’s Money, 
detailed in Sections 2 to 8 and available in full in the appended documents and as 
recommended by the Governance and Audit Committee on 9 October 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 33



 

 

11. Financial implications 
 
11.1 The new transparency rules will have resource implications with KCC having to 

publish up to 15 notices for each procurement and in contract management. 
These are pressures that are shared with and have been expressed by many 
other public sector bodies subject to the new regulations. Government have 
undertaken a New Burdens Assessment for the Act, but have determined that 
these pressures will balance with the benefits of the new regulations. 
 

11.2 The Council is working internally and with its e-procurement systems provider to 
automate the information and publication process linked to the new 
transparency requirements and to mitigate their impact, as far as possible.  

 
12. Legal implications 
 
12.1 A transition period, during which procurements and contracts already underway 

or concluded under the previous legislation will continue to be subject to those 
regulations, will see KCC having to work with multiple procurement regulations 
(the PCR 2015, the new Act, and the separate regime for healthcare services). 
 

12.2 As with any legislation, there will be a period of uncertainty until the new 
procurement regulations are tried and tested, case law develops, and further 
secondary legislation and guidance is published. During this time, there is a risk 
of wrongful application or misinterpretation of the regulations and challenge. 

 
12.3 The Council is mitigating these risks with the wider preparatory work described, 

particularly updating and communicating Spending the Council’s Money, 
guidance for staff, and extending training and development opportunities. 

 
13. Further Information 
 
Procurement Act 2023 
 
The Procurement Regulations 2024 
 
Transforming Public Procurement Knowledge Drops 
 
Update to SCM – Governance and Audit Committee (9 October 2024) 

 
14. Contact details 
 
Report Authors:  
 
Michael Bridger, Commercial Standards and Improvement Manager 
 
Rebecca Rhodes, Commercial Ethics and Sustainability Lead 
 
Relevant Senior Officers:   
 
Clare Maynard, Head of Commercial and Procurement Division 
 
John Betts, Interim Corporate Director for Finance  

Page 34

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/54/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2024/9780348259728/contents
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/the-official-transforming-public-procurement-knowledge-drops
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=9600&Ver=4


 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
Kent County Council  

Spending the Council’s 
Money 
The Council’s Rules for Procurement and 
Spending Activity 

Page 35



 

2 
 

PART A: INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................. 3 

1. PURPOSE .................................................................................................................................................. 3 
2. FORMAL STATUS OF SCM ............................................................................................................................ 3 
3. KEY PRINCIPLES ......................................................................................................................................... 3 
4. COMPLIANCE ........................................................................................................................................... 43 
5. SCOPE .................................................................................................................................................... 54 
6. THE ROLE OF ANYONE BUYING ON BEHALF OF THE COUNCIL ............................................................................ 65 
7. RESPONSIBILITIES AND ACCOUNTABILITIES OF THE WIDER COUNCIL.................................................................... 86 
8. PROCUREMENT PIPELINE ......................................................................................................................... 119 
9. APPROVALS FOR CONTRACTING ACTIVITY .................................................................................................. 1210 

PART B: REQUIREMENTS FOR SOURCING GOODS, SERVICES AND WORKS ................................................. 1311 

10. PROCEDURES FOR PROCUREMENT BY AGGREGATE CONTRACT VALUE ............................................................. 1311 
11. CALCULATING THE AGGREGATE CONTRACT VALUE ...................................................................................... 1613 
12. DETERMINING THE APPLICABLE PROCUREMENT REGULATIONS ...................................................................... 1613 
13. PROCUREMENT BUSINESS CASES ............................................................................................................. 1713 
14. USING EXISTING CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS ....................................................................................... 1714 
15. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS AND DYNAMIC PURCHASING SYSTEMS (DPS’) ..................................................... 1714 
16. CONCESSION CONTRACTS ...................................................................................................................... 1915 
17. TEMPORARY STAFF, CONTRACTORS, AND CONSULTANTS ............................................................................. 2015 
18. COLLABORATION WITH OTHER PUBLIC BODIES ........................................................................................... 2116 
19. LIABILITY AND SECURITY ........................................................................................................................ 2116 
20. FINANCIAL SECURITY ............................................................................................................................. 2116 
21. FRAUD, BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION ......................................................................................................... 2217 
22. DOCUMENT RETENTION ........................................................................................................................ 2317 

PART C: REQUIREMENTS FOR QUOTATION OR TENDERING PROCEDURES ................................................. 2318 

23. ENGAGING THE COMMERCIAL AND PROCUREMENT DIVISION ........................................................................ 2318 
24. REQUIREMENT TO ADVERTISE AND PUBLISH INTENDED PROCUREMENT ROUTE ................................................ 2418 
25. USE OF SELECTION QUESTIONNAIRES (SQS) AND BASIC SELECTION CRITERIA ................................................... 2719 
26. REQUEST FOR QUOTATIONS ....................................................................... ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.20 
27. INVITATIONS TO TENDER ........................................................................................................................ 2720 
28. FORMS OF CONTRACT ........................................................................................................................... 2921 
29. SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS ...................................................................................... 3222 
30. POST-SELECTION QUESTIONNAIRE (SQ) AND TENDER CLARIFICATIONS ............... ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.23 
31. EVALUATION ....................................................................................................................................... 3423 
32. CONTRACT AWARD, AGREEMENT AND SIGNATURE ..................................................................................... 3624 
33. CONTRACT TIERING AND MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY ................................. ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.25 
34. CONTRACT AWARD NOTICES .................................................................................................................. 3825 
35. CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS, EXTENSIONS AND NOVATIONS ......................................................................... 3926 
36. DISPOSING OF SURPLUS GOODS, MATERIALS OR ASSETS .............................................................................. 4427 
37. WAIVERS ............................................................................................................................................ 4527 
38. EMERGENCY PURCHASES ....................................................................................................................... 4527 
39. PURCHASE ORDERS .............................................................................................................................. 4528 
40. SUBSIDIES ........................................................................................................................................... 4628 

APPENDIX 1: DEFINITIONS ......................................................................................................................... 4729 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 

3 
 

Part A: Introduction 

1. Purpose 

1.1. This document, ‘Spending the Council’s Money’ is referred to hereafter as ‘SCM’. SCM is the 
mandatory rules and processes that must be followed and complied with when spending 
money on behalf of Kent County Council (‘the Council’). The purpose of SCM is to ensure 
that, prior to any expenditure being incurred, there is proper consideration of the process, and 
that any procurement or contracting is carried out in a fair, open, and transparent way such 
that the outcome will represent value for money to the Council and the county’s residents. 

1.2. It is important to understand that whilst SCM is an internal Council document, it does seek to 
incorporate and embed procedures across the Council to also ensure compliance with 
external obligations placed upon the Council, including those found in relevant procurement 
legislation, applicable case law, and both statutory and non-statutory guidance. Non-
compliance with SCM would therefore not only be a breach of an internal Council set of rules 
but could result in the Council acting unlawfully in terms of procurement legislation, applicable 
case law, and guidance. Repeated or egregious instances of non-compliance with SCM (e.g., 
those which result in unlawful practice) may result in disciplinary action being taken. 

2. Formal Status of SCM 

2.1. SCM is referenced in the Council’s Contracts and Tenders Standing Orders (‘the Orders’), 
which are written into the Constitution and made under Section 135 of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 

2.2. The Corporate Director for Finance, as the Council’s Section 151 Officer, is the custodian of 
SCM. However, the Section 151 Officer may delegate the responsibility for keeping SCM 
under review and up to date to the Head of Commercial and Procurement within the Council. 
Where the law is changed in a way that affects SCM, those with delegated responsibility will 
issue a bulletin and the change must be observed until these documents are revised to reflect 
the changes. Where there is a difference between current legislation, applicable case law, 
and/or statutory and non-statutory guidance governing procurement, contracting and public 
expenditure (‘current law and guidance’) and SCM, the current law and guidance prevails.  

3. Key Principles 

3.1. SCM is underpinned by the following key principles: 

 
a. To ensure that there is accountability for the Council’s external spending. 
b. To ensure that those spending money for or on behalf of the Council act in the best 

interests of the Council and with high standards of integrityprobity. 
c. To manage the Council’s exposure to financial and legal risk  
d. To ensure that the Council meets its statutory duty to deliver best value for money, while 

considering how to maximise public benefit and creatinges healthy competition and 
markets for the goods, services, and works purchased. 

e. In respect of health care services, the Council meets its statutory duty to act with a view to 
securing the needs of the people who use the services, improving the quality of the 
services, and improving the efficiency in the provision of the services. 

f. To be transparent to our residents about how the Council spends their money. 
f.g. To ensure that public money is spent legally and fairly. 
g.h. To support the Council to achieve its corporate aims, including the delivery of its 

supporting our sustainability and social value objectives, delivery in line with the public 
sector equality duty, and encouraging the growth of local businesses and reducing or 

Page 37



 

4 
 

removing the barriers facing, Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) and Voluntary, 
Community, and Social Enterprises (VCSEs) when accessing contracting opportunities. 

i. To ensure the Council has due regard to the national policy priorities for public 
Procurement that are outlined in the National Procurement Policy Statement (NPPS). 

 

4. Compliance 

4.1. SCM applies to all Members and Officers and those working for, or on behalf of, the Council. 
That means: 

 
a. Individuals, permanent or temporary, and whether via a contract of employment or 

engaged through an agency, or otherwise, as a contractor or consultant. 
b. Schools and business/trading units. 
c. Third parties undertaking procurements specifically on the Council’s behalf. 

4.2. Anyone who buys goods, services, or works on behalf of the Council, including Members, 
Officers, temporary staff, contractors, and consultants, must always comply with SCM. 

4.3. Confirmed breaches of SCM must be reported to the Monitoring Officer, who will report them 
to Internal Audit and the Governance and Audit Committee as the parties responsible for 
monitoring and oversight of the Council’s compliance with SCM.  

4.4. Those found to be in breach of SCM will be subject to investigation which will lead to 
proportionate action being taken which may include disciplinary action in line with the 
Council’s relevant Code of Conduct. 

4.5. All such individuals who are buying on behalf of the Council must follow the Council’s policies, 
as amended from time to time, particularly those relevant to SCM that are listed below: 

 
a. Contracts and Tenders Standing Orders 
b. Financial Regulations 
c. Scheme of Delegation 
d. Code of Conduct (i.e., the ‘Kent Code’) 
e. Property Management Protocol 
f. Corporate Grants Procedure 
g. Anti-Bribery Policy 
h. Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy 
i. Whistle Blowing Policy and Procedure 

4.6. The legislation by which public procurement is governed in the UK must also be followed, 
including, but not limited, to the following legislation as amended from time-to-time: 

 
a. The Procurement Act 2023 and the Public Procurement Regulations 20241 
a.b. The Health Care Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023 (‘the PSR’) 
b.c. The Public Contracts Regulations (PCR) 20152 
c.d. The Utilities Contracts Regulations (UCR) 20163 
d.e. The Concession Contracts Regulations (CCR) 20164 
e.f. The Defence and Security Public Contracts Regulations (DSPCR) 20115 

 
1 Applicable to procurements commencing on or after the ‘go live’ date for the Act and Regulations – 24 February 
2025. 
2 Applicable to contracts awarded under this regime until the point that they expire or are re-tendered. 
3 Applicable to contracts awarded under this regime until the point that they expire or are re-tendered.  
4 Applicable to contracts awarded under this regime until the point that they expire or are re-tendered.  
5 Applicable to contracts awarded under this regime until the point that they expire or are re-tendered.  

Page 38



 

5 
 

f.g. The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 
g.h. The Modern Slavery Act 2015 
h.i. Local Government Act 1999 (LGA 1999)  
i.j. Competition Act 1998 

4.7. The Council must also comply with any applicable case law and statutory guidance issued in 
connection with the above legislation, as such guidance is amended from time-to-time.  

5. Scope 

5.1. Apart from the exemptions listed below, SCM covers all Council spend with external suppliers 
regardless of how they are funded, or which systems are used to place orders with suppliers. 
This includes services sourced from other local authorities or public bodies under the relevant 
legislation. 

5.2. There are circumstances when exemptions exist under the procurement regime and/or where 
the Council’s internal rules may not apply to the requirement you are seeking to commission 
(see table below for a non-exhaustive list – other exemptions may apply under the applicable 
procurement legislation). The Early earliest possible engagement with Commercial and 
Procurement and Legal colleagues should be undertaken when scoping to ensure that the 
correct procedures are followed. Exemption from compliance with SCM does not negate the 
need to consider the most appropriate route forward to achieve value for money. 

5.3. In accordance with Section 50 of SCM, Officers may also seek a Waiver to deviate from SCM 
to the extent that it relates to a Waiver to internal Council made rules and would not 
contravene the Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015, CCR 2016, the PSR, or other applicable 
legislation. 

 

Exemption Relevant Policy/Law 

Contracts for the acquisition or lease of 
land and/or real estate. 

Kent County Council Property Management 
Protocol 
Section 123 of the Local Government Act. 
Schedule 2 of the Procurement Act 2023. 
Regulation 10 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 

Contracts for permanent or fixed-term 
employment (not including agency staff, 
contractors and consultants). 

HR/Recruitment Policies. 
Schedule 2 of the Procurement Act 2023. 
Regulation 10 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 

Non-trade mandatory payments to third 
parties, such as insurance claims, pension 
payments, or payments to public bodies. 

These are not subject to competition due to their 
nature and are not in consideration for the 
provision of supplies, services, or works. 

A declared emergency authorised by the 
Emergency Planning Officer. 

The Civil Contingencies Act 2004. 

Awarding of Grants where this is not an 
extension of funding for currently 
contracted services. 

Corporate Grants Procedure – where a genuine 
grant award and not a public contract for 
services. 

Loans and investments. Kent County Council Financial Regulations and 
Treasury Management Strategy.  
Schedule 2 of the Procurement Act 2023. 
Regulation 10 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 

Placement of a child with Special 
Educational Needs where already directed 
following statutory assessment. 

Children and Families Act 2014 and ESFA 
guidance 2019-20, paragraph 86. 

Page 39



 

6 
 

Direct payments to customers following 
care assessment (e.g., payments under 
Self-Directed Support or Individual 
Budgets). 

Section 12 of The Care Act 2014. 

Where an adult with care and support 
needs expresses a preference for 
particular accommodation.  

Section 30 of The Care Act 2014. 

6. The Role of Anyone Buying on Behalf of the Council 

6.1. Anyone who buys on behalf of the Council is responsible for: 
 

a. Complying with SCM and all policies, legislation and regulations listed in Sections 4.5 and 
4.6. 

b. Ensuring that adequate consideration has been taken to determine if procurement is the 
correct approach to delivering the required provisions. 

c. Acting with integrity probity at all stages of procurement and in contract management 
activity and having due regard to any actual or perceived conflicts of interest that may arise, 
putting in place mitigating actions, and keeping documented conflicts assessments under 
review.could influence the outcome of procurements. 

c.d.  Having regard to the particular barriers facing SMEs and VCSEs wishing to access 
contract opportunities and proactively considering how to reduce or remove them. 

e. Being aware of, avoiding and discouraging the influence of anti-competitive practices such 
as cartel behaviour, bid rigging, and conduct practised in collusion or in concertation, also 
being mindful of potential breaches of the Competition Act 1998 more generally. 

d.f. Throughout all procurement and contracting activity, working to achieve the delivery of 
value for money, whilst considering how to maximise wider public benefit, 

e.g. Purchasing from existing contracts and internal and external Framework Agreements 
in the first instance wherever they are appropriate for the requirement in question and can 
be used in a legally compliant way. 

f.h. Ensuring there is adequate budget available for any purchase. 
g.i. Raising a properly completed purchase order and ensuring it is approved before the 

requirements are delivered to the Council, regardless of which finance system is used. 
h.j. Ensuring specifications are drafted to meet the identified needs and requirements and that 

proper consideration is given to value for money and corporate requirements around 
sustainability, social value, equality and diversity, and data and privacy. 

i.k. Engaging with the Commercial and Procurement Division as early as possible to obtain 
advice, guidance, and support and where they are required to in accordance with Section 
10 of SCM. This point of engagement should be as soon as it is determined that 
procurement is the correct approach and always ahead of preliminary market engagement. 

j.l. Ensuring the total aggregate contract value is calculated in accordance with Section 11 of 
SCM. 

k.m. Undertaking contract tiering to assess the level of risk associated with the contracts to 
be managed and to determine appropriate resourcing and support required. This exercise 
is to be undertaken as soon as possible after it is decided that procurement is the 
appropriate route to meet the requirement, prior to contract award, and during contract 
management). 

l.n. Following the guidance set out by the Commercial and Procurement Division around 
buying on behalf of the Council and the management of contracts in accordance with their 
value, risk, and complexity. 

m.o. Engaging with the Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest opportunity 
where a Challenge or Representation is made against a procurement or contracting 
decision taken, ensuring responses are reviewed by an appropriately qualified, 
independent Officer, and acting fairly, impartially, and provided within prescribed 
timescales. 

Page 40



 

7 
 

n.p. Ensuring that, where required, a commercial case, as a part of an overall business 
case, is developed that is efficient and suitable for the purchase and market concerned, 
considering any other relevant sourcing options with assistance from the Commercial and 
Procurement Division and, as relevant, the Finance Team and Legal Team. 

q. Planning an appropriate, proportionate timetable for any procurement or sourcing exercise 
subject always to any regulatory requirements on timescales. 

o.r. Ensuring that suppliers are treated the same with no supplier put at an unfair advantage 
or disadvantage in the Council’s procurement or contracting activity. 

p.s. Ensuring that any TUPE and pensions related issues are properly considered prior to 
inviting tenders or quotations with legal advice sought where appropriate. 

q.t. Ensuring that there is appropriate insurance cover in place for any awarded contract in 
accordance with Council guidance. 

r.u. Ensuring that any procurement requirements and contract terms take account of any head-
contract or funder requirements where the goods or services are part or wholly funded by 
Central Government or the relevant third-party funder. 

s.v. Ensuring that accurate contract information is maintained, and that for all contracts each 
with a total aggregate contract value of £2530,000 or more (excluding including VAT), and 
longer than three months in duration, the Commercial and Procurement Division are 
provided with accurate contract information in order to create a record on the Council’s 
contract management system.  

t.w. Ensuring that all contract records on the Council’s contract management system remain 
up to date with changes made throughout the lifetime of the contract. 

u.x. Determining and following the required governance route and obtaining all necessary 
approvals for the procurement and, where required, decisions in contract management. 

v.y. Ensuring that appropriate legal guidance and support is sought in accordance with Section 
10 of SCM and where required for Contract Modifications, extensions and Novations. 

w.z. Ensuring that appropriate legal guidance and support is sought prior to taking any 
action related to supplier performance or any finding that the supplier is or has become an 
“excluded” or “excludable” supplier for the purposes of the Procurement Act 2023 

aa. Ensuring that HR is consulted, and the appropriate approval obtained for requirements of 
temporary staff, contractors, or consultants outside the agreed corporate contract with 
Connect2Kent (a trading subsidiary of Commercial Services Trading Ltd.). 

x.bb. Ensuring that ICT is consulted on any procurement involving ICT. 
y.cc. Having proper regard for all necessary legal, financial, and professional advice 

received. 
z.dd. Facilitating and ensuring the publication of contract Nnotices, which may include 

contract documentation and performance information (appropriately redacted), in 
accordance with the requirements of the relevant legislation and as stipulated in Section 
10 and Part C of SCM.  

ee. Maintaining a full record and audit trail of all procurement and contract management 
activity, including decisions made and evidence that all relevant issues and criteria have 
been considered and that reasons for any decisions are justified. This documentation must 
be accessible and available to the Commercial and Procurement Division on request. 

aa.ff.  
bb.gg. Ensuring fraud, bribery and corruption risks have been appropriately considered, 

seeking specialist advice from Internal Audit and Counter Fraud, as and when required. 
cc.hh. Reporting any non-compliance with SCM or relevant legislation to the Monitoring 

Officer. 

6.2. Contracts are to be managed day-to-day by a named Officer within Services, who will be 
either a dedicated Contract Manager or an Officer who has those responsibilities as part of a 
broader role (the only exception to this requirement for a named Contract Manager being for 
those contracts valued below £2530,000 exclinc. VAT). The Commercial and Procurement 
Division will provide the commercial lead to support the Contract Manager on all high-risk 
contracts identified through the Council’s contract tiering model. 

Page 41



 

8 
 

7. Responsibilities and Accountabilities of the Wider Council 

7.1. Members of the Council are responsible and accountable for providing strategic direction on 
procurement activity and arrangements, in line with the Member role in decision-making set 
out in the Constitution. 

7.2. Executive Members of the Council are responsible and accountable for: 
 

a. Approving relevant financial expenditure to be incurred through contracting where the 
Constitution would require a Key Decision or Significant Decision of the Executive  

b. Taking relevant decisions around financial expenditure made through contracting in line 
with the Scheme of Delegation 

7.3. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 
 

a. Ensuring, in liaison with the Monitoring Officer, that the appropriate requirements are in 
place in this document and other relevant policies to govern financial expenditure made 
through contracting with external parties. 

b. Ensuring the correct financial processes and systems are in place to manage financial 
expenditure made through contracting with external parties. 

c. Delegating appropriate responsibility for managing financial expenditure made through 
procurement to the Head of Commercial and Procurement and the Commercial and 
Procurement Division. 

d. Reporting any non-compliance with SCM or relevant legislation to the Monitoring Officer. 

7.4. The Monitoring Officer is responsible for: 
 

a. Determining and maintaining, in liaison with the Section 151 Officer, the appropriate 
systems for monitoring and reporting on non-compliance with SCM. 

b. To determine if reported breaches constitute non-compliance and report non-compliance 
with SCM to Internal Audit and Governance and Audit Committee. 

c. Enabling the provision of appropriate legal advice to the Council and the management of 
legal risk.  

7.5. Internal Audit and Counter Fraud are responsible for: 
 

a. Providing independent assurance that the procurement rules have been followed through 
risk-based auditing. 

b. Providing support and advice on conducting fraud risk/impact assessments where 
required. 

c. Recording and reporting on financial irregularities within contracting activity undertaken. 

7.6. Corporate Directors, Directors, and/or Heads of Service (as applicable under the Council’s 
Scheme of Delegation) are specifically responsible for: 

 
a. Providing strategic direction for all procurement undertaken in their area of responsibility. 
b. Ensuring that adequate consideration has been taken to determine if procurement is the 

correct approach to delivering the required provisions. 
c. Ensuring all procurement and decision-making adheres to the Scheme of Delegation. 
d. Obtaining the necessary internal governance, whether by way of a Leader and/or Cabinet 

Member decision, as required by the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, bearing in mind the 
total aggregate contract value, before undertaking any procurement and contracting. 

e. Engaging with the Commercial and Procurement Division, ensuring they are notified in 
advance of all proposed contracts each with a total estimated aggregate value above the 
Public Procurement Threshold PCR 2015 threshold for goods and services regardless of 

Page 42



 

9 
 

whether the contract is for goods, services, or works. As a minimum, this point of 
engagement should be as soon as it is determined that procurement is the correct 
approach and always ahead of preliminary market engagement. This will support 
development of the Procurement Pipeline and enable the commissioning of appropriate 
legal advice to ensure to ensure compliance with SCM. 

f. Officers must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest 
opportunity, regardless of contract value prior to any classification of the supplier as 
“excluded” or “excludable” both for the purposes of any procurement or the application of 
any contractual remedies related to such a classification (including rights to terminate).   

f.g. For any contracts subject to the Provider Selection Regime, Officers must engage with the 
Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest opportunity, regardless of contract 
value, prior to any procurement, contract award, or Contract Modification, to determine the 
appropriate involvement. This is to minimise the legal risk to the Council. 

g.h. Ensuring their Officers undertake contract tiering to assess the level of risk associated 
with contracts to be managed, working closely with the Commercial and Procurement 
Division. (both as part of developing the Procurement Pipeline and, prior to contract 
award). 

i. Nominating appropriately skilled and qualified Officers to undertake procurement and 
contract management activity, where this takes place within their area of responsibility. 

h.j. Ensuring their staff act with integrity probity at all stages of procurement and in contract 
management, activity and havinge due regard to any actual or perceived conflicts of 
interest that may arise, putting in place mitigating actions, and keeping documented 
conflicts assessments under reviewcould influence the outcome of procurements.  

k. Ensuring all sourcing decisions ultimately represent value for money and are within the 
budgetary limits that have been approved, alongside an appropriate consideration of how 
to maximise wider public benefit in all contracting activity. 

l. Ensuring their Officers engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division before 
procuring any contract with a total aggregate contract value above the applicable Public 
Procurement Threshold PCR 2015 threshold for goods and services, regardless of whether 
the contract is for goods, services or works, in order for them to provide advice on the most 
appropriate sourcing route and, where relevant, in accordance with Section 10, lead on the 
procurement. 

i.m. Ensuring their Officers follow the guidance set out by the Commercial and Procurement 
Division when procuring any contract with a total aggregate value below the applicable 
Public Procurement Thresholds. Services should always engage the Division where there 
are concerns about their ability to undertake the project or the risk and complexity. 

j.n. For any contracts subject to the Provider Selection Regime, Officers must engage with the 
Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest opportunity and prior to undertaking 
any procurement, contract award or Modification to contracts subject to that regime. That 
is regardless of the value of such contracts and is aimed to minimise the legal risk to the 
Council. 

o. Ensuring there is due regard to the particular barriers facing SMEs, and VCSEs wishing to 
access contract opportunities and consideration given as to how to remove or reduce them. 

p. Ensuring in all procurement and contracting activity undertaken in their Services, suppliers 
are treated the same and no supplier is put at an unfair advantage or disadvantage. 

k.q. Ensuring their Officers seek guidance from the Commercial and Procurement Division at 
the earliest opportunity where a Challenge or Representation is made against a 
procurement or contracting decision taken by the Council, ensuring responses are fair, 
impartial, and provided within prescribed timescales. 

l.r. Ensuring their Officers seek appropriate legal advice in accordance with Section 10 of SCM 
where required for contract Modifications, extensions and Novations to determine the level 
of legal advice required to mitigate legal risk. 

m.s. Providing for appropriate and effective management of all contracts under their area of 
responsibility and managing relationships with Key Suppliers identified. 

Page 43



 

10 
 

n.t. Officers must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division prior to any 
publication of any Notices in relation to poor performance (including assessments against 
any KPIs if applicable) or the application of any contractual remedies (including rights of 
termination) related to publication by any other contracting authority of any Notice related 
to the supplier’s performance. 

o.u. Ensuring sufficient funds are available for relevant procurement and contracting activity 
and allocating appropriate funds within their budget.  

p.v. Ensuring arrangements are in place for their Officers to provide the Commercial and 
Procurement Division with the information they need in a full and timely manner to publish 
the publish nNotices required in accordance with the requirements of relevant legislation 
and as stipulated in Section 10 and Part C of SCM.  

q.w. Ensuring arrangements are in place for maintaining full records and audit trails of all 
procurement and contract management activity for their Services, including decisions 
made, evidencinge that all relevant issues and criteria have been considered and that 
reasons for any decisions are justified. This documentation must be accessible and 
available to the Commercial and Procurement Division on request. 

r.x. Ensuring the fraud, bribery and corruption risks have been appropriately considered, 
seeking specialist advice from Internal Audit and Counter Fraud. 

s.y. Reporting any non-compliance with SCM or relevant legislation to the Monitoring Officer.  

7.7. The Commercial and Procurement Division is responsible for: 
 

a. Working closely with Officers, Senior Officers (Heads of Service and above), and Finance 
to agree, develop and deliver a Procurement Pipeline that will be authorised by the CMT. 

b. Providing expert category and market knowledge to help Services within the Council find 
the right suppliers in the right way and at the right time, irrespective of the contract value. 

c. Providing advice and guidance, and support to procure where it is deemed necessary, to 
Services where the total estimated aggregate value of the contract resulting from sourcing 
activity will be from £2530,000 (excluding including VAT) up to the Public Procurement 
Threshold PCR 2015 threshold for goods and services and up to £1m for works. 

d. Leading on all procurements where the estimated total aggregate contract value of the 
contract resulting from the procurement exercise will exceed the Public Procurement 
Threshold PCR 2015 threshold for goods and services and over £1m for works. 

e. For any contracts that are subject to the Provider Selection Regime, the Division will lead 
on all procurements (unless it determines otherwise based on a consideration of the risk 
and complexity of the procurement and the commercial skills required). 

f. Ensuring that there is early engagement with the Council’s Legal Team on any planned 
procurement activity in the Procurement Pipeline so that appropriate legal support can be 
provided or commissioned to support the procurement activity.  

g. Ensuring efficient and effective purchasing and procurement practices are in place. 
h. Acting with integrity probity at all stages of procurement and in contract management 

activity and having due regard to any actual or perceived conflicts of interest that may arise, 
putting in place mitigating actions, and keeping documented conflicts assessments under 
review.that could influence the outcome of procurements.  

i. Maintaining guidance in relation to buying on behalf of the Council and the management 
of contracts, according to the value, risk, and complexity of the contract. 

j. Taking a commercial lead on all high-risk contracts (identified through contract tiering), 
working alongside named Contract Managers within Services and, as and when required, 
named legal advisors. 

k. Taking a commercial lead on Contract Modifications, contract extensions, and Novations 
where it is deemed necessary, ensuring that legal advice is taken promptly.  

l. Taking a commercial lead in developing strategic relationships with Key Suppliers 
(identified through supplier segmentation), working alongside Senior Officers (Heads of 
Service and above) within Services. 

Page 44



 

11 
 

m. Advising Services and helping to ensure there is an appropriate consideration of the 
particular barriers facing SMEs, and VCSEs wishing to access contracting opportunities 
with proper regard given as to how to reduce or remove them.  

n. Advising Services and helping to ensure appropriate consideration of how wider public 
benefit, including in line with Embedding sustainability and social value objectives can be 
delivered across the Council’s supply chain. 

o. Taking a commercial lead, engaging the Legal Team as necessary, to respond fairly and, 
impartially, and within any legally prescribed timescales to Challenges and 
Representations made against a procurement and contracting decision taken by the 
Council. Any , with such Challenges and Representations will to be reviewed by an 
appropriately qualified, independent Officer. 

p. Where the Division is leading on the procurement or contracting activity, it is responsible 
for eEnsuring the publication of nNotices, which  may include contract documentation and 
performance information (appropriately redacted), in accordance with the requirements of 
the current law and guidance and as stipulated in Section 10 and Part C of SCM. In all 
other instances, it is the responsibility of the Officer leading the activity in the Service to 
ensure this. 

q. Engaging the Legal Team as necessary in relation to any proposed publication in relation 
to poor performance or the classification of a supplier as “excluded” or “excludable” under 
the Procurement Act 2023, or any action proposed to be taken as a result of any publication 
or classification by other contracting authorities.  

q.r. Ensuring there is a full record and audit trail maintained for all procurement and contracting 
activity led on by the Division. Ensuring that all contracts with a total aggregate contract 
value at or above £2530,000 (inexcluding VAT) the Public Contract Regulations 2015 
requirement for advertising opportunities on Contracts Finder, have a record created on 
the Council’s contract management system. 

r.s. Reporting any non-compliance with SCM or relevant legislation to the Monitoring Officer 
and, where required by the relevant legislation, publishing details of the Council’s 
compliance and a summary of the procurement and contracting activity undertaken. 

8. Procurement Pipeline 

8.1. To enable the Council to maintain an accurate oversight of procurement activity across the 
full range of Council services and is able to meet its statutory obligation to publish upcoming 
contracting opportunities, the Head of Commercial and procurement is responsible for the 
development of the Procurement Pipeline in liaison with Corporate Directors. 

8.1.8.2.  This is to identify the following: 

 
a. For each Directorate, all contracts each with an aggregate value above the Public 

Procurement Threshold PCR 2015 threshold for goods and services, regardless of whether 
the contract is for goods, services, or works, which are due to be procured, extended, 
renewed, or replaced. 

b. The applicable public procurement legislation (e.g., Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015 or 
the PSR, or other applicable legislation) 

c. The aggregate contract value across the life of each contract. 
d. The tier (risk level) of the contract. 
d.e. The contract subject matter. 
e.f. The procurement activity required. 
g. The estimated date when any Tender Notice will be published. 
f.h. The estimated date when further Notices are expected to be published for the contract, 

namely the Contract Award Notice (pre-award) and Contract Details Notice (post-award). 
g.i. The expected start date for the commencement of the contract or extension. 
h.j. Whether there is an option to extend the existing contract or not. 
i.k. The expected start date of any new contract or extension. 

Page 45



 

12 
 

j.l. Likely legal advice that will be required, in consultation with the Council’s Legal Team. 
k.m. Whether the cost will be met from capital, revenue, or a combination. 

8.2.8.3. The Procurement Pipeline must be developed and agreed as a part of during the 
business planning cycle, as a minimum covering the period of the next 18 months, before it is 
then submitted to the CMT for approval. 

8.4. Under the Procurement Act 2023, the Council must publish an appropriately adapted version 
of the Procurement Pipeline, satisfying the requirements of Section 93 of the Procurement 
Act 2023. 

8.3.8.5. Where the aggregate contract value is projected to be exceeded by 5% or more than 
the value stated within the Procurement Pipeline that has been approved by the CMT, the 
S151 Officer and Finance Business Partners must be consulted with and, where required, 
approve that change in contract value in line with the summary tables below and the contract 
award must be put on hold pending that approval. 

8.4.8.6. If the need arises during the year for procurement activity on contracts at or above the 
Public Procurement Threshold PCR 2015 threshold for goods and services which have not 
been pre-approved through the developed Procurement Pipeline, then approval to procure 
must be sought by the Director of the Service concerned, before any procurement activity 
may begin, in line with the below: 

 

£1m and above 
(excluding 
including VAT) 

Director of the relevant Service, the Head of Commercial and 
Procurement, S151 Officer, and the CMT. 

£100,000 - £1m 
(excluding 
including VAT) 

Director of the relevant Service in consultation with the Head of 
Commercial and Procurement and S151 Officer. 

 

9. Approvals for Contracting Activity  

9.1. Officers must ensure they seek approval for all procurement and contracting activity and 
decisions in line with the Constitution, the Scheme of Delegation and the requirements 
outlined in Section 10 of SCM. 

Page 46



 

13 
 

Part B: Requirements for Sourcing Goods, Services and Works  

10. Summary of Procedures for Procuring, Contract Authorisation and Management, and Contract Modifications by Aggregate Contract Value 

Table A – Procurement Procedures – Contracts Subject to the Procurement Act 2023 (PA23) 
 

Aggregate Contract Value 
 

(exclusive inclusive of VAT) 

Procurement Method Who is authorised to carry out the 
procurement? 

Must the contract be formally 
advertised? 

Legal Advice Required 

Up to £2429,999.99 

 
One written quote 

 
Any Officer 

 
No 

 
No requirement provided there is use of the Council’s standard template contracts, held by 
the Commercial and Procurement Division, and on their advice that the terms selected are 
appropriate. 
 

£2530,000 – up to the Public 
Procurement Threshold for 

Goods and Services 
(£179,807214,904) OR up to £1m 

for Works 

 
 

Three written quotes 
 

(Unless using another compliant route under the 
PA23, such as a tendering procedure, a 
Framework, Dynamic Market, or DPS) 

 
 

Any Officer 
 

(Unless the Commercial and Procurement 
Division, Legal Team, and/or Officers in 

Services have concerns about the Service’s 
ability to undertake the project or the risk and 

complexity) 

 
 

Only required where Officers undertake a 
tendering procedure under the PA23, with 
advertisement required to the FTS Central 
Digital Platform and the Council’s tendering 

portal 

 
No requirement provided there is use of the Council’s standard template contracts, held by 
the Commercial and Procurement Division, and on their advice that the terms selected are 
appropriate. 
                                                                                                                                        
Where a Framework Agreement and call off terms have already had a legal review, there 
will be no requirement for there to be a further legal review on future call offs provided that 
there are no changes proposed to be made to the call off terms. 
 
If changes are proposed early engagement with Legal should be undertaken. 
 

Above the Public Procurement 
Threshold for Goods and 

Services (£179,807214,904) 
OR above £1m for Works  

 
 
 
 

A fully PA23 compliant tendering procedure 
 

(Unless using another compliant route available 
under the PA23 such as a Framework, Dynamic 

Market, or DPS) 

 
 
 
 

The Commercial and Procurement Division  

 
 
 
 
Yes, advertisement is required to the FTS 
Central Digital Platform and the Council’s 

tendering portal 

 
Commercial and Procurement Division will contact the Council’s Legal Team at the outset 
of the procurement to arrange for external legal support. The legal advice required will be 
scoped with Services input and will be determined based on the risk and complexity of the 
requirement. 
 
Where a Framework Agreement and call off terms have already had a legal review, there 
will be no requirement for there to be a further legal review on future call offs provided that 
there are no changes proposed to be made to the call off terms. 
 
If changes are proposed, early engagement with Legal should be undertaken 
 

Table B – Procurement Procedures – Contracts Subject to the Provider Selection Regime (PSR) 
 

Aggregate Contract Value 
 

(exclusive inclusive of VAT) 

Procurement Method Who is authorised to carry out the 
procurement? 

Must the contract be formally 
advertised? 

Legal Advice Required 

Up to £2429,999.99 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A provider selection process permitted under the 
PSR (e.g., Direct Award A, Direct Award B, Direct 
Award C, the Most Suitable Provider Process, or 

the Competitive Process) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Commercial and Procurement Division 
 

(Unless the Commercial and Procurement 
Division and Legal Team determine otherwise 

based on the commercial acumen required 
and the project’s risk and complexity) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Specific advertising and Notice 

requirements apply depending on the 
provider selection process followed under 

those regulations 

 
No requirement provided there is use of the Council’s standard template contracts, held by 
the Commercial and Procurement Division, and on their advice that the terms selected are 
appropriate. 

 

£2530,000 – up to the Public 
Procurement Threshold for 

Goods and Services 
(£179,807214,904) OR up to £1m 

for Works 

 
No requirement provided there is use of the Council’s standard template contracts, held by 
the Commercial and Procurement Division, and on their advice that the terms selected are 
appropriate. 
                                                                                                                                        
Where a Framework Agreement and call off terms have already had a legal review, there 
will be no requirement for there to be a further legal review on future call offs provided that 
there are no changes proposed to be made to the call off terms. 
 
If changes are proposed early engagement with Legal should be undertaken. 

 

Above the Public Procurement 
Threshold for Goods and 

Services (£179,807214,904) 
OR above £1m for Works  

 
Commercial and Procurement Division will contact the Council’s Legal Team at the outset 
of the procurement to arrange for external legal support. The legal advice required will be 
scoped with Services input and will be determined based on the risk and complexity of the 
requirement. 
 

P
age 47



 

14 
 

Where a Framework Agreement and call off terms have already had a legal review, there 
will be no requirement for there to be a further legal review on future call offs provided that 
there are no changes proposed to be made to the call off terms. 
 
If changes are proposed, early engagement with Legal should be undertaken 

 

 

Table C – Contract Authorisation and Management 
 

Aggregate Contract Value 
(exclusive inclusive of VAT) 

Who must approve the contract award? Must the intention to award and the award 
itself be published? 

Who can sign the contract on  
the Council’s behalf? 

Contract authorisation 
(for the creation of orders) 

Where should the 
contract details be 

maintained? 

Must there be a named 
contract manager? 

Up to £2429,999.99 

 
 
 
 
 

Up to £50k, the budget manager 
 

Up to £250k, the Service Head 
 

Up to £500k, the Service Director 
 

Up to £1m, the CMT Director 
 

Above £1m, approval must be sought from 
The Leader, Cabinet or Cabinet Member 

 
The Leader, Cabinet, and Cabinet Member 
have no limit on the value of contracts they 

can award 
 

Where the contract value is projected to 
exceed the value in the approved 

Procurement Pipeline by 5% or more, the 
Section 151 Officer and Finance Business 
Partners must be consulted prior to award 
 

 
No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Up to £500k, the Service Director OR 
Senior Commercial and Procurement 

Officer (to £250k) and Commercial and 
Procurement Manager / Sourcing 

Support Team Manager (to £500k) 
 

Up to £1m, the CMT Director OR the 
Strategic Commercial and Procurement 

Lead 
 

Above £1m, the CMT Director OR Head 
of Commercial and Procurement with 

Cabinet or Cabinet Member approval to 
award and express authorisation of the 

Monitoring Officer to sign or seal 
 

 
 
 
 

Up to £50k, buyer can approve 
 

Up to £100k, Commercial and 
Procurement Officer / Senior Buyer can 

approve 
 

Up to £250k, Senior Commercial and 
Procurement Officer 

 
Up to £500k, Commercial and 

Procurement Manager OR Sourcing 
Support Team Manager 

 
Up to £1m, Strategic Commercial and 

Procurement Lead 
 

Above £1m, Head of Commercial and 
Procurement when correct political or 

previously delegated authority is in 
place 

 
Locally within the Service 

 
No 

 

£2530,000 – up to the Public 
Procurement Threshold for Goods 
and Services (£179,807214,904) OR 

up to £1m for Works 

 
Only required where Officers undertook a 
tendering procedure under the PA23. The 

intention to award the contract and the award 
itself (made after standstill) must be published 

to the FTSCentral Digital Platform. 
 

Specific requirements apply to PSR contracts 
depending on the procedure followed. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

On the Council’s Contract 
Management System 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Yes, 
within the Service 

Above the Public Procurement 
Threshold for Goods and Services 

(£179,807214,904) 
OR above £1m for Works  

 
 

Yes, the intention to award the contract and 
the award itself (made after standstill) must be 
published to the Central Digital PlatformFTS. 

 
Contracts with a total value of £5m (including 
VAT) or more also require a redacted copy of 

the contract and 3 KPIs to be published. 
 

Specific requirements apply to PSR contracts 
depending on the procedure followed. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

On the Council’s Contract 
Management System  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes, 
within the Service 

Table D – Contract Modifications 
 

Aggregate Contract Value 
(exclusive inclusive of VAT) 

Who must approve the contract 
modification? 

Must the contract modification and any 
other details be published? 

Who can sign the modification on  
the Council’s behalf? 

Required engagement beyond the 
relevant Service and Cabinet Members 

Where should the 
contract modification 

be saved? 

Up to £2429,999.99 

 
 
 
 
 

Up to £50k, the budget manager 
 

Up to £250k, the Service Head 
 

Up to £500k, the Service Director 
 

Up to £1m, the CMT Director 
 

Above £1m, approval must be sought from 
The Leader, Cabinet or Cabinet Member 

 
The Leader, Cabinet, and Cabinet Member 
have no limit on the value of the contracts 

they can approve modifications for. 
 

 
No 

 
 
 
 
 

 
The Service Director and CMT Director 

have no limit on the value of the 
contracts they can sign modifications 

for 
(with Cabinet or Cabinet Member 

Decision to award the modification and 
expression authorisation of the 

Monitoring Officer to sign and seal). 
 

The Commercial and Procurement 
Manager / Sourcing Support Team 

Manager can sign modifications up to 
£500k where delegated in writing by the 

relevant Service Director. 
 

 
No further engagement required, except where it is believed 
that the modification may trigger procurement or legal risks. 

 

 
Locally within the Service 

 

£2530,000 – up to the Public 
Procurement Threshold for Goods 
and Services (£179,807214,904) OR 

up to £1m for Works 

 
Only required where Officers tendered the 
original contract under the PA23 and the 

modification increases or decreases the value 
of the contract by 10% or less (goods and 

services) or 15% or less (works). 
 

Specific requirements apply to PSR contracts 
depending on the procedure followed. 

 

 
No further engagement required, except where it is believed 
that the modification may trigger procurement or legal risks. 

 
At this threshold, Officers should be particularly mindful of the risk 
for contract modifications to take the total aggregate value of the 

contract above the UK pubic procurement thresholds at which point 
additional regulatory requirements apply. 

 

 
 
 

On the Council’s Contract 
Management System 

Above the Public Procurement 
Threshold for Goods and Services 

(£179,807214,904) 
OR above £1m for Works  

 
Only required where Officers tendered the 
original contract under the PA23 and the 

modification increases or decreases the value 
of the contract by 10% or less (goods and 

services) or 15% or less (works). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division. 

 
 
 
 
 

On the Council’s Contract 
Management System  

 

P
age 48



 

15 
 

Contracts with a total value of £5m (including 
VAT) or more also require a redacted copy of 

the modified contract to be published. 
 

Specific requirements apply to PSR contracts 
depending on the procedure followed. 

 

10.1. Officers should note that the above summary tables are not exhaustive of the requirements that must be followed the different value thresholds. There will also be some limited exceptions to the above requirements, which 
are permitted under the relevant procurement regulations for certain types of contract (e.g., those awarded under Frameworks, Dynamic Markets, or DPS’, light touch regime contracts, concessions contracts, and more). 
Officers should refer to Part C of SCM and guidance issued by the Commercial and Procurement Division and available on KNet for a more comprehensive understanding of the requirements and expectations on Officers. 

10.2. As outlined in Section 24 of SCM, it is critical that Officers engage at the earliest opportunity with the Commercial and Procurement Division on all contracts planned with an estimated total aggregate value above the Public 
Procurement Thresholds for goods and services, regardless of whether the contract is for goods, services, or works. For those contracts subject to the PSR, Officers should engage with the Division prior to any procurement, 
contract award, or Contract Modification. Regardless of the value of the contract and the regulations that apply, Officers should engage with the Division where their ability to undertake the project or are concerned about the 
risk and complexity of the procurement. This early engagement will help to ensure that the appropriate level of support is provided and the necessary steps are taken by Officers procuring.

P
age 49



 

16 
 

11. Calculating the Aggregate Contract Value 

11.1. Aggregate contract value must be calculated in accordance with the applicable 
legislation but, broadly speaking, this means the estimated total aggregate value 
payable in pounds Sterling exclusive inclusive of Value Added Tax (VAT) over the 
entire contract period, including any options, renewals, and extensions of the contract.  

11.2. Officers must make an effort to calculate an accurately estimated contract value over 
the contract period to ensure that the appropriate procurement route is taken that 
adheres to SCM and legislation.  

11.3. Contracts must not be artificially underestimated or disaggregated into two or more 
separate contracts with the intention of avoiding the application of SCM or legislation.  

11.4. In the case of Framework Agreements or Dynamic Markets, Officers must engage the 
Commercial and Procurement Division in accordance with Section 15 of SCM. 
Dynamic Purchasing Systems (DPS’) Tthe contract value must be calculated to 
include the total maximum estimated value, net inclusive of VAT, of all the contracts 
envisaged to be awarded for the total term of the Framework Agreement or the 
Dynamic MarketDPS. In the case of a Framework awarded under an Open 
Framework, the value of the Framework is to be treated as including the value of all 
Frameworks awarded, or to be awarded. 

12. Determining the Applicable Procurement Regulations 

12.1. Where Officers are procuring or contracting on behalf of the Council, they must 
adhere to the relevant public procurement regulations (as set out in Section 4.6). 

12.2. The Procurement Act 2023PCR 2015, and the associatedor other applicable 
regulations, as set out in Section 4.6, will apply to the procurement, award, entry 
into, and management of contracts for procurement  of goods, services, and works 
where the procurement commenced on or after the 24 February 2025. While the 
Procurement Act 2023 is applicable to contracts with a total aggregate contract 
value above the Public Procurement Thresholds, there are also several provisions 
applicable to contracts below those Thresholds, except those in-scope of the PSR. 

12.3. The PCR 2015, and its associated regulations, will continue to apply to contracts, 
including Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems (DPS’), that 
were awarded under that regime until the point they expire or are re-tendered. 
Officers must note that, under the Procurement Regulations 2024, all existing DPS 
will terminate on or before 23 February 2029. 

12.2.12.4. Regardless of contract value, when procuring ‘health care services’ whether 
alone or as part of a ‘mixed procurement’ as defined in Regulation 3 and Schedule 1 
of the PSR, Officers must follow the requirements of the PSR. 

12.3.12.5. A ‘mixed procurement’ means the procurement of health care services and 
other goods or services that are procured together with those health care services. 
For the PSR to apply, the main subject matter of the procurement (more than 50% of 
the estimated lifetime value of the contract) must be for health care services rather 
than other goods or services and the Council must be of the view that the other 
services or goods could not reasonably be supplied under a separate contract 
without having or being likely to have a material adverse impact on the Council’s 

Page 50



 

17 
 

ability to act in accordance with the procurement principles set out in Regulation 4 of 
the PSR. 

12.6. As well as the requirements of SCM, Officers should follow guidance set out by the 
Commercial and Procurement Division around procuring and contracting under the 
different regulations. As stated in Section 243 of SCM, the Commercial and 
Procurement Division should be engaged early where Officers are concerned about 
the risk and complexity, or their ability to undertake, a project. 

12.4.12.7.  Where PSR applies, the Commercial and Procurement Division should be 
engaged before any procurement, contract award, or Contract Modification to 
determine the right level of involvement. 

13. Procurement Business Cases 

13.1. Any procurement with a total contract value below the Public Procurement Threshold 
PCR 2015 thresholds for goods, services or works should have a completed business 
case using the Council’s Low Value Procurement Business Case template.  

13.2. Any procurement with a total contract value above the Public Procurement Thresholds 
PCR 2015 thresholds for goods, services or works must have completed a 
Commercial Case as part of a wider business case using the Council’s High Value 
Procurement Business Case template. 

13.3. While Services are the owners and primary authors of any completed business case, 
the Commercial and Procurement Division will develop the Commercial Case through 
close working with Services, where the Division is leading the procurement. 

14. Using Existing Contractual Arrangements 

14.1. Prior to proceeding with any new procurement and contracting process, Officers must 
first, subject to any specific regulatory requirements (e.g., compliance with the 
requirements of PSR and any other sector specific regulatory requirements), 
determine whether the identified need can be met through contracting with the 
Council’s Local Authority Trading Companies, utilising existing Council contracts, or 
by calling off of a Framework Agreement or Dynamic Market (or, prior to 23 February 
2029, an existing DPS)DPS that has been established by or has been recommended 
by the Commercial and Procurement Division and Legal Team as a legally compliant 
route to market.  

14.2. Subject to any specific regulatory requirements (e.g. compliance with the 
requirements of PSR), oOnly where it is determined that the identified need cannot be 
met through such arrangements as outlined in 14.1, or it has been determined in 
consultation with the Commercial and Procurement Division that such arrangements 
will not deliver best value, can Officers proceed with a new procurement and 
contracting process. 

14.3. Officers must note that all DPS established under the PCR 2015 will expire on or 
before 23 February 2029, and from 24 February 2029, it will not be possible to award 
contracts under a DPS.   

15. Framework Agreements and Dynamic MarketsDynamic Purchasing Systems (DPS’) 

15.1. All requirements to set up new Frameworks, including ‘Open Frameworks’, or 
Dynamic Markets DPS’ tothat will be managed by the Council must be referred to the 

Page 51



 

18 
 

Commercial and Procurement Division, who will make the appropriate arrangements 
and, as necessary, will consult with the Council’s Legal Team. From 24 February 
2025, no new DPS may be established but existing DPS may be used prior to 24 
February 2029. 

15.2. Any Framework or Dynamic Market DPS that is developed by the Council must 
include contract terms that allow the arrangements to be reviewed at trigger points to 
ensure that they continue to reflect value for money throughout their life. 

15.3. An ‘Open Framework’ is a scheme of Frameworks that provides for the award of 
successive Frameworks on substantially the same terms. However, an Open 
Framework must provide for the award of a Framework at least once during the period 
of three years beginning with the day of the award of the first Framework, and each 
period of five years beginning with the day of the award of the second Framework. 

15.4. When establishing Frameworks, the Notices that must be published to the Central 
Digital Platform are a Tender Notice, with the detail of the procedure being used to 
procure the Framework, a Contract Award Notice, prior to the award being made, and 
a Contract Details Notice, once the award of the Framework has been made. 

15.5. When re-opening and awarding Frameworks in the scheme of an Open Framework, 
a new Tender Notice must be published to the Central Digital Platform alongside a 
Contact Award Notice, prior to the award being made, and a Contract Details Notice, 
once the award is made. 

15.6. There are specific Notices that must be published to the Central Digital Platform for 
Dynamic Markets. These separate Notices cover the advertisement, establishing, 
modification, and the termination of a Dynamic Market under the applicable legislation. 

15.3.15.7. Where the Council accesses an existing Framework Agreement, Dynamic 
Market, or (prior to 24 February 2028) a DPS (the latter having been procured under 
the PCR 2015), the Framework Agreement, Dynamic Market, and or DPS terms and 
conditions of contract must be used, amended as appropriate, as permitted by the 
Framework Agreement, Dynamic Market, or DPS and the applicable procurement 
legislation. 

15.4.15.8. Before accessing existing Frameworks, Dynamic Market, or DPS’ established 
by third parties, due diligence checks must be carried out, including by engaging the 
Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also consult with the Council’s Legal 
Team. taking relevant legal advice, This is to ensuredemonstrate that the Council can 
lawfully access and use the identified Framework Agreement, Dynamic Market, or 
DPS and that the call-off contract terms are fit for purpose and provide value for 
money.  

15.5.15.9. Call-offs from a Framework will be via a direct award process or a further 
competition (depending on the call-off procedure(s) included in the Framework) and 
call-offs from a Dynamic Market or DPS will be via a further competition). 

15.6.15.10. For Frameworks regulated by the Procurement Act 2023 or the PCR 2015, a 
direct award may be made from a Framework that permits direct awards where it: 

 
a. Sets out all the terms governing the provision of the goods, services, or works and 

they do not require amendment or supplementary terms and conditions. 
b. The objective conditions for making a direct award to a particular supplier on the 

Framework are clear and unambiguous in the contract arrangements. 

Page 52



 

19 
 

c. Value for money can be demonstrated through the direct award (e.g., the supplier 
provides the most economically advantageous solution for the need). 

d. An assessment has been made to ensure it meets the needs in terms of innovative 
solutions and represents value for money, taking into account procurement costs. 

15.7.15.11. For health care services Frameworks regulated by the PSR, Officers should 
consult Regulations 16-18 of the PSR and the relevant PSR statutory guidance to 
determine the flexibilities permitted when making direct awards. 

15.8.15.12. A call to further competition can be made under the terms of a Framework 
(where expressly provided for in the Framework), Dynamic Market, or a DPS. All 
suppliers on the Framework, Dynamic Market, or DPS capable of performing the 
contract must be invited to tender against the requirement in accordance with the 
Framework, Dynamic Market, or DPS mechanisms provided and the applicable 
procurement regulations. In the case of pursuing competition under a Dynamic Market 
or DPS, a Tender Notice must be published with the correct details. 

15.9.15.13. Except for health care services contracts regulated by the PSR, each contract 
award under a Framework, a Dynamic Market, or a DPS (with a value over £25,000, 
excluding VAT) must be published on the FTS and Contracts FinderCentral Digital 
Platform in accordance with the applicable legislation Procurement Policy Note 01/23. 
This will be through a Contract Details Notice that must be published following the 
award of the contract in accordance with the Framework, Dynamic Market, or DPS. 

15.10.15.14. For contracts awarded under a Framework for health care services 
regulated by the PSR, Officers are required to publish their intention to award the 
contract where they are following the competitive process to award the contract.    

15.11.15.15. For contracts awarded under a Framework for health care services 
regulated by the PSR, Officers are also required to publish a Notice of the award of 
the contract on the Central Digital PlatformFTS. This applies for contracts made with 
or without a competition. Officers are to consult the PSR for details of what information 
needs to be included in the Notice depending on the call-off procedure used. 

15.16. Advice must be sought from the Commercial and Procurement Division, who 
may also consult with and the Legal Team, for any proposed modifications  to 
Frameworks, Dynamic Market, or DPS contract terms. This includes any modifications 
to the call-off or selection process, planned re-opening and awarding in the scheme 
of an Open Framework, conditions of membership for a Dynamic Market or DPS, and 
the re-assessment or proposed removal of suppliers from such arrangements 
(including where a supplier has been classified as “excluded” or “excludable”). Details 
of any variation may require the publication of further Notices to the Central Digital 
Platform. 

16. Light Touch Contracts 

16.1. Light touch contracts are contracts for certain social, health, education, and other 
services that are provided directly to individuals or groups of people and which, under 
Section 9 of the Procurement Act 2023, receive special treatment and greater 
flexibility under the regulations. Light touch contracts must meet specific provisions to 
be considered to be a light touch contract and advice must be sought from the 
Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also consult with the Legal Team. 

16.17. Concession Contracts 

Page 53



 

20 
 

16.1.17.1. Concession contracts are contracts under which the Council outsources works 
or services to a contractor or provider, or makes available an asset, which the 
contractor or provider then has the right to commercially exploit to recoup its 
investment and make a return. The key feature is that the contractor or provider bears 
the operating risk of the arrangement and so has no guarantee of recouping its 
investment or operating costs. Concession contracts must meet certain criteria to be 
considered to be a concession in accordance with the Section 8 of the Procurement 
Act 2023 Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 and advice must be sought from 
the Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also consult with the and Legal 
Team. Any existing concession contracts and any concession contracts where the 
procurement begins before 24 February 2025 will continue to be subject to the CCR 
2016.  

17.18. Temporary Staff, Contractors, and Consultants 

17.1.18.1. A Consultant is a person (not an employee), agency, or firm engaged for a 
limited period of time on a project or requirement specific basis to carry out a specific 
task or set of tasks which meet a desired set of outputs or outcomes. A consultant 
provides subject matter expertise, support, and/or experience to the Council either 
because it does not possess the skills or resources in-house or requires an 
independent evaluation or assessment to be made. 

17.2.18.2. This definition excludes: 
 

a. Agency staff, interim, or role-specific duties which should be sourced through the 
Council’s corporate contract with Connect2Kent. 

b. Routine services, e.g., maintenance, cleaning, and security. 
c. Professional services, e.g., architects, structural engineers, forensic 

archaeologists, specialist social care support, training etc.  

17.3.18.3. Regardless of value, Officers must ensure that they follow the processes 
outlined on KNet when contracting temporary and agency staff and consultants. They 
must also ensure that they are compliant with the Kent Scheme Terms and 
Conditions.  

17.4.18.4. In the event that Officers are unable to successfully source the required staff 
or consultant through the process outlined on KNet, they must engage with the 
Commercial and Procurement Division for advice on using appropriate Frameworks.  

17.5.18.5. No temporary worker, contractor, or Consultant may be procured or engaged 
outside of the corporate contract with Connect2Kent without prior approval from the 
Council’s People Strategy Manager (Resourcing) and in consultation with the 
Commercial and Procurement Division. 

17.6.18.6. Where it is agreed that a temporary worker, contractor, or Consultant may be 
sourced outside of the corporate contract, and the total aggregate value of such 
engagement is estimated to be £2530,000 or more (including any applicable VAT), 
competition is to be sought in the same manner as would be required for any 
procurement of the same value following the requirements outlined in the summary 
tables under Section 10. 

17.7.18.7. If the total aggregate value of such an engagement exceeds £50,000, the 
decision to award must also be made in consultation with the relevant Cabinet 
Member. 

Page 54



 

21 
 

18.19. Collaboration with Other Public Bodies 

18.1.19.1. The Council may enter into collaborative agreements for the procurement of 
goods, services, and works with other public bodies or Central Purchasing Bodies 
where this offers best value for money for Kent residents. This may mean the Council 
leading procurements and contracting on behalf of other public bodies or vice-versa. 

18.2.19.2. However, where this is proposed, it should be noted that the relevant legislation 
as stipulated in Section 4.6 will continue to apply as will the principles outlined in SCM. 
Ahead of any such collaboration with other public bodies, advice must be sought from 
the Head of Commercial and Procurement in conjunction with the Section 151 Officer 
and the Legal Team before entering into such arrangements. 

19.20. Liability and Security 

19.1.20.1. To protect the Council, insurance is required where the Council purchases 
goods, services, or works provided by a supplier. The minimal levels of insurance 
cover for Public Liability Insurance, Employers’ Liability Insurance, Professional 
Indemnity (Negligence) Insurance and other relevant insurances are set out in 
guidance on KNet. Advice should be obtained from the Insurance Team in accordance 
with that Council guidance. 

19.2.20.2. In some instances where the contract value, risk, or scope may be particularly 
high, additional insurance cover may be required. Equally, where some contracts may 
be suitable for micro businesses, lower levels of insurance may be considered, as part 
of a wider assessment of the need for proportionality between the Council’s 
requirements and removing or reducing barriers to participation for small businesses. 
Reasonable approaches to apportioning risk should be adopted through using limits 
and exclusions of liability and insurance cover requirements taking into account 
insurable risks and associated costs. However, in these instances, advice should be 
sought from the relevant Officer within the Insurance Team. 

19.3.20.3. Where the Council is providing goods, services, or works to another 
organisation (that is not a part of the Council), Services must not arrange their own 
insurance policies and should contact the Insurance Team in the first instance who 
arrange cover on behalf of the Council. 

20.21. Financial Security 

20.1.21.1. For all procurements above the Public Procurement Threshold PCR 2015 
threshold for goods and services, regardless of whether the contract is for goods, 
services, or works, the Commercial and Procurement Division should determine if a 
supplier requires additional financial checks based on the perceived financial risk. If 
required, tThe Commercial and Procurement Division and Finance must confirm that 
suppliers are financially robust both prior to contract award and Services are expected 
to monitor this, in consultation with the Division and Finance, during the life of the 
contract.  

21.2. However, as set out in Section 30.4 of SCM, when assessing a supplier’s financial 
capacity as a part of testing their capacity to perform the contract, Officers must not 
require suppliers to submit audited annual accounts unless they are, or were, required 
to have audited accounts in accordance with Part 16 of the Companies Act 2016. 

20.2.21.3. Advice should be obtained from the Finance Team, the Commercial and 
Procurement Division, and Legal Team if there are concerns about the financial 

Page 55



 

22 
 

stability of a supplier prior to contract award and through the duration of the contract 
to enable steps to be taken to mitigate risk. 

20.3.21.4. Tender documents must include a statement asserting that, where requested, 
suppliers need to provide security for performance and outline the level of security 
needed, the financial checks to be applied on tenders, how financial suitability will be 
assessed, and any checks that will be required during the life of the contract. However, 
these requirements should be proportionate to the risk and the need to consider how 
to remove or reduce barriers to participation for SMEs and VCSEs. 

20.4.21.5. Where either the total aggregate value of the contract exceeds £1m (excluding 
VAT) within any twelve month period, or there is doubt as to the financial credibility of 
a supplier, but the Council has decided to accept the level of risk, then additional forms 
of security to a level determined by the Finance Team may be required, for example: 

 
a. A Parent Company, Ultimate Company, or Holding Company guarantee, where the 

financial standing of those companies proves acceptable. 
b. A Director’s Guarantee or Personal Guarantee, where finances prove acceptable. 
c. A Performance Bond, retained funds, or cash deposit. 
d. Any other security (such as escrow arrangements), which has been determined to 

be appropriate by Finance. 

20.5.21.6. Advice from the Legal Team should also be taken on any and all such forms of 
guarantee, bond or security being used. 

21.22. Conflicts of Interest and Preventing Fraud, Bribery and Corruption  

22.1. Officers must comply with the requirements under Part 5 of the Procurement Act 2023 
to take all reasonable steps to identify and mitigate actual or perceived conflicts of 
interest that may arise in relation to a procurement. Officers must prepare a conflicts 
assessment once it has been decided that procurement is the appropriate route to 
meet the required need, thereafter, keeping this documented assessment under 
review throughout the procurement process and during the life of the contract.  

21.1.22.2. To protect the Council against the risk of fraud, bribery, and corruption, Eevery 
contract shall include provision for termination of that contract (and recovery of losses) 
where the supplier, their employees, or anyone acting on the supplier’s behalf: 

 
a. Offers, gives, or agrees to give anyone an inducement or reward in respect of any 

contract with the Council. 
b. Commits an offence under the Bribery Act 2010, or 
c. Commits any of the offences listed in Schedule 6 of the Procurement Act 2023, 

Regulation 57(1) of the PCR 2015 or Regulation 38(8) of CCR 2016. 

21.2.22.3. In the event that anyone buying or managing a contract on behalf of the Council 
becomes aware of a supplier’s involvement in fraudulent or corrupt activity, they must 
report this to the Head of Commercial and Procurement and seek advice from the 
Council’s Counter Fraud Team and Legal Team.  

21.3.22.4. Further to the above, Officers must comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct, 
Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy and Anti-Bribery Policy. Officers must not invite 
or accept any gift or reward in respect of the award or performance of a contract and 
gifts and hospitality must be recorded in line with guidance set out on the intranet. 

Page 56



 

23 
 

21.4. Officers must also comply with the requirement to make declarations of interest within 
the procurement process to ensure any actual or perceived conflicts can be 
appropriately managed.  

21.5.22.5. In addition to what is outlined in this section, declarations of interest should be 
made through the Council’s annual declaration of interest process and prior to the 
commencement of any procurement exercise that an individual is to be involved with.  

22.23. Document Retention 

22.1.23.1. The retention of procurement and contractual information is prescribed in the 
Limitation Act 1980, the Procurement Act 2023, the PCR 2015 and the PSR as 
applicable. In summary, the following is required: 

 
a. Contracts executed under hand (retained for 6 years after last action on a contract). 
b. Contracts executed under seal as Deeds (retained for 12 years after last action on 

a contract). 
c. Sufficient documentation to explain and justify decisions taken in all stages of the 

procurement procedure including tender documents for unsuccessful bidders as 
required by Section 98 of the Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015 Regulation 84, 
and PSR Regulation 24, as applicable. 

d. Records created by contract management meetings for contracts executed under 
hand (retained for the life of the contract and 6 years thereafter). 

e. Records created by contract management meetings for contracts executed under 
seal as Deeds (retained for the life of the contract and 12 years thereafter). 

 
22.2.23.2. Additional document retention requirements are outlined and updated from 

time-to-time in guidance that can be found on KNet and must be complied with. 

Part C: Requirements for Quotation or Tendering Procedures 

23.24. Engaging the Commercial and Procurement Division 

23.1.24.1. At the earliest opportunity, Officers must engage the Commercial and 
Procurement Division and Legal Team in any procurement exceeding an estimated 
total aggregate contract value above the Public Procurement Threshold PCR 2015 
threshold for goods and services, regardless of whether the contract is for goods, 
services, or works. As a minimum expectation, this point of engagement should be as 
soon as it has been determined that procurement is the correct approach to delivering 
the required provisions and always in advance of any preliminary market engagement. 
This is to allow for the Council’s Procurement Pipeline to be updated and for resources 
to be planned accordingly. 

23.2.24.2. Regardless of the estimated total contract value, Officers must contact the 
Commercial and Procurement Division and Legal Team for advice and support on any 
procurement if they are concerned about their ability to carry out the procurement or 
the risk or complexity of the procurement.  

23.3.24.3. Where the procurement or contracting is in-scope of the PSR, Officers must 
engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division and Legal Team at the earliest 
opportunity and prior to any proposed procurement, Contract Modification, and 
contract award taking place. The CPDDivision, who may also consult with the 
Council’s and Legal Team, will determine the appropriate level of involvement, and 
any external support required depending on the risk and complexity of the 
procurement and the commercial acumen and experience required.  

Page 57



 

24 
 

25. Specifications 

25.1. Officers must ensure that specifications are drafted to meet the identified needs with 
proper consideration given to value money and corporate objectives around 
supporting social value, sustainability, equality and diversity, and data and privacy. 

25.2. While Officers may choose between different types of specification (e.g., input- or 
output-focused) dependent on their requirements, Section 56 of the Procurement Act 
2023 requires that specifications do not refer to a particular design, licensing model, 
or a description of characteristics where they could refer to performance or functional 
requirements. Specifications must also not refer to a UK Standard unless the standard 
adopts internationally recognised equivalents, or there is no such equivalent. 

25.3. Specifications must not refer to particular trademarks, trade names, patents, designs 
or types, places of origin, or producers or suppliers, unless the Council considers it 
necessary in order to make its requirements are understood. However, if such matters 
are referred to, the procurement documentation must also ensure that tenders or 
proposals demonstrating quality or performance will not be disadvantaged. 

25.4. Officers in Services are responsible for developing specifications, but the Commercial 
and Procurement Division can be engaged to provide a commercial review and input 
on specifications where the Division will the lead procurement for the contract.  

26. Preliminary Market Engagement 

26.1. How Officers are permitted to engage with the market, prior to issuing any tender, is 
governed by Section 16 of the Procurement Act 2023. 

26.2. The Council may choose to engage in preliminary market engagement to: 
 

a. Develop the Council’s requirements and approach to the procurement. 
b. Design a procedure, Conditions of Participation, or award criteria. 
c. Prepare a Tender Notice and associated tender documents. 
d. Identify suppliers that may be able to supply the goods, services, or works required. 
e. Identify likely contractual terms. 
f. Build capacity among suppliers in relation to the contract being awarded. 

26.3. When undertaking preliminary market engagement, Officers should take steps to 
ensure that suppliers participating in the engagement do not receive an unfair 
advantage, and competition in relation to the contract award is not otherwise distorted. 
If a supplier gains an unfair advantage, and the advantage cannot be avoided, then 
the supplier must be excluded from participating in the tender. However, advice should 
be sought from the Commercial and Procurement Division in such circumstances. 

26.4. Where preliminary market engagement is planned, a Preliminary Market Engagement 
Notice be published to the Central Digital Platform.6 In the event that Officers consider 
that prior publication is not appropriate in a given situation, Officers should engage 
with the Commercial and Procurement Division in advance in order to agree whether 
an exception is appropriate and any appropriate safeguards. This is to minimise legal 
risk to the Council. While the Commercial and Procurement Division will process the 

 
6  Section 17 of the Procurement Act 2023 requires that a contracting authority publish a 
preliminary market engagement notice prior to carrying out any engagement or to set out why it did not 
within the relevant tender notice. However, as a matter of good practice and to minimise legal risk, the 
Council requires that any preliminary engagement be preceded by a preliminary market engagement 
notice.  

Page 58



 

25 
 

Notice, Officers in Services must provide the information required in a full and timely 
manner. 

26.5. Preliminary market engagement for contracts that are regulated by the PSR is subject 
to separate requirements under those regulations. Specifically, it is recommended that 
such engagement be undertaken where a Most Suitable Provider Process is followed. 

26.6. Officers in Services are expected to lead on preliminary market engagement, but the 
Commercial and Procurement Division can be engaged to advise on the most 
appropriate approach and can support the delivery of the engagement, particularly for 
procurements that the Division will thereafter lead on. 

27. Duty to Consider Lots 

27.1. For contracts with an estimated aggregate value above the applicable Public 
Procurement Thresholds, Section 18 of the Procurement Act 2023 requires Officers 
to consider whether the goods, services, or works to be supplied under the contract 
could be supplied under more than one contract, and whether such contracts could 
most appropriately be awarded by reference to different lots. 

27.2. As a part of this consideration, Officers should consider whether lotting would help to 
secure best value for money. Where it is considered that a contract could be awarded 
by reference to lots, then the tender must account for this, carefully considering the 
most appropriate lotting approach and the award criteria and evaluation methodology 
that would allow for the identification of the Most Advantageous Tenders (MATs). 

27.3. Where it is decided not to progress with lotting, then Officers must ensure that the 
tender documentation should include the reasons for not taking this approach. 

27.4. Officers in Services should work jointly with the Commercial and Procurement Division 
to determine whether lotting is appropriate and to document the decision taken. 

24.28. Requirements to Advertise and Publish Intended Procurement Route 

28.1. Where contracts are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, Section 21 of the legislation 
requires that contracts with an estimated total aggregate value above the applicable 
Public Procurement Thresholds are advertised through a Tender Notice that is 
published to the Central Digital Platform (unless an exemption applies under the 
applicable regulations). They must also be published on the Council’s tendering portal. 

28.2. Where appropriate, a Planned Procurement Notice, as permitted under Section 15 of 
the Procurement Act 2023, may be used to reduce the required tendering period and 
to provide suppliers, especially SMEs and VCSEs, advanced notice of an opportunity. 
However, any use of such a Notice must be on the advice of the Commercial and 
Procurement Division as there are specific regulatory requirements around their use, 
the timing, and the publication of the Notice to the Central Digital Platform. 

Subject to paragraph 27.3 below, contracts with estimated values which are equal to 
or exceed the Regulatory Thresholds set out in the PCR 2015 or other applicable 
procurement legislation must be advertised on the Find a Tender Service (FTS) by 
publishing a contract notice or, where advised by the Commercial and Procurement 
Division, a Prior Information Notice (PIN), as defined in the regulations, can be used 
as a call for competition. 

Page 59



 

26 
 

28.3. Contracts with an estimated total aggregate value below the applicable Public 
Procurement Thresholds only need to be advertised to the Central Digital Platform, 
with a Tender Notice, and the Council’s tendering portal where Officers will follow a 
tendering procedure. These requirements do not apply where the Council seeks 
quotations or only seeks tenders from particular or pre-selected suppliers as permitted 
under the regulations. 

24.1.28.4. Irrespective of contract value, specific advertising and Notice requirements 
apply to health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts 
regulated by the PSR depending on the provider selection process followed under 
those regulations. Where the intention is to follow the Most Suitable Provider Process 
available under the PSR, a Notice of the intended approach must be published to the 
Central Digital Platform FTS in advance. Where the Council decides to follow a 
Competitive Process under the PSR, the Council must invite offers by submitting a 
contract Notice for publication, including all the information required in Schedule 8 to 
the PSR. 

24.2. Except for health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts 
regulated by the PSR,  all contracts which are advertised on FTS must also be 
advertised on Contracts Finder within 24 hours of the time that the Council becomes 
entitled to post it, that is after either it appears on FTS, or where it has not appeared, 
but 48 hours have elapsed from the time the FTS has confirmed receipt of the notice 
to the Council. 

28.5. When advertising the tendering opportunity, in accordance with Section 29 of SCM, 
the procurement documentation must be made available at the same time that any 
required Tender Notice is published on the Central Digital Platform and the Council’s 
tendering portal. 

28.6. Any form of advertisement must state the place where interested providers may obtain 
the procurement documentation and the deadline for receipt of submissions. 

24.3. All procurement documentation, including the contract terms, must be available from 
the time any contract notice is published on FTS if required by the chosen regulatory 
procedure.   

24.4. Each contract opportunity with a total aggregate contract value estimated to be above 
the applicable PCR 2015 threshold for goods, services or works must be advertised 
on the Council’s tendering portal or another secure electronic system, where 
interested parties must be able to electronically access all procurement 
documentation, and Contracts Finder (as applicable). 

24.5. Each contract opportunity with a total aggregate contact value estimated below the 
applicable PCR 2015 can be advertised on the Council’s tendering portal if it is 
deemed beneficial, however, support must be sought from the Commercial and 
Procurement Division to do this.  

24.6. The Commercial and Procurement Division is responsible for ensuring all notices and 
publications of contract opportunities above the Regulatory Thresholds are published 
in accordance with SCM. Below this threshold, it is the responsibility of the Service to 
ensure the rules are adhered to. 

24.7. Any form of advertisement must state the place where interested providers may obtain 
the procurement documents and the deadline for receipt of submissions. 

Page 60



 

27 
 

28.7. While the Commercial and Procurement Division will publish the Notices at this stage, 
whether Planned Procurement, Tender, or any other Notices that are required, 
Officers in Services must provide the required information in a full and timely manner. 

28.8. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will ensure that all other requirements for advertising are correctly followed to 
satisfy the relevant regulations. Where Officers in Services are leading the 
procurement, they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements outlined in 
this section are appropriately followed. 

29. Competitive Tendering Procedures 

29.1. When undertaking a competitive tendering procedure, Officers are responsible for 
following the applicable procurement regulations set out in Section 4.6 of SCM and 
must ensure that the procedure is undertaken in accordance with the published 
Tender Notice and any associated, published procurement documentation. 

29.2. Section 20 of the Procurement Act 2023 stipulates the tendering procedures that can 
be followed when procuring contracts under that legislation. These are: 

 
a. A single stage tendering procedure without a restriction on who can submit tenders 

(i.e., an ‘open procedure’), or 
b. Such other competitive tendering procedure as the Council considers appropriate 

for the purposes of awarding the contract (i.e., a ‘competitive flexible procedure). 

29.3. Where the estimated total aggregate value of a contract is below the applicable Public 
Procurement Thresholds, and the contract is not regulated by the PSR, Officers may 
choose to follow a quotation process as outlined in Section 36 of SCM instead of 
undertaking a tendering procedure. This is permitted for goods and services contracts 
with an estimated total value up to the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and 
services and for works contracts with such a value up to £1m, above which a fully 
Procurement Act 2023 compliant tendering procedure must be followed (which 
includes call-offs from Framework Agreements, Dynamic Markets or (prior to 24 
February 2029) DPS). 

29.4. Where Officers undertake a tendering procedure for contracts with an estimated total 
aggregate below the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds, Section 85 of the 
Procurement Act 2023 is the governing legislation and stipulates the procedure. 
Except in the limited circumstances outlined in Section 30.6 below, Officers must not 
restrict the submission of tenders for such contracts by reference to a supplier’s 
suitability to perform the contract, including their legal and financial capacity or their 
technical ability to perform the contract. 

29.5. Regardless of the total aggregate contract value, Officers may use another compliant 
route such as a Framework or Dynamic Market, as permitted in Section 15 of SCM. 

29.6. Irrespective of contract value, for contracts which are for health care services and 
mixed health care services that are therefore regulated by the PSR, Officers must 
follow a provider selection process permitted under Part 2 of the PSR when procuring 
the contract. This may include a Competitive Process as permitted under that regime. 

29.7. In any case, Officers must ensure the procedure chosen is a proportionate means of 
awarding the contract, considering the nature, complexity, and cost of the contract. 
When choosing and designing the procedures, Officers must have regard to the 
barriers to participation for SMEs and VCSEs and how to remove or reduce these. 

Page 61



 

28 
 

29.8. The Commercial and Procurement Division will lead on the tendering of contracts for 
goods and services with an estimated total aggregate value above the Public 
Procurement Threshold for goods and services. The Division will also lead on the 
procurement of works contracts with an estimated total value above £1m. 

29.9. Officers in Services may lead on the tendering of contracts for goods and services 
with an estimated total value up to the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and 
services. For works contracts, Officers in Services may lead on the tendering of such 
contracts up to an estimated total value of £1m. 

29.10. Where the procurement or contract is in-scope of the PSR, Officers must 
engage the Commercial and Procurement Division prior to any proposed procurement 
or provider selection process taking place. The Division will determine the appropriate 
level of involvement, and any external support required depending on the risk and 
complexity and the commercial experience required. 

29.11. Regardless of contract value and who can lead the tendering, Officers must 
contact the Commercial and Procurement Division for advice and support if they are 
concerned about their ability to carry out a procurement or its risk and complexity. 

30. Conditions of Participation Use of Selection Questionnaires (SQs) and Basic 
Selection Criteria 

30.1. Where Officers seek to set Conditions of Participation in a tender, in accordance with 
Section 22 of the Procurement Act 2023, Officers must ensure that they are a 
proportionate means of ensuring that suppliers have the legal and financial capacity 
or the technical ability to perform the contract in question. 

30.2. Subject to Section 3029.7 below, Officers must refer to the Supplier Information 
System contained within the Central Digital Platform and use the Council’s standard 
and most up to date Selection Questionnaire (SQ) and adhere to regulatory 
requirements around such selection procedures to collect the information required 
and to assess suppliers against the Conditions of Participation for all procurement of 
contracts that are estimated to exceed the relevant Public Procurement Thresholds. 
This is unless suppliers have already been pre-qualified through an alternative 
sourcing route such as a Framework Agreement, a Dynamic Market, or a DPS. 

30.3. This pre-qualification of suppliers, by assessing against Conditions of Participation, 
enables the Council to test the suitability of suppliers bidding for Council contracts, 
through applying minimum standards of legal and financial standing and technical 
ability and professional that prospective suppliers should meet. However, as well as 
being proportionate, all the methods and criteria for assessing the suitability of 
suppliers must be transparent, proportionate, objective, and non-discriminatory. 

30.4. Where Officers choose to assess a supplier’s legal and financial capacity as a part of 
testing their capacity to perform the contract, they must not: 

 
a. Require suppliers to submit audited annual accounts unless they are, or were, 

required to have audited accounts in accordance with Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2016. 

b. Require suppliers to have insurance relating to the performance of the contract to 
be in place before the award of the contract. 

30.5. Where Officers choose to assess a supplier’s technical ability as a part of testing their 
ability to perform the contract, they must not: 

Page 62



 

29 
 

 
a. Require them to have been awarded a contract by a specific contracting authority, 
b. Break the rules on specifications (see Sections 25.2 and 25.3 of SCM), or 
c. Require particular qualifications without allowing for their equivalents. 

30.6. Officers must not use an SQ stage (or pre-qualification stage) for any contract with a 
value below the Public Procurement Thresholds, regardless of whether it is for goods, 
services or works.  In accordance with Section 29.4 of SCM, when tendering for any 
contract with an estimated total aggregate value below the applicable Public 
Procurement Thresholds, Officers must not restrict the submission of tenders by 
reference to an assessment of a supplier’s suitability to perform the contract, including 
their legal and financial capacity or their technical ability to perform the contract. 
However, for works contracts valued between the Public Procurement Threshold for 
goods and services and the Public Procurement Threshold for works, the Council 
Suppliers may use a pre-qualification stage using the Common Assessment 
Standard. 

24.8.30.7. There are different requirements for health care services contracts and mixed 
health care services contracts regulated by the PSR where the Council is required to 
undertake reasonable and proportionate due diligence on providers. When using 
Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable Provider Process, or the Competitive 
Process (except use of the Competitive Process to award a contract under a 
Framework) in the PSR, Officers must not award a contract to or conclude a 
Framework Agreement with a provider who does not meet the basic selection criteria 
formulated in accordance with Regulation 19 of and Schedule 16 to the PSR. The 
basic selection criteria may only relate to suitability to pursue a particular activity, 
economic and financial standing and technical and professional ability, and all 
requirements must be related and proportionate to the subject matter of the contract 
or the Framework. 

30.8. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section and ensure that any testing of 
Conditions of Participation, or basic selection criteria under the PSR, satisfies the 
relevant regulations. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, they will be 
responsible for ensuring that the requirements are correctly followed. As a part of the 
activity in this section, close working, including with the Council’s Finance Team and 
Legal Team, will be required. 

31. Setting Award Criteria and Evaluation Methodology 

31.1. For contracts that are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, Officers should develop 
award criteria and an evaluation methodology that will enable them to accurately 
determine the Most Advantageous Tender (MAT). They may be developed and 
consulted on early as a part of preliminary market engagement and, thereafter, as set 
out in Section 34.2(e) of SCM, Officers must include the award criteria and evaluation 
methodology within the procurement documentation. 

31.2. When setting the award criteria, Officers must be satisfied that they: 
 

a. Relate to the subject matter of the contract, 
b. Are sufficiently clear, measurable, and specific, 
c. Do not break the rules on specifications, (see Sections 25.2 and 25.3 of SCM), and 
d. Are a proportionate means of assessing tenders, having regard to the nature, 

complexity, and cost of the contract. 

Page 63



 

30 
 

31.3. Evaluation methodology must be designed to accurately determine the Most 
Advantageous Tender (MAT) with the correct balance between price and quality. This 
evaluation methodology should be developed through close consultation between 
Officers in Services and the Commercial and Procurement Division. 

24.9.31.4. Officers should also be aware of any additional Council policies related to social 
value and sustainability in tender evaluations and apply these as required and 
appropriately linked to the subject matter of the contract. 

31.5. For health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated 
by the PSR and using either  Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable Provider 
Process, or the Competitive Process, Officers must determine the appropriate 
balance of the five key criteria set out in Regulation 5 of the PSR of quality and 
innovation; value; integration, collaboration, and service sustainability; improving 
access, reducing health inequalities, and facilitating choice; and social value.  

31.6. Any criteria that may be used to disqualify a supplier must be clearly specified within 
the tender. Suppliers may not be disqualified except where the tender has stipulated 
that failure to meet one or more of the specified criteria would disqualify a tender. 

24.10.31.7. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, 
the Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section and ensure that the award 
criteria and evaluation methodology, or key criteria and evaluation of this under the 
PSR, satisfies the relevant regulations. Where Officers in Services lead the 
procurement, they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are correctly 
followed. As a part of the activity in this section, close working between the Division 
and Officers in Services will be required. 

32. Key Performance Indicators 

32.1. Officers should develop key performance indicators (KPIs) to help assess a supplier’s 
performance against the contract. They should be developed early as a part of 
specification development and can be consulted on in preliminary market 
engagement, thereafter, being included in procurement documentation. 

32.2. Any KPIs developed should be relevant and proportionate to the nature, size, and 
complexity of the contract. When developing KPIs, Officers must consider the risks 
associated with setting too many KPIs or potential for ambiguity around KPIs, which 
may lead to confusion with suppliers, higher pricing, and other unintended outcomes. 

32.3. Officers should refer to guidance issued by the Commercial and Procurement Division 
around the development of KPIs and standard contract KPIs that may be relevant. 
Officers should also be aware of any additional Council policies related to social value 
and sustainability when setting KPIs and consider applying these proportionately. 

32.4. Where contracts are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, Section 52 of the Act 
requires that any contract that is awarded with an estimated total aggregate value in 
excess of £5m must have a minimum of three KPIs specified within them with 
performance against these KPIs then monitored and reported by way of Notices. 
However, this requirement does not apply if the contract is awarded via a Framework. 

32.5. Officers in Services are responsible for developing KPIs, but the Commercial and 
Procurement Division can be engaged to provide a commercial perspective and input 
on KPIs for contracts that the Division will lead the procurement for.  

Page 64



 

31 
 

25.33. Forms of Contract 

33.1. Officers must issue an appropriate form of contract that suppliers will be required to 
agree to if they are awarded the contract. The Council has different sets of Standard 
Terms and Conditions that must be applied to contracts based on their value and the 
nature of what is being procured (i.e., goods and services, or works). That is unless 
one of the following reasons is present: 

 
a. The requirements of the contract are judged to carry a level of risk and complexity 

that requires bespoke terms and conditions. 
b. The contract is for an internal Framework, Dynamic Market, or DPS that will require 

bespoke terms and conditions to be agreed as a part of it being established. 
c. It is deemed to be more appropriate for the supplier’s terms and conditions to be 

applied to the procurement given the nature of the requirement or the market. 
d. The contract is a call-off from an existing Framework which includes an established 

form of contract.  
d.e. Another form of contract is applicable and more appropriate for this 

procurement.  

33.2. Officers must follow guidance provided in the Standard Terms and Conditions relevant 
to their procurement to ensure they include all mandatory clauses. Where any clauses 
need to be amended, or any of the above reasons for deviation apply, Officers must 
seek advice from the Commercial and Procurement Division before following any 
alternative approach. The Commercial and Procurement Division will may then 
consult with and request further approval from the Legal Team. 

33.3. If bespoke or alternative Terms and Conditions will be used, Officers must contact the 
Commercial and Procurement Division who will seek advice from the Legal Team. 

33.4. Where Officers are uncertain of the Standard Terms and Conditions applicable to their 
contract, they should consult with the Commercial and Procurement Division. Where 
the Division is already involved, they will work jointly with Officers in Services, and the 
Legal Team, as necessary, to determine the most appropriate form of contract. 

26.34. Invitations to Tender 

26.1.34.1. Whether undertaking a tendering procedure under the Procurement Act 2023 
or the PSR, , Officers must issue Invitations to Tender and tendering instructions to 
every supplier who is or has been:  

 
a. Invited to tender following a pre-qualificationselection process (where such a stage 

has taken place). 
b. Listed on the relevant Framework Agreement, Framework lot, Dynamic Market, or 

DPS and who is capable and willing to tender. 
c. Requested the supply of tender documents under an open tendering process. 

26.2.34.2. All Invitations to Tender must specify the goods, services, or works that are 
required, together with the form of contract that will apply. All suppliers invited to 
tender must be issued with the same information at the same time and subject to the 
same conditions. Any supplementary information must be given on the same basis. 
All Invitations to Tender shall also include (subject to any additional requirements 
under the Procurement Act 2023PCR 2015, the PSR, or other applicable procurement 
regulations): 

 
a. A specification that fully describes the Council’s requirements. 

Page 65



 

32 
 

b. A requirement for tenderers to declare that the tender content, price or any other 
figure or particulars concerning the tender have not been disclosed by the tenderer 
to any other party (except where such a disclosure is made in confidence for a 
necessary purpose). 

c. A requirement for tenderers to fully complete all tender documents. 
d. Notification that tenders are submitted to the Council on the basis that they are 

prepared at the tenderer’s expense and reserve the right for the Council to decide 
not to proceed to award without incurring any contractual liability and without 
becoming liable to reimburse any bidder costs or expenses. 

e. A description of the award procedure and evaluation methodology. 
f. The form of contract that the supplier will need to agree to. 
g. The deadline for any questions asked during the tender. 
h. The deadline for tender receipt. 

26.3.34.3. Officers must, in writing, advise every supplier submitting a tender that: 

 
a. No extension of time will be allowed for the receipt of any tender, unless that is at 

the discretion of the Council. 
b. Tenders received after the date and time specified for receipt may be rejected. 
c. Any departure from tendering instructions may lead to the tender being rejected. 
d. the Council does not bind themselves to accept any tender or to accept any tender 

in full. 
e. The tender documents must be in electronic format. 
f. The tenderers signed form of tender cannot be different in detail to that provided 

as a part of the e-sourcing process unless it includes changes to tender documents 
that were made by the Officer responsible for the procurement. 

34.4. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of 
relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, 
they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are correctly followed. As 
a part of the activity in this section, close working will be required between the Division 
and Officers in Services. 

27.35. Post-Selection Questionnaire (SQ) and Tender Clarifications 

27.1.35.1. Officers must maintain a written record and clear audit trail of all clarifications 
received as a part of any pre-qualification stage post-SQ and as a part of any 
tendering procedure undertaken, detailing all contact with the tenderer, including the 
clarification requested and the response provided. All communications must be 
recorded via the Council’s tendering portal or another secure electronic system (all 
clarifications requested, and the responses provided must be available for audit 
purposes). 

27.2.35.2. Confirmation must be provided in the award report that paperwork submitted 
as a part of testing against any exclusion criteria and any Conditions of Participation 
the SQ for due diligence has been checked and approved in line with the Council’s 
requirements for due diligence outlined in guidance available on KNet. 

35.3. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of 
relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, 
they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are appropriately followed. 

28.36. Submission, Receipt and Opening of Tenders 

Page 66



 

33 
 

36.1. Suppliers must be given an adequate period in which to prepare and submit a tender, 
with this time period at least satisfying the minimum timescales required in the 
applicable regulations and being commensurate to the complexity of the requirement. 

36.2. When determining the appropriate timeframe, as well as the regulatory requirements, 
Officers should consider the need to have regard to the particular barriers facing 
SMEs and VCSES wishing to access contract opportunities and how to remove or 
reduce these barriers. This may include through considering tender response 
timescales that are more appropriate for SMEs and VCSEs. 

28.1.36.3. Every tender over the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds PCR 2015 
thresholds, or which has otherwise been advertised on the Council’s tendering portal 
must be received by a secure method using either the Council’s tendering portal or 
another secure electronic system appropriate for the procurement. 

28.2. Suppliers or providers who have expressed interest in a tender must be given an 
adequate period in which to prepare and submit a tender, consistent with the 
complexity of the contract requirement. The PCR 2015 includes specified tendering 
time periods that apply when following a procurement route under those regulations. 

28.3.36.4. Officers must have notified all suppliers of the correct tender return instructions, 
including the date, time, and place (e.g., the details of the Council’s e-sourcing 
system).  

28.4.36.5. In exceptional circumstances, the deadline for receipt of tenders may be 
extended with the agreement of the lead Commercial and Procurement Officer, if the 
extension of time will not disadvantage any tenderer.  

28.5.36.6. No extension to the deadline can be given once the seal has been broken on 
the Council’s tendering portal. 

28.6.36.7. All tenders received via the Council’s tendering portal must be opened by those 
specified as responsible on the system. All tenders must be opened at the same time.  

28.7.36.8. No person can be involved in the opening process who: 
 

a. Has not completed the Council’s e-learning on procurement and contracting. 
b. Has any pecuniary interest in any supplier used by the Council. 
c. Is serving a probationary period. 
d. Is the subject of disciplinary proceedings. 
e. Has any outstanding dispute with the Council, or 
f. Has tendered their resignation. 

28.8.36.9. Any tender that does not comply with the Council’s requirement as set out in 
the tender invitation should normally be excluded from consideration, with the 
circumstances recorded on the Council’s tendering portal. Officers may, however, 
seek the agreement of the lead Commercial and Procurement Officer to amend the 
requirements in appropriate circumstances. Any relaxation of the requirements must 
be disclosed when seeking approval required for acceptance of a tender.  

28.9.36.10. Officers must also check that every tender sum has been calculated by 
reference to the minimum specification required and stipulated in the tender. If they 
discover any departure from the specification, they can, subject to what is stated in 
the procurement documentation, treat it as grounds for disregarding the tender. The 

Page 67



 

34 
 

Officer must also check that every tender sum is stated net of VAT or any other Tax 
or Duty. 

36.11. Officers may also disregard any tender that offers a price that is considered to 
be abnormally low for the performance of the contract. However, before disregarding 
a tender on these grounds, Officers must notify the supplier that the price is 
considered to be abnormally low and give the supplier reasonable opportunity to 
demonstrate that it will be able to perform the contract for the price offered. 

28.10.36.12. If a request is made to accept a late tender due to technical issues or 
circumstances that could not have been foreseen, Officers should ensure that any 
additional time granted is minimal and does not allow for covert amendments or 
additions to tender content.  

36.13. Any late tenders that are not accepted, and any marked tenders, must not be opened 
until the award to the successful supplier has been made. 

36.14. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of 
relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, 
they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are appropriately followed. 

29.37. Evaluation 

37.1. The evaluation of tenders should be undertaken only against the award criteria and 
evaluation methodology that was stipulated in the procurement documentation. 

37.2. For procurements that are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, tenders are to be 
evaluated based on the assessment and identification of the ‘Most Economically 
Advantageous Tender’ (MEAT). An evaluation based on the MEAT must may consider 
both price and quality, including any social value or sustainability criteria, and does 
not require the tender to be awarded to the lowest priced bid alone. 

29.1. Evaluation methodology must be designed to accurately determine the correct 
balance between price and quality and can be developed in consultation with the 
Commercial and Procurement Division. 

29.2.37.3. For health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts 
regulated by the PSR and using either  Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable 
Provider Process, or the Competitive Process, Officers must assess offers from 
providers taking into account  the five key criteria set out in Regulation 5 of the PSR 
of quality and innovation; value; integration, collaboration, and service sustainability; 
improving access, reducing health inequalities, and facilitating choice; and social 
value.  

29.3. Officers should be aware of any additional Council policies related to social value and 
sustainability in tender evaluations and apply these as required where linked to the 
subject matter of the contract.  

29.4.37.4. Officers must ensure that a moderator is assigned to confirm the final scoring 
and to mediate any differences between the evaluation panel.  

29.5.37.5. The evaluation panel must include at least two scorers and they must 
understand the purpose of the procurement, the requirements of the contract, and the 
evaluation criteria.  

Page 68



 

35 
 

37.6. Each evaluator and moderator must complete a conflicts of interest form, disclosing 
any interest that may raise questions of impartiality. It must also be recorded how 
identified conflicts (actual or perceived) will be mitigated. This should be added to the 
conflicts of interest assessments that will have initially been developed at the outset 
of the procurement and that will be kept up to date throughout the process. 

37.7. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of 
relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, 
they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are appropriately followed. 

30.38. Request for Quotations 

30.1.38.1. Where permitted to seek quotations under Section 10 of SCM, Officers must 
ensure that all quotations from potential suppliers are provided against the same 
requirement and are requested/submitted within the same window of opportunity. 
Where the requirement is clarified or changed through the process, all invited 
organisations must have the opportunity to quote against that revised requirement. 

30.2.38.2. As a minimum, Officers are required to seek the number of quotations 
stipulated in the summary table in Section 10. These quotations must be competitive.  

30.3.38.3. For audit purposes, Officers must also ensure that an electronic record of all 
quotations received is retained in line with the Council’s record retention policy. 

30.4.38.4. If Officers receive a lower number of quotes back from suppliers than they are 
required to seek according to the appropriate procurement procedure defined in 
Section 10 of SCM, they are not required to seek further quotes unless it is necessary 
to fulfill the need and achieve value for money.  

30.5.38.5. Officers in Services are required to use their own judgement to determine if a 
quote reflects value for money. 

30.6.38.6. For the avoidance of doubt, Officers cannot follow a quotation process where 
the estimated total aggregate value of their contracts is above the relevant Public 
Procurement Threshold for goods and services contracts or above £1m for works 
contracts, where a compliant tendering procedure must instead be followed. 
Additionally, when procuring health care services regulated by the PSR, Officers are 
required to follow a provider selection process permitted under the PSR and in line 
with the guidance provided by the Commercial and Procurement Division. 

38.7. Officers in Services will typically lead the request for quotations process. However, 
they should refer to the advice and guidance available on KNet when undertaking this. 
Should Officers still have concerns about their ability to undertake this activity, they 
should contact the Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest opportunity. 

39. Excluding Suppliers 

39.1. Before assessing any Conditions of Participation, tenders or quotations, and prior to 
determining the supplier to be awarded a contract, Officers must check whether 
suppliers, or their Connected Persons or Associated Persons and subcontractors, are 
on the Debarment List. Where it materialises that suppliers are on that list for a 
Mandatory Exclusion Ground, they must be excluded from the procurement process 
and must not be awarded the contract. In the case of their Associated Persons and 

Page 69



 

36 
 

subcontractors being on the list, suppliers should be provided with the opportunity to 
replace them. 

39.2. Where suppliers, or their Associated Persons and subcontractors, are on the 
Debarment List for a Discretionary Exclusion Ground, or they otherwise self-declare 
that a Mandatory or Discretionary Exclusion Ground applies as part of the 
procurement process, Officers may exercise discretion on whether to exclude them. 
However, the supplier must be provided with the opportunity to ‘self-clean’ (i.e., to 
provide evidence that the circumstances are not continuing or are unlikely to re-occur 
and/or to replace the Associated Persons or subcontractor) before any exclusion. 

39.3. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will ensure that the appropriate reviews, checks, and processes are 
undertaken, consulting with the Legal Team prior to any exclusion being made.  

39.4. Where Officers in Services are leading the procurement, they are responsible for 
undertaking the initial review and checks in line with guidance available on KNet. 
However, they must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division, who may 
also engage with the Council’s Legal Team, prior to any exclusion taking place.  

 

31.40. Intention to Award, Contract Award, Agreement and Signature 

31.1.40.1. Before proceeding with the regulatory requirements around the award of 
contracts, as outlined between Sections 40.4 and 40.7 below, notifying suppliers of a 
contract award, Officers must complete an Award Report and have this approved by 
the relevant authority as stipulated in Section 10 of SCM and the Council’s Scheme 
of Delegation. 

31.2.40.2. The Award Report should: 

 
a. Be ‘complete’ in its own right, allowing the reader to understand the process and 

the decision reached. Reference should be made to any additional information 
available in the contract file. 

b. Show the recommendation and authorisation process with appropriate signatures. 

31.3.40.3. Additionally, where a contract for a consultant (as defined in Section 178 of 
SCM) is estimated to have a total value of £50,000 or more, the decision to award the 
contract must be made in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member. 

31.4.40.4. Following the above, the successful supplier/s and all unsuccessful suppliers 
must be notified in writing of the proposed contract award through the Council’s 
tendering portal (or any other secure electronic system appropriately used for the 
procurement)  and in accordance with the Procurement Act 2023PCR 2015, the PSR, 
or other applicable procurement regulations.  

40.5. Officers must provide an assessment summary to each supplier who has submitted 
an assessed tender for contracts that are above the applicable Public Procurement 
Thresholds and which are not regulated by the PSR. These assessment summaries 
must satisfy the requirements of Section 50 of the Act and Regulation 31 of the 
Procurement Regulations 2024. For those contracts that are subject to the PSR, 
Schedule 9 of the PSR applies.  

40.6. Following the provision of assessment summaries to suppliers, a Contract Award 
Notice must be published to the Central Digital Platform, in accordance with the 

Page 70



 

37 
 

applicable regulations (unless there is an exemption to this requirement under the 
regulations). This Notice will set out that the Council intends to enter into the contract. 
While the Commercial and Procurement Division will process the Notice, Officers in 
Services must provide the information required in a full and timely manner. 

40.7. Contracts must not be awarded until first observing and concluding any mandatory 
standstill period required under the Procurement Act, PCR 2015, the PSR, or other 
applicable procurement regulations or, where there is no legally prescribed standstill, 
any standstill period committed to in the Tender or Contract Award Notice. Any 
Challenges or Representations received during this period must be raised with the 
Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also consult with the and Legal 
Team as necessary, so that they are able to provide a fair, impartial, and timely view 
on the most appropriate course of action. 

31.5.40.8. Contracts must also not be awarded where the Finance Team has raised 
significant concerns regarding financial information provided as a part of the tender 
process. 

31.6.40.9. All transactions must fall within the powers delegated to Officers or have been 
approved by a decision or resolution (in accordance with the Council’s Constitution) 
of an authorised Cabinet Member, the Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or one of 
its Committees or Sub-committees.  

31.7.40.10. Following the above, the successful supplier/s and all unsuccessful suppliers 
must be notified in writing of the contract award through the Council’s tendering portal 
or another secure electronic system and in accordance with the Procurement Act 
2023PCR 2015, the PSR, or other applicable procurement regulations.  

Officers should notify all unsuccessful suppliers of the contract award in writing through the 
Council’s tendering portal. 

31.8.40.11. Where the award is for neither the original offer nor for all parts of the offer the 
written acceptance must be explicit as to what is being accepted. 

31.9.40.12. The agreement with the successful supplier/s will generate rights and 
obligations on each party. To be legal, a contract must fulfil the following requirements: 

 
a. There must be ‘offer and acceptance’ (i.e., one party has made an offer that has 

been accepted by the other). 
b. It must be the intention of each party to be legally bound. 
c. There must be valuable consideration on each side (e.g., one party may deliver, or 

undertake to deliver services for which the other party will pay). 
d. The parties must have the legal capacity to enter the contract. 
e. The contract must be legal, and 
f. The contract must not be procured by force, coercion, or undue influence, nor must 

it rest on fraud or misrepresentation. 

31.10.40.13. All contracts shall be entered into on behalf of and in the name of “The Kent 
County Council,” this being the name of the Council prescribed by Section 2 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. Contracts cannot be entered into by Committees, Directorates, 
Members or Officers because they are not the correct legal entity for contracting 
purposes. 

31.11.40.14. No contract, agreement or other document shall be signed or sealed unless it 
gives effect to: 

Page 71



 

38 
 

 
a. A decision or resolution of the Leader, the Cabinet, an authorised Cabinet Member 

or one of its Committees or Sub-committees, or  
b. A decision by an Officer exercising delegated responsibility. 

31.12.40.15. Officers must ensure the contract is signed or sealed in accordance with the 
Constitution.  

40.16. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, 
the Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements 
of relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, 
they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are appropriately followed. 
The Legal Team advice must be taken engaged where clarity is required over the 
correct form of execution required. 

1. Contract Award Notices 

31.13. For all contracts subject to the PCR 2015, UCR 2016, CCR 2016 or DSPCR 
2011 with estimated values over the Regulatory Thresholds, a full contract award 
notice must be published by the Commercial and Procurement Division to the FTS no 
later than 30 days after the contract award date and to Contracts Finder no later than 
90 days after the contract award date).  

31.14. There is no requirement to publish contract award notices to FTS for call-off 
contracts from a framework agreement but there is a requirement to publish a contract 
award notice to Contracts Finder within 90 days of the contract award date where the 
value of the call-off contract is above £25,000 (excluding VAT). 

31.15. For all other contracts under the Regulatory Thresholds but above £25,000 
excluding VAT, a simplified contract award notice must be a published on Contracts 
Finder (again including all call-off contracts from framework agreements and DPS’s) 
no later than 90 days after the award of a contract. 

31.16. For health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts 
regulated by the PSR: 

a.  where Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable Provider Process, or a 
Competitive Process is followed, or a contract is being awarded based on a 
framework agreement following competition, Officers are required to publish a 
notice of their intention to award, which triggers the start of a standstill period (see 
applicable Schedule in the PSR for details of the required content of notices 
depending on which procurement process is used).  

For all contracts awarded and framework agreements concluded (including all call-
off contracts awarded based on a framework agreement whether with or without 
competition), contract award notice must be published to the FTS within 30 days, 
whichever PSR procurement process is used to award the contract (see applicable 
Schedule in the PSR for details of the required content of notices depending on 
which procurement process is used). 

41. Publication of Awarded Contract Details 

41.1. Where contracts are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, Section 53 of the Act states 
that contracts with a total aggregate value above the applicable Public Procurement 
Thresholds must have a Contract Details Notice published to the Central Digital 

Page 72



 

39 
 

Platform within 30 days of the contract being entered into. This Notice will outline that 
the Council has entered into the contract, and it must also be published on the 
Council’s tendering portal. 

31.17.41.2. For all other contracts under the Public Procurement Regulatory  Thresholds 
but above £2530,000 (excluding including VAT), and not regulated by the PSR, a 
simplified Contract award Details Notice must be a published on the Central Digital 
Platform as soon as reasonably practicable following the award. Contracts Finder 
(again including all call-off contracts from framework agreements and DPS’s) no later 
than 90 days after the award of a contract. 

41.3. For contracts awarded under the Procurement Act 2023 with a value of more than 
£5m (including VAT), an appropriately redacted copy of that contract be published 
before the end of 90 days beginning with the day on which the contract is entered into. 
Officers must produce a redacted copy of the contracts and retain these alongside the 
original copy. 

41.4. As a part of the tendering procedure, or when agreeing contract terms with a supplier, 
Officers must establish the commercially sensitive information that will be redacted. 
From the Council’s perspective, Officers must also identify whether there is any 
operationally sensitive material that should be redacted. 

41.5. Whilst material may be identified as sensitive, Officers must satisfy themselves that it 
is not the case that it is simply preferable to redact this information, but that it is 
permissible to do so under the applicable regulations.  

41.6. As set out in Section 52 of the Procurement Act 2023, any contract that is awarded 
with an estimated total aggregate value in excess of £5m must also have a minimum 
of three KPIs specified within them, unless an exemption available under the 
regulations applies to the contract. The details of these KPIs must be published 
alongside the redacted copy of the contract, where required. 

41.7. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division leads the procurement, they will 
work with suppliers to identify the commercially sensitive information to be redacted. 
However, where Officers in Services is leading the procurement, they will be 
responsible for this information. Officers in Services will always be responsible for 
identifying the operationally sensitive information that should be redacted.  

41.8. The redaction of contracts will be undertaken by the Officer leading the procurement, 
with the support of available redaction software or, where that is not available and 
Officers are uncertain as to how to redact, in consultation with the Council’s 
Information Governance Team and Legal Team, as necessary. 

41.9. The Commercial and Procurement Division will publish the Contract Details Notice, 
the appropriately redacted copy of contracts, and KPI information, as required, but 
Officers in Services must provide the information required in a full and timely manner. 

32.42. Contract Tiering and Contract Management Responsibilities 

32.1.42.1. Senior Officers (Heads of Service and above) are ultimately responsible for the 
effective management of contracts within their area in line with guidance issued by 
the Commercial and Procurement Division and available on KNet.  

32.2.42.2. All contract management activities should be delivered by either a dedicated 
Contract Manager or by someone with that responsibility as part of a wider role. 

Page 73



 

40 
 

42.3. The named Contract Manager must assess the level of risk of their contract by 
completing a tiering exercise using the tiering tool and guidance made available by 
the Commercial and Procurement Division on KNet. This exercise must be undertaken 
as soon as possible after it has been decided that procurement is the appropriate 
route to meet the requirement, with the exercise repeated prior to contract award, and 
at regular intervals during the management of the contract. 

32.3.42.4. The classification assigned to the contract following the tiering exercise must 
be notified to the Commercial and Procurement Division and recorded on the 
Council’s contract management system. For those contracts within the Procurement 
Pipeline, the Commercial and Procurement Division will be able to take a lead on this 
contract tiering exercise, working closely with Officers in Services as a part of the 
procurement process and award of the contract. The named Contract Manager will 
retain responsibility for undertaking the tiering exercise during contract management. 

32.4.42.5. The Commercial and Procurement Division will take a commercial lead on all 
high-risk contracts identified through the tiering exercise, working alongside the 
named Contract Managers within Services and any named legal advisor. 

32.5.42.6. The Head of Commercial and Procurement is responsible for ensuring that 
training is available to support Contract Managers across the Council regardless of 
the tier of the contract that they are managing. Senior Officers (Heads of Service and 
above) are responsible for ensuring that those managing contracts within their area 
are appropriately trained. 

33.43. Managing and Reporting on Contract Performance 

43.1. For contracts awarded under the Procurement Act 2023 with a total aggregate value 
of more than £5m (including VAT), Section 52 of the Act requires the assessment and 
publication of information about the supplier’s performance against the KPIs that have 
been published in accordance with Section 53 of the legislation and Section 41.6 of 
SCM. That is unless an exemption available under the regulations applies to the 
contract. 

43.2. The supplier’s performance against the identified KPIs must be assessed and 
published at least once every twelve months. Officers must report performance in line 
with the standardised rating system prescribed in the Procurement Regulations 2024, 
with the performance information published via a Contract Performance Notice on the 
Central Digital Platform. 

43.3. Under Section 71 of the Procurement Act 2023, for contracts that are subject to the 
legislation and for which there is no exemption in the regulations, Officers may be 
required to publish information, via a Contract Performance Notice on the Central 
Digital Platform, where a supplier breaches the contract and/or in the event of poor 
performance. 

43.4. Breaches are understood as being where a supplier fails to meet one or more of the 
key terms that were agreed at contract award. Officers must publish information on 
breaches where they are sufficiently serious to the extent that they result in full or 
partial contract termination, the award of damages, or a settlement agreement. 

43.5. Poor performance is understood as a failure of the supplier to deliver aspects of the 
contract to the Council’s satisfaction, taking into account the frequency, duration, and 
impact on contract delivery. In the event of serious and persistent poor performance,  

Page 74



 

41 
 

after suppliers have been provided with the opportunity to improve their performance 
and failed to do so, Officers are required to publish the performance information. 

43.6. The Commercial and Procurement Division will publish the Contract Performance 
Notices required, however, Officers in Services are responsible for assessing supplier 
performance in accordance with the guidance that is provided by the Division on KNet. 
However, Officers in Services must provide the Division with the information that is 
required for the Notices in a full and timely manner.   

43.7. With regards to reporting performance against KPIs for contracts worth £5m or more, 
the Commercial and Procurement Division will work with Officers in Services to ensure 
that, as a part of finalising the KPIs with the supplier prior to contract award, there is 
alignment to the prescribed rating system and the supplier understands what is being 
measured, when, how, and against what system. The named Contract Manager is 
responsible for ensuring the agreed approach is adhered to in contract management. 

43.8. With regards to breaches that are sufficiently serious that they meet the publication 
requirements (including performance against KPIs against of the prescribed rating 
system), regardless of the contract value, Officers in Services must contact the 
Commercial and Procurement Division as early as possible. The Division may also 
consult with the Council’s Legal Team to consider the legal risks before advising 
Officers on the most appropriate course of action to take. 

33.1.43.9. With regards to poor performance that meets the threshold of serious and 
persistent failures that, if not addressed, will require the publication of that information, 
Officers in Services should contact the Commercial and Procurement Division as soon 
as possible if it relates to a contract that is above the relevant Public Procurement 
Thresholds. Otherwise, Officers should refer to guidance issued by the Division and 
available on KNet. Where the Division is involved, they will advise on the course of 
action to take with the supplier to attempt to rectify the situation. 

34.44. Contract Payments and Reporting on Payments 

34.1.44.1. Once the right supplier has been found in line with the processes required by 
SCM, Officers must not make verbal commitments but raise a Purchase Order (via 
iProcurement or an equivalent service-specific system). This must be approved in 
accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations and Scheme of Delegation 
before it is sent to the supplier, and before any goods or services have been received. 

44.2. Under Section 67(2) of the Procurement Act 2023, Officers must accept and process 
for payment any electronic invoice issued to the Council for payment under a contract 
where that invoice is in the required electronic form, and it is not disputed. Officers 
cannot override these terms, which are implied into contracts under the Procurement 
Act 2023. 

44.3. In accordance with Section 68 of the Procurement Act 2023, Officers must ensure that 
any sum due to be paid under a contract by the Council is paid before the end of the 
period of 30 days beginning with the day on which the invoice is received, or, if later, 
the day on which the payment falls due in accordance with the invoice. Such payment 
may be made by a third party to satisfy the regulatory requirement, but only with the 
agreement of the payee. In accordance with Section 73 of the Act, these 30 day 
payment terms are also implied into subcontracts. Officers cannot restrict or override 
these terms, which are implied into contracts under the Procurement Act 2023. 

Page 75



 

42 
 

44.4. Officers may agree with a supplier that a sum due under a contract is to be paid earlier 
than the 30 days required. However, this must be applied in accordance with the 
Council’s supplier incentive programme, the Financial Regulations and Scheme of 
Delegation. As part of agreeing any such payment arrangement and mechanisms with 
a supplier, Officers must consult the Commercial and Procurement Division and 
Finance Team. 

44.5. Under Section 69 of the Procurement Act 2023, the Council is required to publish a 
Payments Compliance Notice to the Central Digital Platform, providing information on 
the extent to which the Council is compliant with the prompt payment provisions 
outlined in Section 44.3 above. This Notice must be published within 30 days of the 
end of the reporting periods stated in the regulations, detailing payments made under 
contracts and sums owed by the Council that have become payable. Reporting must 
be completed every six months. 

44.6. Under Section 70 of the Procurement Act, 2023, and associated regulations, Officers 
must also publish specific information, via Payments Compliance Notices, in relation 
to any payment of more than £30,000 made by the Council under contracts subject to 
the legislation. This information must be published before the end of the period of 30 
days beginning with the last day of the quarter in which the payment was made. 

44.7. The Commercial and Procurement Division and the Council’s Finance Team will work 
jointly to publish the Payment Compliance Notices required under this section of SCM. 
However, Officers in Services must follow guidance issued by the Division and 
Finance Team on KNet to ensure the payment information required for these Notices 
is linkable to the relevant contract and available to those teams in a complete and 
timely manner. 

35.45. Contract Modifications, Extensions and Novations 

35.1.45.1. For contracts with a total aggregate value over the Public Procurement 
Thresholds, Officers must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division and 
obtain agreement in line with the Scheme of Delegation before any Modifications are 
made (whether in terms of value, duration, scope, or otherwise). 

45.2. As well as mitigating procurement and legal risks, this is due to Contract Modifications 
being subject to specific requirements under the Procurement Act 2023 and PCR 
2015. Under Section 75 of the Procurement Act 2023, with limited exceptions, these 
requirements include the need for information on changes to contracts procured under 
that legislation to be published to the Central Digital Platform through a Contract 
Change Notice. The Contract Change Notice must be published before the 
Modification is made. Officers must engage with the Commercial and Procurement 
Division as to whether the Council will observe a voluntary standstill period prior to 
entry into the Modification and if so, the length of the standstill period (to be a minimum 
of 8 working days). Officers should note that if a voluntary standstill is to be observed 
it must be included in the Contract Change Notice and must be complied with.   

35.2.45.3. In some circumstances, regardless of the contract value, proposed 
Modifications to contracts may trigger procurement or legal risks and advice must be 
sought from the Commercial and Procurement Division and the Council’s Legal Team 
where Officers believe this to be is the case. For example, this may include where the 
proposed Modification would take the total aggregate value of the contract from a total 
value below the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds to a contract above that 
the relevant threshold. 

Page 76



 

43 
 

35.3.45.4. Contracts that have been originally advertised with extension options can be 
extended subject to Officers receiving the acceptance required in the summary table 
included within Section 10 of SCM. However, where the total aggregate contract value 
is above the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds, the Commercial and 
Procurement Division should be engaged before any extension of the contract. 

45.5. In accordance with the Procurement Act 2023, a redacted copy of any modified or 
extended contract with a value of more than £5m must be published to the Central 
Digital Platform before the end of 90 days beginning with the day on which the change 
is signed. 

35.4.45.6. In addition to any procurement or legal requirements, Contract Modifications or 
extensions may only be made if the value of the Contract Modification or extension 
added to the value of the original contract does not exceed the authorisation threshold 
in the summary table in Section 10 of SCM. Where that is the case, then the 
appropriate level of authorisation, which would be required considering the re-
calculated total aggregate value of the contract, must instead be sought. 

35.5.45.7. All Contract Modifications and extensionsamendments must be recorded in 
writing, signed, or sealed appropriately, and retained alongside the original copy of 
the contract on the Council’s contract management system.  

35.6.45.8. Legal advice must be taken where clarity is required over the correct form of 
execution required for any Contract Modifications or extensions.  

35.7.45.9. The Any extension or mModification must have an approved budget allocation 
for it to be made. 

35.8. In addition to any legal requirements, extensions or modifications may only be made 
if the value of the extension or modification added to the value of the original contract 
does not exceed the authorisation threshold in the summary table in Section 10.  

35.9.45.10. There are separate requirements for health care services contracts and mixed 
health care services contracts regulated by the PSR, Officers must engage with the 
Commercial and Procurement Division prior to making any Modification as specific 
legal requirements will apply, including requirements for the publication of Notices.  

35.10.45.11. Where a contractor sells, merges, or transfers their business to another 
organisation, the existing contract/s that the Council has with that contractor should 
be novated where that is determined to be acceptable to the Council. Officers in 
Services must consult with Tthe Commercial and Procurement Division and the Legal 
Team must be consulted with to review the existing contract and the requested 
Novation so that the acceptability to the Council can be determined. The Council’s 
Finance Team must also be consulted with to ensure that the proposed new 
organisation will be financially robust. 

35.11.45.12. Guidance issued by the Commercial and Procurement Division and 
available on KNet outlines the circumstances under which Contract Modifications, 
extensions, and Novations are permitted and the processes to be followed and the 
considerations to be made to ensure these represent value for moneyunder the law. 

45.13. While the Commercial and Procurement Division will process the required 
Notices, and publish any appropriately redacted Contract Modifications or extensions, 
Officers in Services must provide the information required in a full and timely manner. 

Page 77



 

44 
 

45.14. Contracts which were procured prior to 24 February 2025 (including 
procurements commenced before that date and call-offs from Frameworks or DPS in 
place at that date) continue to be subject to the PCR 2015 (or CCR 2016 as the case 
may be). However, where a proposed change to a pre-24 February 2025 contract 
does not fall within one of the permitted grounds for modification (e.g. Regulation 72(1) 
of PCR 2015) the modification may be deemed to be a new contract awarded under 
the Procurement Act 2023.  

45.15. Regardless of the contract value and the procurement regulations that apply, 
Officers in Services will be responsible for undertaking all other activities in this 
section. However, as described, they should engage with the Commercial and 
Procurement Division, the Legal Team and Finance Team, as necessary, who will be 
able to advise and support in certain circumstances, particularly if there is legal risk. 

46. Contract Expiry and Terminating Contracts 

46.1. Regardless of the total contract value, and the regulations which apply (the 
Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015, the PSR, or other procurement regulations), where 
it is planned to allow contracts to expire at the end date (including extensions) or on 
completion of deliverables, Officers must give suppliers reasonable notice of their 
intentions and allow suppliers an opportunity to respond. Officers must also ensure 
any outstanding disputes are settled and payments made before the contract ends. 

46.2. For those contracts subject to the Procurement Act 2023, with limited exceptions, 
Section 80 of the Act requires a Contract Termination Notice to be published where a 
contracts expires at its planned end date or on the completion of deliverables. Officers 
must confirm with the supplier in writing when their contract has come to an end. 

46.3. Regardless of the total contract value, and the regulations that apply, where Officers 
believe that there may be grounds for early termination for breach of contract, poor 
performance, or, as the supplier, their Associated Persons or subcontractors have 
become excludable suppliers on Mandatory or Discretionary Exclusion Grounds, 
Officers must contact the Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest 
possible opportunity. Officers must not proceed with any early termination until they 
have consulted with the Division, who may also consult with the Council’s Legal Team. 

46.4. For those contracts subject to the Procurement Act 2023, with limited exceptions, 
where any early termination takes place, Section 80 of the Act requires Officers to 
publish a Contract Termination Notice. Officers must also confirm with the supplier in 
writing when the early termination of the contract has been completed. 

46.5. There are different Notice requirements for the expiry and termination for health care 
services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated by the PSR. 
Consequently, Officers must engage with the Division prior to the end of such 
contracts.. 

46.6. The named Contract Manager is responsible for planning appropriately for the end of 
contracts and ensuring the smooth conclusion and transition away from contracts. 
However, the Commercial and Procurement Division, in consultation with the 
Council’s Legal Team, as necessary, will be able to advise Contract Managers with 
this process, particularly for contracts identified as high risk through contract tiering.. 

46.7. The Commercial and Procurement Division will publish the Contract Termination 
Notices required, and any final Contract Performance Notices, but Officers in Services 
must provide the Division with the information required in a full and timely manner. 

Page 78



 

45 
 

36.47. Disposing of Surplus Goods, Materials or Assets 

36.1.47.1. Disposal of surplus goods, materials, or assets (including recycling of any 
goods, materials, or assets that have a scrap value), must follow the processes and 
controls defined in guidance on KNet. This is to ensure that the Council receives 
proper reimbursement, where appropriate, and that disposal is cost effective. 

36.2.47.2. However, advice must always be sought from the Council’s Finance Team 
when making valuations for such surplus goods, materials, or assets, and determining 
the correct process to follow. The Council’s Infrastructure Team should also be 
consulted in the case of the disposal of buildings or land. 

37.48. Emergency Purchases 

37.1.48.1. An emergency purchase that contravenes SCM is only allowed where there is 
an imminent risk to life or property, or where there is a need to secure Council property 
or assets (e.g., where there has been a break-in or equipment failure, such as a flood), 
or there is an otherwise lawful ground provided for in the applicable regulations 
outlined in Section 4.6 of SCM.  

37.2.48.2. For contracts subject to the Procurement Act 2023PCR 2015, UCR 2016, CCR 
2016 or DSPCR 2011 with an estimated total aggregate value above the Public 
Procurement Thresholds, emergency purchases must be compliant with the relevant 
legal provisions (i.e., Chapter 3 and Schedule 5 of the Procurement Act 
2023Regulation 32 of PCR 2015 or another exemption set out in the regulations PCR 
2015). For health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts 
regulated by the PSR, Officers should refer to Regulation 14 of the PSR in the first 
instance to justify any urgent contract awards or Modifications. 

37.3. Officers can use their Purchase Card, within their allocated limits, to pay in these 
situations. If the supplier does not accept Purchase Cards, then Officers may give a 
verbal order to proceed and then raise a purchase order the following working day. 
The Commercial and Procurement Division must be notified of any emergency 
purchases on that following working day. 

37.4.48.3. For the avoidance of doubt, the above Sections 48.1 38.1 and 48.2 38.2 do not 
apply to those purchases made outside of the hours of 09:00 to 17:00 by the Council’s 
emergency duty and social care teams. 

37.5.48.4. Issues arising with contracts leading to a requirement for urgent mitigating 
actions are not necessarily considered emergency purchases. These should be dealt 
with as a part of risk mitigation within the contract management process. 

37.6.48.5. Any emergency purchases made must be reported to the relevant Head of 
Service and Service Director who will be responsible for reporting this to the Council’s 
Head of Commercial and Procurement and Section 151 Officer.  

38. Purchase Orders 

38.1. Once the right supplier has been found in line with the processes required by SCM, 
Officers must not make verbal commitments but raise a Purchase Order (via 
iProcurement or an equivalent service-specific system). This must be approved in 
accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations and Scheme of Delegation 
before it is sent to the supplier, and before any goods or services have been received. 

Page 79



 

46 
 

39.49. Subsidies  

39.1.49.1. Officers must engage with the Legal Team for advice prior to proceeding with 
any Subsidy and must inform the Monitoring Officer of all Subsidies. All Subsidies 
must be carried out in line with the Subsidy Control Act 2022 and where necessary a 
notice must be published to the National Subsidy Database. These notices will be 
published by the Legal Team and Officers must ensure they provide all necessary 
data.  

40.50. Waivers 

40.1.50.1. Where the application of SCM prevents or inhibits the delivery or continuity of 
a Service, Officers may seek a Waiver to deviate from SCM to the extent that it relates 
to what would be a Waiver to internal Council made rules. 

40.2.50.2. A Waiver must be sought for any proposed procurement or contractual action 
which is not compliant with SCM. However, a Waiver cannot be given if it would 
contravene the Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015, the PSR, or any other applicable 
legislation outlined in Section 4.6 of SCM.  

40.3.50.3. Officers must obtain approval for a Waiver from the Head of Commercial and 
Procurement Division, including the Head of Commercial and Procurement, as 
necessary, using the pro-forma and guidance available on KNet. The request should 
identify the requirement that is subject to the request and the reason for which the 
Waiver is sought, including the proposed justification and associated risks.  

40.4.50.4. For Waivers of SCM in relation to contracts with a value of £1m (excluding VAT) 
or more, the Head of Commercial and Procurement will also seek approval from the 
Council’s Section 151 Officer and/or Monitoring Officer. 

40.5.50.5. A Waiver can be requested retrospectively. However, this will be viewed as 
non-compliance with SCM and, as with all examples of non-compliance with SCM, will 
be reported to the Monitoring Officer and the Governance and Audit Committee.  

40.6.50.6. The Commercial and Procurement Division will maintain a log of all Waivers 
that have been sought, rejected, and authorised. 

51. Procurement Oversight and Investigation 

51.1. Under the Procurement Act 2023, the compliance of contracting authorities with the 
Act may be investigated by a central government Procurement Review Unit (PRU). 
Where investigations are undertaken, the PRU will issue recommendations for 
improvement to the contracting authority and monitor the delivery of action plans. 
These investigations and the findings of the PRU may be published. 

51.2. Under the PSR, where providers have raised a Representation to a contracting 
authority and remain unsatisfied with the response and are of the view that the PSR 
has not been applied correctly, they may submit a representation to an independent 
PSR Review Panel that sits outside of the Council. Where the Panel agrees to review 
the Representation, it will consider it and share advice with the provider and the 
authority, and this information may also be published, at least in summary form. 

51.3. Should there be any investigation by the PRU or the PSR Review Panel into the 
Council’s procurement practice, the Council’s response will be jointly led by the 
Commercial and Procurement Division and the Legal Team. Officers must fully co-

Page 80



 

47 
 

operate with those leading the Council’s response, providing any required information 
in a full and timely manner and making themselves available to support the lead 
Officers and the PRU or PSR Review Panel to understand the cause of the 
compliance issues. 

Appendix 1: Definitions  
 
Associated Person/s – A person that the supplier is relying on in order to satisfy the Conditions 
of Participation under the Procurement Act 2023, but not a person who is to act as guarantor. 
 
Challenge/s – a Challenge can be understood as when an organisation sets out its intention 
to bring a claim against the contracting authority in relation to its decision to award a contract. 
This may include when a bidder has been informed, they were unsuccessful in their bid and 
are challenging the decision of the Council or may include other third parties where they have 
standing under the relevant legislation to bring a legal challenge. 
 
Condition/s of Participation – As defined under Section 22 of the Procurement Act 2023, 
condition that a supplier must satisfy if the supplier is to be awarded the contract. 
 
Contract extension – extending the duration of a contract as allowed and defined under the 
terms of that contract and relevant procurement regulations. 
 
Contract Modification  – making an amendment to a contract as defined in the relevant 
procurement regulations. 
 
Contract Novation – transferring the rights and obligations of one party under a contract to a 
third party.  
 
Contract tiering – applying a rating to contracts based on their perceived value, risk and 
complexity which may be used to determine appropriate contract management measures. 
 
Debarment List – A list, which is maintained by central government and is permitted for and 
detailed under Section 62 of the Procurement Act 2023, containing those suppliers who may 
be debarred from bidding for public contracts for a specific period. 
 
Delegated responsibility – responsibility for authorising or carrying out Council activities that 
has been bestowed upon an individual or team from the executive power. 
 
Discretionary Exclusion Ground/s – One of a number of grounds for potentially excluding a 
supplier as defined under Schedule 7 of the Procurement Act 2023. 
 
Dynamic Market/s – a purchasing tool established pursuant to sections 34 to 40 of the 
Procurement Act 2023, comprising a list of suppliers who have met any applicable conditions 
for membership of the Dynamic Market and who are eligible to participate in future 
procurements. Membership of a Dynamic Market is not closed and new suppliers may join 
during its life.    
 
Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) – an electronic commercial purchasing tool for commonly 
used purchases the characteristics of which, as generally available on the market, meet their 
requirements and under which new suppliers are able to join at any time, subject to the rules 
in Regulation 34 of the PCR 2015 (for DPS’). 
 
Framework or Framework Agreement – an agreement between one of more contracting 
authorities and one of more economic operators, the purpose of which is to establish the terms 
governing contracts to be awarded during a given period.  

Page 81



 

48 
 

 
Integrity Probity – having strong moral principles, honesty, and decency.  
 
Key Supplier – any individual, group or organisation that delivers contracts on behalf of the 
Council that are deemed to be strategically important which may be defined through supplier 
segmentation, by contract tiering, or any Council strategy. 
 
Mandatory Exclusion Ground/s – One of a number of grounds for potentially excluding a 
supplier as defined under Schedule 6 of the Procurement Act 2023. 
 
National Procurement Policy Statement (NPPS) – The NPPS sets out the strategic priorities 
for public procurement, which contracting authorities must have regard to, with information 
and guidance on how contracting authorities can support their delivery. 
 
Non-compliance – purposefully or unknowingly breaching any of the rules or responsibilities 
stated in SCM. 
 
Non-statutory guidance – sets out what the Council can and should do to implement best 
practice procedures. 
 
Notices – A Notice (sometimes referred to as a ‘transparency notice’) of procurement or 
contracting activity that the Council is required to publish to Contracts Finder and/or Central 
Digital Platform (or such other digital platform that as required by law) according to the 
Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015, the PSR, or other applicable procurement regulations. 
 
Open Framework – A scheme of Frameworks that provides for the award of successive 
Frameworks on substantially the same terms, as defined and permitted under Section 49 of 
the Procurement Act 2023. 
 
PCR 2015 Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services contracts – As of 1 January 
2024, this value is £179,087 (exclusive of VAT) and £214,904 (inclusive of VAT). 
 
PCR 2015 Public Procurement Threshold for works contracts – As of 1 January 2024, this 
value is £4,477,174 (exclusive of VAT) and £5,372,609 (inclusive of VAT). 
 
Procurement – the act of engaging and contracting with a third party to source or deliver goods, 
services and works projects on behalf of the Council. 
 
Procurement Pipeline – a forward look of potential commercial activity for the Council. 
 
Representation/s – a Representation, a term more associated with procurements and 
contracting subject to the PSR, can be understood as being when a provider requests the 
contracting authority reviews their decision. This may include a decision to award or to modify 
a contract. 
 
Small and Medium Sized Enterprise (SME) – Suppliers that have fewer than 250 staff and 
have a turnover of an amount less than or equal to £44m, or a balance sheet total of an amount 
less than or equal to £38m. 
 
Sourcing – the act of obtaining goods, services and works through procurement or other 
applicable activities such as using existing contracts or Frameworks. 
 
Spending the Council’s Money – the Council’s mandatory rules and processes for spending 
money on behalf of the Council. 
 

Page 82



 

49 
 

Statutory guidance – sets out what the Council must to do to comply with the law. 
Subsidy/ies - A subsidy or government incentive is a form of financial aid or support extended 
to an economic sector generally with the aim of promoting economic and social policy. 
 
Supplier/s – any individual, group or organisation that is contracted to supply or deliver goods, 
services and works on behalf of the Council. 
 
Total aggregate contract value - the estimated total aggregate value payable in pounds sterling 
inclusive of Value Added Tax (VAT) over the entire contract period, including any extensions 
of the contract and including any sums paid by third parties. 
 
Value for money – most advantageous combination of cost and quality that is affordable for 
the Council and will fulfill the requirement suitably. 
 
Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) – An incorporated voluntary, community, 
or social enterprise organisation which serves communities, and which is either a charity, 
Community Interested Company, or Community Benefit Society. 
 
Waiver - a request to deviate from the rules of SCM. 
 
 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
Kent County Council  
Spending the Council’s 
Money 
The Council’s Rules for Procurement and 
Spending Activity 

Page 85



 

2 
 

PART A: INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................4 
1. PURPOSE ..................................................................................................................................................4 
2. FORMAL STATUS OF SCM ............................................................................................................................4 
3. KEY PRINCIPLES ..........................................................................................................................................4 
4. COMPLIANCE .............................................................................................................................................5 
5. SCOPE ......................................................................................................................................................6 
6. THE ROLE OF ANYONE BUYING ON BEHALF OF THE COUNCIL ...............................................................................7 
7. RESPONSIBILITIES AND ACCOUNTABILITIES OF THE WIDER COUNCIL ......................................................................8 
8. PROCUREMENT PIPELINE ...........................................................................................................................12 
9. APPROVALS FOR CONTRACTING ACTIVITY ......................................................................................................13 

PART B: REQUIREMENTS FOR SOURCING GOODS, SERVICES AND WORKS ....................................................14 
10. SUMMARY OF PROCEDURES FOR PROCURING, CONTRACT AUTHORISATION AND MANAGEMENT, AND CONTRACT 
MODIFICATIONS BY AGGREGATE CONTRACT VALUE ......................................................................................................14 
TABLE A – PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES – CONTRACTS SUBJECT TO THE PROCUREMENT ACT 2023 (PA23) ..........................14 
TABLE B – PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES – CONTRACTS SUBJECT TO THE PROVIDER SELECTION REGIME (PSR) ........................14 
TABLE C – CONTRACT AUTHORISATION AND MANAGEMENT ..........................................................................................15 
TABLE D – CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS ......................................................................................................................15 
11. CALCULATING THE AGGREGATE CONTRACT VALUE ..........................................................................................17 
12. DETERMINING THE APPLICABLE PROCUREMENT REGULATIONS ..........................................................................17 
13. PROCUREMENT BUSINESS CASES .................................................................................................................18 
14. USING EXISTING CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS ...........................................................................................18 
15. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS AND DYNAMIC MARKETS .....................................................................................18 
16. LIGHT TOUCH CONTRACTS .........................................................................................................................20 
17. CONCESSION CONTRACTS ...........................................................................................................................20 
18. TEMPORARY STAFF, CONTRACTORS, AND CONSULTANTS ..................................................................................21 
19. COLLABORATION WITH OTHER PUBLIC BODIES ...............................................................................................21 
20. LIABILITY AND SECURITY .............................................................................................................................22 
21. FINANCIAL SECURITY .................................................................................................................................22 
22. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND PREVENTING FRAUD, BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION ....................................................23 
23. DOCUMENT RETENTION .............................................................................................................................23 

PART C: REQUIREMENTS FOR QUOTATION OR TENDERING PROCEDURES ....................................................24 
24. ENGAGING THE COMMERCIAL AND PROCUREMENT DIVISION ............................................................................24 
25. SPECIFICATIONS .......................................................................................................................................24 
26. PRELIMINARY MARKET ENGAGEMENT ..........................................................................................................25 
27. DUTY TO CONSIDER LOTS ...........................................................................................................................25 
28. REQUIREMENTS TO ADVERTISE AND PUBLISH INTENDED PROCUREMENT ROUTE ...................................................26 
29. COMPETITIVE TENDERING PROCEDURES ........................................................................................................27 
30. CONDITIONS OF PARTICIPATION AND BASIC SELECTION CRITERIA .......................................................................28 
31. SETTING AWARD CRITERIA AND EVALUATION METHODOLOGY ..........................................................................29 
32. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS ..................................................................................................................30 
33. FORMS OF CONTRACT ...............................................................................................................................31 
34. INVITATIONS TO TENDER ............................................................................................................................31 
35. POST-SELECTION QUESTIONNAIRE (SQ) AND TENDER CLARIFICATIONS ...............................................................32 
36. SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS ..........................................................................................32 
37. EVALUATION ...........................................................................................................................................34 
38. REQUEST FOR QUOTATIONS .......................................................................................................................34 
39. EXCLUDING SUPPLIERS ...............................................................................................................................35 
40. INTENTION TO AWARD, CONTRACT AWARD, AGREEMENT AND SIGNATURE .........................................................36 
41. PUBLICATION OF AWARDED CONTRACT DETAILS .............................................................................................37 
42. CONTRACT TIERING AND CONTRACT MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES ................................................................38 
43. MANAGING AND REPORTING ON CONTRACT PERFORMANCE .............................................................................39 
44. CONTRACT PAYMENTS AND REPORTING ON PAYMENTS ....................................................................................40 
45. CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS, EXTENSIONS AND NOVATIONS ..............................................................................41 
46. CONTRACT EXPIRY AND TERMINATING CONTRACTS .........................................................................................43 

Page 86



 

3 
 

47. DISPOSING OF SURPLUS GOODS, MATERIALS OR ASSETS ..................................................................................43 
48. EMERGENCY PURCHASES ...........................................................................................................................44 
49. SUBSIDIES ...............................................................................................................................................44 
50. WAIVERS ................................................................................................................................................44 
51. PROCUREMENT OVERSIGHT AND INVESTIGATION ............................................................................................45 

APPENDIX 1: DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................46 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



 

4 
 

Part A: Introduction 

1. Purpose 

1.1. This document, ‘Spending the Council’s Money’ is referred to hereafter as ‘SCM’. SCM is the 
mandatory rules and processes that must be followed and complied with when spending 
money on behalf of Kent County Council (‘the Council’). The purpose of SCM is to ensure 
that, prior to any expenditure being incurred, there is proper consideration of the process, and 
that any procurement or contracting is carried out in a fair, open, and transparent way such 
that the outcome will represent value for money to the Council and the county’s residents. 

1.2. It is important to understand that whilst SCM is an internal Council document, it does seek to 
incorporate and embed procedures across the Council to also ensure compliance with 
external obligations placed upon the Council, including those found in relevant procurement 
legislation, applicable case law, and both statutory and non-statutory guidance. Non-
compliance with SCM would therefore not only be a breach of an internal Council set of rules 
but could result in the Council acting unlawfully in terms of procurement legislation, applicable 
case law, and guidance. Repeated or egregious instances of non-compliance with SCM (e.g., 
those which result in unlawful practice) may result in disciplinary action being taken. 

2. Formal Status of SCM 

2.1. SCM is referenced in the Council’s Contracts and Tenders Standing Orders (‘the Orders’), 
which are written into the Constitution and made under Section 135 of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 

2.2. The Corporate Director for Finance, as the Council’s Section 151 Officer, is the custodian of 
SCM. However, the Section 151 Officer may delegate the responsibility for keeping SCM 
under review and up to date to the Head of Commercial and Procurement within the Council. 
Where the law is changed in a way that affects SCM, those with delegated responsibility will 
issue a bulletin and the change must be observed until these documents are revised to reflect 
the changes. Where there is a difference between current legislation, applicable case law, 
and/or statutory and non-statutory guidance governing procurement, contracting and public 
expenditure (‘current law and guidance’) and SCM, the current law and guidance prevails.  

3. Key Principles 

3.1. SCM is underpinned by the following key principles: 
 
a. To ensure that there is accountability for the Council’s external spending. 
b. To ensure that those spending money for or on behalf of the Council act in the best 

interests of the Council and with high standards of integrity. 
c. To manage the Council’s exposure to financial and legal risk  
d. To ensure that the Council meets its statutory duty to deliver best value for money, while 

considering how to maximise public benefit and creating healthy competition and markets 
for the goods, services, and works purchased. 

e. In respect of health care services, the Council meets its statutory duty to act with a view to 
securing the needs of the people who use the services, improving the quality of the 
services, and improving the efficiency in the provision of the services. 

f. To be transparent to our residents about how the Council spends their money. 
g. To ensure that public money is spent legally and fairly. 
h. To support the Council to achieve its corporate aims, including the delivery of its 

sustainability and social value objectives, delivery in line with the public sector equality 
duty, encouraging the growth of local businesses and reducing or removing the barriers 

Page 88



 

5 
 

facing, Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) and Voluntary, Community, and Social 
Enterprises (VCSEs) when accessing contracting opportunities. 

i. To ensure the Council has due regard to the national policy priorities for public 
Procurement that are outlined in the National Procurement Policy Statement (NPPS). 

4. Compliance 

4.1. SCM applies to all Members and Officers and those working for, or on behalf of, the Council. 
That means: 

 
a. Individuals, permanent or temporary, and whether via a contract of employment or 

engaged through an agency, or otherwise, as a contractor or consultant. 
b. Schools and business/trading units. 
c. Third parties undertaking procurements specifically on the Council’s behalf. 

4.2. Anyone who buys goods, services, or works on behalf of the Council, including Members, 
Officers, temporary staff, contractors, and consultants, must always comply with SCM. 

4.3. Confirmed breaches of SCM must be reported to the Monitoring Officer, who will report them 
to Internal Audit and the Governance and Audit Committee as the parties responsible for 
monitoring and oversight of the Council’s compliance with SCM.  

4.4. Those found to be in breach of SCM will be subject to investigation which will lead to 
proportionate action being taken which may include disciplinary action in line with the 
Council’s relevant Code of Conduct. 

4.5. All such individuals who are buying on behalf of the Council must follow the Council’s policies, 
as amended from time to time, particularly those relevant to SCM that are listed below: 

 
a. Contracts and Tenders Standing Orders 
b. Financial Regulations 
c. Scheme of Delegation 
d. Code of Conduct (i.e., the ‘Kent Code’) 
e. Property Management Protocol 
f. Corporate Grants Procedure 
g. Anti-Bribery Policy 
h. Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy 
i. Whistle Blowing Policy and Procedure 

4.6. The legislation by which public procurement is governed in the UK must also be followed, 
including, but not limited, to the following legislation as amended from time-to-time: 

 
a. The Procurement Act 2023 and the Public Procurement Regulations 20241 
b. The Health Care Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023 (‘the PSR’) 
c. The Public Contracts Regulations (PCR) 20152 
d. The Utilities Contracts Regulations (UCR) 20163 
e. The Concession Contracts Regulations (CCR) 20164 
f. The Defence and Security Public Contracts Regulations (DSPCR) 20115 
g. The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

 
1 Applicable to procurements commencing on or after the ‘go live’ date for the Act and Regulations – 24 February 
2025. 
2 Applicable to contracts awarded under this regime until the point that they expire or are re-tendered. 
3 Applicable to contracts awarded under this regime until the point that they expire or are re-tendered.  
4 Applicable to contracts awarded under this regime until the point that they expire or are re-tendered.  
5 Applicable to contracts awarded under this regime until the point that they expire or are re-tendered.  

Page 89



 

6 
 

h. The Modern Slavery Act 2015 
i. Local Government Act 1999 (LGA 1999)  
j. Competition Act 1998 

4.7. The Council must also comply with any applicable case law and statutory guidance issued in 
connection with the above legislation, as such guidance is amended from time-to-time.  

5. Scope 

5.1. Apart from the exemptions listed below, SCM covers all Council spend with external suppliers 
regardless of how they are funded, or which systems are used to place orders with suppliers. 
This includes services sourced from other local authorities or public bodies under the relevant 
legislation. 

5.2. There are circumstances when exemptions exist under the procurement regime and/or where 
the Council’s internal rules may not apply to the requirement you are seeking to commission 
(see table below for a non-exhaustive list – other exemptions may apply under the applicable 
procurement legislation). The earliest possible engagement with Commercial and 
Procurement and Legal colleagues should be undertaken when scoping to ensure that the 
correct procedures are followed. Exemption from compliance with SCM does not negate the 
need to consider the most appropriate route forward to achieve value for money. 

5.3. In accordance with Section 50 of SCM, Officers may also seek a Waiver to deviate from SCM 
to the extent that it relates to a Waiver to internal Council made rules and would not 
contravene the Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015, CCR 2016, the PSR, or other applicable 
legislation. 

 
Exemption Relevant Policy/Law 
Contracts for the acquisition or lease of 
land and/or real estate. 

Kent County Council Property Management 
Protocol 
Section 123 of the Local Government Act. 
Schedule 2 of the Procurement Act 2023. 
Regulation 10 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 

Contracts for permanent or fixed-term 
employment (not including agency staff, 
contractors and consultants). 

HR/Recruitment Policies. 
Schedule 2 of the Procurement Act 2023. 
Regulation 10 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 

Non-trade mandatory payments to third 
parties, such as insurance claims, pension 
payments, or payments to public bodies. 

These are not subject to competition due to their 
nature and are not in consideration for the 
provision of supplies, services, or works. 

A declared emergency authorised by the 
Emergency Planning Officer. 

The Civil Contingencies Act 2004. 

Awarding of Grants where this is not an 
extension of funding for currently 
contracted services. 

Corporate Grants Procedure – where a genuine 
grant award and not a public contract for 
services. 

Loans and investments. Kent County Council Financial Regulations and 
Treasury Management Strategy.  
Schedule 2 of the Procurement Act 2023. 
Regulation 10 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 

Placement of a child with Special 
Educational Needs where already directed 
following statutory assessment. 

Children and Families Act 2014 and ESFA 
guidance 2019-20, paragraph 86. 

Page 90



 

7 
 

Direct payments to customers following 
care assessment (e.g., payments under 
Self-Directed Support or Individual 
Budgets). 

Section 12 of The Care Act 2014. 

Where an adult with care and support 
needs expresses a preference for 
particular accommodation.  

Section 30 of The Care Act 2014. 

6. The Role of Anyone Buying on Behalf of the Council 

6.1. Anyone who buys on behalf of the Council is responsible for: 
 

a. Complying with SCM and all policies, legislation and regulations listed in Sections 4.5 and 
4.6. 

b. Ensuring that adequate consideration has been taken to determine if procurement is the 
correct approach to delivering the required provisions. 

c. Acting with integrity at all stages of procurement and in contract management and having 
due regard to any actual or perceived conflicts of interest that may arise, putting in place 
mitigating actions, and keeping documented conflicts assessments under review.. 

d.  Having regard to the particular barriers facing SMEs and VCSEs wishing to access 
contract opportunities and proactively considering how to reduce or remove them. 

e. Being aware of, avoiding and discouraging the influence of anti-competitive practices such 
as cartel behaviour, bid rigging, and conduct practised in collusion or in concertation, also 
being mindful of potential breaches of the Competition Act 1998 more generally. 

f. Throughout all procurement and contracting activity, working to achieve the delivery of 
value for money, whilst considering how to maximise wider public benefit, 

g. Purchasing from existing contracts and internal and external Framework Agreements in 
the first instance wherever they are appropriate for the requirement in question and can be 
used in a legally compliant way. 

h. Ensuring there is adequate budget available for any purchase. 
i. Raising a properly completed purchase order and ensuring it is approved before the 

requirements are delivered to the Council, regardless of which finance system is used. 
j. Ensuring specifications are drafted to meet the identified needs and requirements and that 

proper consideration is given to value for money and corporate requirements around 
sustainability, social value, equality and diversity, and data and privacy. 

k. Engaging with the Commercial and Procurement Division as early as possible to obtain 
advice, guidance, and support and where they are required to in accordance with Section 
10 of SCM. This point of engagement should be as soon as it is determined that 
procurement is the correct approach and always ahead of preliminary market engagement. 

l. Ensuring the total aggregate contract value is calculated in accordance with Section 11 of 
SCM. 

m. Undertaking contract tiering to assess the level of risk associated with the contracts to be 
managed and to determine appropriate resourcing and support required. This exercise is 
to be undertaken as soon as possible after it is decided that procurement is the appropriate 
route to meet the requirement, prior to contract award, and during contract management). 

n. Following the guidance set out by the Commercial and Procurement Division around 
buying on behalf of the Council and the management of contracts in accordance with their 
value, risk, and complexity. 

o. Engaging with the Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest opportunity where 
a Challenge or Representation is made against a procurement or contracting decision 
taken, ensuring responses are reviewed by an appropriately qualified, independent Officer, 
and acting fairly, impartially, and provided within prescribed timescales. 

p. Ensuring that, where required, a commercial case, as a part of an overall business case, 
is developed that is efficient and suitable for the purchase and market concerned, 

Page 91



 

8 
 

considering any other relevant sourcing options with assistance from the Commercial and 
Procurement Division and, as relevant, the Finance Team and Legal Team. 

q. Planning an appropriate, proportionate timetable for any procurement or sourcing exercise 
subject always to any regulatory requirements on timescales. 

r. Ensuring that suppliers are treated the same with no supplier put at an unfair advantage 
or disadvantage in the Council’s procurement or contracting activity. 

s. Ensuring that any TUPE and pensions related issues are properly considered prior to 
inviting tenders or quotations with legal advice sought where appropriate. 

t. Ensuring that there is appropriate insurance cover in place for any awarded contract in 
accordance with Council guidance. 

u. Ensuring that any procurement requirements and contract terms take account of any head-
contract or funder requirements where the goods or services are part or wholly funded by 
Central Government or the relevant third-party funder. 

v. Ensuring that accurate contract information is maintained, and that for all contracts each 
with a total aggregate contract value of £30,000 or more (including VAT), and longer than 
three months in duration, the Commercial and Procurement Division are provided with 
accurate contract information in order to create a record on the Council’s contract 
management system.  

w. Ensuring that all contract records on the Council’s contract management system remain 
up to date with changes made throughout the lifetime of the contract. 

x. Determining and following the required governance route and obtaining all necessary 
approvals for the procurement and, where required, decisions in contract management. 

y. Ensuring that appropriate legal guidance and support is sought in accordance with Section 
10 of SCM and where required for Contract Modifications, extensions and Novations. 

z. Ensuring that appropriate legal guidance and support is sought prior to taking any action 
related to supplier performance or any finding that the supplier is or has become an 
“excluded” or “excludable” supplier for the purposes of the Procurement Act 2023 

aa. Ensuring that HR is consulted, and the appropriate approval obtained for requirements of 
temporary staff, contractors, or consultants outside the agreed corporate contract with 
Connect2Kent (a trading subsidiary of Commercial Services Trading Ltd.). 

bb. Ensuring that ICT is consulted on any procurement involving ICT. 
cc. Having proper regard for all necessary legal, financial, and professional advice received. 
dd. Facilitating and ensuring the publication of Notices, which may include contract 

documentation and performance information (appropriately redacted), in accordance with 
the requirements of the relevant legislation and as stipulated in Section 10 and Part C of 
SCM.  

ee. Maintaining a full record and audit trail of all procurement and contract management 
activity, including decisions made and evidence that all relevant issues and criteria have 
been considered and that reasons for any decisions are justified. This documentation must 
be accessible and available to the Commercial and Procurement Division on request. 

ff.  
gg. Ensuring fraud, bribery and corruption risks have been appropriately considered, seeking 

specialist advice from Internal Audit and Counter Fraud, as and when required. 
hh. Reporting any non-compliance with SCM or relevant legislation to the Monitoring Officer. 

6.2. Contracts are to be managed day-to-day by a named Officer within Services, who will be 
either a dedicated Contract Manager or an Officer who has those responsibilities as part of a 
broader role (the only exception to this requirement for a named Contract Manager being for 
those contracts valued below £30,000 inc. VAT). The Commercial and Procurement Division 
will provide the commercial lead to support the Contract Manager on all high-risk contracts 
identified through the Council’s contract tiering model. 

7. Responsibilities and Accountabilities of the Wider Council 

Page 92



 

9 
 

7.1. Members of the Council are responsible and accountable for providing strategic direction on 
procurement activity and arrangements, in line with the Member role in decision-making set 
out in the Constitution. 

7.2. Executive Members of the Council are responsible and accountable for: 
 

a. Approving relevant financial expenditure to be incurred through contracting where the 
Constitution would require a Key Decision or Significant Decision of the Executive  

b. Taking relevant decisions around financial expenditure made through contracting in line 
with the Scheme of Delegation 

7.3. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 
 

a. Ensuring, in liaison with the Monitoring Officer, that the appropriate requirements are in 
place in this document and other relevant policies to govern financial expenditure made 
through contracting with external parties. 

b. Ensuring the correct financial processes and systems are in place to manage financial 
expenditure made through contracting with external parties. 

c. Delegating appropriate responsibility for managing financial expenditure made through 
procurement to the Head of Commercial and Procurement and the Commercial and 
Procurement Division. 

d. Reporting any non-compliance with SCM or relevant legislation to the Monitoring Officer. 

7.4. The Monitoring Officer is responsible for: 
 

a. Determining and maintaining, in liaison with the Section 151 Officer, the appropriate 
systems for monitoring and reporting on non-compliance with SCM. 

b. To determine if reported breaches constitute non-compliance and report non-compliance 
with SCM to Internal Audit and Governance and Audit Committee. 

c. Enabling the provision of appropriate legal advice to the Council and the management of 
legal risk.  

7.5. Internal Audit and Counter Fraud are responsible for: 
 

a. Providing independent assurance that the procurement rules have been followed through 
risk-based auditing. 

b. Providing support and advice on conducting fraud risk/impact assessments where 
required. 

c. Recording and reporting on financial irregularities within contracting activity undertaken. 

7.6. Corporate Directors, Directors, and/or Heads of Service (as applicable under the Council’s 
Scheme of Delegation) are specifically responsible for: 

 
a. Providing strategic direction for all procurement undertaken in their area of responsibility. 
b. Ensuring that adequate consideration has been taken to determine if procurement is the 

correct approach to delivering the required provisions. 
c. Ensuring all procurement and decision-making adheres to the Scheme of Delegation. 
d. Obtaining the necessary internal governance, whether by way of a Leader and/or Cabinet 

Member decision, as required by the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, bearing in mind the 
total aggregate contract value, before undertaking any procurement and contracting. 

e. Engaging with the Commercial and Procurement Division, ensuring they are notified in 
advance of all proposed contracts each with a total estimated aggregate value above the 
Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services regardless of whether the contract 
is for goods, services, or works. As a minimum, this point of engagement should be as 
soon as it is determined that procurement is the correct approach and always ahead of 

Page 93



 

10 
 

preliminary market engagement. This will support development of the Procurement 
Pipeline and enable the commissioning of appropriate legal advice to ensure to ensure 
compliance with SCM. 

f. Officers must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest 
opportunity, regardless of contract value prior to any classification of the supplier as 
“excluded” or “excludable” both for the purposes of any procurement or the application of 
any contractual remedies related to such a classification (including rights to terminate).   

g. For any contracts subject to the Provider Selection Regime, Officers must engage with the 
Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest opportunity, regardless of contract 
value, prior to any procurement, contract award, or Contract Modification, to determine the 
appropriate involvement. This is to minimise the legal risk to the Council. 

h. Ensuring their Officers undertake contract tiering to assess the level of risk associated with 
contracts to be managed, working closely with the Commercial and Procurement Division.  

i. Nominating appropriately skilled and qualified Officers to undertake procurement and 
contract management activity, where this takes place within their area of responsibility. 

j. Ensuring their staff act with integrity at all stages of procurement and in contract 
management, having due regard to any actual or perceived conflicts of interest that may 
arise, putting in place mitigating actions, and keeping documented conflicts assessments 
under review. 

k. Ensuring all sourcing decisions ultimately represent value for money and are within the 
budgetary limits that have been approved, alongside an appropriate consideration of how 
to maximise wider public benefit in all contracting activity. 

l. Ensuring their Officers engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division before 
procuring any contract with a total aggregate contract value above the applicable Public 
Procurement Threshold , in order for them to provide advice on the most appropriate 
sourcing route and, where relevant, in accordance with Section 10, lead on the 
procurement. 

m. Ensuring their Officers follow the guidance set out by the Commercial and Procurement 
Division when procuring any contract with a total aggregate value below the applicable 
Public Procurement Thresholds. Services should always engage the Division where there 
are concerns about their ability to undertake the project or the risk and complexity. 

n. For any contracts subject to the Provider Selection Regime, Officers must engage with the 
Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest opportunity and prior to undertaking 
any procurement, contract award or Modification to contracts subject to that regime. That 
is regardless of the value of such contracts and is aimed to minimise the legal risk to the 
Council. 

o. Ensuring there is due regard to the particular barriers facing SMEs, and VCSEs wishing to 
access contract opportunities and consideration given as to how to remove or reduce them. 

p. Ensuring in all procurement and contracting activity undertaken in their Services, suppliers 
are treated the same and no supplier is put at an unfair advantage or disadvantage. 

q. Ensuring their Officers seek guidance from the Commercial and Procurement Division at 
the earliest opportunity where a Challenge or Representation is made against a 
procurement or contracting decision taken by the Council, ensuring responses are fair, 
impartial, and provided within prescribed timescales. 

r. Ensuring their Officers seek appropriate legal advice in accordance with Section 10 of SCM 
where required for contract Modifications, extensions and Novations to determine the level 
of legal advice required to mitigate legal risk. 

s. Providing for appropriate and effective management of all contracts under their area of 
responsibility and managing relationships with Key Suppliers identified. 

t. Officers must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division prior to any 
publication of any Notices in relation to poor performance (including assessments against 
any KPIs if applicable) or the application of any contractual remedies (including rights of 
termination) related to publication by any other contracting authority of any Notice related 
to the supplier’s performance. 

Page 94



 

11 
 

u. Ensuring sufficient funds are available for relevant procurement and contracting activity 
and allocating appropriate funds within their budget.  

v. Ensuring their Officers provide the Commercial and Procurement Division with the 
information they need in a full and timely manner to publish the Notices required in 
accordance with the relevant legislation and as stipulated in Section 10 and Part C of SCM.  

w. Ensuring arrangements are in place for maintaining full records and audit trails of all 
procurement and contract management activity for their Services, including decisions 
made, evidencing that all relevant issues and criteria have been considered and that 
reasons for any decisions are justified. This documentation must be accessible and 
available to the Commercial and Procurement Division on request. 

x. Ensuring the fraud, bribery and corruption risks have been appropriately considered, 
seeking specialist advice from Internal Audit and Counter Fraud. 

y. Reporting any non-compliance with SCM or relevant legislation to the Monitoring Officer.  

7.7. The Commercial and Procurement Division is responsible for: 
 

a. Working closely with Officers, Senior Officers (Heads of Service and above), and Finance 
to agree, develop and deliver a Procurement Pipeline that will be authorised by the CMT. 

b. Providing expert category and market knowledge to help Services within the Council find 
the right suppliers in the right way and at the right time, irrespective of the contract value. 

c. Providing advice and guidance, and support to procure where it is deemed necessary, to 
Services where the total estimated aggregate value of the contract resulting from sourcing 
activity will be from £30,000 (including VAT) up to the Public Procurement Threshold for 
goods and services and up to £1m for works. 

d. Leading on all procurements where the estimated total aggregate contract value of the 
contract resulting from the procurement exercise will exceed the Public Procurement 
Threshold for goods and services and over £1m for works. 

e. For any contracts that are subject to the Provider Selection Regime, the Division will lead 
on all procurements (unless it determines otherwise based on a consideration of the risk 
and complexity of the procurement and the commercial skills required). 

f. Ensuring that there is early engagement with the Council’s Legal Team on any planned 
procurement activity in the Procurement Pipeline so that appropriate legal support can be 
provided or commissioned to support the procurement activity.  

g. Ensuring efficient and effective purchasing and procurement practices are in place. 
h. Acting with integrity at all stages of procurement and in contract management and having 

due regard to any actual or perceived conflicts of interest that may arise, putting in place 
mitigating actions, and keeping documented conflicts assessments under review.. 

i. Maintaining guidance in relation to buying on behalf of the Council and the management 
of contracts, according to the value, risk, and complexity of the contract. 

j. Taking a commercial lead on all high-risk contracts (identified through contract tiering), 
working alongside named Contract Managers within Services and, as and when required, 
legal advisors. 

k. Taking a commercial lead on Contract Modifications, contract extensions, and Novations 
where it is deemed necessary, ensuring that legal advice is taken promptly.  

l. Taking a commercial lead in developing strategic relationships with Key Suppliers 
(identified through supplier segmentation), working alongside Senior Officers (Heads of 
Service and above) within Services. 

m. Advising Services and helping to ensure there is an appropriate consideration of the 
particular barriers facing SMEs, and VCSEs wishing to access contracting opportunities 
with proper regard given as to how to reduce or remove them. 

n. Advising Services and helping to ensure appropriate consideration of how wider public 
benefit, including in line with sustainability and social value objectives can be delivered 
across the Council’s supply chain. 

o. Taking a commercial lead, engaging the Legal Team as necessary, to respond fairly and, 
impartially, and within any legally prescribed timescales to Challenges and 

Page 95



 

12 
 

Representations made against a procurement and contracting decision taken by the 
Council. Any such Challenges and Representations will  be reviewed by an appropriately 
qualified, independent Officer. 

p. Ensuring the publication of Notices, which  may include contract documentation and 
performance information (appropriately redacted), in accordance with the requirements of 
the current law and guidance and as stipulated in Section 10 and Part C of SCM. 

q. Engaging the Legal Team as necessary in relation to any proposed publication in relation 
to poor performance or the classification of a supplier as “excluded” or “excludable” under 
the Procurement Act 2023, or any action proposed to be taken as a result of any publication 
or classification by other contracting authorities.  

r. Ensuring there is a full record and audit trail maintained for all procurement and contracting 
activity led on by the Division. Ensuring that all contracts with a total aggregate contract 
value at or above £30,000 (including VAT) have a record created on the Council’s contract 
management system. 

s. Reporting any non-compliance with SCM or relevant legislation to the Monitoring Officer 
and, where required by the relevant legislation, publishing details of the Council’s 
compliance and a summary of the procurement and contracting activity undertaken. 

8. Procurement Pipeline 

8.1. To enable the Council to maintain an accurate oversight of procurement activity across the 
full range of Council services and is able to meet its statutory obligation to publish upcoming 
contracting opportunities, the Head of Commercial and procurement is responsible for the 
development of the Procurement Pipeline in liaison with Corporate Directors. 

8.2. This is to identify the following: 
 

a. For each Directorate, all contracts each with an aggregate value above the Public 
Procurement Threshold for goods and services, regardless of whether the contract is for 
goods, services, or works, which are due to be procured, extended, renewed, or replaced. 

b. The applicable public procurement legislation (e.g., Procurement Act 2023,  the PSR, or 
other applicable legislation) 

c. The aggregate contract value across the life of each contract. 
d. The tier (risk level) of the contract. 
e. The contract subject matter. 
f. The procurement activity required. 
g. The estimated date when any Tender Notice will be published. 
h. The estimated date when further Notices are expected to be published for the contract, 

namely the Contract Award Notice (pre-award) and Contract Details Notice (post-award). 
i. The expected start date for the commencement of the contract or extension. 
j. Whether there is an option to extend the existing contract or not. 
k. The expected start date of any new contract or extension. 
l. Likely legal advice that will be required, in consultation with the Council’s Legal Team. 
m. Whether the cost will be met from capital, revenue, or a combination. 

8.3. The Procurement Pipeline must be developed and agreed as a part of the business planning 
cycle, as a minimum covering the period of the next 18 months, before it is then submitted to 
the CMT for approval. 

8.4. Under the Procurement Act 2023, the Council must publish an appropriately adapted version 
of the Procurement Pipeline, satisfying the requirements of Section 93 of the Procurement 
Act 2023. 

8.5. Where the aggregate contract value is projected to be exceeded by 5% or more than the value 
stated within the Procurement Pipeline that has been approved by the CMT, the S151 Officer 

Page 96



 

13 
 

and Finance Business Partners must be consulted with and, where required, approve that 
change in contract value in line with the summary tables below and the contract award must 
be put on hold pending that approval. 

8.6. If the need arises during the year for procurement activity on contracts at or above the Public 
Procurement Threshold for goods and services which have not been pre-approved through 
the developed Procurement Pipeline, then approval to procure must be sought by the Director 
of the Service concerned, before any procurement activity may begin, in line with the below: 

 
£1m and above 
(including VAT) 

Director of the relevant Service, the Head of Commercial and 
Procurement, S151 Officer, and the CMT. 

£100,000 - £1m 
(including VAT) 

Director of the relevant Service in consultation with the Head of 
Commercial and Procurement and S151 Officer. 

 

9. Approvals for Contracting Activity  

9.1. Officers must ensure they seek approval for all procurement and contracting activity and 
decisions in line with the Constitution, the Scheme of Delegation and the requirements 
outlined in Section 10 of SCM. 

Page 97



 

14 
 

Part B: Requirements for Sourcing Goods, Services and Works  

10. Summary of Procedures for Procuring, Contract Authorisation and Management, and Contract Modifications by Aggregate Contract Value 

Table A – Procurement Procedures – Contracts Subject to the Procurement Act 2023 (PA23) 
 

Aggregate Contract Value 
(inclusive of VAT) 

Procurement Method Who is authorised to carry out the 
procurement? 

Must the contract be formally 
advertised? 

Legal Advice Required 

Up to £29,999.99 
 

One written quote 
 

Any Officer 
 

No 
 

No requirement provided there is use of the Council’s standard template contracts, held by 
the Commercial and Procurement Division, and on their advice that the terms selected are 
appropriate. 
 

£30,000 – up to the Public 
Procurement Threshold for 

Goods and Services (£214,904) 
OR up to £1m for Works 

 
 

Three written quotes 
 

(Unless using another compliant route under the 
PA23, such as a tendering procedure, a 
Framework, Dynamic Market, or DPS) 

 
 

Any Officer 
 

(Unless the Commercial and Procurement 
Division, Legal Team, and/or Officers in 

Services have concerns about the Service’s 
ability to undertake the project or the risk and 

complexity) 

 
 

Only required where Officers undertake a 
tendering procedure under the PA23, with 

advertisement required to the Central 
Digital Platform and the Council’s tendering 

portal 

 

No requirement provided there is use of the Council’s standard template contracts, held by 
the Commercial and Procurement Division, and on their advice that the terms selected are 
appropriate. 
                                                                                                                                        
Where a Framework Agreement and call off terms have already had a legal review, there 
will be no requirement for there to be a further legal review on future call offs provided that 
there are no changes proposed to be made to the call off terms. 
 
If changes are proposed early engagement with Legal should be undertaken. 
 

Above the Public Procurement 
Threshold for Goods and 

Services (£214,904) 
OR above £1m for Works  

 
 
 
 

A fully PA23 compliant tendering procedure 
 

(Unless using another compliant route available 
under the PA23 such as a Framework, Dynamic 

Market, or DPS) 

 
 
 
 

The Commercial and Procurement Division  

 
 
 
 

Yes, advertisement is required to the 
Central Digital Platform and the Council’s 

tendering portal 

 

Commercial and Procurement Division will contact the Council’s Legal Team at the outset 
of the procurement to arrange for external legal support. The legal advice required will be 
scoped with Services input and will be determined based on the risk and complexity of the 
requirement. 
 
Where a Framework Agreement and call off terms have already had a legal review, there 
will be no requirement for there to be a further legal review on future call offs provided that 
there are no changes proposed to be made to the call off terms. 
 
If changes are proposed, early engagement with Legal should be undertaken 
 

Table B – Procurement Procedures – Contracts Subject to the Provider Selection Regime (PSR) 
 

Aggregate Contract Value 
(inclusive of VAT) 

Procurement Method Who is authorised to carry out the 
procurement? 

Must the contract be formally 
advertised? 

Legal Advice Required 

Up to £29,999.99 

 

No requirement provided there is use of the Council’s standard template contracts, held by 
the Commercial and Procurement Division, and on their advice that the terms selected are 
appropriate. 
 

£30,000 – up to the Public 
Procurement Threshold for 

Goods and Services (£214,904) 
OR up to £1m for Works 

 

No requirement provided there is use of the Council’s standard template contracts, held by 
the Commercial and Procurement Division, and on their advice that the terms selected are 
appropriate. 
                                                                                                                                        
Where a Framework Agreement and call off terms have already had a legal review, there 
will be no requirement for there to be a further legal review on future call offs provided that 
there are no changes proposed to be made to the call off terms. 
 
If changes are proposed early engagement with Legal should be undertaken. 

 

Above the Public Procurement 
Threshold for Goods and 

Services (£214,904) 
OR above £1m for Works  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A provider selection process permitted under the 
PSR (e.g., Direct Award A, Direct Award B, Direct 
Award C, the Most Suitable Provider Process, or 

the Competitive Process) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Commercial and Procurement Division 
 

(Unless the Commercial and Procurement 
Division and Legal Team determine otherwise 

based on the commercial acumen required 
and the project’s risk and complexity) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Specific advertising and Notice 

requirements apply depending on the 
provider selection process followed under 

those regulations 
 

Commercial and Procurement Division will contact the Council’s Legal Team at the outset 
of the procurement to arrange for external legal support. The legal advice required will be 
scoped with Services input and will be determined based on the risk and complexity of the 
requirement. 
 
Where a Framework Agreement and call off terms have already had a legal review, there 
will be no requirement for there to be a further legal review on future call offs provided that 
there are no changes proposed to be made to the call off terms. 
 
If changes are proposed, early engagement with Legal should be undertaken 

 

 

P
age 98



 

15 
 

Table C – Contract Authorisation and Management 
 

Aggregate Contract Value 
(inclusive of VAT) 

Who must approve the contract award? Must the intention to award and the award 
itself be published? 

Who can sign the contract on  
the Council’s behalf? 

Contract authorisation 
(for the creation of orders) 

Where should the 
contract details be 

maintained? 

Must there be a named 
contract manager? 

Up to £29,999.99 
 

No 
 

Locally within the Service 
 

No 
 

£30,000 – up to the Public 
Procurement Threshold for Goods 
and Services (£214,904) OR up to 

£1m for Works 

 
Only required where Officers undertook a 
tendering procedure under the PA23. The 

intention to award the contract and the award 
itself (made after standstill) must be published 

to the Central Digital Platform. 
 

Specific requirements apply to PSR contracts 
depending on the procedure followed. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

On the Council’s Contract 
Management System 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Yes, 
within the Service 

Above the Public Procurement 
Threshold for Goods and Services 

(£214,904) 
OR above £1m for Works  

 
 
 
 
 

Up to £50k, the budget manager 
 

Up to £250k, the Service Head 
 

Up to £500k, the Service Director 
 

Up to £1m, the CMT Director 
 

Above £1m, approval must be sought from 
The Leader, Cabinet or Cabinet Member 

 
The Leader, Cabinet, and Cabinet Member 
have no limit on the value of contracts they 

can award 
 

Where the contract value is projected to 
exceed the value in the approved 

Procurement Pipeline by 5% or more, the 
Section 151 Officer and Finance Business 
Partners must be consulted prior to award 
 

 
 

Yes, the intention to award the contract and 
the award itself (made after standstill) must be 

published to the Central Digital Platform. 
 

Contracts with a total value of £5m (including 
VAT) or more also require a redacted copy of 

the contract and 3 KPIs to be published. 
 

Specific requirements apply to PSR contracts 
depending on the procedure followed. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Up to £500k, the Service Director OR 
Senior Commercial and Procurement 

Officer (to £250k) and Commercial and 
Procurement Manager / Sourcing 

Support Team Manager (to £500k) 
 

Up to £1m, the CMT Director OR the 
Strategic Commercial and Procurement 

Lead 
 

Above £1m, the CMT Director OR Head 
of Commercial and Procurement with 

Cabinet or Cabinet Member approval to 
award and express authorisation of the 

Monitoring Officer to sign or seal 
 

 
 
 
 

Up to £50k, buyer can approve 
 

Up to £100k, Commercial and 
Procurement Officer / Senior Buyer can 

approve 
 

Up to £250k, Senior Commercial and 
Procurement Officer 

 
Up to £500k, Commercial and 

Procurement Manager OR Sourcing 
Support Team Manager 

 
Up to £1m, Strategic Commercial and 

Procurement Lead 
 

Above £1m, Head of Commercial and 
Procurement when correct political or 

previously delegated authority is in 
place 

 
 
 
 
 
 

On the Council’s Contract 
Management System  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes, 
within the Service 

Table D – Contract Modifications 
 

Aggregate Contract Value 
(inclusive of VAT) 

Who must approve the contract 
modification? 

Must the contract modification and any 
other details be published? 

Who can sign the modification on  
the Council’s behalf? 

Required engagement beyond the 
relevant Service and Cabinet Members 

Where should the 
contract modification 

be saved? 

Up to £29,999.99 
 

No 
 

No further engagement required, except where it is believed 
that the modification may trigger procurement or legal risks. 

 

 
Locally within the Service 

 

£30,000 – up to the Public 
Procurement Threshold for Goods 
and Services (£214,904) OR up to 

£1m for Works 

 

Only required where Officers tendered the 
original contract under the PA23 and the 

modification increases or decreases the value 
of the contract by 10% or less (goods and 

services) or 15% or less (works). 
 

Specific requirements apply to PSR contracts 
depending on the procedure followed. 

 

 

No further engagement required, except where it is believed 
that the modification may trigger procurement or legal risks. 

 
At this threshold, Officers should be particularly mindful of the risk 
for contract modifications to take the total aggregate value of the 

contract above the UK pubic procurement thresholds at which point 
additional regulatory requirements apply. 

 

 
 
 

On the Council’s Contract 
Management System 

Above the Public Procurement 
Threshold for Goods and Services 

(£214,904) 
OR above £1m for Works  

 
 
 
 
 

Up to £50k, the budget manager 
 

Up to £250k, the Service Head 
 

Up to £500k, the Service Director 
 

Up to £1m, the CMT Director 
 

Above £1m, approval must be sought from 
The Leader, Cabinet or Cabinet Member 

 
The Leader, Cabinet, and Cabinet Member 
have no limit on the value of the contracts 

they can approve modifications for. 
 

 

Only required where Officers tendered the 
original contract under the PA23 and the 

modification increases or decreases the value 
of the contract by 10% or less (goods and 

services) or 15% or less (works). 
 

Contracts with a total value of £5m (including 
VAT) or more also require a redacted copy of 

the modified contract to be published. 
 

Specific requirements apply to PSR contracts 
depending on the procedure followed. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
The Service Director and CMT Director 

have no limit on the value of the 
contracts they can sign modifications 

for 
(with Cabinet or Cabinet Member 

Decision to award the modification and 
expression authorisation of the 

Monitoring Officer to sign and seal). 
 

The Commercial and Procurement 
Manager / Sourcing Support Team 

Manager can sign modifications up to 
£500k where delegated in writing by the 

relevant Service Director. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division. 

 
 
 
 
 

On the Council’s Contract 
Management System  

 

 

P
age 99



 

16 
 

10.1. Officers should note that the above summary tables are not exhaustive of the requirements that must be followed the different value thresholds. There will also be some limited exceptions to the above requirements, which 
are permitted under the relevant procurement regulations for certain types of contract (e.g., those awarded under Frameworks, Dynamic Markets, or DPS’, light touch regime contracts, concessions contracts, and more). 
Officers should refer to Part C of SCM and guidance issued by the Commercial and Procurement Division and available on KNet for a more comprehensive understanding of the requirements and expectations on Officers. 

10.2. As outlined in Section 24 of SCM, it is critical that Officers engage at the earliest opportunity with the Commercial and Procurement Division on all contracts planned with an estimated total aggregate value above the Public 
Procurement Thresholds for goods and services, regardless of whether the contract is for goods, services, or works. For those contracts subject to the PSR, Officers should engage with the Division prior to any procurement, 
contract award, or Contract Modification. Regardless of the value of the contract and the regulations that apply, Officers should engage with the Division where their ability to undertake the project or are concerned about the 
risk and complexity of the procurement. This early engagement will help to ensure that the appropriate level of support is provided and the necessary steps are taken by Officers procuring.

P
age 100



 

17 
 

11. Calculating the Aggregate Contract Value 

11.1. Aggregate contract value must be calculated in accordance with the applicable 
legislation but, broadly speaking, this means the estimated total aggregate value 
payable in pounds Sterling inclusive of Value Added Tax (VAT) over the entire 
contract period, including any options, renewals, and extensions of the contract.  

11.2. Officers must make an effort to calculate an accurately estimated contract value over 
the contract period to ensure that the appropriate procurement route is taken that 
adheres to SCM and legislation.  

11.3. Contracts must not be artificially underestimated or disaggregated into two or more 
separate contracts with the intention of avoiding the application of SCM or legislation.  

11.4. In the case of Framework Agreements or Dynamic Markets, Officers must engage the 
Commercial and Procurement Division in accordance with Section 15 of SCM. The 
contract value must be calculated to include the total maximum estimated value, 
inclusive of VAT, of all the contracts envisaged to be awarded for the total term of the 
Framework Agreement or the Dynamic Market. In the case of a Framework awarded 
under an Open Framework, the value of the Framework is to be treated as including 
the value of all Frameworks awarded, or to be awarded. 

12. Determining the Applicable Procurement Regulations 

12.1. Where Officers are procuring or contracting on behalf of the Council, they must 
adhere to the relevant public procurement regulations (as set out in Section 4.6). 

12.2. The Procurement Act 2023, and the associated regulations, as set out in Section 
4.6, apply to the procurement, award, entry into, and management of contracts for 
procurement goods, services, and works where the procurement commenced on or 
after the 24 February 2025. While the Procurement Act 2023 is applicable to 
contracts with a total aggregate contract value above the Public Procurement 
Thresholds, there are also several provisions applicable to contracts below those 
Thresholds. 

12.3. The PCR 2015, and its associated regulations, will continue to apply to contracts, 
including Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems (DPS’), that 
were awarded under that regime until the point they expire or are re-tendered. 
Officers must note that, under the Procurement Regulations 2024, all existing DPS 
will terminate on or before 23 February 2029. 

12.4. Regardless of contract value, when procuring ‘health care services’ whether alone or 
as part of a ‘mixed procurement’ as defined in Regulation 3 and Schedule 1 of the 
PSR, Officers must follow the requirements of the PSR. 

12.5. A ‘mixed procurement’ means the procurement of health care services and other 
goods or services that are procured together with those health care services. For the 
PSR to apply, the main subject matter of the procurement (more than 50% of the 
estimated lifetime value of the contract) must be for health care services rather than 
other goods or services and the Council must be of the view that the other services 
or goods could not reasonably be supplied under a separate contract without having 
or being likely to have a material adverse impact on the Council’s ability to act in 
accordance with the procurement principles set out in Regulation 4 of the PSR. 

Page 101



 

18 
 

12.6. As well as the requirements of SCM, Officers should follow guidance set out by the 
Commercial and Procurement Division around procuring and contracting under the 
different regulations. As stated in Section 24 of SCM, the Commercial and 
Procurement Division should be engaged early where Officers are concerned about 
the risk and complexity, or their ability to undertake, a project. 

12.7. Where PSR applies, the Commercial and Procurement Division should be engaged 
before any procurement, contract award, or Contract Modification to determine the 
right level of involvement. 

13. Procurement Business Cases 

13.1. Any procurement with a total contract value below the Public Procurement Threshold 
for goods, services or works should have a completed business case using the 
Council’s Low Value Procurement Business Case template.  

13.2. Any procurement with a total contract value above the Public Procurement Thresholds 
for goods, services or works must have completed a Commercial Case as part of a 
wider business case using the Council’s High Value Procurement Business Case 
template. 

13.3. While Services are the owners and primary authors of any completed business case, 
the Commercial and Procurement Division will develop the Commercial Case through 
close working with Services, where the Division is leading the procurement. 

14. Using Existing Contractual Arrangements 

14.1. Prior to proceeding with any new procurement and contracting process, Officers must 
first, subject to any specific regulatory requirements (e.g., compliance with the 
requirements of PSR and any other sector specific regulatory requirements), 
determine whether the identified need can be met through contracting with the 
Council’s Local Authority Trading Companies, utilising existing Council contracts, or 
by calling off of a Framework Agreement or Dynamic Market (or, prior to 23 February 
2029, an existing DPS)that has been established by or has been recommended by 
the Commercial and Procurement Division and Legal Team as a legally compliant 
route to market.  

14.2. Only where it is determined that the identified need cannot be met through such 
arrangements as outlined in 14.1, or it has been determined in consultation with the 
Commercial and Procurement Division that such arrangements will not deliver best 
value, can Officers proceed with a new procurement and contracting process. 

14.3. Officers must note that all DPS established under the PCR 2015 will expire on or 
before 23 February 2029, and from 24 February 2029, it will not be possible to award 
contracts under a DPS.   

15. Framework Agreements and Dynamic Markets 

15.1. All requirements to set up new Frameworks, including ‘Open Frameworks’, or 
Dynamic Markets that will be managed by the Council must be referred to the 
Commercial and Procurement Division, who will make the appropriate arrangements 
and, as necessary, will consult with the Council’s Legal Team. From 24 February 
2025, no new DPS may be established but existing DPS may be used prior to 24 
February 2029. 

Page 102



 

19 
 

15.2. Any Framework or Dynamic Market that is developed by the Council must include 
contract terms that allow the arrangements to be reviewed at trigger points to ensure 
that they continue to reflect value for money throughout their life. 

15.3. An ‘Open Framework’ is a scheme of Frameworks that provides for the award of 
successive Frameworks on substantially the same terms. However, an Open 
Framework must provide for the award of a Framework at least once during the period 
of three years beginning with the day of the award of the first Framework, and each 
period of five years beginning with the day of the award of the second Framework. 

15.4. When establishing Frameworks, the Notices that must be published to the Central 
Digital Platform are a Tender Notice, with the detail of the procedure being used to 
procure the Framework, a Contract Award Notice, prior to the award being made, and 
a Contract Details Notice, once the award of the Framework has been made. 

15.5. When re-opening and awarding Frameworks in the scheme of an Open Framework, 
a new Tender Notice must be published to the Central Digital Platform alongside a 
Contact Award Notice, prior to the award being made, and a Contract Details Notice, 
once the award is made. 

15.6. There are specific Notices that must be published to the Central Digital Platform for 
Dynamic Markets. These separate Notices cover the advertisement, establishing, 
modification, and the termination of a Dynamic Market under the applicable legislation. 

15.7. Where the Council accesses an existing Framework Agreement, Dynamic Market, or 
(prior to 24 February 2028) a DPS (the latter having been procured under the PCR 
2015), the Framework Agreement, Dynamic Market, and DPS terms and conditions 
of contract must be used, amended as appropriate, as permitted by the Framework 
Agreement, Dynamic Market, or DPS and the applicable procurement legislation. 

15.8. Before accessing existing Frameworks, Dynamic Market, or DPS’ established by third 
parties, due diligence checks must be carried out, including by engaging the 
Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also consult with the Council’s Legal 
Team.  This is to ensure that the Council can lawfully access and use the identified 
Framework Agreement, Dynamic Market, or DPS and that the call-off contract terms 
are fit for purpose and provide value for money. 

15.9. Call-offs from a Framework will be via a direct award process or a further competition 
(depending on the call-off procedure(s) included in the Framework) and call-offs from 
a Dynamic Market or DPS will be via a further competition). 

15.10. For Frameworks regulated by the Procurement Act 2023 or the PCR 2015, a direct 
award may be made from a Framework that permits direct awards where it: 

 
a. Sets out all the terms governing the provision of the goods, services, or works and 

they do not require amendment or supplementary terms and conditions. 
b. The objective conditions for making a direct award to a particular supplier on the 

Framework are clear and unambiguous in the contract arrangements. 
c. Value for money can be demonstrated through the direct award (e.g., the supplier 

provides the most advantageous solution for the need). 
d. An assessment has been made to ensure it meets the needs in terms of innovative 

solutions and represents value for money, taking into account procurement costs. 

Page 103



 

20 
 

15.11. For health care services Frameworks regulated by the PSR, Officers should consult 
Regulations 16-18 of the PSR and the relevant PSR statutory guidance to determine 
the flexibilities permitted when making direct awards. 

15.12. A call to further competition can be made under the terms of a Framework (where 
expressly provided for in the Framework), Dynamic Market, or a DPS. All suppliers on 
the Framework, Dynamic Market, or DPS capable of performing the contract must be 
invited to tender against the requirement in accordance with the Framework, Dynamic 
Market, or DPS mechanisms provided and the applicable procurement regulations. In 
the case of pursuing competition under a Dynamic Market or DPS, a Tender Notice 
must be published with the correct details. 

15.13. Except for health care services contracts regulated by the PSR, each contract award 
under a Framework, a Dynamic Market, or a DPS must be published on the Central 
Digital Platform in accordance with the applicable legislation. This will be through a 
Contract Details Notice that must be published following the award of the contract in 
accordance with the Framework, Dynamic Market, or DPS. 

15.14. For contracts awarded under a Framework for health care services regulated by the 
PSR, Officers are required to publish their intention to award the contract where they 
are following the competitive process to award the contract.    

15.15. For contracts awarded under a Framework for health care services regulated by the 
PSR, Officers are also required to publish a Notice of the award of the contract on the 
Central Digital Platform. This applies for contracts made with or without a competition. 
Officers are to consult the PSR for details of what information needs to be included in 
the Notice depending on the call-off procedure used. 

15.16. Advice must be sought from the Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also 
consult with the Legal Team, for any proposed modifications  to Frameworks, Dynamic 
Market, or DPS contract terms. This includes any modifications to the call-off or 
selection process, planned re-opening and awarding in the scheme of an Open 
Framework, conditions of membership for a Dynamic Market or DPS, and the re-
assessment or proposed removal of suppliers from such arrangements (including 
where a supplier has been classified as “excluded” or “excludable”). Details of any 
variation may require the publication of further Notices to the Central Digital Platform. 

16. Light Touch Contracts 

16.1. Light touch contracts are contracts for certain social, health, education, and other 
services that are provided directly to individuals or groups of people and which, under 
Section 9 of the Procurement Act 2023, receive special treatment and greater 
flexibility under the regulations. Light touch contracts must meet specific provisions to 
be considered to be a light touch contract and advice must be sought from the 
Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also consult with the Legal Team. 

17. Concession Contracts 

17.1. Concession contracts are contracts under which the Council outsources works or 
services to a contractor or provider, or makes available an asset, which the contractor 
or provider then has the right to commercially exploit to recoup its investment and 
make a return. The key feature is that the contractor or provider bears the operating 
risk of the arrangement and so has no guarantee of recouping its investment or 
operating costs. Concession contracts must meet certain criteria to be considered to 
be a concession in accordance with the Section 8 of the Procurement Act 2023 and 

Page 104



 

21 
 

advice must be sought from the Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also 
consult with the Legal Team. Any existing concession contracts and any concession 
contracts where the procurement begins before 24 February 2025 will continue to be 
subject to the CCR 2016.  

18. Temporary Staff, Contractors, and Consultants 

18.1. A Consultant is a person (not an employee), agency, or firm engaged for a limited 
period of time on a project or requirement specific basis to carry out a specific task or 
set of tasks which meet a desired set of outputs or outcomes. A consultant provides 
subject matter expertise, support, and/or experience to the Council either because it 
does not possess the skills or resources in-house or requires an independent 
evaluation or assessment to be made. 

18.2. This definition excludes: 
 

a. Agency staff, interim, or role-specific duties which should be sourced through the 
Council’s corporate contract with Connect2Kent. 

b. Routine services, e.g., maintenance, cleaning, and security. 
c. Professional services, e.g., architects, structural engineers, forensic 

archaeologists, specialist social care support, training etc.  

18.3. Regardless of value, Officers must ensure that they follow the processes outlined on 
KNet when contracting temporary and agency staff and consultants. They must also 
ensure that they are compliant with the Kent Scheme Terms and Conditions.  

18.4. In the event that Officers are unable to successfully source the required staff or 
consultant through the process outlined on KNet, they must engage with the 
Commercial and Procurement Division for advice on using appropriate Frameworks.  

18.5. No temporary worker, contractor, or Consultant may be procured or engaged outside 
of the corporate contract with Connect2Kent without prior approval from the Council’s 
People Strategy Manager (Resourcing) and in consultation with the Commercial and 
Procurement Division. 

18.6. Where it is agreed that a temporary worker, contractor, or Consultant may be sourced 
outside of the corporate contract, and the total aggregate value of such engagement 
is estimated to be £30,000 or more (including any applicable VAT), competition is to 
be sought in the same manner as would be required for any procurement of the same 
value following the requirements outlined in the summary tables under Section 10. 

18.7. If the total aggregate value of such an engagement exceeds £50,000, the decision to 
award must also be made in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member. 

19. Collaboration with Other Public Bodies 

19.1. The Council may enter into collaborative agreements for the procurement of goods, 
services, and works with other public bodies or Central Purchasing Bodies where this 
offers best value for money for Kent residents. This may mean the Council leading 
procurements and contracting on behalf of other public bodies or vice-versa. 

19.2. However, where this is proposed, it should be noted that the relevant legislation as 
stipulated in Section 4.6 will continue to apply as will the principles outlined in SCM. 
Ahead of any such collaboration with other public bodies, advice must be sought from 

Page 105



 

22 
 

the Head of Commercial and Procurement in conjunction with the Section 151 Officer 
and the Legal Team before entering into such arrangements. 

20. Liability and Security 

20.1. To protect the Council, insurance is required where the Council purchases goods, 
services, or works provided by a supplier. The minimal levels of insurance cover for 
Public Liability Insurance, Employers’ Liability Insurance, Professional Indemnity 
(Negligence) Insurance and other relevant insurances are set out in guidance on 
KNet. Advice should be obtained from the Insurance Team in accordance with that 
Council guidance. 

20.2. In some instances where the contract value, risk, or scope may be particularly high, 
additional insurance cover may be required. Equally, where some contracts may be 
suitable for micro businesses, lower levels of insurance may be considered, as part 
of a wider assessment of the need for proportionality between the Council’s 
requirements and removing or reducing barriers to participation for small businesses. 
Reasonable approaches to apportioning risk should be adopted through using limits 
and exclusions of liability and insurance cover requirements taking into account 
insurable risks and associated costs. However, in these instances, advice should be 
sought from the relevant Officer within the Insurance Team. 

20.3. Where the Council is providing goods, services, or works to another organisation (that 
is not a part of the Council), Services must not arrange their own insurance policies 
and should contact the Insurance Team in the first instance who arrange cover on 
behalf of the Council. 

21. Financial Security 

21.1. For all procurements above the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services, 
regardless of whether the contract is for goods, services, or works, the Commercial 
and Procurement Division should determine if a supplier requires additional financial 
checks based on the perceived financial risk. The Commercial and Procurement 
Division and Finance must confirm that suppliers are financially robust prior to contract 
award and Services are expected to monitor this, in consultation with the Division and 
Finance, during the life of the contract.  

21.2. However, as set out in Section 30.4 of SCM, when assessing a supplier’s financial 
capacity as a part of testing their capacity to perform the contract, Officers must not 
require suppliers to submit audited annual accounts unless they are, or were, required 
to have audited accounts in accordance with Part 16 of the Companies Act 2016. 

21.3. Advice should be obtained from the Finance Team, the Commercial and Procurement 
Division, and Legal Team if there are concerns about the financial stability of a 
supplier prior to contract award and through the duration of the contract to enable 
steps to be taken to mitigate risk. 

21.4. Tender documents must include a statement asserting that, where requested, 
suppliers need to provide security for performance and outline the level of security 
needed, the financial checks to be applied on tenders, how financial suitability will be 
assessed, and any checks that will be required during the life of the contract. However, 
these requirements should be proportionate to the risk and the need to consider how 
to remove or reduce barriers to participation for SMEs and VCSEs. 

Page 106



 

23 
 

21.5. Where either the total aggregate value of the contract exceeds £1m (excluding VAT) 
within any twelve month period, or there is doubt as to the financial credibility of a 
supplier, but the Council has decided to accept the level of risk, then additional forms 
of security to a level determined by the Finance Team may be required, for example: 

 
a. A Parent Company, Ultimate Company, or Holding Company guarantee, where the 

financial standing of those companies proves acceptable. 
b. A Director’s Guarantee or Personal Guarantee, where finances prove acceptable. 
c. A Performance Bond, retained funds, or cash deposit. 
d. Any other security (such as escrow arrangements), which has been determined to 

be appropriate by Finance. 

21.6. Advice from the Legal Team should also be taken on any and all such forms of 
guarantee, bond or security being used. 

22. Conflicts of Interest and Preventing Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 

22.1. Officers must comply with the requirements under Part 5 of the Procurement Act 2023 
to take all reasonable steps to identify and mitigate actual or perceived conflicts of 
interest that may arise in relation to a procurement. Officers must prepare a conflicts 
assessment once it has been decided that procurement is the appropriate route to 
meet the required need, thereafter, keeping this documented assessment under 
review throughout the procurement process and during the life of the contract.  

22.2. To protect the Council against the risk of fraud, bribery, and corruption, every contract 
shall include provision for termination of that contract (and recovery of losses) where 
the supplier, their employees, or anyone acting on the supplier’s behalf: 

 
a. Offers, gives, or agrees to give anyone an inducement or reward in respect of any 

contract with the Council. 
b. Commits an offence under the Bribery Act 2010, or 
c. Commits any of the offences listed in Schedule 6 of the Procurement Act 2023, 

Regulation 57(1) of the PCR 2015 or Regulation 38(8) of CCR 2016. 

22.3. In the event that anyone buying or managing a contract on behalf of the Council 
becomes aware of a supplier’s involvement in fraudulent or corrupt activity, they must 
report this to the Head of Commercial and Procurement and seek advice from the 
Council’s Counter Fraud Team and Legal Team.  

22.4. Further to the above, Officers must comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Anti-
Fraud and Corruption Strategy and Anti-Bribery Policy. Officers must not invite or 
accept any gift or reward in respect of the award or performance of a contract and 
gifts and hospitality must be recorded in line with guidance set out on the intranet. 

22.5. In addition to what is outlined in this section, declarations of interest should be made 
through the Council’s annual declaration of interest process and prior to the 
commencement of any procurement exercise that an individual is to be involved with.  

23. Document Retention 

23.1. The retention of procurement and contractual information is prescribed in the 
Limitation Act 1980, the Procurement Act 2023, the PCR 2015 and the PSR as 
applicable. In summary, the following is required: 

 
a. Contracts executed under hand (retained for 6 years after last action on a contract). 

Page 107



 

24 
 

b. Contracts executed under seal as Deeds (retained for 12 years after last action on 
a contract). 

c. Sufficient documentation to explain and justify decisions taken in all stages of the 
procurement procedure including tender documents for unsuccessful bidders as 
required by Section 98 of the Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015 Regulation 84, 
and PSR Regulation 24, as applicable. 

d. Records created by contract management meetings for contracts executed under 
hand (retained for the life of the contract and 6 years thereafter). 

e. Records created by contract management meetings for contracts executed under 
seal as Deeds (retained for the life of the contract and 12 years thereafter). 

 
23.2. Additional document retention requirements are outlined and updated from time-to-

time in guidance that can be found on KNet and must be complied with. 

Part C: Requirements for Quotation or Tendering Procedures 

24. Engaging the Commercial and Procurement Division 

24.1. At the earliest opportunity, Officers must engage the Commercial and Procurement 
Division and Legal Team in any procurement exceeding an estimated total aggregate 
contract value above the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services, 
regardless of whether the contract is for goods, services, or works. As a minimum 
expectation, this point of engagement should be as soon as it has been determined 
that procurement is the correct approach to delivering the required provisions and 
always in advance of any preliminary market engagement. This is to allow for the 
Council’s Procurement Pipeline to be updated and for resources to be planned 
accordingly. 

24.2. Regardless of the estimated total contract value, Officers must contact the 
Commercial and Procurement Division for advice and support on any procurement if 
they are concerned about their ability to carry out the procurement or the risk or 
complexity of the procurement.  

24.3. Where the procurement or contracting is in-scope of the PSR, Officers must engage 
with the Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest opportunity and prior to 
any proposed procurement, Contract Modification, and contract award taking place. 
The Division, who may also consult with the Council’s Legal Team, will determine the 
appropriate level of involvement, and any external support required depending on the 
risk and complexity of the procurement and the commercial acumen and experience 
required. 

25. Specifications 

25.1. Officers must ensure that specifications are drafted to meet the identified needs with 
proper consideration given to value money and corporate objectives around 
supporting social value, sustainability, equality and diversity, and data and privacy. 

25.2. While Officers may choose between different types of specification (e.g., input- or 
output-focused) dependent on their requirements, Section 56 of the Procurement Act 
2023 requires that specifications do not refer to a particular design, licensing model, 
or a description of characteristics where they could refer to performance or functional 
requirements. Specifications must also not refer to a UK Standard unless the standard 
adopts internationally recognised equivalents, or there is no such equivalent. 

Page 108



 

25 
 

25.3. Specifications must not refer to particular trademarks, trade names, patents, designs 
or types, places of origin, or producers or suppliers, unless the Council considers it 
necessary in order to make its requirements are understood. However, if such matters 
are referred to, the procurement documentation must also ensure that tenders or 
proposals demonstrating quality or performance will not be disadvantaged. 

25.4. Officers in Services are responsible for developing specifications, but the Commercial 
and Procurement Division can be engaged to provide a commercial review and input 
on specifications where the Division will the lead procurement for the contract.  

26. Preliminary Market Engagement 

26.1. How Officers are permitted to engage with the market, prior to issuing any tender, is 
governed by Section 16 of the Procurement Act 2023. 

26.2.  The Council may choose to engage in preliminary market engagement to: 
 

a. Develop the Council’s requirements and approach to the procurement. 
b. Design a procedure, Conditions of Participation, or award criteria. 
c. Prepare a Tender Notice and associated tender documents. 
d. Identify suppliers that may be able to supply the goods, services, or works required. 
e. Identify likely contractual terms. 
f. Build capacity among suppliers in relation to the contract being awarded. 

26.3. When undertaking preliminary market engagement, Officers should take steps to 
ensure that suppliers participating in the engagement do not receive an unfair 
advantage, and competition in relation to the contract award is not otherwise distorted. 
If a supplier gains an unfair advantage, and the advantage cannot be avoided, then 
the supplier must be excluded from participating in the tender. However, advice should 
be sought from the Commercial and Procurement Division in such circumstances. 

26.4. Where preliminary market engagement is planned, a Preliminary Market Engagement 
Notice be published to the Central Digital Platform.6 In the event that Officers consider 
that prior publication is not appropriate in a given situation, Officers should engage 
with the Commercial and Procurement Division in advance in order to agree whether 
an exception is appropriate and any appropriate safeguards. This is to minimise legal 
risk to the Council. While the Commercial and Procurement Division will process the 
Notice, Officers in Services must provide the information required in a full and timely 
manner. 

26.5. Preliminary market engagement for contracts that are regulated by the PSR is subject 
to separate requirements under those regulations. Specifically, it is recommended that 
such engagement be undertaken where a Most Suitable Provider Process is followed. 

26.6. Officers in Services are expected to lead on preliminary market engagement, but the 
Commercial and Procurement Division can be engaged to advise on the most 
appropriate approach and can support the delivery of the engagement, particularly for 
procurements that the Division will thereafter lead on. 

27. Duty to Consider Lots 
 

6  Section 17 of the Procurement Act 2023 requires that a contracting authority publish a 
preliminary market engagement notice prior to carrying out any engagement or to set out why it did not 
within the relevant tender notice. However, as a matter of good practice and to minimise legal risk, the 
Council requires that any preliminary engagement be preceded by a preliminary market engagement 
notice.  

Page 109



 

26 
 

27.1. For contracts with an estimated aggregate value above the applicable Public 
Procurement Thresholds, Section 18 of the Procurement Act 2023 requires Officers 
to consider whether the goods, services, or works to be supplied under the contract 
could be supplied under more than one contract, and whether such contracts could 
most appropriately be awarded by reference to different lots. 

27.2. As a part of this consideration, Officers should consider whether lotting would help to 
secure best value for money. Where it is considered that a contract could be awarded 
by reference to lots, then the tender must account for this, carefully considering the 
most appropriate lotting approach and the award criteria and evaluation methodology 
that would allow for the identification of the Most Advantageous Tenders (MATs). 

27.3. Where it is decided not to progress with lotting, then Officers must ensure that the 
tender documentation should include the reasons for not taking this approach. 

27.4. Officers in Services should work jointly with the Commercial and Procurement Division 
to determine whether lotting is appropriate and to document the decision taken. 

28. Requirements to Advertise and Publish Intended Procurement Route 

28.1. Where contracts are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, Section 21 of the legislation 
requires that contracts with an estimated total aggregate value above the applicable 
Public Procurement Thresholds are advertised through a Tender Notice that is 
published to the Central Digital Platform (unless an exemption applies under the 
applicable regulations). They must also be published on the Council’s tendering portal. 

28.2. Where appropriate, a Planned Procurement Notice, as permitted under Section 15 of 
the Procurement Act 2023, may be used to reduce the required tendering period and 
to provide suppliers, especially SMEs and VCSEs, advanced notice of an opportunity. 
However, any use of such a Notice must be on the advice of the Commercial and 
Procurement Division as there are specific regulatory requirements around their use, 
the timing, and the publication of the Notice to the Central Digital Platform. 

28.3. Contracts with an estimated total aggregate value below the applicable Public 
Procurement Thresholds only need to be advertised to the Central Digital Platform, 
with a Tender Notice, and the Council’s tendering portal where Officers will follow a 
tendering procedure. These requirements do not apply where the Council seeks 
quotations or only seeks tenders from particular or pre-selected suppliers as permitted 
under the regulations. 

28.4. Irrespective of contract value, specific advertising and Notice requirements apply to 
health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated by 
the PSR depending on the provider selection process followed under those 
regulations. Where the intention is to follow the Most Suitable Provider Process 
available under the PSR, a Notice of the intended approach must be published to the 
Central Digital Platform in advance. Where the Council decides to follow a Competitive 
Process under the PSR, the Council must invite offers by submitting a contract Notice 
for publication, including all the information required in Schedule 8 to the PSR. 

28.5. When advertising the tendering opportunity, in accordance with Section 29 of SCM, 
the procurement documentation must be made available at the same time that any 
required Tender Notice is published on the Central Digital Platform and the Council’s 
tendering portal. 

Page 110



 

27 
 

28.6. Any form of advertisement must state the place where interested providers may obtain 
the procurement documentation and the deadline for receipt of submissions. 

28.7. While the Commercial and Procurement Division will publish the Notices at this stage, 
whether Planned Procurement, Tender, or any other Notices that are required, 
Officers in Services must provide the required information in a full and timely manner. 

28.8. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will ensure that all other requirements for advertising are correctly followed to 
satisfy the relevant regulations. Where Officers in Services are leading the 
procurement, they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements outlined in 
this section are appropriately followed. 

29. Competitive Tendering Procedures 

29.1. When undertaking a competitive tendering procedure, Officers are responsible for 
following the applicable procurement regulations set out in Section 4.6 of SCM and 
must ensure that the procedure is undertaken in accordance with the published 
Tender Notice and any associated, published procurement documentation. 

29.2. Section 20 of the Procurement Act 2023 stipulates the tendering procedures that can 
be followed when procuring contracts under that legislation. These are: 

 
a. A single stage tendering procedure without a restriction on who can submit tenders 

(i.e., an ‘open procedure’), or 
b. Such other competitive tendering procedure as the Council considers appropriate 

for the purposes of awarding the contract (i.e., a ‘competitive flexible procedure). 

29.3. Where the estimated total aggregate value of a contract is below the applicable Public 
Procurement Thresholds, and the contract is not regulated by the PSR, Officers may 
choose to follow a quotation process as outlined in Section 36 of SCM instead of 
undertaking a tendering procedure. This is permitted for goods and services contracts 
with an estimated total value up to the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and 
services and for works contracts with such a value up to £1m, above which a fully 
Procurement Act 2023 compliant tendering procedure must be followed (which 
includes call-offs from Framework Agreements, Dynamic Markets or (prior to 24 
February 2029) DPS). 

29.4. Where Officers undertake a tendering procedure for contracts with an estimated total 
aggregate below the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds, Section 85 of the 
Procurement Act 2023 is the governing legislation and stipulates the procedure. 
Except in the limited circumstances outlined in Section 30.6 below, Officers must not 
restrict the submission of tenders for such contracts by reference to a supplier’s 
suitability to perform the contract, including their legal and financial capacity or their 
technical ability to perform the contract. 

29.5. Regardless of the total aggregate contract value, Officers may use another compliant 
route such as a Framework or Dynamic Market, as permitted in Section 15 of SCM. 

29.6. Irrespective of contract value, for contracts which are for health care services and 
mixed health care services that are therefore regulated by the PSR, Officers must 
follow a provider selection process permitted under Part 2 of the PSR when procuring 
the contract. This may include a Competitive Process as permitted under that regime. 

Page 111



 

28 
 

29.7. In any case, Officers must ensure the procedure chosen is a proportionate means of 
awarding the contract, considering the nature, complexity, and cost of the contract. 
When choosing and designing the procedures, Officers must have regard to the 
barriers to participation for SMEs and VCSEs and how to remove or reduce these. 

29.8. The Commercial and Procurement Division will lead on the tendering of contracts for 
goods and services with an estimated total aggregate value above the Public 
Procurement Threshold for goods and services. The Division will also lead on the 
procurement of works contracts with an estimated total value above £1m. 

29.9. Officers in Services may lead on the tendering of contracts for goods and services 
with an estimated total value up to the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and 
services. For works contracts, Officers in Services may lead on the tendering of such 
contracts up to an estimated total value of £1m. 

29.10. Where the procurement or contract is in-scope of the PSR, Officers must engage the 
Commercial and Procurement Division prior to any proposed procurement or provider 
selection process taking place. The Division will determine the appropriate level of 
involvement, and any external support required depending on the risk and complexity 
and the commercial experience required. 

29.11. Regardless of contract value and who can lead the tendering, Officers must contact 
the Commercial and Procurement Division for advice and support if they are 
concerned about their ability to carry out a procurement or its risk and complexity. 

30. Conditions of Participation and Basic Selection Criteria 

30.1. Where Officers seek to set Conditions of Participation in a tender, in accordance with 
Section 22 of the Procurement Act 2023, Officers must ensure that they are a 
proportionate means of ensuring that suppliers have the legal and financial capacity 
or the technical ability to perform the contract in question. 

30.2. Subject to Section 30.7 below, Officers must refer to the Supplier Information System 
contained within the Central Digital Platform and use the Council’s standard and most 
up to date Selection Questionnaire (SQ)to collect the information required and to 
assess suppliers against the Conditions of Participation . This is unless suppliers have 
already been pre-qualified through an alternative sourcing route such as a Framework 
Agreement, a Dynamic Market, or a DPS. 

30.3. This pre-qualification of suppliers, by assessing against Conditions of Participation, 
enables the Council to test the suitability of suppliers bidding for Council contracts, 
through applying minimum standards of legal and financial standing and technical 
ability that prospective suppliers should meet. However, as well as being 
proportionate, all the methods and criteria for assessing the suitability of suppliers 
must be transparent, proportionate, objective, and non-discriminatory. 

30.4. Where Officers choose to assess a supplier’s legal and financial capacity as a part of 
testing their capacity to perform the contract, they must not: 

 
a. Require suppliers to submit audited annual accounts unless they are, or were, 

required to have audited accounts in accordance with Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2016. 

b. Require suppliers to have insurance relating to the performance of the contract to 
be in place before the award of the contract. 

Page 112



 

29 
 

30.5. Where Officers choose to assess a supplier’s technical ability as a part of testing their 
ability to perform the contract, they must not: 

 
a. Require them to have been awarded a contract by a specific contracting authority, 
b. Break the rules on specifications (see Sections 25.2 and 25.3 of SCM), or 
c. Require particular qualifications without allowing for their equivalents. 

30.6.  In accordance with Section 29.4 of SCM, when tendering for any contract with an 
estimated total aggregate value below the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds, 
Officers must not restrict the submission of tenders by reference to an assessment of 
a supplier’s suitability to perform the contract, including their legal and financial 
capacity or their technical ability to perform the contract. However, for works contracts 
valued between the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services and the 
Public Procurement Threshold for works, the Council Suppliers may use a pre-
qualification stage using the Common Assessment Standard. 

30.7. There are different requirements for health care services contracts and mixed health 
care services contracts regulated by the PSR where the Council is required to 
undertake reasonable and proportionate due diligence on providers. When using 
Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable Provider Process, or the Competitive 
Process (except use of the Competitive Process to award a contract under a 
Framework) in the PSR, Officers must not award a contract to or conclude a 
Framework Agreement with a provider who does not meet the basic selection criteria 
formulated in accordance with Regulation 19 of and Schedule 16 to the PSR. The 
basic selection criteria may only relate to suitability to pursue a particular activity, 
economic and financial standing and technical and professional ability, and all 
requirements must be related and proportionate to the subject matter of the contract 
or the Framework. 

30.8. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section and ensure that any testing of 
Conditions of Participation, or basic selection criteria under the PSR, satisfies the 
relevant regulations. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, they will be 
responsible for ensuring that the requirements are correctly followed. As a part of the 
activity in this section, close working, including with the Council’s Finance Team and 
Legal Team, will be required. 

31. Setting Award Criteria and Evaluation Methodology 

31.1. For contracts that are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, Officers should develop 
award criteria and an evaluation methodology that will enable them to accurately 
determine the Most Advantageous Tender (MAT). They may be developed and 
consulted on early as a part of preliminary market engagement and, thereafter, as set 
out in Section 34.2(e) of SCM, Officers must include the award criteria and evaluation 
methodology within the procurement documentation. 

31.2. When setting the award criteria, Officers must be satisfied that they: 
 

a. Relate to the subject matter of the contract, 
b. Are sufficiently clear, measurable, and specific, 
c. Do not break the rules on specifications, (see Sections 25.2 and 25.3 of SCM), and 
d. Are a proportionate means of assessing tenders, having regard to the nature, 

complexity, and cost of the contract. 

Page 113



 

30 
 

31.3. Evaluation methodology must be designed to accurately determine the Most 
Advantageous Tender (MAT) with the correct balance between price and quality. This 
evaluation methodology should be developed through close consultation between 
Officers in Services and the Commercial and Procurement Division. 

31.4. Officers should also be aware of any additional Council policies related to social value 
and sustainability in tender evaluations and apply these as required and appropriately 
linked to the subject matter of the contract. 

31.5. For health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated 
by the PSR and using either  Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable Provider 
Process, or the Competitive Process, Officers must determine the appropriate 
balance of the five key criteria set out in Regulation 5 of the PSR of quality and 
innovation; value; integration, collaboration, and service sustainability; improving 
access, reducing health inequalities, and facilitating choice; and social value.  

31.6. Any criteria that may be used to disqualify a supplier must be clearly specified within 
the tender. Suppliers may not be disqualified except where the tender has stipulated 
that failure to meet one or more of the specified criteria would disqualify a tender. 

31.7. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section and ensure that the award 
criteria and evaluation methodology, or key criteria and evaluation of this under the 
PSR, satisfies the relevant regulations. Where Officers in Services lead the 
procurement, they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are correctly 
followed. As a part of the activity in this section, close working between the Division 
and Officers in Services will be required. 

32. Key Performance Indicators 

32.1. Officers should develop key performance indicators (KPIs) to help assess a supplier’s 
performance against the contract. They should be developed early as a part of 
specification development and can be consulted on in preliminary market 
engagement, thereafter, being included in procurement documentation. 

32.2. Any KPIs developed should be relevant and proportionate to the nature, size, and 
complexity of the contract. When developing KPIs, Officers must consider the risks 
associated with setting too many KPIs or potential for ambiguity around KPIs, which 
may lead to confusion with suppliers, higher pricing, and other unintended outcomes. 

32.3. Officers should refer to guidance issued by the Commercial and Procurement Division 
around the development of KPIs and standard contract KPIs that may be relevant. 
Officers should also be aware of any additional Council policies related to social value 
and sustainability when setting KPIs and consider applying these proportionately. 

32.4. Where contracts are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, Section 52 of the Act 
requires that any contract that is awarded with an estimated total aggregate value in 
excess of £5m must have a minimum of three KPIs specified within them with 
performance against these KPIs then monitored and reported by way of Notices. 
However, this requirement does not apply if the contract is awarded via a Framework. 

32.5. Officers in Services are responsible for developing KPIs, but the Commercial and 
Procurement Division can be engaged to provide a commercial perspective and input 
on KPIs for contracts that the Division will lead the procurement for.  

Page 114



 

31 
 

33. Forms of Contract 

33.1. Officers must issue an appropriate form of contract that suppliers will be required to 
agree to if they are awarded the contract. The Council has different sets of Standard 
Terms and Conditions that must be applied to contracts based on their value and the 
nature of what is being procured (i.e., goods and services, or works). That is unless 
one of the following reasons is present: 

 
a. The requirements of the contract are judged to carry a level of risk and complexity 

that requires bespoke terms and conditions. 
b. The contract is for an internal Framework, Dynamic Market, or DPS that will require 

bespoke terms and conditions to be agreed as a part of it being established. 
c. It is deemed to be more appropriate for the supplier’s terms and conditions to be 

applied to the procurement given the nature of the requirement or the market. 
d. The contract is a call-off from an existing Framework which includes an established 

form of contract.  
e. Another form of contract is applicable and more appropriate for this procurement.  

33.2. Officers must follow guidance provided in the Standard Terms and Conditions relevant 
to their procurement to ensure they include all mandatory clauses. Where any clauses 
need to be amended, or any of the above reasons for deviation apply, Officers must 
seek advice from the Commercial and Procurement Division before following any 
alternative approach. The Commercial and Procurement Division will  then consult 
with and request further approval from the Legal Team. 

33.3. If bespoke or alternative Terms and Conditions will be used, Officers must contact the 
Commercial and Procurement Division who will seek advice from the Legal Team. 

33.4. Where Officers are uncertain of the Standard Terms and Conditions applicable to their 
contract, they should consult with the Commercial and Procurement Division. Where 
the Division is already involved, they will work jointly with Officers in Services, and the 
Legal Team, as necessary, to determine the most appropriate form of contract. 

34. Invitations to Tender 

34.1. Whether undertaking a tendering procedure under the Procurement Act 2023 or the 
PSR, , Officers must issue Invitations to Tender and tendering instructions to every 
supplier who is or has been:  

 
a. Invited to tender following a pre-qualification process (where such a stage has 

taken place). 
b. Listed on the relevant Framework Agreement, Framework lot, Dynamic Market, or 

DPS and who is capable and willing to tender. 
c. Requested the supply of tender documents under an open tendering process. 

34.2. All Invitations to Tender must specify the goods, services, or works that are required, 
together with the form of contract that will apply. All suppliers invited to tender must 
be issued with the same information at the same time and subject to the same 
conditions. Any supplementary information must be given on the same basis. All 
Invitations to Tender shall also include (subject to any additional requirements under 
the Procurement Act 2023, the PSR, or other applicable procurement regulations): 

 
a. A specification that fully describes the Council’s requirements. 
b. A requirement for tenderers to declare that the tender content, price or any other 

figure or particulars concerning the tender have not been disclosed by the tenderer 

Page 115



 

32 
 

to any other party (except where such a disclosure is made in confidence for a 
necessary purpose). 

c. A requirement for tenderers to fully complete all tender documents. 
d. Notification that tenders are submitted to the Council on the basis that they are 

prepared at the tenderer’s expense and reserve the right for the Council to decide 
not to proceed to award without incurring any contractual liability and without 
becoming liable to reimburse any bidder costs or expenses. 

e. A description of the award procedure and evaluation methodology. 
f. The form of contract that the supplier will need to agree to. 
g. The deadline for any questions asked during the tender. 
h. The deadline for tender receipt. 

34.3. Officers must, in writing, advise every supplier submitting a tender that: 
 

a. No extension of time will be allowed for the receipt of any tender, unless that is at 
the discretion of the Council. 

b. Tenders received after the date and time specified for receipt may be rejected. 
c. Any departure from tendering instructions may lead to the tender being rejected. 
d. the Council does not bind themselves to accept any tender or to accept any tender 

in full. 
e. The tender documents must be in electronic format. 
f. The tenderers signed form of tender cannot be different in detail to that provided 

as a part of the e-sourcing process unless it includes changes to tender documents 
that were made by the Officer responsible for the procurement. 

34.4. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of 
relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, 
they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are correctly followed. As 
a part of the activity in this section, close working will be required between the Division 
and Officers in Services. 

35. Post-Selection Questionnaire (SQ) and Tender Clarifications 

35.1. Officers must maintain a written record and clear audit trail of all clarifications received 
as a part of any pre-qualification stage and as a part of any tendering procedure 
undertaken, detailing all contact with the tenderer, including the clarification requested 
and the response provided. All communications must be recorded via the Council’s 
tendering portal or another secure electronic system (all clarifications requested, and 
the responses provided must be available for audit purposes). 

35.2. Confirmation must be provided in the award report that paperwork submitted as a part 
of testing against any exclusion criteria and any Conditions of Participation has been 
checked and approved in line with the Council’s requirements for due diligence 
outlined in guidance available on KNet. 

35.3. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of 
relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, 
they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are appropriately followed. 

36. Submission, Receipt and Opening of Tenders 

Page 116



 

33 
 

36.1. Suppliers must be given an adequate period in which to prepare and submit a tender, 
with this time period at least satisfying the minimum timescales required in the 
applicable regulations and being commensurate to the complexity of the requirement. 

36.2. When determining the appropriate timeframe, as well as the regulatory requirements, 
Officers should consider the need to have regard to the particular barriers facing 
SMEs and VCSES wishing to access contract opportunities and how to remove or 
reduce these barriers. This may include through considering tender response 
timescales that are more appropriate for SMEs and VCSEs. 

36.3. Every tender over the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds , or which has 
otherwise been advertised on the Council’s tendering portal must be received by a 
secure method using either the Council’s tendering portal or another secure electronic 
system appropriate for the procurement. 

36.4. Officers must have notified all suppliers of the correct tender return instructions, 
including the date, time, and place (e.g., the details of the Council’s e-sourcing 
system).  

36.5. In exceptional circumstances, the deadline for receipt of tenders may be extended 
with the agreement of the lead Commercial and Procurement Officer, if the extension 
of time will not disadvantage any tenderer.  

36.6. No extension to the deadline can be given once the seal has been broken on the 
Council’s tendering portal. 

36.7. All tenders received via the Council’s tendering portal must be opened by those 
specified as responsible on the system. All tenders must be opened at the same time.  

36.8. No person can be involved in the opening process who: 
 

a. Has not completed the Council’s e-learning on procurement and contracting. 
b. Has any pecuniary interest in any supplier used by the Council. 
c. Is serving a probationary period. 
d. Is the subject of disciplinary proceedings. 
e. Has any outstanding dispute with the Council, or 
f. Has tendered their resignation. 

36.9. Any tender that does not comply with the Council’s requirement as set out in the tender 
invitation should normally be excluded from consideration, with the circumstances 
recorded on the Council’s tendering portal. Officers may, however, seek the 
agreement of the lead Commercial and Procurement Officer to amend the 
requirements in appropriate circumstances. Any relaxation of the requirements must 
be disclosed when seeking approval required for acceptance of a tender.  

36.10. Officers must also check that every tender sum has been calculated by reference to 
the minimum specification required and stipulated in the tender. If they discover any 
departure from the specification, they can, subject to what is stated in the procurement 
documentation, treat it as grounds for disregarding the tender. The Officer must also 
check that every tender sum is stated net of VAT or any other Tax or Duty. 

36.11. Officers may also disregard any tender that offers a price that is considered to be 
abnormally low for the performance of the contract. However, before disregarding a 
tender on these grounds, Officers must notify the supplier that the price is considered 

Page 117



 

34 
 

to be abnormally low and give the supplier reasonable opportunity to demonstrate that 
it will be able to perform the contract for the price offered. 

36.12. If a request is made to accept a late tender due to technical issues or circumstances 
that could not have been foreseen, Officers should ensure that any additional time 
granted is minimal and does not allow for covert amendments or additions to tender 
content.  

36.13. Any late tenders that are not accepted, and any marked tenders, must not be opened 
until the award to the successful supplier has been made. 

36.14. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of 
relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, 
they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are appropriately followed. 

37. Evaluation 

37.1. The evaluation of tenders should be undertaken only against the award criteria and 
evaluation methodology that was stipulated in the procurement documentation. 

37.2. For procurements that are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, tenders are to be 
evaluated based on the assessment and identification of the ‘Most Advantageous 
Tender’ (MAT). An evaluation based on the MAT must consider both price and quality, 
including any social value or sustainability criteria, and does not require the tender to 
be awarded to the lowest priced bid alone. 

37.3. For health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated 
by the PSR and using either  Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable Provider 
Process, or the Competitive Process, Officers must assess offers from providers 
taking into account  the five key criteria set out in Regulation 5 of the PSR of quality 
and innovation; value; integration, collaboration, and service sustainability; improving 
access, reducing health inequalities, and facilitating choice; and social value.  

37.4. Officers must ensure that a moderator is assigned to confirm the final scoring and to 
mediate any differences between the evaluation panel.  

37.5. The evaluation panel must include at least two scorers and they must understand the 
purpose of the procurement, the requirements of the contract, and the evaluation 
criteria.  

37.6. Each evaluator and moderator must complete a conflicts of interest form, disclosing 
any interest that may raise questions of impartiality. It must also be recorded how 
identified conflicts (actual or perceived) will be mitigated. This should be added to the 
conflicts of interest assessments that will have initially been developed at the outset 
of the procurement and that will be kept up to date throughout the process. 

37.7. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of 
relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, 
they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are appropriately followed. 

38. Request for Quotations 

Page 118



 

35 
 

38.1. Where permitted to seek quotations under Section 10 of SCM, Officers must ensure 
that all quotations from potential suppliers are provided against the same requirement 
and are requested/submitted within the same window of opportunity. Where the 
requirement is clarified or changed through the process, all invited organisations must 
have the opportunity to quote against that revised requirement. 

38.2. As a minimum, Officers are required to seek the number of quotations stipulated in 
the summary table in Section 10. These quotations must be competitive.  

38.3. For audit purposes, Officers must also ensure that an electronic record of all 
quotations received is retained in line with the Council’s record retention policy. 

38.4. If Officers receive a lower number of quotes back from suppliers than they are required 
to seek according to the appropriate procurement procedure defined in Section 10 of 
SCM, they are not required to seek further quotes unless it is necessary to fulfill the 
need and achieve value for money.  

38.5. Officers in Services are required to use their own judgement to determine if a quote 
reflects value for money. 

38.6. For the avoidance of doubt, Officers cannot follow a quotation process where the 
estimated total aggregate value of their contracts is above the relevant Public 
Procurement Threshold for goods and services contracts or above £1m for works 
contracts, where a compliant tendering procedure must instead be followed. 
Additionally, when procuring health care services regulated by the PSR, Officers are 
required to follow a provider selection process permitted under the PSR and in line 
with the guidance provided by the Commercial and Procurement Division. 

38.7. Officers in Services will typically lead the request for quotations process. However, 
they should refer to the advice and guidance available on KNet when undertaking this. 
Should Officers still have concerns about their ability to undertake this activity, they 
should contact the Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest opportunity. 

39. Excluding Suppliers 

39.1. Before assessing any Conditions of Participation, tenders or quotations, and prior to 
determining the supplier to be awarded a contract, Officers must check whether 
suppliers, or their Connected Persons or Associated Persons and subcontractors, are 
on the Debarment List. Where it materialises that suppliers are on that list for a 
Mandatory Exclusion Ground, they must be excluded from the procurement process 
and must not be awarded the contract. In the case of their Associated Persons and 
subcontractors being on the list, suppliers should be provided with the opportunity to 
replace them. 

39.2. Where suppliers, or their Associated Persons and subcontractors, are on the 
Debarment List for a Discretionary Exclusion Ground, or they otherwise self-declare 
that a Mandatory or Discretionary Exclusion Ground applies as part of the 
procurement process, Officers may exercise discretion on whether to exclude them. 
However, the supplier must be provided with the opportunity to ‘self-clean’ (i.e., to 
provide evidence that the circumstances are not continuing or are unlikely to re-occur 
and/or to replace the Associated Persons or subcontractor) before any exclusion. 

39.3. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will ensure that the appropriate reviews, checks, and processes are 
undertaken, consulting with the Legal Team prior to any exclusion being made.  

Page 119



 

36 
 

39.4. Where Officers in Services are leading the procurement, they are responsible for 
undertaking the initial review and checks in line with guidance available on KNet. 
However, they must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division, who may 
also engage with the Council’s Legal Team, prior to any exclusion taking place.  

40. Intention to Award, Contract Award, Agreement and Signature 

40.1. Before proceeding with the regulatory requirements around the award of contracts, as 
outlined between Sections 40.4 and 40.7 below, Officers must complete an Award 
Report and have this approved by the relevant authority as stipulated in Section 10 of 
SCM and the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 

40.2. The Award Report should: 
 
a. Be ‘complete’ in its own right, allowing the reader to understand the process and 

the decision reached. Reference should be made to any additional information 
available in the contract file. 

b. Show the recommendation and authorisation process with appropriate signatures. 

40.3. Additionally, where a contract for a consultant (as defined in Section 18 of SCM) is 
estimated to have a total value of £50,000 or more, the decision to award the contract 
must be made in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member. 

40.4. Following the above, the successful supplier/s and all unsuccessful suppliers must be 
notified in writing of the proposed contract award through the Council’s tendering 
portal (or any other secure electronic system appropriately used for the procurement)  
and in accordance with the Procurement Act 2023, the PSR, or other applicable 
procurement regulations.  

40.5. Officers must provide an assessment summary to each supplier who has submitted 
an assessed tender for contracts that are above the applicable Public Procurement 
Thresholds and which are not regulated by the PSR. These assessment summaries 
must satisfy the requirements of Section 50 of the Act and Regulation 31 of the 
Procurement Regulations 2024. For those contracts that are subject to the PSR, 
Schedule 9 of the PSR applies.  

40.6. Following the provision of assessment summaries to suppliers, a Contract Award 
Notice must be published to the Central Digital Platform, in accordance with the 
applicable regulations (unless there is an exemption to this requirement under the 
regulations). This Notice will set out that the Council intends to enter into the contract. 
While the Commercial and Procurement Division will process the Notice, Officers in 
Services must provide the information required in a full and timely manner. 

40.7. Contracts must not be awarded until first observing and concluding any mandatory 
standstill period required under the Procurement Act, the PSR, or other applicable 
procurement regulations or, where there is no legally prescribed standstill, any 
standstill period committed to in the Tender or Contract Award Notice. Any Challenges 
or Representations received during this period must be raised with the Commercial 
and Procurement Division, who may also consult with the Legal Team as necessary, 
so that they are able to provide a fair, impartial, and timely view on the most 
appropriate course of action. 

40.8. Contracts must also not be awarded where the Finance Team has raised significant 
concerns regarding financial information provided as a part of the tender process. 

Page 120



 

37 
 

40.9. All transactions must fall within the powers delegated to Officers or have been 
approved by a decision or resolution (in accordance with the Council’s Constitution) 
of an authorised Cabinet Member, the Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or one of 
its Committees or Sub-committees.  

40.10. Following the above, the successful supplier/s and all unsuccessful suppliers must be 
notified in writing of the contract award through the Council’s tendering portal or 
another secure electronic system and in accordance with the Procurement Act 2023, 
the PSR, or other applicable procurement regulations.  

40.11. Where the award is for neither the original offer nor for all parts of the offer the written 
acceptance must be explicit as to what is being accepted. 

40.12. The agreement with the successful supplier/s will generate rights and obligations on 
each party. To be legal, a contract must fulfil the following requirements: 

 
a. There must be ‘offer and acceptance’ (i.e., one party has made an offer that has 

been accepted by the other). 
b. It must be the intention of each party to be legally bound. 
c. There must be valuable consideration on each side (e.g., one party may deliver, or 

undertake to deliver services for which the other party will pay). 
d. The parties must have the legal capacity to enter the contract. 
e. The contract must be legal, and 
f. The contract must not be procured by force, coercion, or undue influence, nor must 

it rest on fraud or misrepresentation. 

40.13. All contracts shall be entered into on behalf of and in the name of “The Kent 
County Council,” this being the name of the Council prescribed by Section 2 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. Contracts cannot be entered into by Committees, Directorates, 
Members or Officers because they are not the correct legal entity for contracting 
purposes. 

40.14. No contract, agreement or other document shall be signed or sealed unless it gives 
effect to: 

 
a. A decision or resolution of the Leader, the Cabinet, an authorised Cabinet Member 

or one of its Committees or Sub-committees, or  
b. A decision by an Officer exercising delegated responsibility. 

40.15. Officers must ensure the contract is signed or sealed in accordance with the 
Constitution. 

40.16. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the 
Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of 
relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, 
they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are appropriately followed. 
The Legal Team must be  engaged where clarity is required over the correct form of 
execution required. 

41. Publication of Awarded Contract Details 

41.1. Where contracts are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, Section 53 of the Act states 
that contracts with a total aggregate value above the applicable Public Procurement 
Thresholds must have a Contract Details Notice published to the Central Digital 
Platform within 30 days of the contract being entered into. This Notice will outline that 

Page 121



 

38 
 

the Council has entered into the contract, and it must also be published on the 
Council’s tendering portal. 

41.2. For all other contracts under the Public Procurement  Thresholds but above £30,000 
(including VAT), and not regulated by the PSR, a simplified Contract Details Notice 
must be a published on the Central Digital Platform as soon as reasonably practicable 
following the award. . 

41.3. For contracts awarded under the Procurement Act 2023 with a value of more than 
£5m (including VAT), an appropriately redacted copy of that contract be published 
before the end of 90 days beginning with the day on which the contract is entered into. 
Officers must produce a redacted copy of the contracts and retain these alongside the 
original copy. 

41.4. As a part of the tendering procedure, or when agreeing contract terms with a supplier, 
Officers must establish the commercially sensitive information that will be redacted. 
From the Council’s perspective, Officers must also identify whether there is any 
operationally sensitive material that should be redacted. 

41.5. Whilst material may be identified as sensitive, Officers must satisfy themselves that it 
is not the case that it is simply preferable to redact this information, but that it is 
permissible to do so under the applicable regulations.  

41.6. As set out in Section 52 of the Procurement Act 2023, any contract that is awarded 
with an estimated total aggregate value in excess of £5m must also have a minimum 
of three KPIs specified within them, unless an exemption available under the 
regulations applies to the contract. The details of these KPIs must be published 
alongside the redacted copy of the contract, where required. 

41.7. Where the Commercial and Procurement Division leads the procurement, they will 
work with suppliers to identify the commercially sensitive information to be redacted. 
However, where Officers in Services is leading the procurement, they will be 
responsible for this information. Officers in Services will always be responsible for 
identifying the operationally sensitive information that should be redacted.  

41.8. The redaction of contracts will be undertaken by the Officer leading the procurement, 
with the support of available redaction software or, where that is not available and 
Officers are uncertain as to how to redact, in consultation with the Council’s 
Information Governance Team and Legal Team, as necessary. 

41.9. The Commercial and Procurement Division will publish the Contract Details Notice, 
the appropriately redacted copy of contracts, and KPI information, as required, but 
Officers in Services must provide the information required in a full and timely manner. 

42. Contract Tiering and Contract Management Responsibilities 

42.1. Senior Officers (Heads of Service and above) are ultimately responsible for the 
effective management of contracts within their area in line with guidance issued by 
the Commercial and Procurement Division and available on KNet.  

42.2. All contract management activities should be delivered by either a dedicated Contract 
Manager or by someone with that responsibility as part of a wider role. 

42.3. The named Contract Manager must assess the level of risk of their contract by 
completing a tiering exercise using the tiering tool and guidance made available by 

Page 122



 

39 
 

the Commercial and Procurement Division on KNet. This exercise must be undertaken 
as soon as possible after it has been decided that procurement is the appropriate 
route to meet the requirement, with the exercise repeated prior to contract award, and 
at regular intervals during the management of the contract. 

42.4. The classification assigned to the contract following the tiering exercise must be 
notified to the Commercial and Procurement Division and recorded on the Council’s 
contract management system. For those contracts within the Procurement Pipeline, 
the Commercial and Procurement Division will be able to take a lead on this contract 
tiering exercise, working closely with Officers in Services as a part of the procurement 
process and award of the contract. The named Contract Manager will retain 
responsibility for undertaking the tiering exercise during contract management. 

42.5. The Commercial and Procurement Division will take a commercial lead on all high-
risk contracts identified through the tiering exercise, working alongside the named 
Contract Managers within Services and any named legal advisor. 

42.6. The Head of Commercial and Procurement is responsible for ensuring that training is 
available to support Contract Managers across the Council regardless of the tier of 
the contract that they are managing. Senior Officers (Heads of Service and above) 
are responsible for ensuring that those managing contracts within their area are 
appropriately trained. 

43. Managing and Reporting on Contract Performance 

43.1. For contracts awarded under the Procurement Act 2023 with a total aggregate value 
of more than £5m (including VAT), Section 52 of the Act requires the assessment and 
publication of information about the supplier’s performance against the KPIs that have 
been published in accordance with Section 53 of the legislation and Section 41.6 of 
SCM. That is unless an exemption available under the regulations applies to the 
contract. 

43.2. The supplier’s performance against the identified KPIs must be assessed and 
published at least once every twelve months. Officers must report performance in line 
with the standardised rating system prescribed in the Procurement Regulations 2024, 
with the performance information published via a Contract Performance Notice on the 
Central Digital Platform. 

43.3. Under Section 71 of the Procurement Act 2023, for contracts that are subject to the 
legislation and for which there is no exemption in the regulations, Officers may be 
required to publish information, via a Contract Performance Notice on the Central 
Digital Platform, where a supplier breaches the contract and/or in the event of poor 
performance. 

43.4. Breaches are understood as being where a supplier fails to meet one or more of the 
key terms that were agreed at contract award. Officers must publish information on 
breaches where they are sufficiently serious to the extent that they result in full or 
partial contract termination, the award of damages, or a settlement agreement. 

43.5. Poor performance is understood as a failure of the supplier to deliver aspects of the 
contract to the Council’s satisfaction, taking into account the frequency, duration, and 
impact on contract delivery. In the event of serious and persistent poor performance,  
after suppliers have been provided with the opportunity to improve their performance 
and failed to do so, Officers are required to publish the performance information. 

Page 123



 

40 
 

43.6. The Commercial and Procurement Division will publish the Contract Performance 
Notices required, however, Officers in Services are responsible for assessing supplier 
performance in accordance with the guidance that is provided by the Division on KNet. 
However, Officers in Services must provide the Division with the information that is 
required for the Notices in a full and timely manner.   

43.7. With regards to reporting performance against KPIs for contracts worth £5m or more, 
the Commercial and Procurement Division will work with Officers in Services to ensure 
that, as a part of finalising the KPIs with the supplier prior to contract award, there is 
alignment to the prescribed rating system and the supplier understands what is being 
measured, when, how, and against what system. The named Contract Manager is 
responsible for ensuring the agreed approach is adhered to in contract management. 

43.8. With regards to breaches that are sufficiently serious that they meet the publication 
requirements (including performance against KPIs against of the prescribed rating 
system), regardless of the contract value, Officers in Services must contact the 
Commercial and Procurement Division as early as possible. The Division may also 
consult with the Council’s Legal Team to consider the legal risks before advising 
Officers on the most appropriate course of action to take. 

43.9. With regards to poor performance that meets the threshold of serious and persistent 
failures that, if not addressed, will require the publication of that information, Officers 
in Services should contact the Commercial and Procurement Division as soon as 
possible if it relates to a contract that is above the relevant Public Procurement 
Thresholds. Otherwise, Officers should refer to guidance issued by the Division and 
available on KNet. Where the Division is involved, they will advise on the course of 
action to take with the supplier to attempt to rectify the situation. 

44. Contract Payments and Reporting on Payments 

44.1. Once the right supplier has been found in line with the processes required by SCM, 
Officers must not make verbal commitments but raise a Purchase Order (via 
iProcurement or an equivalent service-specific system). This must be approved in 
accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations and Scheme of Delegation 
before it is sent to the supplier, and before any goods or services have been received. 

44.2. Under Section 67(2) of the Procurement Act 2023, Officers must accept and process 
for payment any electronic invoice issued to the Council for payment under a contract 
where that invoice is in the required electronic form, and it is not disputed. Officers 
cannot override these terms, which are implied into contracts under the Procurement 
Act 2023. 

44.3. In accordance with Section 68 of the Procurement Act 2023, Officers must ensure that 
any sum due to be paid under a contract by the Council is paid before the end of the 
period of 30 days beginning with the day on which the invoice is received, or, if later, 
the day on which the payment falls due in accordance with the invoice. Such payment 
may be made by a third party to satisfy the regulatory requirement, but only with the 
agreement of the payee. In accordance with Section 73 of the Act, these 30 day 
payment terms are also implied into subcontracts. Officers cannot restrict or override 
these terms, which are implied into contracts under the Procurement Act 2023. 

44.4. Officers may agree with a supplier that a sum due under a contract is to be paid earlier 
than the 30 days required. However, this must be applied in accordance with the 
Council’s supplier incentive programme, the Financial Regulations and Scheme of 
Delegation. As part of agreeing any such payment arrangement and mechanisms with 

Page 124



 

41 
 

a supplier, Officers must consult the Commercial and Procurement Division and 
Finance Team. 

44.5. Under Section 69 of the Procurement Act 2023, the Council is required to publish a 
Payments Compliance Notice to the Central Digital Platform, providing information on 
the extent to which the Council is compliant with the prompt payment provisions 
outlined in Section 44.3 above. This Notice must be published within 30 days of the 
end of the reporting periods stated in the regulations, detailing payments made under 
contracts and sums owed by the Council that have become payable. Reporting must 
be completed every six months. 

44.6. Under Section 70 of the Procurement Act, 2023, and associated regulations, Officers 
must also publish specific information, via Payments Compliance Notices, in relation 
to any payment of more than £30,000 made by the Council under contracts subject to 
the legislation. This information must be published before the end of the period of 30 
days beginning with the last day of the quarter in which the payment was made. 

44.7. The Commercial and Procurement Division and the Council’s Finance Team will work 
jointly to publish the Payment Compliance Notices required under this section of SCM. 
However, Officers in Services must follow guidance issued by the Division and 
Finance Team on KNet to ensure the payment information required for these Notices 
is linkable to the relevant contract and available to those teams in a complete and 
timely manner. 

45. Contract Modifications, Extensions and Novations 

45.1. For contracts with a total aggregate value over the Public Procurement Thresholds, 
Officers must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division and obtain 
agreement in line with the Scheme of Delegation before any Modifications are made 
(whether in terms of value, duration, scope, or otherwise). 

45.2. As well as mitigating procurement and legal risks, this is due to Contract Modifications 
being subject to specific requirements under the Procurement Act 2023 and PCR 
2015. Under Section 75 of the Procurement Act 2023, with limited exceptions, these 
requirements include the need for information on changes to contracts procured under 
that legislation to be published to the Central Digital Platform through a Contract 
Change Notice. The Contract Change Notice must be published before the 
Modification is made. Officers must engage with the Commercial and Procurement 
Division as to whether the Council will observe a voluntary standstill period prior to 
entry into the Modification and if so, the length of the standstill period (to be a minimum 
of 8 working days). Officers should note that if a voluntary standstill is to be observed 
it must be included in the Contract Change Notice and must be complied with.   

45.3. In some circumstances, regardless of the contract value, proposed Modifications to 
contracts may trigger procurement or legal risks and advice must be sought from the 
Commercial and Procurement Division and the Council’s Legal Team where Officers 
believe this to be the case. For example, this may include where the proposed 
Modification would take the total aggregate value of the contract from a total value 
below the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds to a contract above that the 
relevant threshold. 

45.4. Contracts that have been originally advertised with extension options can be extended 
subject to Officers receiving the acceptance required in the summary table included 
within Section 10 of SCM. However, where the total aggregate contract value is above 

Page 125



 

42 
 

the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds, the Commercial and Procurement 
Division should be engaged before any extension of the contract. 

45.5. In accordance with the Procurement Act 2023, a redacted copy of any modified or 
extended contract with a value of more than £5m must be published to the Central 
Digital Platform before the end of 90 days beginning with the day on which the change 
is signed. 

45.6. In addition to any procurement or legal requirements, Contract Modifications or 
extensions may only be made if the value of the Contract Modification or extension 
added to the value of the original contract does not exceed the authorisation threshold 
in the summary table in Section 10 of SCM. Where that is the case, then the 
appropriate level of authorisation, which would be required considering the re-
calculated total aggregate value of the contract, must instead be sought. 

45.7. All Contract Modifications and extensions must be recorded in writing, signed, or 
sealed appropriately, and retained alongside the original copy of the contract on the 
Council’s contract management system.  

45.8. Legal advice must be taken where clarity is required over the correct form of execution 
required for any Contract Modifications or extensions.  

45.9. Any extension or Modification must have an approved budget allocation for it to be 
made. 

45.10. There are separate requirements for health care services contracts and mixed health 
care services contracts regulated by the PSR, Officers must engage with the 
Commercial and Procurement Division prior to making any Modification as specific 
legal requirements will apply, including requirements for the publication of Notices.  

45.11. Where a contractor sells, merges, or transfers their business to another organisation, 
the existing contract/s that the Council has with that contractor should be novated 
where that is determined to be acceptable to the Council. Officers in Services must 
consult with the Commercial and Procurement Division and the Legal Team to review 
the existing contract and the requested Novation so that the acceptability to the 
Council can be determined. The Council’s Finance Team must also be consulted with 
to ensure that the proposed new organisation will be financially robust. 

45.12. Guidance issued by the Commercial and Procurement Division and available on KNet 
outlines the circumstances under which Contract Modifications, extensions, and 
Novations are permitted and the processes to be followed and the considerations to 
be made to ensure these represent value for money. 

45.13. While the Commercial and Procurement Division will process the required Notices, 
and publish any appropriately redacted Contract Modifications or extensions, Officers 
in Services must provide the information required in a full and timely manner. 

45.14. Contracts which were procured prior to 24 February 2025 (including procurements 
commenced before that date and call-offs from Frameworks or DPS in place at that 
date) continue to be subject to the PCR 2015 (or CCR 2016 as the case may be). 
However, where a proposed change to a pre-24 February 2025 contract does not fall 
within one of the permitted grounds for modification (e.g. Regulation 72(1) of PCR 
2015) the modification may be deemed to be a new contract awarded under the 
Procurement Act 2023.  

Page 126



 

43 
 

45.15. Regardless of the contract value and the procurement regulations that apply, Officers 
in Services will be responsible for undertaking all other activities in this section. 
However, as described, they should engage with the Commercial and Procurement 
Division, the Legal Team and Finance Team, as necessary, who will be able to advise 
and support in certain circumstances, particularly if there is legal risk. 

46. Contract Expiry and Terminating Contracts 

46.1. Regardless of the total contract value, and the regulations which apply (the 
Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015, the PSR, or other procurement regulations), where 
it is planned to allow contracts to expire at the end date (including extensions) or on 
completion of deliverables, Officers must give suppliers reasonable notice of their 
intentions and allow suppliers an opportunity to respond. Officers must also ensure 
any outstanding disputes are settled and payments made before the contract ends. 

46.2. For those contracts subject to the Procurement Act 2023, with limited exceptions, 
Section 80 of the Act requires a Contract Termination Notice to be published where a 
contracts expires at its planned end date or on the completion of deliverables. Officers 
must confirm with the supplier in writing when their contract has come to an end. 

46.3. Regardless of the total contract value, and the regulations that apply, where Officers 
believe that there may be grounds for early termination for breach of contract, poor 
performance, or, as the supplier, their Associated Persons or subcontractors have 
become excludable suppliers on Mandatory or Discretionary Exclusion Grounds, 
Officers must contact the Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest 
possible opportunity. Officers must not proceed with any early termination until they 
have consulted with the Division, who may also consult with the Council’s Legal Team. 

46.4. For those contracts subject to the Procurement Act 2023, with limited exceptions, 
where any early termination takes place, Section 80 of the Act requires Officers to 
publish a Contract Termination Notice. Officers must also confirm with the supplier in 
writing when the early termination of the contract has been completed. 

46.5. There are different Notice requirements for the expiry and termination for health care 
services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated by the PSR. 
Consequently, Officers must engage with the Division prior to the end of such 
contracts.. 

46.6. The named Contract Manager is responsible for planning appropriately for the end of 
contracts and ensuring the smooth conclusion and transition away from contracts. 
However, the Commercial and Procurement Division, in consultation with the 
Council’s Legal Team, as necessary, will be able to advise Contract Managers with 
this process, particularly for contracts identified as high risk through contract tiering.. 

46.7. The Commercial and Procurement Division will publish the Contract Termination 
Notices required, and any final Contract Performance Notices, but Officers in Services 
must provide the Division with the information required in a full and timely manner. 

47. Disposing of Surplus Goods, Materials or Assets 

47.1. Disposal of surplus goods, materials, or assets (including recycling of any goods, 
materials, or assets that have a scrap value), must follow the processes and controls 
defined in guidance on KNet. This is to ensure that the Council receives proper 
reimbursement, where appropriate, and that disposal is cost effective. 

Page 127



 

44 
 

47.2. However, advice must always be sought from the Council’s Finance Team when 
making valuations for such surplus goods, materials, or assets, and determining the 
correct process to follow. The Council’s Infrastructure Team should also be consulted 
in the case of the disposal of buildings or land. 

48. Emergency Purchases 

48.1. An emergency purchase that contravenes SCM is only allowed where there is an 
imminent risk to life or property, where there is a need to secure Council property or 
assets (e.g., where there has been a break-in or equipment failure, such as a flood), 
or there is an otherwise lawful ground provided for in the applicable regulations 
outlined in Section 4.6 of SCM.  

48.2. For contracts subject to the Procurement Act 2023with an estimated total aggregate 
value above the Public Procurement Thresholds, emergency purchases must be 
compliant with the relevant legal provisions (i.e., Chapter 3 and Schedule 5 of the 
Procurement Act 2023or another exemption set out in the regulations). For health care 
services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated by the PSR, 
Officers should refer to Regulation 14 of the PSR in the first instance to justify any 
urgent contract awards or Modifications. 

48.3. For the avoidance of doubt, the above Sections 48.1  and 48.2 do not apply to those 
purchases made outside of the hours of 09:00 to 17:00 by the Council’s emergency 
duty and social care teams. 

48.4. Issues arising with contracts leading to a requirement for urgent mitigating actions are 
not necessarily considered emergency purchases. These should be dealt with as a 
part of risk mitigation within the contract management process. 

48.5. Any emergency purchases made must be reported to the relevant Head of Service 
and Service Director who will be responsible for reporting this to the Council’s Head 
of Commercial and Procurement and Section 151 Officer.  

49. Subsidies  

49.1. Officers must engage with the Legal Team for advice prior to proceeding with any 
Subsidy and must inform the Monitoring Officer of all Subsidies. All Subsidies must 
be carried out in line with the Subsidy Control Act 2022 and where necessary a notice 
must be published to the National Subsidy Database. These notices will be published 
by the Legal Team and Officers must ensure they provide all necessary data.  

50. Waivers 

50.1. Where the application of SCM prevents or inhibits the delivery or continuity of a 
Service, Officers may seek a Waiver to deviate from SCM to the extent that it relates 
to what would be a Waiver to internal Council made rules. 

50.2. A Waiver must be sought for any proposed procurement or contractual action which 
is not compliant with SCM. However, a Waiver cannot be given if it would contravene 
the Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015, the PSR, or any other applicable legislation 
outlined in Section 4.6 of SCM.  

50.3. Officers must obtain approval for a Waiver from the Commercial and Procurement 
Division, including the Head of Commercial and Procurement, as necessary, using 
the pro-forma and guidance available on KNet. The request should identify the 

Page 128



 

45 
 

requirement that is subject to the request and the reason for which the Waiver is 
sought, including the proposed justification and associated risks.  

50.4. For Waivers of SCM in relation to contracts with a value of £1m (excluding VAT) or 
more, the Head of Commercial and Procurement will also seek approval from the 
Council’s Section 151 Officer and/or Monitoring Officer. 

50.5. A Waiver can be requested retrospectively. However, this will be viewed as non-
compliance with SCM and, as with all examples of non-compliance with SCM, will be 
reported to the Monitoring Officer and the Governance and Audit Committee.  

50.6. The Commercial and Procurement Division will maintain a log of all Waivers that have 
been sought, rejected, and authorised. 

51. Procurement Oversight and Investigation 

51.1. Under the Procurement Act 2023, the compliance of contracting authorities with the 
Act may be investigated by a central government Procurement Review Unit (PRU). 
Where investigations are undertaken, the PRU will issue recommendations for 
improvement to the contracting authority and monitor the delivery of action plans. 
These investigations and the findings of the PRU may be published. 

51.2. Under the PSR, where providers have raised a Representation to a contracting 
authority and remain unsatisfied with the response and are of the view that the PSR 
has not been applied correctly, they may submit a representation to an independent 
PSR Review Panel that sits outside of the Council. Where the Panel agrees to review 
the Representation, it will consider it and share advice with the provider and the 
authority, and this information may also be published, at least in summary form. 

51.3. Should there be any investigation by the PRU or the PSR Review Panel into the 
Council’s procurement practice, the Council’s response will be jointly led by the 
Commercial and Procurement Division and the Legal Team. Officers must fully co-
operate with those leading the Council’s response, providing any required information 
in a full and timely manner and making themselves available to support the lead 
Officers and the PRU or PSR Review Panel to understand the cause of the 
compliance issues. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 129



 

46 
 

Appendix 1: Definitions  
 
Associated Person/s – A person that the supplier is relying on in order to satisfy the Conditions 
of Participation under the Procurement Act 2023, but not a person who is to act as guarantor. 
 
Challenge/s – a Challenge can be understood as when an organisation sets out its intention 
to bring a claim against the contracting authority in relation to its decision to award a contract. 
This may include when a bidder has been informed, they were unsuccessful in their bid and 
are challenging the decision of the Council or may include other third parties where they have 
standing under the relevant legislation to bring a legal challenge. 
 
Condition/s of Participation – As defined under Section 22 of the Procurement Act 2023, 
condition that a supplier must satisfy if the supplier is to be awarded the contract. 
 
Contract extension – extending the duration of a contract as allowed and defined under the 
terms of that contract and relevant procurement regulations. 
 
Contract Modification  – making an amendment to a contract as defined in the relevant 
procurement regulations. 
 
Contract Novation – transferring the rights and obligations of one party under a contract to a 
third party.  
 
Contract tiering – applying a rating to contracts based on their perceived value, risk and 
complexity which may be used to determine appropriate contract management measures. 
 
Debarment List – A list, which is maintained by central government and is permitted for and 
detailed under Section 62 of the Procurement Act 2023, containing those suppliers who may 
be debarred from bidding for public contracts for a specific period. 
 
Delegated responsibility – responsibility for authorising or carrying out Council activities that 
has been bestowed upon an individual or team from the executive power. 
 
Discretionary Exclusion Ground/s – One of a number of grounds for potentially excluding a 
supplier as defined under Schedule 7 of the Procurement Act 2023. 
 
Dynamic Market/s – a purchasing tool established pursuant to sections 34 to 40 of the 
Procurement Act 2023, comprising a list of suppliers who have met any applicable conditions 
for membership of the Dynamic Market and who are eligible to participate in future 
procurements. Membership of a Dynamic Market is not closed and new suppliers may join 
during its life.    
 
Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) – an electronic commercial purchasing tool for commonly 
used purchases the characteristics of which, as generally available on the market, meet their 
requirements and under which new suppliers are able to join at any time, subject to the rules 
in Regulation 34 of the PCR 2015 (for DPS’). 
 
Framework or Framework Agreement – an agreement between one of more contracting 
authorities and one of more economic operators, the purpose of which is to establish the terms 
governing contracts to be awarded during a given period.  
 
Integrity – having strong moral principles, honesty, and decency.  
 

Page 130



 

47 
 

Key Supplier – any individual, group or organisation that delivers contracts on behalf of the 
Council that are deemed to be strategically important which may be defined through supplier 
segmentation, by contract tiering, or any Council strategy. 
 
Mandatory Exclusion Ground/s – One of a number of grounds for potentially excluding a 
supplier as defined under Schedule 6 of the Procurement Act 2023. 
 
National Procurement Policy Statement (NPPS) – The NPPS sets out the strategic priorities 
for public procurement, which contracting authorities must have regard to, with information 
and guidance on how contracting authorities can support their delivery. 
 
Non-compliance – purposefully or unknowingly breaching any of the rules or responsibilities 
stated in SCM. 
 
Non-statutory guidance – sets out what the Council can and should do to implement best 
practice procedures. 
 
Notices – A Notice (sometimes referred to as a ‘transparency notice’) of procurement or 
contracting activity that the Council is required to publish to Central Digital Platform (or such 
other digital platform that as required by law) according to the Procurement Act 2023, PCR 
2015, the PSR, or other applicable procurement regulations. 
 
Open Framework – A scheme of Frameworks that provides for the award of successive 
Frameworks on substantially the same terms, as defined and permitted under Section 49 of 
the Procurement Act 2023. 
 
Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services contracts – As of 1 January 2024, this 
value is £179,087 (exclusive of VAT) and £214,904 (inclusive of VAT). 
 
Public Procurement Threshold for works contracts – As of 1 January 2024, this value is 
£4,477,174 (exclusive of VAT) and £5,372,609 (inclusive of VAT). 
 
Procurement – the act of engaging and contracting with a third party to source or deliver goods, 
services and works projects on behalf of the Council. 
 
Procurement Pipeline – a forward look of potential commercial activity for the Council. 
 
Representation/s – a Representation, a term more associated with procurements and 
contracting subject to the PSR, can be understood as being when a provider requests the 
contracting authority reviews their decision. This may include a decision to award or to modify 
a contract. 
 
Small and Medium Sized Enterprise (SME) – Suppliers that have fewer than 250 staff and 
have a turnover of an amount less than or equal to £44m, or a balance sheet total of an amount 
less than or equal to £38m. 
 
Sourcing – the act of obtaining goods, services and works through procurement or other 
applicable activities such as using existing contracts or Frameworks. 
 
Spending the Council’s Money – the Council’s mandatory rules and processes for spending 
money on behalf of the Council. 
 
Statutory guidance – sets out what the Council must to do to comply with the law. 
Subsidy/ies - A subsidy or government incentive is a form of financial aid or support extended 
to an economic sector generally with the aim of promoting economic and social policy. 

Page 131



 

48 
 

 
Supplier/s – any individual, group or organisation that is contracted to supply or deliver goods, 
services and works on behalf of the Council. 
 
Total aggregate contract value - the estimated total aggregate value payable in pounds sterling 
inclusive of Value Added Tax (VAT) over the entire contract period, including any extensions 
of the contract and including any sums paid by third parties. 
 
Value for money – most advantageous combination of cost and quality that is affordable for 
the Council and will fulfill the requirement suitably. 
 
Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) – An incorporated voluntary, community, 
or social enterprise organisation which serves communities, and which is either a charity, 
Community Interested Company, or Community Benefit Society. 
 
Waiver - a request to deviate from the rules of SCM. 
 
 

Page 132



 

From:   Ben Watts, General Counsel  
 
To:    County Council, 7 November 2024 
 
Subject: Appointment of the Member Remuneration Panel 
 
Past pathway: Selection and Member Services Committee, 28 October 2024 
 
Status: Unrestricted 
 
 
 

 
1. Introduction  
 
a) The current Member Allowances Scheme comes to an end on 31 March 2025. It 

is the responsibility of County Council to agree a new scheme.  Before making 
any decisions on changing the scheme, or updating the scheme, the Council 
must have before it recommendations prepared by an independent Member 
Remuneration Panel (MRP).  
 

b) The practice of the Council has been to appoint MRP members to four year 
terms. The current Panel’s term of office concluded on 31 October 2024.  

 
c) County Council is the appointing body for the Member Remuneration Panel. 
 
2. Monitoring Officer Recommendations 
 
a) In order to maintain a separation between the Members and the recruitment of 

the Panel responsible for making recommendations on allowances, the 
Monitoring Officer is responsible for the recruitment exercise and making 
recommendations to the Selection and Member Services Committee. 
 

b) Following a public advertisement exercise on the County Council website, 
shortlisting and interviews were undertaken by Officers within Governance, Law 
and Democracy. Three individuals were then recommended by the Monitoring 
Officer to the Selection and Member Services Committee on 28 October 2024. 

 
c) The outcome of this meeting is that the following three individuals are being 

recommended for appointment: 
 

a. Malvern Chirume. 
b. Karen Price. 
c. Roisin Reynolds.  

 
d) None are members of the current Panel. The appropriate pre-employment 

checks have been conducted. CVs of the individuals above are available upon 
request from the report authors. 

 
 

Page 133

Agenda Item 9



 

3. Member Remuneration Panel Reviews  
 
a) As agreed by the Selection and Member Services Committee on 9 March 2023, 

and subsequently endorsed by County Council, the Panel will be asked to first 
produce recommendations for a one-year Member Allowances Scheme covering 
2025/26. The new Panel will be able to commence work on this following the 
official start of their term once formally appointed by full Council.  
 

b) The Panel will then be asked to make recommendations for the next four-year 
scheme covering April 2026 to March 2030. This will mean that following this 
transition period, each four-year scheme will be offset from the election year. 
This will mean clarity for individuals considering standing for election, and will 
enable the new Council to consider what will be needed for the next scheme.  

 
4. Recommendation 

 
County Council is asked to agree the appointment of Malvern Chirume, Karen Price, 
and Roisin Reynolds to the Member Remuneration Panel for a four-year term 
commencing 7 November 2024.  
 
5. Background Documents 
 
None. 
 
6. Relevant Director  
 
Ben Watts, General Counsel  
03000 416814  
benjamin.watts@kent.gov.uk 
 
7. Report Authors 
 
Tristan Godfrey, Senior Governance Manager 
03000 411704 
tristan.godfrey@kent.gov.uk  
 
Katy Reynolds, Governance Advisor 
03000 422252 
katy.reynolds@kent.gov.uk 
 

Page 134

mailto:benjamin.watts@kent.gov.uk
mailto:tristan.godfrey@kent.gov.uk
mailto:katy.reynolds@kent.gov.uk


 

 

From: Joel Cook – Democratic Services Manager   

To: County Council – 7 November 2024 

Subject: Petition Scheme Debate – Seashells 
Commissioned Family Hub 

Classification: Unrestricted 

Summary: Details of a petition received which will be the subject 
of a debate and formal consideration by the Council, in 
accordance with the Petition Scheme. 

For Decision 
 
 
1. Introduction  
 
1.1 In accordance with the Petition Scheme set out at sections 14.34-14.39 of 

the Constitution, any petition on a County Council matter which has 5000 
signatures or more will trigger a debate at a meeting of the Full Council. 

 
1.2 The process for the petition debate is that the lead petitioner, or their 

named representative, will be invited to speak to the petition for a total of 5 
minutes.  Members will then be invited to debate the issues for no more 
than 45 minutes.  Before any resolution is made by the Council, the 
relevant portfolio holder will be invited to respond to the debate for a 
maximum of 5 minutes.    

 
1.3 As the subject matter of this petition relates to a matter which is the 

responsibility of the Council’s Executive, the Council may decide whether 
to make any recommendation to the relevant Cabinet Member to inform 
the decision-making process. 

 
2. Petition – Save our Seashells 
 
2.1 A petition was received objecting to the proposal to end the funding KCC 

provides to Seashells Family Hub in Sheerness.  This petition had a total 
of 6,100 signatures, thus triggering a debate at this County Council 
meeting. 

2.2 The petition was hosted on Change.org and also as a paper petition, with 
the following wording:  

“Services at Seashells in Sheerness are under threat because Kent 
County Council is proposing to end the funding it provides. Seashells will 
no longer be a Kent Family Hub from the 1st April 2025 if this goes ahead. 

This will affect many services and jobs and threatens the future 
sustainability of Seashells as a community hub, helping thousands of local 
families. 

Page 135

Agenda Item 10



 

 

If you would like to support us, then please sign our petition and help us to 
#saveourseashells” 

 
2.3 A statement from the lead petitioner, Kate Townsend-Brazier, is attached 

at Appendix 1.  Ms Townsend-Brazier and her colleague Amy Watkins 
have confirmed that they will be attending the meeting to address the 
committee about the petition.  

 
2.4 A position statement prepared by the Cabinet Member for Integrated 

Children’s Services is attached at Appendix 2.  
 
 
   
Recommendation:  
 
The County Council is invited to debate the petition and consider making 
recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Integrated Children’s Services on 
relevant Executive Decisions. 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 - Statement from the Lead Petitioner 
Appendix 2 - Position Statement from the Directorate 
 
 
Background Documents  
Constitution of Kent County Council 
 
Contact Details 
Report Author:     Director:  
Joel Cook     Benjamin Watts 
Democratic Services Manager    General Counsel 
joel.cook@kent.gov.uk      benjamin.watts@kent.gov.uk  

Page 136

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/3142/Constitution.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/3142/Constitution.pdf
mailto:joel.cook@kent.gov.uk
mailto:benjamin.watts@kent.gov.uk


Seashells Commissioned Family Hub Petition Debate – Lead Petitioner 
Statement 

 
KCC's proposals threaten the existence of Seashells. If KCC goes ahead then Seashells 
will no longer be a Family Hub from next April. 
 
Together with the 1,100 consultation responses, and the 6,000 petition signatures, it’s been 
made clear by children, families, professionals and residents that they oppose the proposal. 
Swale Borough Council Members are unanimous in calling on KCC not to cut funding to 
Kent’s flagship centre, and the former Children’s Commissioner Anne Longfield OBE, along 
with many others, has called upon KCC to reconsider.  
 
Sheerness has more than 800 children in poverty, more than any other ward in Kent, but 
this wasn’t considered in the consultation. As a true single point of support, Seashells 
provides and hosts 44 relevant Family Hub services, and reached 2,000 different children 
from across Sheppey in the last year. The proposal puts 34 of those services at risk. KCC 
proposes bringing just five in-house to sit alongside another five to be delivered from the 
Sheppey Gateway. There’s no costed provision in the proposal to re-home seven key 
services delivered by partners from Seashells.  
 
Seashells delivers the depth and breadth of service needed for the largest group of 
disadvantaged children in Kent. In 2023/24, the nine centres in Swale saw 2,793 different 
families. Seashells alone saw 1,869 (67%) of that total. It cost KCC £47 per client contact in 
Swale, compared to £10 per client contact for Seashells. KCC would need to spend £1.7m 
to sustain the same level of service in Swale if it delivers Seashells services in-house. This 
is £1m more than it proposes to spend in the district as a whole.  
Seashells provides rooms free of charge for Health Visiting, Social Services and a range of 
partners. KCC’s anticipated £100,000 annual saving would be lost or shunted to other KCC 
budgets:  

• £80,000pa of room hire fees needed for those services currently delivering from 
Seashells free of charge, including Health Visiting and Social Services.  

• £800,000pa of lost service delivery. The proposal would lead to a significant drop in 
service levels which would translate into significant but undefinable costs being 
shunted onto KCC CSC, schools and several other public sector services.   

• £211,000pa retail food value, provided by us through free food boxes delivered to 
the Kent Family Hub network.  

Despite the enormous need in Sheerness, Sheppey Gateway will become an outreach 
venue for services. The only remaining dedicated Family Hub left on the Isle of Sheppey 
will be nine miles away at Leysdown, itself earmarked for closure last year due to lack of 
usage by families.  
 
Sheppey Gateway isn’t a suitable alternative venue: It’s not accessible for buggies; there’s 
no dedicated parking; it’s open plan, open access design gives rise to safeguarding 
concerns which have led to security guards being used on occasion, and relate to mobile 
phone use and children escaping onto a busy High Street; there’s no outside space for 
play; limited hours of operation mean families won’t be able to access the support they 
need when they need it.  
 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Seashells Commissioned Family Hub Petition - Cabinet Member for Integrated 
Children’s Services Position Statement 

All decisions related to services commissioned through contracts need to be considered 
within the context of the agreed fundamental policy priority of the Council – to deliver the 
financial stability required to protect the sustainability of core operations in line with the 
Securing Kent’s Future Budget Recovery Plan. 

The Budget Recovery Plan states that there needs to be:  

“a strong focus from elected Members, the Corporate Management Team, Directors, Heads 
of Service and all our staff to recognise that this spending challenge is now the fundamental 
policy priority of the council and to respond accordingly.” 

The proposal to review whether or not to recommission the Family Hub service contracts 
when they end in March 2025 is being considered now, in line with the council’s published 
policy position.  

Seashells is one of only two independent Family Hubs from where KCC commission some 
services in the county; the other is the Millmead Centre in Margate. The rest of our Family 
Hub model is delivered by our in-house Family Hub workforce.  

As reported to the CYPE Cabinet Committee in March 2024, the current contracts at 
Seashells and Millmead were renewed for a period of one year only, ending on 31 March 
2025.  

It is important to make two points clear:  

1. No decision has been taken yet. Later in November 2024, members of the CYPE 
Cabinet Committee will be considering this proposal, alongside the analysis of the 
consultation response and Equality Impact Assessment and they will have the 
chance to make their recommendations to me as Cabinet Member.  
 

2. The proposal not to renew the contracts when they end is in no way a reflection on 
the quality of service delivered to local communities.  
 

The decision focuses on whether to renew the commissioned Family Hub service contracts 
and it does not result in the removal of Family Hub services from these communities. The 
proposal that formed the basis of the public consultation set out alternative suggestions for 
the provision of Family Hub services. In the case of Seashells, that means using the 
Sheppey Gateway location, which is 0.2 miles away, situated on the High Street in 
Sheerness. 

In response to the public consultation 672 people submitted comments regarding the 
proposal to not renew the contract at Seashells. Comments highlighted the importance of 
both the services and the Seashells Centre itself to the local community. The proposal 
going to Cabinet Committee for consideration would mean that Family Hub services 
continue to be delivered to the local community by our in-house Family Hub teams rather 
than via a commissioned contract. 

Page 139



Other services, including those delivered by partners, available from Seashells, outside of 
the commissioned Family Hub services, are not in the scope of the CYPE Cabinet 
Committee decision.  

In recognition of the feedback provided in the consultation about the importance of 
delivering services from Seashells, officers have requested information from the centre to 
ascertain any associated costs of hiring space. KCC is exploring the option of our in-house 
teams to provide Family Hub services for local residents from Seashells; these requests 
remain unanswered.  

The debate at Full Council will help inform further considerations at CYPE Cabinet 
Committee and by myself in reviewing the proposals ahead of making a decision.   

 

 

 

 

Page 140



County Council Meeting – 7th November 2024 

Motion for Time Limited Debate – Pension Fund Investment in Affordable  

 

Proposer: Mel Dawkins 

Seconder: Paul Stepto 

 
Background Information provided by the Labour Group: 

There is no statutory definition for the term ‘affordable housing’ in England, however 
this motion will be using the definition used by the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and therefore the definition also used within Kent County 
Councils Affordable Housing Select Committee report in 2020.1 This definition 
includes social rented housing and housing let at affordable rents. 

Within the last decade Councils across the UK have increasingly moved towards 
using pension funds as a sustainable investment to build affordable homes. In 2012 
Manchester City Council built family homes for rent and sale using the Greater 
Manchester Pension Fund, and since then multiple council pension funds including 
Lancashire, Islington and West Midlands have followed suit.2 This decision is an 
investment into the local economy which is mutually beneficial for both the residents 
and the Council, as this creates affordable housing which can also ensure a return 
on investment for local authorities though rent returns. Within KCC, this investment 
would be done prudently and would meet fiduciary and statutory duties, to ensure 
that the pension fund is protected and that the money received by those claiming 
their pension is not negatively impacted. 

By the end of October 2022, 17,398 people were on a waiting list in Kent, with the 
average time spent waiting on that list being up to 21 months, reaching 35 months in 
some districts.3 Following research, the charity Crisis recorded that this lack of 
stability negatively impacts the mental health of nearly two thirds of those on a 
housing waiting list (according to a survey of over 1,000 adults), with many people 
feeling drained and having been diagnosed with depression and anxiety as a result. 
The survey also highlighted that 55% of those on a waiting list felt as though they 
were putting their lives on hold, with further statistics demonstrating that individuals 
were pausing starting families, new jobs and even going into further education.4 

 
1 Affordable-Housing-Select-Committee-report.pdf (kent.gov.uk), pg. 13.  
2 Tom Wall, ‘How councils are using their pension funds to build homes’, Inside Housing - Insight - How 
councils are using their pension funds to build homes 
3 Gov.uk, ‘Table 615: vacant dwellings by local authority district: England, from 2004’, Live tables on dwelling 
stock (including vacants) - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
4 Crisis, ‘Chronic shortage of social housing leaves families stuck in accommodation that is harmful to their 
health, new research reveals’, Chronic shortage of social housing leaves families stuck in accommodation that 
is harmful to their health, new research reveals | Crisis | Together we will end homelessness. 

Page 141

Agenda Item 11

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0017/110339/Affordable-Housing-Select-Committee-report.pdf
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/insight/how-councils-are-using-their-pension-funds-to-build-homes-55103
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/insight/how-councils-are-using-their-pension-funds-to-build-homes-55103
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants
https://www.crisis.org.uk/about-us/media-centre/chronic-shortage-of-social-housing-leaves-families-stuck-in-accommodation-that-is-harmful-to-their-health-new-research-reveals/
https://www.crisis.org.uk/about-us/media-centre/chronic-shortage-of-social-housing-leaves-families-stuck-in-accommodation-that-is-harmful-to-their-health-new-research-reveals/


Across Kent in October 2023, there were 7,032 long-term vacant dwellings, with 
Kent County Council owning 434 of those empty properties.5 

Although the housing crisis is a national issue, the shortage of affordable housing 
within Kent is severe and can have significant impacts for the residents of Kent by 
limiting educational, employment and social opportunities, along with having both 
negative health and wellbeing consequences.6 It is understood that constraints and 
guidelines are in place for the usage of the pension fund pot, however Councils 
across the UK have proven that investment in affordable housing is a viable solution 
to local housing crises whilst offering the authority a sustainable return. 

Motion: 

The County Council resolves to:  

- Support the principle of Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
investment in affordable housing; and 

- Recommend that the Pension Fund Committee investigates the viability of 
committing to a project to invest LGPS funds in affordable housing. 

 
5 Gov.uk, ‘Table 615: vacant dwellings by local authority district: England, from 2004’, Live tables on dwelling 
stock (including vacants) - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
6 Affordable-Housing-Select-Committee-report.pdf (kent.gov.uk), pg. 2. 

Page 142

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-dwelling-stock-including-vacants
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0017/110339/Affordable-Housing-Select-Committee-report.pdf


Motion for Time Limited Debate - Reforming Council Tax in England 
 
Proposer:  Rich Lehmann 
Seconder:   Mark Hood 
 
Background Information provided by the Green & Independent Group: 
The Welsh Government has announced an ambitious package of council tax reforms 
aimed at creating a more equitable system. These reforms include regular property 
revaluations every five years starting from 2028, the introduction of more progressive 
tax bands, and enhanced discounts for low-income households. The proposed 
reforms aim to address outdated inequities, create a more progressive tax structure, 
boost the local economy, and reduce wealth inequality. 
 
Arguments for Reform: 
 

1. Addressing Outdated Inequities: The current council tax system in England 
is over 30 years out of date, with property values last set in 1991. This results 
in wealthier areas with higher property appreciation underpaying relative to 
their property values, while less affluent areas bear a disproportionate burden. 
Regular property revaluations, as introduced by the Welsh Government, 
would ensure council tax reflects real property values, creating a fairer system 
for all. 

2. Creating a More Progressive Tax Structure: Council tax is regressive, 
placing a higher financial strain on lower-income households. The Welsh 
reforms, which include more progressive tax bands and discounts for low-
income households, offer a blueprint for making the tax system fairer. By 
adding new bands at the top and bottom, England can better match tax 
contributions to wealth, ensuring wealthier property owners pay more, while 
reducing the burden on less affluent households. 

3. Boosting the Local Economy: Aligning council tax contributions more 
equitably and enhancing reductions for low-income households will leave 
more disposable income in the pockets of those who need it most. These 
households are likely to spend additional income locally, stimulating the local 
economy. Research suggests that reducing financial pressures on low-income 
families helps increase consumer spending, which is essential for small 
businesses and the vitality of local high streets. This economic boost would 
come without the need for additional government expenditure. 

4. Reducing Wealth Inequality: A reformed council tax system can play a 
significant role in reducing wealth inequality, as shown by the Welsh model. 
Lower-income households in Wales will benefit from reforms that reduce the 
regressive nature of council tax, aligning payments more closely with the 
ability to pay. By adopting similar reforms, England could make a significant 
impact on wealth distribution, ensuring that taxation contributes to social 
justice goals. 

5. Political and Public Support: The introduction of fairer council tax reforms in 
Wales has gained broad support, including cross-party collaboration. In 
England, a move towards a more progressive, modernised system would 
likely resonate with public sentiment, especially given the cost-of-living crisis. 
Public consultations in Wales showed strong backing for reform; a similar 

Page 143



outcome could be expected in England, building political momentum for 
change. 

 
 
 
Motion: 
This council resolves: 
 

1. TO AGREE that the current council tax system is regressive and requires 
significant reform; and 

2. TO RECOMMEND that the Executive write to the relevant Ministers of State 
to request that, for the reasons stated above, the government introduces 
council tax reforms in England similar to those underway in Wales. 

Page 144



Motion for Time Limited Debate –  

Cross-channel opportunities for young people 

Proposer: Mr Antony Hook  
Seconder: Mr Richard Streatfeild, MBE  
 
Background – Provided by the Liberal Democrat Group  
 
Since Brexit, various programmes that facilitated youth mobility between the UK and 
EU member states have been lost.  
 
Young people in Kent and across the UK are now facing diminished opportunities for 
cultural exchange, education, and training in the EU. In addition, EU young people 
now face additional restrictions for opportunities in the UK (to our own economic 
loss).  
 
Prior to Brexit, our young people were able to freely travel between member states, 
and wider European Economic Area (EEA) to live, work and study without time limit.  
 
Our young people now have a 90-day limit on the time they can spend in Europe 
without buying a visa. EU students without ‘settled status’ in the UK must apply for a 
student visa at a cost of £490 per applicant.  
 
The UK is no longer a member of the Erasmus + programme. The scheme provides 
funding for education, training and sport and cultural exchanges with participating 
countries for all ages, but with a specific focus on young people.  
 
Prior to Brexit, some Kent schools took part in the Erasmus + programme, enabling 
students to travel on exchanges across Europe and beyond at little or no cost. 
University aged students were also able to take part in study abroad placements.  
 
It is possible for the UK to take part in the scheme without being a member of the 
EU. The UK Government has decided not to participate as either a programme or 
partner country. Non-EU countries such as Norway, Turkey and Serbia are full 
programme members. Partner countries are eligible for some parts of the scheme, 
and this includes countries such as China, India and Brazil.  
 
Universities in Kent 
 
Kent and Medway have four universities and a wide array of higher learning 
providers that serve both UK and international students. These are major local 
employers. Kent’s unique geographical position and cultural significance makes the 
county an attractive place to live, work and study for young people from the EU.  
 
There has been a significant drop in the number of EU students enrolling at UK 
universities. Between 2020 and 2022, the number of EU students enrolling at a UK 
university dropped by 53%.  
 
The current tuition fee for each full-time EU undergraduate at the University of Kent 
is £19,300 to £23,500, per year so this is a significant loss to our economy.  

Page 145



 
Schools 
 
Kent’s historical and cultural significance and proximity to Europe has made it an 
attractive location for international school visits.  
 
Since Brexit, new legislation stopped school children from EU countries being able to 
enter the UK by using their official national identity cards. Instead, access is only 
permitted to those with a passport. For many schools, this is a stumbling block as not 
all children have passports because they carry an extra cost and are unnecessary 
for family holidays within Europe. It is more attractive to take a class to a country 
which does not have these issues.  
 
Reduction in EU school visits to Kent has had a significant impact on local 
businesses that rely on tourism. Deirdre Wells, CEO of Visit Kent said: “For some of 
our big attractions like Canterbury Cathedral and Leeds Castle, they’ve seen a 
significant drop. It could be as much as 90% in the number of educational visits from 
abroad. It’s huge”.  
 
Motion  
 
This Council regrets:  
 

1. The loss of the ability of young people from Kent and the rest of the UK to 
travel freely to the EU for study.  

2. The significant impact on our university sector of the loss of youth mobility, 
including a sharp decline in the number of European students enrolling on 
courses.  

3. The impact on visits to Kent from EU schools, and Kent schools to the EU, 
due to additional bureaucracy and associated costs.  

 
This Council resolves to:  
 
Request that the Leader write to the Prime Minister expressing the council’s support 
for: 
 

1. Negotiations to re-establish reciprocal mobility between the EU and UK for 
school trips, students and other young people. 

2. Expansion of opportunities for young people to study, teach and volunteer 
abroad by returning to the Erasmus + programme as an associated 
programme member.  

 

Page 146


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2024 and, if in order, to be approved as a correct record
	7 Entry and Exit System (EES) Update
	Subject:	Entry / Exit System border checks - Kent County Council preparedness update
	1.	Introduction
	2.	Local Resilience and Preparedness
	3.	Infrastructure to Support New Border Controls
	3.1	At the channel ports:
	3.2	In Kent:
	3.3	Outside of Kent:
	4.	County Infrastructure and Traffic Management
	4.1	Operation Fennel
	5.	KCC Readiness - Business Continuity Planning
	5.1	Cross-Directorate Resilience Forum
	KCC has a Cross-Directorate Resilience Forum in place, with over 20 senior representatives from across all four directorates. The Forum meets monthly, and principally feeds in and out of four Directorate Resilience Groups, whilst coming together to agree a common KCC oversight, preparation, planning and response. The work of the Cross-Directorate Resilience Forum is informed by, and in turn informs the KCC Resilience and Emergency Planning Service.
	5.2	Resilience and Emergency Planning
	KCC’s business continuity planning for EES checks is being coordinated by the Resilience and Emergency Planning Service (REPS) and through the Directorate Resilience Group structures. Service-level Business Continuity Plans (BCPs) are maintained to ensure our services can meet their statutory responsibilities and identify dependencies across corporate services. REPS oversees these plans, ensuring plans are continually updated, and the latest BCP position will be reviewed at each of the four Directorate Resilience Groups, which are meeting regularly ahead of EES implementation. A bespoke KCC EES threat & risk assessment has been developed to assist risk monitoring and mitigation.
	5.3	REPS and KCC Comms have worked to ensure timely and accurate communications have been shared with wider stakeholders, including schools and contracted providers. This is to provide reassurance of KCC’s preparedness activities. It has also encouraged partners outside of the organisation to review their own Business Continuity arrangements, and undertake communication with their own service users, staff and parents, where appropriate.
	5.4	REPS have developed a bespoke EES ‘Exercise in a box’, ‘Exercise Barra’ which allows services to test the Business Continuity arrangements against a worst-case scenario. This has been made available to all staff through KNet, with REPS Officers supporting staff to deliver this exercise within their teams to highlight the potential impacts of EES and identify mitigations to be put in place.
	5.5	During July 2024, REPS ran three cross-directorate, in person table-top exercises, ’Exercise Jura’, with staff from across the organisation. This gave opportunity for services to understand the wider impacts of ESS on the organisations and think about interdependencies that would need to be addressed through their business continuity planning.
	5.6	The KCC Corporate BCP will ensure effective oversight of interdependencies across the organisation. Lessons learned and organisational change informed by local adaptation to the COVID-19 pandemic, have strengthened organisational resilience ahead of EES.
	5.7	REPS, KCC Directorates and partners are currently liaising on winter preparedness planning. Rotas have been developed to enable staff to cover the County Emergency Centre (CEC) and to reinforce the 24/7 Duty Emergency Planning Officer (DEPO) function. KCC is co-ordinating with National Highways on contingencies for any impacts from severe weather on the highway network during the winter period. Contingencies addressing offsite emergency planning duties for key infrastructure sites, including pipelines, industrial facilities and reservoirs, have all been reviewed and updated ahead of winter, with any specific actions identified and acted upon.
	6.	Communications
	6.1	The KMRF Media & Communications Group, led by KCC, aims to support communities, businesses, and the travelling public, through timely sharing of information, both in the lead up to EES implementation and thereafter. This includes linking into national government campaigns. Working closely with communication teams in both Dover and Folkestone & Hythe District Councils, there is a strong emphasis on warning, informing and reassuring communities and businesses in those areas.
	6.2	The two key areas of KMRF and KCC communications to support the implementation of EES checks are:
	7.	Outstanding issues and future risks
	7.1	Understandably there are some outstanding issues remaining in preparing for the new EES checks in Kent, and it is accepted and understood by all partners that KMRF plans will be updated and revised as we respond to them and learn lessons (for the KMRF and for KCC) from those responses. Nevertheless, we are keen to ensure that under our leadership for this event, KCC and the wider KMRF are as prepared as possible for the introduction of the new checks.
	7.2	The majority of these issues rely on other agencies, businesses, bodies, and governments to resolve them. Where this is the case, we continue to push for their resolution and escalate as needed. The situation is very fluid, and things change rapidly, but at the time of writing this report the key issues are:
	7.2.1	Decisions on the tourist traffic contingency sites – this includes confirming the sites themselves, their operation, and their viability based on the engagement with Port of Dover and the ferry operators (P&O, DFDC, Irish Ferries).
	7.2.2	Agreement from Government on funding for KMRF partners for costs associated with EES planning and response, including staff resources, new capabilities, additional equipment, and mutual aid. Without this funding, there is a financial risk to the agency(ies) making the bid, or a risk that planning and response required may not be delivered.
	7.2.3	Liaison with the European Union and Police aux Frontières (PaF) to understand how the precautionary measures mechanism operates, and how the KMRF can influence the decision to activate it. This is the process where local border officials can reduce the checks, should excessive queues form.
	7.2.4	Concerns about the technological solution for the Port of Dover, and EES as a whole.
	7.2.5	There are concerns as to whether KMRF partner agencies will be able to access the data they need from other agencies / organisations / government bodies to effectively plan, forecast, and then mitigate disruption arising from EES checks. Without data and information, intelligence cannot be developed, which will hinder the ability of partners to respond to incidents.
	8.	Next steps


	8 Spending the Council's Money
	KCC Spending the Council's Money -  Tracked Changes
	KCC Spending the Council's Money - Clean Copy
	Part A: Introduction
	1.	Purpose
	1.1.	This document, ‘Spending the Council’s Money’ is referred to hereafter as ‘SCM’. SCM is the mandatory rules and processes that must be followed and complied with when spending money on behalf of Kent County Council (‘the Council’). The purpose of SCM is to ensure that, prior to any expenditure being incurred, there is proper consideration of the process, and that any procurement or contracting is carried out in a fair, open, and transparent way such that the outcome will represent value for money to the Council and the county’s residents.
	1.2.	It is important to understand that whilst SCM is an internal Council document, it does seek to incorporate and embed procedures across the Council to also ensure compliance with external obligations placed upon the Council, including those found in relevant procurement legislation, applicable case law, and both statutory and non-statutory guidance. Non-compliance with SCM would therefore not only be a breach of an internal Council set of rules but could result in the Council acting unlawfully in terms of procurement legislation, applicable case law, and guidance. Repeated or egregious instances of non-compliance with SCM (e.g., those which result in unlawful practice) may result in disciplinary action being taken.
	2.	Formal Status of SCM
	2.1.	SCM is referenced in the Council’s Contracts and Tenders Standing Orders (‘the Orders’), which are written into the Constitution and made under Section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972.
	2.2.	The Corporate Director for Finance, as the Council’s Section 151 Officer, is the custodian of SCM. However, the Section 151 Officer may delegate the responsibility for keeping SCM under review and up to date to the Head of Commercial and Procurement within the Council. Where the law is changed in a way that affects SCM, those with delegated responsibility will issue a bulletin and the change must be observed until these documents are revised to reflect the changes. Where there is a difference between current legislation, applicable case law, and/or statutory and non-statutory guidance governing procurement, contracting and public expenditure (‘current law and guidance’) and SCM, the current law and guidance prevails.
	3.	Key Principles
	3.1.	SCM is underpinned by the following key principles:
	4.	Compliance
	4.1.	SCM applies to all Members and Officers and those working for, or on behalf of, the Council. That means:
	4.2.	Anyone who buys goods, services, or works on behalf of the Council, including Members, Officers, temporary staff, contractors, and consultants, must always comply with SCM.
	4.3.	Confirmed breaches of SCM must be reported to the Monitoring Officer, who will report them to Internal Audit and the Governance and Audit Committee as the parties responsible for monitoring and oversight of the Council’s compliance with SCM.
	4.4.	Those found to be in breach of SCM will be subject to investigation which will lead to proportionate action being taken which may include disciplinary action in line with the Council’s relevant Code of Conduct.
	4.5.	All such individuals who are buying on behalf of the Council must follow the Council’s policies, as amended from time to time, particularly those relevant to SCM that are listed below:
	4.6.	The legislation by which public procurement is governed in the UK must also be followed, including, but not limited, to the following legislation as amended from time-to-time:
	4.7.	The Council must also comply with any applicable case law and statutory guidance issued in connection with the above legislation, as such guidance is amended from time-to-time.
	5.	Scope
	5.1.	Apart from the exemptions listed below, SCM covers all Council spend with external suppliers regardless of how they are funded, or which systems are used to place orders with suppliers. This includes services sourced from other local authorities or public bodies under the relevant legislation.
	5.2.	There are circumstances when exemptions exist under the procurement regime and/or where the Council’s internal rules may not apply to the requirement you are seeking to commission (see table below for a non-exhaustive list – other exemptions may apply under the applicable procurement legislation). The earliest possible engagement with Commercial and Procurement and Legal colleagues should be undertaken when scoping to ensure that the correct procedures are followed. Exemption from compliance with SCM does not negate the need to consider the most appropriate route forward to achieve value for money.
	5.3.	In accordance with Section 50 of SCM, Officers may also seek a Waiver to deviate from SCM to the extent that it relates to a Waiver to internal Council made rules and would not contravene the Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015, CCR 2016, the PSR, or other applicable legislation.
	6.	The Role of Anyone Buying on Behalf of the Council
	6.1.	Anyone who buys on behalf of the Council is responsible for:
	6.2.	Contracts are to be managed day-to-day by a named Officer within Services, who will be either a dedicated Contract Manager or an Officer who has those responsibilities as part of a broader role (the only exception to this requirement for a named Contract Manager being for those contracts valued below £30,000 inc. VAT). The Commercial and Procurement Division will provide the commercial lead to support the Contract Manager on all high-risk contracts identified through the Council’s contract tiering model.
	7.	Responsibilities and Accountabilities of the Wider Council
	7.1.	Members of the Council are responsible and accountable for providing strategic direction on procurement activity and arrangements, in line with the Member role in decision-making set out in the Constitution.
	7.2.	Executive Members of the Council are responsible and accountable for:
	7.3.	The Section 151 Officer is responsible for:
	7.4.	The Monitoring Officer is responsible for:
	7.5.	Internal Audit and Counter Fraud are responsible for:
	7.6.	Corporate Directors, Directors, and/or Heads of Service (as applicable under the Council’s Scheme of Delegation) are specifically responsible for:
	7.7.	The Commercial and Procurement Division is responsible for:
	8.	Procurement Pipeline
	8.1.	To enable the Council to maintain an accurate oversight of procurement activity across the full range of Council services and is able to meet its statutory obligation to publish upcoming contracting opportunities, the Head of Commercial and procurement is responsible for the development of the Procurement Pipeline in liaison with Corporate Directors.
	8.2.	This is to identify the following:
	8.3.	The Procurement Pipeline must be developed and agreed as a part of the business planning cycle, as a minimum covering the period of the next 18 months, before it is then submitted to the CMT for approval.
	8.4.	Under the Procurement Act 2023, the Council must publish an appropriately adapted version of the Procurement Pipeline, satisfying the requirements of Section 93 of the Procurement Act 2023.
	8.5.	Where the aggregate contract value is projected to be exceeded by 5% or more than the value stated within the Procurement Pipeline that has been approved by the CMT, the S151 Officer and Finance Business Partners must be consulted with and, where required, approve that change in contract value in line with the summary tables below and the contract award must be put on hold pending that approval.
	8.6.	If the need arises during the year for procurement activity on contracts at or above the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services which have not been pre-approved through the developed Procurement Pipeline, then approval to procure must be sought by the Director of the Service concerned, before any procurement activity may begin, in line with the below:
	9.	Approvals for Contracting Activity
	9.1.	Officers must ensure they seek approval for all procurement and contracting activity and decisions in line with the Constitution, the Scheme of Delegation and the requirements outlined in Section 10 of SCM.
	Part B: Requirements for Sourcing Goods, Services and Works
	10.	Summary of Procedures for Procuring, Contract Authorisation and Management, and Contract Modifications by Aggregate Contract Value
	Table A – Procurement Procedures – Contracts Subject to the Procurement Act 2023 (PA23)
	Table B – Procurement Procedures – Contracts Subject to the Provider Selection Regime (PSR)
	Table C – Contract Authorisation and Management
	Table D – Contract Modifications
	10.1.	Officers should note that the above summary tables are not exhaustive of the requirements that must be followed the different value thresholds. There will also be some limited exceptions to the above requirements, which are permitted under the relevant procurement regulations for certain types of contract (e.g., those awarded under Frameworks, Dynamic Markets, or DPS’, light touch regime contracts, concessions contracts, and more). Officers should refer to Part C of SCM and guidance issued by the Commercial and Procurement Division and available on KNet for a more comprehensive understanding of the requirements and expectations on Officers.
	10.2.	As outlined in Section 24 of SCM, it is critical that Officers engage at the earliest opportunity with the Commercial and Procurement Division on all contracts planned with an estimated total aggregate value above the Public Procurement Thresholds for goods and services, regardless of whether the contract is for goods, services, or works. For those contracts subject to the PSR, Officers should engage with the Division prior to any procurement, contract award, or Contract Modification. Regardless of the value of the contract and the regulations that apply, Officers should engage with the Division where their ability to undertake the project or are concerned about the risk and complexity of the procurement. This early engagement will help to ensure that the appropriate level of support is provided and the necessary steps are taken by Officers procuring.
	11.	Calculating the Aggregate Contract Value
	11.1.	Aggregate contract value must be calculated in accordance with the applicable legislation but, broadly speaking, this means the estimated total aggregate value payable in pounds Sterling inclusive of Value Added Tax (VAT) over the entire contract period, including any options, renewals, and extensions of the contract.
	11.2.	Officers must make an effort to calculate an accurately estimated contract value over the contract period to ensure that the appropriate procurement route is taken that adheres to SCM and legislation.
	11.3.	Contracts must not be artificially underestimated or disaggregated into two or more separate contracts with the intention of avoiding the application of SCM or legislation.
	11.4.	In the case of Framework Agreements or Dynamic Markets, Officers must engage the Commercial and Procurement Division in accordance with Section 15 of SCM. The contract value must be calculated to include the total maximum estimated value, inclusive of VAT, of all the contracts envisaged to be awarded for the total term of the Framework Agreement or the Dynamic Market. In the case of a Framework awarded under an Open Framework, the value of the Framework is to be treated as including the value of all Frameworks awarded, or to be awarded.
	12.	Determining the Applicable Procurement Regulations
	12.1.	Where Officers are procuring or contracting on behalf of the Council, they must adhere to the relevant public procurement regulations (as set out in Section 4.6).
	12.2.	The Procurement Act 2023, and the associated regulations, as set out in Section 4.6, apply to the procurement, award, entry into, and management of contracts for procurement goods, services, and works where the procurement commenced on or after the 24 February 2025. While the Procurement Act 2023 is applicable to contracts with a total aggregate contract value above the Public Procurement Thresholds, there are also several provisions applicable to contracts below those Thresholds.
	12.3.	The PCR 2015, and its associated regulations, will continue to apply to contracts, including Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems (DPS’), that were awarded under that regime until the point they expire or are re-tendered. Officers must note that, under the Procurement Regulations 2024, all existing DPS will terminate on or before 23 February 2029.
	12.4.	Regardless of contract value, when procuring ‘health care services’ whether alone or as part of a ‘mixed procurement’ as defined in Regulation 3 and Schedule 1 of the PSR, Officers must follow the requirements of the PSR.
	12.5.	A ‘mixed procurement’ means the procurement of health care services and other goods or services that are procured together with those health care services. For the PSR to apply, the main subject matter of the procurement (more than 50% of the estimated lifetime value of the contract) must be for health care services rather than other goods or services and the Council must be of the view that the other services or goods could not reasonably be supplied under a separate contract without having or being likely to have a material adverse impact on the Council’s ability to act in accordance with the procurement principles set out in Regulation 4 of the PSR.
	12.6.	As well as the requirements of SCM, Officers should follow guidance set out by the Commercial and Procurement Division around procuring and contracting under the different regulations. As stated in Section 24 of SCM, the Commercial and Procurement Division should be engaged early where Officers are concerned about the risk and complexity, or their ability to undertake, a project.
	12.7.	Where PSR applies, the Commercial and Procurement Division should be engaged before any procurement, contract award, or Contract Modification to determine the right level of involvement.
	13.	Procurement Business Cases
	13.1.	Any procurement with a total contract value below the Public Procurement Threshold for goods, services or works should have a completed business case using the Council’s Low Value Procurement Business Case template.
	13.2.	Any procurement with a total contract value above the Public Procurement Thresholds for goods, services or works must have completed a Commercial Case as part of a wider business case using the Council’s High Value Procurement Business Case template.
	13.3.	While Services are the owners and primary authors of any completed business case, the Commercial and Procurement Division will develop the Commercial Case through close working with Services, where the Division is leading the procurement.
	14.	Using Existing Contractual Arrangements
	14.1.	Prior to proceeding with any new procurement and contracting process, Officers must first, subject to any specific regulatory requirements (e.g., compliance with the requirements of PSR and any other sector specific regulatory requirements), determine whether the identified need can be met through contracting with the Council’s Local Authority Trading Companies, utilising existing Council contracts, or by calling off of a Framework Agreement or Dynamic Market (or, prior to 23 February 2029, an existing DPS)that has been established by or has been recommended by the Commercial and Procurement Division and Legal Team as a legally compliant route to market.
	14.2.	Only where it is determined that the identified need cannot be met through such arrangements as outlined in 14.1, or it has been determined in consultation with the Commercial and Procurement Division that such arrangements will not deliver best value, can Officers proceed with a new procurement and contracting process.
	14.3.	Officers must note that all DPS established under the PCR 2015 will expire on or before 23 February 2029, and from 24 February 2029, it will not be possible to award contracts under a DPS.
	15.	Framework Agreements and Dynamic Markets
	15.1.	All requirements to set up new Frameworks, including ‘Open Frameworks’, or Dynamic Markets that will be managed by the Council must be referred to the Commercial and Procurement Division, who will make the appropriate arrangements and, as necessary, will consult with the Council’s Legal Team. From 24 February 2025, no new DPS may be established but existing DPS may be used prior to 24 February 2029.
	15.2.	Any Framework or Dynamic Market that is developed by the Council must include contract terms that allow the arrangements to be reviewed at trigger points to ensure that they continue to reflect value for money throughout their life.
	15.3.	An ‘Open Framework’ is a scheme of Frameworks that provides for the award of successive Frameworks on substantially the same terms. However, an Open Framework must provide for the award of a Framework at least once during the period of three years beginning with the day of the award of the first Framework, and each period of five years beginning with the day of the award of the second Framework.
	15.4.	When establishing Frameworks, the Notices that must be published to the Central Digital Platform are a Tender Notice, with the detail of the procedure being used to procure the Framework, a Contract Award Notice, prior to the award being made, and a Contract Details Notice, once the award of the Framework has been made.
	15.5.	When re-opening and awarding Frameworks in the scheme of an Open Framework, a new Tender Notice must be published to the Central Digital Platform alongside a Contact Award Notice, prior to the award being made, and a Contract Details Notice, once the award is made.
	15.6.	There are specific Notices that must be published to the Central Digital Platform for Dynamic Markets. These separate Notices cover the advertisement, establishing, modification, and the termination of a Dynamic Market under the applicable legislation.
	15.7.	Where the Council accesses an existing Framework Agreement, Dynamic Market, or (prior to 24 February 2028) a DPS (the latter having been procured under the PCR 2015), the Framework Agreement, Dynamic Market, and DPS terms and conditions of contract must be used, amended as appropriate, as permitted by the Framework Agreement, Dynamic Market, or DPS and the applicable procurement legislation.
	15.8.	Before accessing existing Frameworks, Dynamic Market, or DPS’ established by third parties, due diligence checks must be carried out, including by engaging the Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also consult with the Council’s Legal Team.  This is to ensure that the Council can lawfully access and use the identified Framework Agreement, Dynamic Market, or DPS and that the call-off contract terms are fit for purpose and provide value for money.
	15.9.	Call-offs from a Framework will be via a direct award process or a further competition (depending on the call-off procedure(s) included in the Framework) and call-offs from a Dynamic Market or DPS will be via a further competition).
	15.10.	For Frameworks regulated by the Procurement Act 2023 or the PCR 2015, a direct award may be made from a Framework that permits direct awards where it:
	15.11.	For health care services Frameworks regulated by the PSR, Officers should consult Regulations 16-18 of the PSR and the relevant PSR statutory guidance to determine the flexibilities permitted when making direct awards.
	15.12.	A call to further competition can be made under the terms of a Framework (where expressly provided for in the Framework), Dynamic Market, or a DPS. All suppliers on the Framework, Dynamic Market, or DPS capable of performing the contract must be invited to tender against the requirement in accordance with the Framework, Dynamic Market, or DPS mechanisms provided and the applicable procurement regulations. In the case of pursuing competition under a Dynamic Market or DPS, a Tender Notice must be published with the correct details.
	15.13.	Except for health care services contracts regulated by the PSR, each contract award under a Framework, a Dynamic Market, or a DPS must be published on the Central Digital Platform in accordance with the applicable legislation. This will be through a Contract Details Notice that must be published following the award of the contract in accordance with the Framework, Dynamic Market, or DPS.
	15.14.	For contracts awarded under a Framework for health care services regulated by the PSR, Officers are required to publish their intention to award the contract where they are following the competitive process to award the contract.
	15.15.	For contracts awarded under a Framework for health care services regulated by the PSR, Officers are also required to publish a Notice of the award of the contract on the Central Digital Platform. This applies for contracts made with or without a competition. Officers are to consult the PSR for details of what information needs to be included in the Notice depending on the call-off procedure used.
	15.16.	Advice must be sought from the Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also consult with the Legal Team, for any proposed modifications  to Frameworks, Dynamic Market, or DPS contract terms. This includes any modifications to the call-off or selection process, planned re-opening and awarding in the scheme of an Open Framework, conditions of membership for a Dynamic Market or DPS, and the re-assessment or proposed removal of suppliers from such arrangements (including where a supplier has been classified as “excluded” or “excludable”). Details of any variation may require the publication of further Notices to the Central Digital Platform.
	16.	Light Touch Contracts
	16.1.	Light touch contracts are contracts for certain social, health, education, and other services that are provided directly to individuals or groups of people and which, under Section 9 of the Procurement Act 2023, receive special treatment and greater flexibility under the regulations. Light touch contracts must meet specific provisions to be considered to be a light touch contract and advice must be sought from the Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also consult with the Legal Team.
	17.	Concession Contracts
	17.1.	Concession contracts are contracts under which the Council outsources works or services to a contractor or provider, or makes available an asset, which the contractor or provider then has the right to commercially exploit to recoup its investment and make a return. The key feature is that the contractor or provider bears the operating risk of the arrangement and so has no guarantee of recouping its investment or operating costs. Concession contracts must meet certain criteria to be considered to be a concession in accordance with the Section 8 of the Procurement Act 2023 and advice must be sought from the Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also consult with the Legal Team. Any existing concession contracts and any concession contracts where the procurement begins before 24 February 2025 will continue to be subject to the CCR 2016.
	18.	Temporary Staff, Contractors, and Consultants
	18.1.	A Consultant is a person (not an employee), agency, or firm engaged for a limited period of time on a project or requirement specific basis to carry out a specific task or set of tasks which meet a desired set of outputs or outcomes. A consultant provides subject matter expertise, support, and/or experience to the Council either because it does not possess the skills or resources in-house or requires an independent evaluation or assessment to be made.
	18.2.	This definition excludes:
	18.3.	Regardless of value, Officers must ensure that they follow the processes outlined on KNet when contracting temporary and agency staff and consultants. They must also ensure that they are compliant with the Kent Scheme Terms and Conditions.
	18.4.	In the event that Officers are unable to successfully source the required staff or consultant through the process outlined on KNet, they must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division for advice on using appropriate Frameworks.
	18.5.	No temporary worker, contractor, or Consultant may be procured or engaged outside of the corporate contract with Connect2Kent without prior approval from the Council’s People Strategy Manager (Resourcing) and in consultation with the Commercial and Procurement Division.
	18.6.	Where it is agreed that a temporary worker, contractor, or Consultant may be sourced outside of the corporate contract, and the total aggregate value of such engagement is estimated to be £30,000 or more (including any applicable VAT), competition is to be sought in the same manner as would be required for any procurement of the same value following the requirements outlined in the summary tables under Section 10.
	18.7.	If the total aggregate value of such an engagement exceeds £50,000, the decision to award must also be made in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member.
	19.	Collaboration with Other Public Bodies
	19.1.	The Council may enter into collaborative agreements for the procurement of goods, services, and works with other public bodies or Central Purchasing Bodies where this offers best value for money for Kent residents. This may mean the Council leading procurements and contracting on behalf of other public bodies or vice-versa.
	19.2.	However, where this is proposed, it should be noted that the relevant legislation as stipulated in Section 4.6 will continue to apply as will the principles outlined in SCM. Ahead of any such collaboration with other public bodies, advice must be sought from the Head of Commercial and Procurement in conjunction with the Section 151 Officer and the Legal Team before entering into such arrangements.
	20.	Liability and Security
	20.1.	To protect the Council, insurance is required where the Council purchases goods, services, or works provided by a supplier. The minimal levels of insurance cover for Public Liability Insurance, Employers’ Liability Insurance, Professional Indemnity (Negligence) Insurance and other relevant insurances are set out in guidance on KNet. Advice should be obtained from the Insurance Team in accordance with that Council guidance.
	20.2.	In some instances where the contract value, risk, or scope may be particularly high, additional insurance cover may be required. Equally, where some contracts may be suitable for micro businesses, lower levels of insurance may be considered, as part of a wider assessment of the need for proportionality between the Council’s requirements and removing or reducing barriers to participation for small businesses. Reasonable approaches to apportioning risk should be adopted through using limits and exclusions of liability and insurance cover requirements taking into account insurable risks and associated costs. However, in these instances, advice should be sought from the relevant Officer within the Insurance Team.
	20.3.	Where the Council is providing goods, services, or works to another organisation (that is not a part of the Council), Services must not arrange their own insurance policies and should contact the Insurance Team in the first instance who arrange cover on behalf of the Council.
	21.	Financial Security
	21.1.	For all procurements above the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services, regardless of whether the contract is for goods, services, or works, the Commercial and Procurement Division should determine if a supplier requires additional financial checks based on the perceived financial risk. The Commercial and Procurement Division and Finance must confirm that suppliers are financially robust prior to contract award and Services are expected to monitor this, in consultation with the Division and Finance, during the life of the contract.
	21.2.	However, as set out in Section 30.4 of SCM, when assessing a supplier’s financial capacity as a part of testing their capacity to perform the contract, Officers must not require suppliers to submit audited annual accounts unless they are, or were, required to have audited accounts in accordance with Part 16 of the Companies Act 2016.
	21.3.	Advice should be obtained from the Finance Team, the Commercial and Procurement Division, and Legal Team if there are concerns about the financial stability of a supplier prior to contract award and through the duration of the contract to enable steps to be taken to mitigate risk.
	21.4.	Tender documents must include a statement asserting that, where requested, suppliers need to provide security for performance and outline the level of security needed, the financial checks to be applied on tenders, how financial suitability will be assessed, and any checks that will be required during the life of the contract. However, these requirements should be proportionate to the risk and the need to consider how to remove or reduce barriers to participation for SMEs and VCSEs.
	21.5.	Where either the total aggregate value of the contract exceeds £1m (excluding VAT) within any twelve month period, or there is doubt as to the financial credibility of a supplier, but the Council has decided to accept the level of risk, then additional forms of security to a level determined by the Finance Team may be required, for example:
	21.6.	Advice from the Legal Team should also be taken on any and all such forms of guarantee, bond or security being used.
	22.	Conflicts of Interest and Preventing Fraud, Bribery and Corruption
	22.1.	Officers must comply with the requirements under Part 5 of the Procurement Act 2023 to take all reasonable steps to identify and mitigate actual or perceived conflicts of interest that may arise in relation to a procurement. Officers must prepare a conflicts assessment once it has been decided that procurement is the appropriate route to meet the required need, thereafter, keeping this documented assessment under review throughout the procurement process and during the life of the contract.
	22.2.	To protect the Council against the risk of fraud, bribery, and corruption, every contract shall include provision for termination of that contract (and recovery of losses) where the supplier, their employees, or anyone acting on the supplier’s behalf:
	22.3.	In the event that anyone buying or managing a contract on behalf of the Council becomes aware of a supplier’s involvement in fraudulent or corrupt activity, they must report this to the Head of Commercial and Procurement and seek advice from the Council’s Counter Fraud Team and Legal Team.
	22.4.	Further to the above, Officers must comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy and Anti-Bribery Policy. Officers must not invite or accept any gift or reward in respect of the award or performance of a contract and gifts and hospitality must be recorded in line with guidance set out on the intranet.
	22.5.	In addition to what is outlined in this section, declarations of interest should be made through the Council’s annual declaration of interest process and prior to the commencement of any procurement exercise that an individual is to be involved with.
	23.	Document Retention
	23.1.	The retention of procurement and contractual information is prescribed in the Limitation Act 1980, the Procurement Act 2023, the PCR 2015 and the PSR as applicable. In summary, the following is required:
	Part C: Requirements for Quotation or Tendering Procedures
	24.	Engaging the Commercial and Procurement Division
	24.1.	At the earliest opportunity, Officers must engage the Commercial and Procurement Division and Legal Team in any procurement exceeding an estimated total aggregate contract value above the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services, regardless of whether the contract is for goods, services, or works. As a minimum expectation, this point of engagement should be as soon as it has been determined that procurement is the correct approach to delivering the required provisions and always in advance of any preliminary market engagement. This is to allow for the Council’s Procurement Pipeline to be updated and for resources to be planned accordingly.
	24.2.	Regardless of the estimated total contract value, Officers must contact the Commercial and Procurement Division for advice and support on any procurement if they are concerned about their ability to carry out the procurement or the risk or complexity of the procurement.
	24.3.	Where the procurement or contracting is in-scope of the PSR, Officers must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest opportunity and prior to any proposed procurement, Contract Modification, and contract award taking place. The Division, who may also consult with the Council’s Legal Team, will determine the appropriate level of involvement, and any external support required depending on the risk and complexity of the procurement and the commercial acumen and experience required.
	25.	Specifications
	25.1.	Officers must ensure that specifications are drafted to meet the identified needs with proper consideration given to value money and corporate objectives around supporting social value, sustainability, equality and diversity, and data and privacy.
	25.2.	While Officers may choose between different types of specification (e.g., input- or output-focused) dependent on their requirements, Section 56 of the Procurement Act 2023 requires that specifications do not refer to a particular design, licensing model, or a description of characteristics where they could refer to performance or functional requirements. Specifications must also not refer to a UK Standard unless the standard adopts internationally recognised equivalents, or there is no such equivalent.
	25.3.	Specifications must not refer to particular trademarks, trade names, patents, designs or types, places of origin, or producers or suppliers, unless the Council considers it necessary in order to make its requirements are understood. However, if such matters are referred to, the procurement documentation must also ensure that tenders or proposals demonstrating quality or performance will not be disadvantaged.
	25.4.	Officers in Services are responsible for developing specifications, but the Commercial and Procurement Division can be engaged to provide a commercial review and input on specifications where the Division will the lead procurement for the contract.
	26.	Preliminary Market Engagement
	26.1.	How Officers are permitted to engage with the market, prior to issuing any tender, is governed by Section 16 of the Procurement Act 2023.
	26.2.	The Council may choose to engage in preliminary market engagement to:
	26.3.	When undertaking preliminary market engagement, Officers should take steps to ensure that suppliers participating in the engagement do not receive an unfair advantage, and competition in relation to the contract award is not otherwise distorted. If a supplier gains an unfair advantage, and the advantage cannot be avoided, then the supplier must be excluded from participating in the tender. However, advice should be sought from the Commercial and Procurement Division in such circumstances.
	26.4.	Where preliminary market engagement is planned, a Preliminary Market Engagement Notice be published to the Central Digital Platform.� 	Section 17 of the Procurement Act 2023 requires that a contracting authority publish a preliminary market engagement notice prior to carrying out any engagement or to set out why it did not within the relevant tender notice. However, as a matter of good practice and to minimise legal risk, the Council requires that any preliminary engagement be preceded by a preliminary market engagement notice. 
 In the event that Officers consider that prior publication is not appropriate in a given situation, Officers should engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division in advance in order to agree whether an exception is appropriate and any appropriate safeguards. This is to minimise legal risk to the Council. While the Commercial and Procurement Division will process the Notice, Officers in Services must provide the information required in a full and timely manner.
	26.5.	Preliminary market engagement for contracts that are regulated by the PSR is subject to separate requirements under those regulations. Specifically, it is recommended that such engagement be undertaken where a Most Suitable Provider Process is followed.
	26.6.	Officers in Services are expected to lead on preliminary market engagement, but the Commercial and Procurement Division can be engaged to advise on the most appropriate approach and can support the delivery of the engagement, particularly for procurements that the Division will thereafter lead on.
	27.	Duty to Consider Lots
	27.1.	For contracts with an estimated aggregate value above the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds, Section 18 of the Procurement Act 2023 requires Officers to consider whether the goods, services, or works to be supplied under the contract could be supplied under more than one contract, and whether such contracts could most appropriately be awarded by reference to different lots.
	27.2.	As a part of this consideration, Officers should consider whether lotting would help to secure best value for money. Where it is considered that a contract could be awarded by reference to lots, then the tender must account for this, carefully considering the most appropriate lotting approach and the award criteria and evaluation methodology that would allow for the identification of the Most Advantageous Tenders (MATs).
	27.3.	Where it is decided not to progress with lotting, then Officers must ensure that the tender documentation should include the reasons for not taking this approach.
	27.4.	Officers in Services should work jointly with the Commercial and Procurement Division to determine whether lotting is appropriate and to document the decision taken.
	28.	Requirements to Advertise and Publish Intended Procurement Route
	28.1.	Where contracts are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, Section 21 of the legislation requires that contracts with an estimated total aggregate value above the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds are advertised through a Tender Notice that is published to the Central Digital Platform (unless an exemption applies under the applicable regulations). They must also be published on the Council’s tendering portal.
	28.2.	Where appropriate, a Planned Procurement Notice, as permitted under Section 15 of the Procurement Act 2023, may be used to reduce the required tendering period and to provide suppliers, especially SMEs and VCSEs, advanced notice of an opportunity. However, any use of such a Notice must be on the advice of the Commercial and Procurement Division as there are specific regulatory requirements around their use, the timing, and the publication of the Notice to the Central Digital Platform.
	28.3.	Contracts with an estimated total aggregate value below the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds only need to be advertised to the Central Digital Platform, with a Tender Notice, and the Council’s tendering portal where Officers will follow a tendering procedure. These requirements do not apply where the Council seeks quotations or only seeks tenders from particular or pre-selected suppliers as permitted under the regulations.
	28.4.	Irrespective of contract value, specific advertising and Notice requirements apply to health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated by the PSR depending on the provider selection process followed under those regulations. Where the intention is to follow the Most Suitable Provider Process available under the PSR, a Notice of the intended approach must be published to the Central Digital Platform in advance. Where the Council decides to follow a Competitive Process under the PSR, the Council must invite offers by submitting a contract Notice for publication, including all the information required in Schedule 8 to the PSR.
	28.5.	When advertising the tendering opportunity, in accordance with Section 29 of SCM, the procurement documentation must be made available at the same time that any required Tender Notice is published on the Central Digital Platform and the Council’s tendering portal.
	28.6.	Any form of advertisement must state the place where interested providers may obtain the procurement documentation and the deadline for receipt of submissions.
	28.7.	While the Commercial and Procurement Division will publish the Notices at this stage, whether Planned Procurement, Tender, or any other Notices that are required, Officers in Services must provide the required information in a full and timely manner.
	28.8.	Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the Division will ensure that all other requirements for advertising are correctly followed to satisfy the relevant regulations. Where Officers in Services are leading the procurement, they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements outlined in this section are appropriately followed.
	29.	Competitive Tendering Procedures
	29.1.	When undertaking a competitive tendering procedure, Officers are responsible for following the applicable procurement regulations set out in Section 4.6 of SCM and must ensure that the procedure is undertaken in accordance with the published Tender Notice and any associated, published procurement documentation.
	29.2.	Section 20 of the Procurement Act 2023 stipulates the tendering procedures that can be followed when procuring contracts under that legislation. These are:
	29.3.	Where the estimated total aggregate value of a contract is below the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds, and the contract is not regulated by the PSR, Officers may choose to follow a quotation process as outlined in Section 36 of SCM instead of undertaking a tendering procedure. This is permitted for goods and services contracts with an estimated total value up to the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services and for works contracts with such a value up to £1m, above which a fully Procurement Act 2023 compliant tendering procedure must be followed (which includes call-offs from Framework Agreements, Dynamic Markets or (prior to 24 February 2029) DPS).
	29.4.	Where Officers undertake a tendering procedure for contracts with an estimated total aggregate below the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds, Section 85 of the Procurement Act 2023 is the governing legislation and stipulates the procedure. Except in the limited circumstances outlined in Section 30.6 below, Officers must not restrict the submission of tenders for such contracts by reference to a supplier’s suitability to perform the contract, including their legal and financial capacity or their technical ability to perform the contract.
	29.5.	Regardless of the total aggregate contract value, Officers may use another compliant route such as a Framework or Dynamic Market, as permitted in Section 15 of SCM.
	29.6.	Irrespective of contract value, for contracts which are for health care services and mixed health care services that are therefore regulated by the PSR, Officers must follow a provider selection process permitted under Part 2 of the PSR when procuring the contract. This may include a Competitive Process as permitted under that regime.
	29.7.	In any case, Officers must ensure the procedure chosen is a proportionate means of awarding the contract, considering the nature, complexity, and cost of the contract. When choosing and designing the procedures, Officers must have regard to the barriers to participation for SMEs and VCSEs and how to remove or reduce these.
	29.8.	The Commercial and Procurement Division will lead on the tendering of contracts for goods and services with an estimated total aggregate value above the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services. The Division will also lead on the procurement of works contracts with an estimated total value above £1m.
	29.9.	Officers in Services may lead on the tendering of contracts for goods and services with an estimated total value up to the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services. For works contracts, Officers in Services may lead on the tendering of such contracts up to an estimated total value of £1m.
	29.10.	Where the procurement or contract is in-scope of the PSR, Officers must engage the Commercial and Procurement Division prior to any proposed procurement or provider selection process taking place. The Division will determine the appropriate level of involvement, and any external support required depending on the risk and complexity and the commercial experience required.
	29.11.	Regardless of contract value and who can lead the tendering, Officers must contact the Commercial and Procurement Division for advice and support if they are concerned about their ability to carry out a procurement or its risk and complexity.
	30.	Conditions of Participation and Basic Selection Criteria
	30.1.	Where Officers seek to set Conditions of Participation in a tender, in accordance with Section 22 of the Procurement Act 2023, Officers must ensure that they are a proportionate means of ensuring that suppliers have the legal and financial capacity or the technical ability to perform the contract in question.
	30.2.	Subject to Section 30.7 below, Officers must refer to the Supplier Information System contained within the Central Digital Platform and use the Council’s standard and most up to date Selection Questionnaire (SQ)to collect the information required and to assess suppliers against the Conditions of Participation . This is unless suppliers have already been pre-qualified through an alternative sourcing route such as a Framework Agreement, a Dynamic Market, or a DPS.
	30.3.	This pre-qualification of suppliers, by assessing against Conditions of Participation, enables the Council to test the suitability of suppliers bidding for Council contracts, through applying minimum standards of legal and financial standing and technical ability that prospective suppliers should meet. However, as well as being proportionate, all the methods and criteria for assessing the suitability of suppliers must be transparent, proportionate, objective, and non-discriminatory.
	30.4.	Where Officers choose to assess a supplier’s legal and financial capacity as a part of testing their capacity to perform the contract, they must not:
	30.5.	Where Officers choose to assess a supplier’s technical ability as a part of testing their ability to perform the contract, they must not:
	30.6.	In accordance with Section 29.4 of SCM, when tendering for any contract with an estimated total aggregate value below the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds, Officers must not restrict the submission of tenders by reference to an assessment of a supplier’s suitability to perform the contract, including their legal and financial capacity or their technical ability to perform the contract. However, for works contracts valued between the Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services and the Public Procurement Threshold for works, the Council Suppliers may use a pre-qualification stage using the Common Assessment Standard.
	30.7.	There are different requirements for health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated by the PSR where the Council is required to undertake reasonable and proportionate due diligence on providers. When using Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable Provider Process, or the Competitive Process (except use of the Competitive Process to award a contract under a Framework) in the PSR, Officers must not award a contract to or conclude a Framework Agreement with a provider who does not meet the basic selection criteria formulated in accordance with Regulation 19 of and Schedule 16 to the PSR. The basic selection criteria may only relate to suitability to pursue a particular activity, economic and financial standing and technical and professional ability, and all requirements must be related and proportionate to the subject matter of the contract or the Framework.
	30.8.	Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section and ensure that any testing of Conditions of Participation, or basic selection criteria under the PSR, satisfies the relevant regulations. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are correctly followed. As a part of the activity in this section, close working, including with the Council’s Finance Team and Legal Team, will be required.
	31.	Setting Award Criteria and Evaluation Methodology
	31.1.	For contracts that are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, Officers should develop award criteria and an evaluation methodology that will enable them to accurately determine the Most Advantageous Tender (MAT). They may be developed and consulted on early as a part of preliminary market engagement and, thereafter, as set out in Section 34.2(e) of SCM, Officers must include the award criteria and evaluation methodology within the procurement documentation.
	31.2.	When setting the award criteria, Officers must be satisfied that they:
	31.3.	Evaluation methodology must be designed to accurately determine the Most Advantageous Tender (MAT) with the correct balance between price and quality. This evaluation methodology should be developed through close consultation between Officers in Services and the Commercial and Procurement Division.
	31.4.	Officers should also be aware of any additional Council policies related to social value and sustainability in tender evaluations and apply these as required and appropriately linked to the subject matter of the contract.
	31.5.	For health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated by the PSR and using either  Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable Provider Process, or the Competitive Process, Officers must determine the appropriate balance of the five key criteria set out in Regulation 5 of the PSR of quality and innovation; value; integration, collaboration, and service sustainability; improving access, reducing health inequalities, and facilitating choice; and social value.
	31.6.	Any criteria that may be used to disqualify a supplier must be clearly specified within the tender. Suppliers may not be disqualified except where the tender has stipulated that failure to meet one or more of the specified criteria would disqualify a tender.
	31.7.	Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section and ensure that the award criteria and evaluation methodology, or key criteria and evaluation of this under the PSR, satisfies the relevant regulations. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are correctly followed. As a part of the activity in this section, close working between the Division and Officers in Services will be required.
	32.	Key Performance Indicators
	32.1.	Officers should develop key performance indicators (KPIs) to help assess a supplier’s performance against the contract. They should be developed early as a part of specification development and can be consulted on in preliminary market engagement, thereafter, being included in procurement documentation.
	32.2.	Any KPIs developed should be relevant and proportionate to the nature, size, and complexity of the contract. When developing KPIs, Officers must consider the risks associated with setting too many KPIs or potential for ambiguity around KPIs, which may lead to confusion with suppliers, higher pricing, and other unintended outcomes.
	32.3.	Officers should refer to guidance issued by the Commercial and Procurement Division around the development of KPIs and standard contract KPIs that may be relevant. Officers should also be aware of any additional Council policies related to social value and sustainability when setting KPIs and consider applying these proportionately.
	32.4.	Where contracts are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, Section 52 of the Act requires that any contract that is awarded with an estimated total aggregate value in excess of £5m must have a minimum of three KPIs specified within them with performance against these KPIs then monitored and reported by way of Notices. However, this requirement does not apply if the contract is awarded via a Framework.
	32.5.	Officers in Services are responsible for developing KPIs, but the Commercial and Procurement Division can be engaged to provide a commercial perspective and input on KPIs for contracts that the Division will lead the procurement for.
	33.	Forms of Contract
	33.1.	Officers must issue an appropriate form of contract that suppliers will be required to agree to if they are awarded the contract. The Council has different sets of Standard Terms and Conditions that must be applied to contracts based on their value and the nature of what is being procured (i.e., goods and services, or works). That is unless one of the following reasons is present:
	33.2.	Officers must follow guidance provided in the Standard Terms and Conditions relevant to their procurement to ensure they include all mandatory clauses. Where any clauses need to be amended, or any of the above reasons for deviation apply, Officers must seek advice from the Commercial and Procurement Division before following any alternative approach. The Commercial and Procurement Division will  then consult with and request further approval from the Legal Team.
	33.3.	If bespoke or alternative Terms and Conditions will be used, Officers must contact the Commercial and Procurement Division who will seek advice from the Legal Team.
	33.4.	Where Officers are uncertain of the Standard Terms and Conditions applicable to their contract, they should consult with the Commercial and Procurement Division. Where the Division is already involved, they will work jointly with Officers in Services, and the Legal Team, as necessary, to determine the most appropriate form of contract.
	34.	Invitations to Tender
	34.1.	Whether undertaking a tendering procedure under the Procurement Act 2023 or the PSR, , Officers must issue Invitations to Tender and tendering instructions to every supplier who is or has been:
	34.2.	All Invitations to Tender must specify the goods, services, or works that are required, together with the form of contract that will apply. All suppliers invited to tender must be issued with the same information at the same time and subject to the same conditions. Any supplementary information must be given on the same basis. All Invitations to Tender shall also include (subject to any additional requirements under the Procurement Act 2023, the PSR, or other applicable procurement regulations):
	34.3.	Officers must, in writing, advise every supplier submitting a tender that:
	34.4.	Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are correctly followed. As a part of the activity in this section, close working will be required between the Division and Officers in Services.
	35.	Post-Selection Questionnaire (SQ) and Tender Clarifications
	35.1.	Officers must maintain a written record and clear audit trail of all clarifications received as a part of any pre-qualification stage and as a part of any tendering procedure undertaken, detailing all contact with the tenderer, including the clarification requested and the response provided. All communications must be recorded via the Council’s tendering portal or another secure electronic system (all clarifications requested, and the responses provided must be available for audit purposes).
	35.2.	Confirmation must be provided in the award report that paperwork submitted as a part of testing against any exclusion criteria and any Conditions of Participation has been checked and approved in line with the Council’s requirements for due diligence outlined in guidance available on KNet.
	35.3.	Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are appropriately followed.
	36.	Submission, Receipt and Opening of Tenders
	36.1.	Suppliers must be given an adequate period in which to prepare and submit a tender, with this time period at least satisfying the minimum timescales required in the applicable regulations and being commensurate to the complexity of the requirement.
	36.2.	When determining the appropriate timeframe, as well as the regulatory requirements, Officers should consider the need to have regard to the particular barriers facing SMEs and VCSES wishing to access contract opportunities and how to remove or reduce these barriers. This may include through considering tender response timescales that are more appropriate for SMEs and VCSEs.
	36.3.	Every tender over the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds , or which has otherwise been advertised on the Council’s tendering portal must be received by a secure method using either the Council’s tendering portal or another secure electronic system appropriate for the procurement.
	36.4.	Officers must have notified all suppliers of the correct tender return instructions, including the date, time, and place (e.g., the details of the Council’s e-sourcing system).
	36.5.	In exceptional circumstances, the deadline for receipt of tenders may be extended with the agreement of the lead Commercial and Procurement Officer, if the extension of time will not disadvantage any tenderer.
	36.6.	No extension to the deadline can be given once the seal has been broken on the Council’s tendering portal.
	36.7.	All tenders received via the Council’s tendering portal must be opened by those specified as responsible on the system. All tenders must be opened at the same time.
	36.8.	No person can be involved in the opening process who:
	36.9.	Any tender that does not comply with the Council’s requirement as set out in the tender invitation should normally be excluded from consideration, with the circumstances recorded on the Council’s tendering portal. Officers may, however, seek the agreement of the lead Commercial and Procurement Officer to amend the requirements in appropriate circumstances. Any relaxation of the requirements must be disclosed when seeking approval required for acceptance of a tender.
	36.10.	Officers must also check that every tender sum has been calculated by reference to the minimum specification required and stipulated in the tender. If they discover any departure from the specification, they can, subject to what is stated in the procurement documentation, treat it as grounds for disregarding the tender. The Officer must also check that every tender sum is stated net of VAT or any other Tax or Duty.
	36.11.	Officers may also disregard any tender that offers a price that is considered to be abnormally low for the performance of the contract. However, before disregarding a tender on these grounds, Officers must notify the supplier that the price is considered to be abnormally low and give the supplier reasonable opportunity to demonstrate that it will be able to perform the contract for the price offered.
	36.12.	If a request is made to accept a late tender due to technical issues or circumstances that could not have been foreseen, Officers should ensure that any additional time granted is minimal and does not allow for covert amendments or additions to tender content.
	36.13.	Any late tenders that are not accepted, and any marked tenders, must not be opened until the award to the successful supplier has been made.
	36.14.	Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are appropriately followed.
	37.	Evaluation
	37.1.	The evaluation of tenders should be undertaken only against the award criteria and evaluation methodology that was stipulated in the procurement documentation.
	37.2.	For procurements that are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, tenders are to be evaluated based on the assessment and identification of the ‘Most Advantageous Tender’ (MAT). An evaluation based on the MAT must consider both price and quality, including any social value or sustainability criteria, and does not require the tender to be awarded to the lowest priced bid alone.
	37.3.	For health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated by the PSR and using either  Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable Provider Process, or the Competitive Process, Officers must assess offers from providers taking into account  the five key criteria set out in Regulation 5 of the PSR of quality and innovation; value; integration, collaboration, and service sustainability; improving access, reducing health inequalities, and facilitating choice; and social value.
	37.4.	Officers must ensure that a moderator is assigned to confirm the final scoring and to mediate any differences between the evaluation panel.
	37.5.	The evaluation panel must include at least two scorers and they must understand the purpose of the procurement, the requirements of the contract, and the evaluation criteria.
	37.6.	Each evaluator and moderator must complete a conflicts of interest form, disclosing any interest that may raise questions of impartiality. It must also be recorded how identified conflicts (actual or perceived) will be mitigated. This should be added to the conflicts of interest assessments that will have initially been developed at the outset of the procurement and that will be kept up to date throughout the process.
	37.7.	Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are appropriately followed.
	38.	Request for Quotations
	38.1.	Where permitted to seek quotations under Section 10 of SCM, Officers must ensure that all quotations from potential suppliers are provided against the same requirement and are requested/submitted within the same window of opportunity. Where the requirement is clarified or changed through the process, all invited organisations must have the opportunity to quote against that revised requirement.
	38.2.	As a minimum, Officers are required to seek the number of quotations stipulated in the summary table in Section 10. These quotations must be competitive.
	38.3.	For audit purposes, Officers must also ensure that an electronic record of all quotations received is retained in line with the Council’s record retention policy.
	38.4.	If Officers receive a lower number of quotes back from suppliers than they are required to seek according to the appropriate procurement procedure defined in Section 10 of SCM, they are not required to seek further quotes unless it is necessary to fulfill the need and achieve value for money.
	38.5.	Officers in Services are required to use their own judgement to determine if a quote reflects value for money.
	38.6.	For the avoidance of doubt, Officers cannot follow a quotation process where the estimated total aggregate value of their contracts is above the relevant Public Procurement Threshold for goods and services contracts or above £1m for works contracts, where a compliant tendering procedure must instead be followed. Additionally, when procuring health care services regulated by the PSR, Officers are required to follow a provider selection process permitted under the PSR and in line with the guidance provided by the Commercial and Procurement Division.
	38.7.	Officers in Services will typically lead the request for quotations process. However, they should refer to the advice and guidance available on KNet when undertaking this. Should Officers still have concerns about their ability to undertake this activity, they should contact the Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest opportunity.
	39.	Excluding Suppliers
	39.1.	Before assessing any Conditions of Participation, tenders or quotations, and prior to determining the supplier to be awarded a contract, Officers must check whether suppliers, or their Connected Persons or Associated Persons and subcontractors, are on the Debarment List. Where it materialises that suppliers are on that list for a Mandatory Exclusion Ground, they must be excluded from the procurement process and must not be awarded the contract. In the case of their Associated Persons and subcontractors being on the list, suppliers should be provided with the opportunity to replace them.
	39.2.	Where suppliers, or their Associated Persons and subcontractors, are on the Debarment List for a Discretionary Exclusion Ground, or they otherwise self-declare that a Mandatory or Discretionary Exclusion Ground applies as part of the procurement process, Officers may exercise discretion on whether to exclude them. However, the supplier must be provided with the opportunity to ‘self-clean’ (i.e., to provide evidence that the circumstances are not continuing or are unlikely to re-occur and/or to replace the Associated Persons or subcontractor) before any exclusion.
	39.3.	Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the Division will ensure that the appropriate reviews, checks, and processes are undertaken, consulting with the Legal Team prior to any exclusion being made.
	39.4.	Where Officers in Services are leading the procurement, they are responsible for undertaking the initial review and checks in line with guidance available on KNet. However, they must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also engage with the Council’s Legal Team, prior to any exclusion taking place.
	40.	Intention to Award, Contract Award, Agreement and Signature
	40.1.	Before proceeding with the regulatory requirements around the award of contracts, as outlined between Sections 40.4 and 40.7 below, Officers must complete an Award Report and have this approved by the relevant authority as stipulated in Section 10 of SCM and the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.
	40.2.	The Award Report should:
	40.3.	Additionally, where a contract for a consultant (as defined in Section 18 of SCM) is estimated to have a total value of £50,000 or more, the decision to award the contract must be made in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member.
	40.4.	Following the above, the successful supplier/s and all unsuccessful suppliers must be notified in writing of the proposed contract award through the Council’s tendering portal (or any other secure electronic system appropriately used for the procurement)  and in accordance with the Procurement Act 2023, the PSR, or other applicable procurement regulations.
	40.5.	Officers must provide an assessment summary to each supplier who has submitted an assessed tender for contracts that are above the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds and which are not regulated by the PSR. These assessment summaries must satisfy the requirements of Section 50 of the Act and Regulation 31 of the Procurement Regulations 2024. For those contracts that are subject to the PSR, Schedule 9 of the PSR applies.
	40.6.	Following the provision of assessment summaries to suppliers, a Contract Award Notice must be published to the Central Digital Platform, in accordance with the applicable regulations (unless there is an exemption to this requirement under the regulations). This Notice will set out that the Council intends to enter into the contract. While the Commercial and Procurement Division will process the Notice, Officers in Services must provide the information required in a full and timely manner.
	40.7.	Contracts must not be awarded until first observing and concluding any mandatory standstill period required under the Procurement Act, the PSR, or other applicable procurement regulations or, where there is no legally prescribed standstill, any standstill period committed to in the Tender or Contract Award Notice. Any Challenges or Representations received during this period must be raised with the Commercial and Procurement Division, who may also consult with the Legal Team as necessary, so that they are able to provide a fair, impartial, and timely view on the most appropriate course of action.
	40.8.	Contracts must also not be awarded where the Finance Team has raised significant concerns regarding financial information provided as a part of the tender process.
	40.9.	All transactions must fall within the powers delegated to Officers or have been approved by a decision or resolution (in accordance with the Council’s Constitution) of an authorised Cabinet Member, the Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or one of its Committees or Sub-committees.
	40.10.	Following the above, the successful supplier/s and all unsuccessful suppliers must be notified in writing of the contract award through the Council’s tendering portal or another secure electronic system and in accordance with the Procurement Act 2023, the PSR, or other applicable procurement regulations.
	40.11.	Where the award is for neither the original offer nor for all parts of the offer the written acceptance must be explicit as to what is being accepted.
	40.12.	The agreement with the successful supplier/s will generate rights and obligations on each party. To be legal, a contract must fulfil the following requirements:
	40.13.	All contracts shall be entered into on behalf of and in the name of “The Kent County Council,” this being the name of the Council prescribed by Section 2 of the Local Government Act 1972. Contracts cannot be entered into by Committees, Directorates, Members or Officers because they are not the correct legal entity for contracting purposes.
	40.14.	No contract, agreement or other document shall be signed or sealed unless it gives effect to:
	40.15.	Officers must ensure the contract is signed or sealed in accordance with the Constitution.
	40.16.	Where the Commercial and Procurement Division is leading the procurement, the Division will lead on the activity outlined in this section, ensuring the requirements of relevant regulations are satisfied. Where Officers in Services lead the procurement, they will be responsible for ensuring that the requirements are appropriately followed. The Legal Team must be  engaged where clarity is required over the correct form of execution required.
	41.	Publication of Awarded Contract Details
	41.1.	Where contracts are subject to the Procurement Act 2023, Section 53 of the Act states that contracts with a total aggregate value above the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds must have a Contract Details Notice published to the Central Digital Platform within 30 days of the contract being entered into. This Notice will outline that the Council has entered into the contract, and it must also be published on the Council’s tendering portal.
	41.2.	For all other contracts under the Public Procurement  Thresholds but above £30,000 (including VAT), and not regulated by the PSR, a simplified Contract Details Notice must be a published on the Central Digital Platform as soon as reasonably practicable following the award. .
	41.3.	For contracts awarded under the Procurement Act 2023 with a value of more than £5m (including VAT), an appropriately redacted copy of that contract be published before the end of 90 days beginning with the day on which the contract is entered into. Officers must produce a redacted copy of the contracts and retain these alongside the original copy.
	41.4.	As a part of the tendering procedure, or when agreeing contract terms with a supplier, Officers must establish the commercially sensitive information that will be redacted. From the Council’s perspective, Officers must also identify whether there is any operationally sensitive material that should be redacted.
	41.5.	Whilst material may be identified as sensitive, Officers must satisfy themselves that it is not the case that it is simply preferable to redact this information, but that it is permissible to do so under the applicable regulations.
	41.6.	As set out in Section 52 of the Procurement Act 2023, any contract that is awarded with an estimated total aggregate value in excess of £5m must also have a minimum of three KPIs specified within them, unless an exemption available under the regulations applies to the contract. The details of these KPIs must be published alongside the redacted copy of the contract, where required.
	41.7.	Where the Commercial and Procurement Division leads the procurement, they will work with suppliers to identify the commercially sensitive information to be redacted. However, where Officers in Services is leading the procurement, they will be responsible for this information. Officers in Services will always be responsible for identifying the operationally sensitive information that should be redacted.
	41.8.	The redaction of contracts will be undertaken by the Officer leading the procurement, with the support of available redaction software or, where that is not available and Officers are uncertain as to how to redact, in consultation with the Council’s Information Governance Team and Legal Team, as necessary.
	41.9.	The Commercial and Procurement Division will publish the Contract Details Notice, the appropriately redacted copy of contracts, and KPI information, as required, but Officers in Services must provide the information required in a full and timely manner.
	42.	Contract Tiering and Contract Management Responsibilities
	42.1.	Senior Officers (Heads of Service and above) are ultimately responsible for the effective management of contracts within their area in line with guidance issued by the Commercial and Procurement Division and available on KNet.
	42.2.	All contract management activities should be delivered by either a dedicated Contract Manager or by someone with that responsibility as part of a wider role.
	42.3.	The named Contract Manager must assess the level of risk of their contract by completing a tiering exercise using the tiering tool and guidance made available by the Commercial and Procurement Division on KNet. This exercise must be undertaken as soon as possible after it has been decided that procurement is the appropriate route to meet the requirement, with the exercise repeated prior to contract award, and at regular intervals during the management of the contract.
	42.4.	The classification assigned to the contract following the tiering exercise must be notified to the Commercial and Procurement Division and recorded on the Council’s contract management system. For those contracts within the Procurement Pipeline, the Commercial and Procurement Division will be able to take a lead on this contract tiering exercise, working closely with Officers in Services as a part of the procurement process and award of the contract. The named Contract Manager will retain responsibility for undertaking the tiering exercise during contract management.
	42.5.	The Commercial and Procurement Division will take a commercial lead on all high-risk contracts identified through the tiering exercise, working alongside the named Contract Managers within Services and any named legal advisor.
	42.6.	The Head of Commercial and Procurement is responsible for ensuring that training is available to support Contract Managers across the Council regardless of the tier of the contract that they are managing. Senior Officers (Heads of Service and above) are responsible for ensuring that those managing contracts within their area are appropriately trained.
	43.	Managing and Reporting on Contract Performance
	43.1.	For contracts awarded under the Procurement Act 2023 with a total aggregate value of more than £5m (including VAT), Section 52 of the Act requires the assessment and publication of information about the supplier’s performance against the KPIs that have been published in accordance with Section 53 of the legislation and Section 41.6 of SCM. That is unless an exemption available under the regulations applies to the contract.
	43.2.	The supplier’s performance against the identified KPIs must be assessed and published at least once every twelve months. Officers must report performance in line with the standardised rating system prescribed in the Procurement Regulations 2024, with the performance information published via a Contract Performance Notice on the Central Digital Platform.
	43.3.	Under Section 71 of the Procurement Act 2023, for contracts that are subject to the legislation and for which there is no exemption in the regulations, Officers may be required to publish information, via a Contract Performance Notice on the Central Digital Platform, where a supplier breaches the contract and/or in the event of poor performance.
	43.4.	Breaches are understood as being where a supplier fails to meet one or more of the key terms that were agreed at contract award. Officers must publish information on breaches where they are sufficiently serious to the extent that they result in full or partial contract termination, the award of damages, or a settlement agreement.
	43.5.	Poor performance is understood as a failure of the supplier to deliver aspects of the contract to the Council’s satisfaction, taking into account the frequency, duration, and impact on contract delivery. In the event of serious and persistent poor performance,  after suppliers have been provided with the opportunity to improve their performance and failed to do so, Officers are required to publish the performance information.
	43.6.	The Commercial and Procurement Division will publish the Contract Performance Notices required, however, Officers in Services are responsible for assessing supplier performance in accordance with the guidance that is provided by the Division on KNet. However, Officers in Services must provide the Division with the information that is required for the Notices in a full and timely manner.
	43.7.	With regards to reporting performance against KPIs for contracts worth £5m or more, the Commercial and Procurement Division will work with Officers in Services to ensure that, as a part of finalising the KPIs with the supplier prior to contract award, there is alignment to the prescribed rating system and the supplier understands what is being measured, when, how, and against what system. The named Contract Manager is responsible for ensuring the agreed approach is adhered to in contract management.
	43.8.	With regards to breaches that are sufficiently serious that they meet the publication requirements (including performance against KPIs against of the prescribed rating system), regardless of the contract value, Officers in Services must contact the Commercial and Procurement Division as early as possible. The Division may also consult with the Council’s Legal Team to consider the legal risks before advising Officers on the most appropriate course of action to take.
	43.9.	With regards to poor performance that meets the threshold of serious and persistent failures that, if not addressed, will require the publication of that information, Officers in Services should contact the Commercial and Procurement Division as soon as possible if it relates to a contract that is above the relevant Public Procurement Thresholds. Otherwise, Officers should refer to guidance issued by the Division and available on KNet. Where the Division is involved, they will advise on the course of action to take with the supplier to attempt to rectify the situation.
	44.	Contract Payments and Reporting on Payments
	44.1.	Once the right supplier has been found in line with the processes required by SCM, Officers must not make verbal commitments but raise a Purchase Order (via iProcurement or an equivalent service-specific system). This must be approved in accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations and Scheme of Delegation before it is sent to the supplier, and before any goods or services have been received.
	44.2.	Under Section 67(2) of the Procurement Act 2023, Officers must accept and process for payment any electronic invoice issued to the Council for payment under a contract where that invoice is in the required electronic form, and it is not disputed. Officers cannot override these terms, which are implied into contracts under the Procurement Act 2023.
	44.3.	In accordance with Section 68 of the Procurement Act 2023, Officers must ensure that any sum due to be paid under a contract by the Council is paid before the end of the period of 30 days beginning with the day on which the invoice is received, or, if later, the day on which the payment falls due in accordance with the invoice. Such payment may be made by a third party to satisfy the regulatory requirement, but only with the agreement of the payee. In accordance with Section 73 of the Act, these 30 day payment terms are also implied into subcontracts. Officers cannot restrict or override these terms, which are implied into contracts under the Procurement Act 2023.
	44.4.	Officers may agree with a supplier that a sum due under a contract is to be paid earlier than the 30 days required. However, this must be applied in accordance with the Council’s supplier incentive programme, the Financial Regulations and Scheme of Delegation. As part of agreeing any such payment arrangement and mechanisms with a supplier, Officers must consult the Commercial and Procurement Division and Finance Team.
	44.5.	Under Section 69 of the Procurement Act 2023, the Council is required to publish a Payments Compliance Notice to the Central Digital Platform, providing information on the extent to which the Council is compliant with the prompt payment provisions outlined in Section 44.3 above. This Notice must be published within 30 days of the end of the reporting periods stated in the regulations, detailing payments made under contracts and sums owed by the Council that have become payable. Reporting must be completed every six months.
	44.6.	Under Section 70 of the Procurement Act, 2023, and associated regulations, Officers must also publish specific information, via Payments Compliance Notices, in relation to any payment of more than £30,000 made by the Council under contracts subject to the legislation. This information must be published before the end of the period of 30 days beginning with the last day of the quarter in which the payment was made.
	44.7.	The Commercial and Procurement Division and the Council’s Finance Team will work jointly to publish the Payment Compliance Notices required under this section of SCM. However, Officers in Services must follow guidance issued by the Division and Finance Team on KNet to ensure the payment information required for these Notices is linkable to the relevant contract and available to those teams in a complete and timely manner.
	45.	Contract Modifications, Extensions and Novations
	45.1.	For contracts with a total aggregate value over the Public Procurement Thresholds, Officers must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division and obtain agreement in line with the Scheme of Delegation before any Modifications are made (whether in terms of value, duration, scope, or otherwise).
	45.2.	As well as mitigating procurement and legal risks, this is due to Contract Modifications being subject to specific requirements under the Procurement Act 2023 and PCR 2015. Under Section 75 of the Procurement Act 2023, with limited exceptions, these requirements include the need for information on changes to contracts procured under that legislation to be published to the Central Digital Platform through a Contract Change Notice. The Contract Change Notice must be published before the Modification is made. Officers must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division as to whether the Council will observe a voluntary standstill period prior to entry into the Modification and if so, the length of the standstill period (to be a minimum of 8 working days). Officers should note that if a voluntary standstill is to be observed it must be included in the Contract Change Notice and must be complied with.
	45.3.	In some circumstances, regardless of the contract value, proposed Modifications to contracts may trigger procurement or legal risks and advice must be sought from the Commercial and Procurement Division and the Council’s Legal Team where Officers believe this to be the case. For example, this may include where the proposed Modification would take the total aggregate value of the contract from a total value below the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds to a contract above that the relevant threshold.
	45.4.	Contracts that have been originally advertised with extension options can be extended subject to Officers receiving the acceptance required in the summary table included within Section 10 of SCM. However, where the total aggregate contract value is above the applicable Public Procurement Thresholds, the Commercial and Procurement Division should be engaged before any extension of the contract.
	45.5.	In accordance with the Procurement Act 2023, a redacted copy of any modified or extended contract with a value of more than £5m must be published to the Central Digital Platform before the end of 90 days beginning with the day on which the change is signed.
	45.6.	In addition to any procurement or legal requirements, Contract Modifications or extensions may only be made if the value of the Contract Modification or extension added to the value of the original contract does not exceed the authorisation threshold in the summary table in Section 10 of SCM. Where that is the case, then the appropriate level of authorisation, which would be required considering the re-calculated total aggregate value of the contract, must instead be sought.
	45.7.	All Contract Modifications and extensions must be recorded in writing, signed, or sealed appropriately, and retained alongside the original copy of the contract on the Council’s contract management system.
	45.8.	Legal advice must be taken where clarity is required over the correct form of execution required for any Contract Modifications or extensions.
	45.9.	Any extension or Modification must have an approved budget allocation for it to be made.
	45.10.	There are separate requirements for health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated by the PSR, Officers must engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division prior to making any Modification as specific legal requirements will apply, including requirements for the publication of Notices.
	45.11.	Where a contractor sells, merges, or transfers their business to another organisation, the existing contract/s that the Council has with that contractor should be novated where that is determined to be acceptable to the Council. Officers in Services must consult with the Commercial and Procurement Division and the Legal Team to review the existing contract and the requested Novation so that the acceptability to the Council can be determined. The Council’s Finance Team must also be consulted with to ensure that the proposed new organisation will be financially robust.
	45.12.	Guidance issued by the Commercial and Procurement Division and available on KNet outlines the circumstances under which Contract Modifications, extensions, and Novations are permitted and the processes to be followed and the considerations to be made to ensure these represent value for money.
	45.13.	While the Commercial and Procurement Division will process the required Notices, and publish any appropriately redacted Contract Modifications or extensions, Officers in Services must provide the information required in a full and timely manner.
	45.14.	Contracts which were procured prior to 24 February 2025 (including procurements commenced before that date and call-offs from Frameworks or DPS in place at that date) continue to be subject to the PCR 2015 (or CCR 2016 as the case may be). However, where a proposed change to a pre-24 February 2025 contract does not fall within one of the permitted grounds for modification (e.g. Regulation 72(1) of PCR 2015) the modification may be deemed to be a new contract awarded under the Procurement Act 2023.
	45.15.	Regardless of the contract value and the procurement regulations that apply, Officers in Services will be responsible for undertaking all other activities in this section. However, as described, they should engage with the Commercial and Procurement Division, the Legal Team and Finance Team, as necessary, who will be able to advise and support in certain circumstances, particularly if there is legal risk.
	46.	Contract Expiry and Terminating Contracts
	46.1.	Regardless of the total contract value, and the regulations which apply (the Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015, the PSR, or other procurement regulations), where it is planned to allow contracts to expire at the end date (including extensions) or on completion of deliverables, Officers must give suppliers reasonable notice of their intentions and allow suppliers an opportunity to respond. Officers must also ensure any outstanding disputes are settled and payments made before the contract ends.
	46.2.	For those contracts subject to the Procurement Act 2023, with limited exceptions, Section 80 of the Act requires a Contract Termination Notice to be published where a contracts expires at its planned end date or on the completion of deliverables. Officers must confirm with the supplier in writing when their contract has come to an end.
	46.3.	Regardless of the total contract value, and the regulations that apply, where Officers believe that there may be grounds for early termination for breach of contract, poor performance, or, as the supplier, their Associated Persons or subcontractors have become excludable suppliers on Mandatory or Discretionary Exclusion Grounds, Officers must contact the Commercial and Procurement Division at the earliest possible opportunity. Officers must not proceed with any early termination until they have consulted with the Division, who may also consult with the Council’s Legal Team.
	46.4.	For those contracts subject to the Procurement Act 2023, with limited exceptions, where any early termination takes place, Section 80 of the Act requires Officers to publish a Contract Termination Notice. Officers must also confirm with the supplier in writing when the early termination of the contract has been completed.
	46.5.	There are different Notice requirements for the expiry and termination for health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated by the PSR. Consequently, Officers must engage with the Division prior to the end of such contracts..
	46.6.	The named Contract Manager is responsible for planning appropriately for the end of contracts and ensuring the smooth conclusion and transition away from contracts. However, the Commercial and Procurement Division, in consultation with the Council’s Legal Team, as necessary, will be able to advise Contract Managers with this process, particularly for contracts identified as high risk through contract tiering..
	46.7.	The Commercial and Procurement Division will publish the Contract Termination Notices required, and any final Contract Performance Notices, but Officers in Services must provide the Division with the information required in a full and timely manner.
	47.	Disposing of Surplus Goods, Materials or Assets
	47.1.	Disposal of surplus goods, materials, or assets (including recycling of any goods, materials, or assets that have a scrap value), must follow the processes and controls defined in guidance on KNet. This is to ensure that the Council receives proper reimbursement, where appropriate, and that disposal is cost effective.
	47.2.	However, advice must always be sought from the Council’s Finance Team when making valuations for such surplus goods, materials, or assets, and determining the correct process to follow. The Council’s Infrastructure Team should also be consulted in the case of the disposal of buildings or land.
	48.	Emergency Purchases
	48.1.	An emergency purchase that contravenes SCM is only allowed where there is an imminent risk to life or property, where there is a need to secure Council property or assets (e.g., where there has been a break-in or equipment failure, such as a flood), or there is an otherwise lawful ground provided for in the applicable regulations outlined in Section 4.6 of SCM.
	48.2.	For contracts subject to the Procurement Act 2023with an estimated total aggregate value above the Public Procurement Thresholds, emergency purchases must be compliant with the relevant legal provisions (i.e., Chapter 3 and Schedule 5 of the Procurement Act 2023or another exemption set out in the regulations). For health care services contracts and mixed health care services contracts regulated by the PSR, Officers should refer to Regulation 14 of the PSR in the first instance to justify any urgent contract awards or Modifications.
	48.3.	For the avoidance of doubt, the above Sections 48.1  and 48.2 do not apply to those purchases made outside of the hours of 09:00 to 17:00 by the Council’s emergency duty and social care teams.
	48.4.	Issues arising with contracts leading to a requirement for urgent mitigating actions are not necessarily considered emergency purchases. These should be dealt with as a part of risk mitigation within the contract management process.
	48.5.	Any emergency purchases made must be reported to the relevant Head of Service and Service Director who will be responsible for reporting this to the Council’s Head of Commercial and Procurement and Section 151 Officer.
	49.	Subsidies
	49.1.	Officers must engage with the Legal Team for advice prior to proceeding with any Subsidy and must inform the Monitoring Officer of all Subsidies. All Subsidies must be carried out in line with the Subsidy Control Act 2022 and where necessary a notice must be published to the National Subsidy Database. These notices will be published by the Legal Team and Officers must ensure they provide all necessary data.
	50.	Waivers
	50.1.	Where the application of SCM prevents or inhibits the delivery or continuity of a Service, Officers may seek a Waiver to deviate from SCM to the extent that it relates to what would be a Waiver to internal Council made rules.
	50.2.	A Waiver must be sought for any proposed procurement or contractual action which is not compliant with SCM. However, a Waiver cannot be given if it would contravene the Procurement Act 2023, PCR 2015, the PSR, or any other applicable legislation outlined in Section 4.6 of SCM.
	50.3.	Officers must obtain approval for a Waiver from the Commercial and Procurement Division, including the Head of Commercial and Procurement, as necessary, using the pro-forma and guidance available on KNet. The request should identify the requirement that is subject to the request and the reason for which the Waiver is sought, including the proposed justification and associated risks.
	50.4.	For Waivers of SCM in relation to contracts with a value of £1m (excluding VAT) or more, the Head of Commercial and Procurement will also seek approval from the Council’s Section 151 Officer and/or Monitoring Officer.
	50.5.	A Waiver can be requested retrospectively. However, this will be viewed as non-compliance with SCM and, as with all examples of non-compliance with SCM, will be reported to the Monitoring Officer and the Governance and Audit Committee.
	50.6.	The Commercial and Procurement Division will maintain a log of all Waivers that have been sought, rejected, and authorised.
	51.	Procurement Oversight and Investigation
	51.1.	Under the Procurement Act 2023, the compliance of contracting authorities with the Act may be investigated by a central government Procurement Review Unit (PRU). Where investigations are undertaken, the PRU will issue recommendations for improvement to the contracting authority and monitor the delivery of action plans. These investigations and the findings of the PRU may be published.
	51.2.	Under the PSR, where providers have raised a Representation to a contracting authority and remain unsatisfied with the response and are of the view that the PSR has not been applied correctly, they may submit a representation to an independent PSR Review Panel that sits outside of the Council. Where the Panel agrees to review the Representation, it will consider it and share advice with the provider and the authority, and this information may also be published, at least in summary form.
	51.3.	Should there be any investigation by the PRU or the PSR Review Panel into the Council’s procurement practice, the Council’s response will be jointly led by the Commercial and Procurement Division and the Legal Team. Officers must fully co-operate with those leading the Council’s response, providing any required information in a full and timely manner and making themselves available to support the lead Officers and the PRU or PSR Review Panel to understand the cause of the compliance issues.
	Appendix 1: Definitions


	9 Member Remuneration Panel Appointment
	10 Petition Debate - Seashells Commissioned Family Hub
	Appendix 1 - Lead Petitioner Statement
	Appendix 2 - Cabinet Member Statement

	11 Motions for Time Limited Debate
	MTLD 2 - Green & Independent - Reforming Council Tax in England
	MTLD 3 - Liberal Democrat - Cross-channel opportunities for young people


